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Defined Terms
Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in the Amended and Restated Business
Combination Agreement, a copy of which is attached to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 (“Annual Report”)..

“AFM UK” means Alvarium Fund Managers (UK) Limited, an English private limited company.
“AHRA” means “Alvarium Home REIT Advisors Limited”, an English private limited company.

“Alvarium” means AlTi Asset Management Holdings 2 Limited, formerly known as Alvarium Investments Limited, an English private limited company.
“AlTi” or “Successor” means AlTi Global, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries.

“AlTi Global Topco” means AlTi Global Topco Limited, formerly known as Alvarium Topco, an Isle of Man entity which was established by Alvarium and
owned by the Alvarium Shareholders.

“Alvarium Shareholders” means the shareholders of Alvarium.

“Alvarium Tiedemann” means the Company, prior to being renamed “AlTi Global, Inc.”

“ARE” means AlTi RE Limited, formerly known as Alvarium RE Limited, an English private limited company.
“AUA" means assets under advisement.

“AUM” means assets under management.

“Business Combination” means the transactions contemplated by the Business Combination Agreement.

“Business Combination Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Business Combination Agreement, dated as of October 25, 2022, by and among
Cartesian, Umbrella Merger Sub, TWMH, TIG GP, TIG MGMT, Alvarium and Umbrella.

“Business Combination Earn-out” means the contingent additional equity consideration issued by the Company to the Sponsor and the Target
Companies’ legacy equityholders.

“Business Combination Earn-out Period” means the five years immediately after the Closing Date.

“Business Combination Earn-out Securities” means the earn-out shares of Class A Common Stock in the Company and Class B Common Units that may
be issued or become tradeable upon the achievement of certain stock price-based vesting conditions in accordance with the terms of the Business
Combination Agreement.

“Cartesian” means Cartesian Growth Corporation, a Cayman Islands exempted company, prior to the Business Combination.

“Cayman Islands Companies Act” means the Cayman Islands Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands, as the same may be amended from
time to time.

“Class A Common Stock” means the Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company, including any shares of such Class A
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of any warrant or other right to acquire shares of such Class A Common Stock.



“Class B Common Stock” means the Class B Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of the Company, including any shares of such Class B
Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of any warrant or other right to acquire shares of such Class B Common Stock.

“Class B Paired Interest” means a Class B Unit together with a share of Class B Common Stock.

“Class B Units” means the limited liability company interests in Umbrella designated as Class B Common Units in the Umbrella LLC Agreement.
“Closing” means the closing of the Business Combination.

“Closing Date” means January 3, 2023, the date on which the Closing occurred.

“Common Stock” refers to shares of the Class A Common Stock and the Class B Common Stock, collectively.

“Company,” “our,
AlTi.

‘we” or “us” means, prior to the Business Combination, Cartesian, as the context suggests, and, following the Business Combination,

“Consolidated Statement of Financial Position” refers to the consolidated balance sheet of AlTi Global, Inc.
“Consolidated Statement of Operations” refers to the consolidated income statement of AlTi Global, Inc.

“DGCL" refers to the Delaware General Corporation Law, as amended.

“Dodd-Frank Act” means the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act.
“dollars” or “$” refers to U.S. dollars.

“Domestication” means the continuation of Cartesian by way of domestication into a Delaware corporation, with the ordinary shares of Cartesian
becoming shares of common stock of the Delaware corporation under the applicable provisions of the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the DGCL;
the term includes all matters and necessary or ancillary changes in order to effect such Domestication, including the adoption of the Company’s
certificate of incorporation consistent with the DGCL and changing the name and registered office of Cartesian.

“ESG” means environmental, social and governance.
“EU” means European Union.
“Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“External Strategic Managers” means global alternative asset managers with whom we partner by making strategic investments in which we actively
participate in seeking to leverage the collective resources and synergies of the businesses to facilitate their growth.

“FCPA” means the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

“Federal Reserve” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System.
"HLIF” means “Home Long Income Fund”, a private fund regulated by the UK FCA.

“FOS” means Family Office Service.



“HNWI" means high net worth individual, being an individual having investable assets of $1 million or more, excluding primary residence, collectibles,
consumables, and consumer durables.

“Holbein” means Holbein Partners, LLP.

“Home REIT” means “Home REIT plc”, a real estate investment trust listed on the London Stock Exchange.

“Impact Investing” means investment practices seeking to generate various levels of financial performance together with the generation of positive
measurable environmental and social impacts.

“Inflation Reduction Act” means the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022.
“Investment Company Act” means the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
“LIBOR” means the London Interbank Offered Rate.
“Managed Funds” means mutual funds, exchange traded funds, hedge funds, private equity, real estate or other funds.
“Nasdaqg” means the Nasdaq Capital Market.
“NAV” means net asset value.

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury

“PIPE Investors” means the subscribers that agreed to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at the Closing pursuant to the private placements,
including without limitation, as reflected in the subscription agreements between Cartesian and each of the PIPE Investors.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“SHIA” means Social Housing Income Advisors Limited, an English private limited company.
“Sponsor” means CGC Sponsor LLC, a Cayman Islands limited liability company.

“Strategic Alternatives” means the segment that includes the Company's alternatives platform, public and private real estate, and co-investment business,
formerly known as Asset Management.

“Target Companies” means, collectively, TWMH, TIG GP, TIG MGMT, and Alvarium.

“Tax Receivable Agreement” or “TRA” means that certain Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, by and among the Company and the
TWMH Members, the TIG GP Members, and the TIG MGMT Members.

“TIG” means, collectively, the TIG Entities and their subsidiaries and their predecessor entities where applicable.
“TIG Entities” means, collectively, TIG GP and TIG MGMT and their predecessor entities where applicable.

“TIG GP" means TIG Trinity GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“TIG GP Members” means the former members of TIG GP.

“TIG MGMT"” means TIG Trinity Management, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“TIG MGMT Members” means the former members of TIG MGMT.



“TIH” means Tiedemann International Holdings, AG.

“TRA Exchange” means the series of transactions in which certain holders of Class B Units and Class B Common Stock exchanged a portion of such
interests to the Company, in exchange for Class A Common Stock.

“TWMH" means, collectively, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its subsidiaries, and their
predecessor entities where applicable.

“TWMH Members” means the former members of TWMH.

“UHNW” means ultra high net worth individual, being an individual having investable assets of $30 million or more, excluding primary residence,
collectibles, consumables, and consumer durables.

“UK FCA” means the United Kingdom'’s Financial Conduct Authority.

“Umbrella” means AlTi Global Capital, LLC (formerly known as Alvarium Tiedemann Capital, LLC), a Delaware limited liability company.

“Umbrella LLC Agreement” means the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of AITi Global Capital, LLC, effective as of July
31, 2023.

“Umbrella Merger Sub” means Rook MS, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
“US GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied.

“Warrants” means the warrants, which were initially issued in Cartesian’s initial public offering of its units pursuant to its registration statement on Form S-
1 declared effective by the SEC on February 23, 2021, entitling the holder thereof to purchase one of Cartesian’s Class A ordinary shares at an exercise
price of $11.50, subject to adjustment.

“Wealth Management” means the segment that consists of the Company’s investment management and advisory services, trusts and administrative
services, and family office services.



Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements, and other information required by the Exchange Act with the SEC. We make available free of
charge on our website (www.alti-global.com) our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy statements
and other filings as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. We also use our website to distribute
company information, including assets under management and performance information, and such information as may be deemed material. Accordingly,
investors should monitor our website, in addition to our press releases, SEC filings and public conference calls and webcasts.

Also posted on our website in the “Investor Relations” section are the charters for our Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, Environmental, Social, Governance
and Nominating Committee, and Human Capital and Compensation Committee, as well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics governing our directors, officers, and employees. Information on or accessible through our website is not a part of or incorporated into this
Annual Report or any other SEC filing. Copies of our SEC filings or corporate governance materials are available without charge upon written request to the
Company at its principal place of business. Any materials we file with the SEC are also publicly available through the SEC’s website (www.sec.gov).

No statements herein, available on our website, or in any of the materials we file with the SEC constitute or should be viewed as constituting an offer to sell, or a
solicitation of an offer to buy, securities in any jurisdiction.



CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report and some of the information incorporated herein by reference includes forward-looking statements regarding, among other things, our
plans, strategies and prospects, both business and financial. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of our management. Although we
believe that our plans, intentions and expectations reflected in or suggested by these forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot assure you that we
will achieve or realize these plans, intentions or expectations. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions.
Generally, statements that are not historical facts, including statements concerning possible or assumed future actions, business strategies, events or results of
operations, and any statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or circumstances, including any underlying
assumptions, are forward-looking statements. These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “believes,” “continues,” “estimates,”
“expects,” “projects,” “forecasts,” “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “seeks,” “plans,” “scheduled,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “anticipates,”
“intends,” “aims,” “works,” “focuses,” “aspires,” “strives” or “sets out” or similar expressions.

" " "

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance, and the absence of these words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking.
You should understand that the following important factors could affect our future results and could cause those results or other outcomes to differ materially
from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements herein:

« our projected financial information, growth rate, and market opportunity;

« our ability to grow and manage growth profitably;

< our ability to raise financings and consummate investments in the future, if and when needed;

* our success in retaining or recruiting, or adapting to changes in, our officers, key employees, or directors;
< our ability to attract and retain our senior management and other highly qualified personnel;

< our ability to achieve or maintain profitability;

« the period over which we anticipate our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure
requirements;

« our ability to successfully protect against security breaches, ransomware attacks, and other disruptions to our information technology structure;

« the impact of increased scrutiny from our clients with respect to the societal and environmental impact of investments we make;

« the impact of applicable laws and regulations, whether in the United States, United Kingdom or other foreign countries, and any changes thereof, on us;
« our ability to successfully compete against other companies;

« our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements, and needs for additional financing;

« the effect of economic downturns and political and market conditions beyond our control, including a reduction in consumer discretionary spending that
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects;

« the impact of our dependence on leverage by certain funds, underlying investment funds and portfolio companies and related volatility;

« the impact of any defaults by third-party investors;



« the effects of any failure to comply with investment guidelines of our clients, failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures, or any insufficiencies
in the due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments;

« the impact of any termination or non-renewal of our investment advisory contracts;
« the effect of any future pandemics on the foregoing; and
« other factors detailed under the section entitled “Risk Factors.”
The foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive. You should carefully consider the foregoing factors and the other risks and uncertainties described in the
“Risk Factors” section of the other documents we file from time to time with the SEC. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be

those that we have anticipated. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws.



PARTI
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General
AN INTRODUCTION TO ALTI

We are a leading independent global wealth and alternatives manager providing entrepreneurs, multi-generational families, institutions, and emerging next-
generation leaders with fiduciary capabilities as well as alternative investment strategies and advisory services. Our business is organized into two business
segments: Wealth Management and Strategic Alternatives (formerly known as Asset Management):

* we manage or advise approximately $ 71.4 billion in combined assets as of December 31, 2023;

« in our Wealth Management segment, we provide holistic solutions for our wealth management clients through our comprehensive range of wealth
management services, including investment management and advisory services, estate and wealth planning, trust and administration services, and
extended family office services; and

« in our Strategic Alternatives segment, we assist our investors with alternative investments and co-investments by providing access to highly differentiated
opportunities in these areas as well as structuring and selecting partners with a proven track record in alternative asset classes, with attractive risk
adjusted return characteristics.

Our business is global, with approximately 480 professionals operating in 21 cities in 10 countries across three continents, as of December 31, 2023. These
include approximately 80 individuals expected to depart and one country and city we expect to exit related to the pending sale of FOS and the sale of LXi REIT
Advisors Limited, which became effective on March 6, 2024. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures).

The services that we provide form a complementary ecosystem for our target markets of UHNW clients, investors, and businesses, many of whom share
common interests and goals that we are able to connect and serve. The complementary nature of our services and a differentiated suite of capabilities positions
us well for organic growth across our business lines. We also have a strategy for inorganic growth through acquisitions and joint ventures.

We are a leader in impact investing, and we are committed to exploring the diverse ways our clients may pursue the creation of various types of impact in the
world. As all capital and all companies have impact, we work with our clients to understand their circumstances and objectives and to explore which set of
investment options advance the return, risk and impact they may seek to achieve. We pride ourselves in being able to deliver highly bespoke and personal
interactions that are tailored to the needs of each client. With offices globally, we can serve the needs of cross-border families with complex structures across
multiple jurisdictions.

Wealth Management
Overview

We offer a holistic wealth management solution to clients globally. Our services principally consist of independent discretionary investment management and
non-discretionary investment advisory services. In addition to a wide range of investment capabilities, we offer a full suite of complementary and customized
family office services for families seeking comprehensive oversight of their financial affairs, including family governance and education, wealth structuring,
financial planning and administration services. Our Wealth Management segment is composed of our legacy Tiedemann Advisors, LLC business and Alvarium’s
investment advisory business line. These are multi-family office businesses which have more than 20 years of operating history. As of December 31, 2023 our
AUM/AUA in this segment was $ 51.0 billion.
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Through December 31, 2023, the segment included legacy Alvarium’s Family Office Services business line, whose sale is pending completion pursuant to an
agreement signed in November 2023. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures).

Clients

Our wealth management client base includes UHNW individuals, families, single family offices, foundations and endowments globally. We serve clients in the
United States, Europe, Latin America, Middle East and Asia, out of 20 offices located in Aspen, Dallas, Geneva, Hong Kong, Isle of Man, Lisbon, London,
Lugano, Miami, Milan, New York, Palm Beach, Paris, Portland, San Francisco, Seattle, Singapore, Washington D.C., Wilmington, and Zurich.

Over 31% of the billable assets of our top 25 clients (as measured by billable assets) were located outside of the United States, and the billable assets of our top
25 clients represent 22% of our Wealth Management segment’s assets, both as of December 31, 2023. Our average wealth management account is $40.0
million and the average relationship spans over 10 years. Further, we have a high client retention rate of 97%, as measured by lost clients since 2019.

Investment Management and Advisory Services

In our investment management and advisory services teams, our objective is to maximize our clients’ wealth over the long term by optimizing their risk/return
ratio, adhering to disciplined endowment style diversification, implemented by accessing the best global manager talent. To this end, we provide:

* customized plans and sophisticated investment portfolios tailored to our client’'s specific objectives, return expectations, liquidity parameters, tax
constraints, and risk tolerances and desire for sustainable and impactful investments;

« flexible solutions with access to traditional and alternative asset classes, active and passive investments and client access vehicles that make it easier to
build globally sophisticated portfolios; and

¢ unique opportunities and access to, high-quality managers, by diligently selecting, analyzing, and monitoring third-party managers that invest globally
across a broad range of asset classes, including access to constrained managers and investments with enhanced performance and/or income
generation.

Comprehensive Integrated Reporting

Our multi-layered assessment process allows us to design bespoke solutions for our clients, as follows:
« we develop multiple long-term, inflation-based targets with ascending risk/return profiles utilizing our proprietary framework;

« we seek to identify powerful long term secular themes that will drive attractive investments developed through top-down economic analysis, access to
leading independent research sources, the insights from our leading managers and proprietary research we conduct on our own. Manager and
investment selection are driven through our network and knowledge of leading managers and top quartile funds and intensive manager interactions and
due diligence; and

« we develop an investment policy statement customized to each client’s specific goals and objectives, whether optimizing financial return alone or financial
return together with the generation of positive social and environmental impacts.

As a result, we believe our investment programs are objective, flexible, differentiated and closely aligned with the goals and values of our clients.

We proactively manage risk and assess it from multiple angles. We focus on avoiding permanent loss of capital. We analyze allocation decisions using our own
risk measurement tools, as well as third-party risk monitoring
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and exposure-reporting systems. Additionally, we are in active dialogue with managers and continually monitor them for performance, turnover of personnel,
changes in ownership, and deviation from style and/or strategy.

We diversify our clients’ portfolios across risk factors, geographies, and asset classes, including private equity, private credit, hedge funds, real estate,
infrastructure and other assets through highly experienced, and hard to access, third-party managers. Our team uses proprietary methodologies to monitor
valuations in each major asset class across dozens of geographies and sectors, and to position portfolios where we believe they will have the best return. As of
December 31, 2023, 20% of portfolios were invested in alternative assets. In building portfolios, we also consider the need to access funds for unexpected
expenses, thereby seeking to avoid forced selling of assets at inopportune times, and for clients in certain jurisdictions, such as the U.S., we are focused on
understanding tax considerations and optimizing for after tax returns. In addition, we offer robust impact investing services that can be delivered across a broad
range of asset classes and with investors from all asset levels.

With regard to the unique opportunities that we offer access to, we have established a platform through which we are able to provide clients of our wealth
management services access to investments in strategies and asset classes to which they would otherwise likely not be able to gain exposure (for example,
because of very high minimum investment thresholds in the underlying funds). We operate a number of such vehicles focused on vintage private equity, credit,
real estate, active global managers and hedge fund strategies. The vehicles, by way of example, invest in either a single underlying private equity fund or a
portfolio of private equity or other alternative assets funds, in each case, which are managed by managers we believe, based upon our thorough manager
selection processes, will deliver strong risk adjusted performance, in line with their strategy, for our clients. We intend to launch further vintages of such private
market vehicles over time to enable our investment management and advisory clients to include an allocation to these alternative funds in their portfolios on a
running basis. These private strategies are expected to include traditional as well as innovative and impact investing offerings.

The independence of our investment management and advisory services is important to us and our wealth management clients. By independent, we mean that
our investment management and advisory services operate independently of any managers or investment product manufacturers (including our own) to which
we may allocate or recommend allocating capital. Our clients may opt in to be informed of investment opportunities we are working on in our other business lines
(and some choose to do so). In all cases, each client’s individual objectives and expectations are our primary concern, and we employ an open architecture
approach, whereby we seek to find the best investment solutions for our clients in the marketplace. More specifically,

« we do not receive undisclosed forms of compensation; and
« and our investment decisions and recommendations are made with each client’s individual best interests in mind.

We provide clients with performance reports, detailing the clients’ portfolio performance and comparing such performance to relevant benchmarks or indices. If
requested by a client, the reporting can include information encompassing assets that are not in the portfolio managed by AlTi to give a total consolidated view.
In addition to financial performance, we are also able to discuss a client's impact performance for those interested in tracking impact specific metrics, in addition
to their financial goals. We choose to use third-party software for record-keeping, performance calculation, and reporting, using Addepar’s SaaS platform, and
we prepare performance reports by using data provided by custodians, investment managers, and independent pricing services. We then interpret and analyze
how portfolio performance aligns with a clients’ financial, non-financial and, where relevant, impact goals and values.

Trusts and Administration Services

The trust, corporate, and administration services that we provide within our wealth service offering aim to ensure our clients’ wealth is preserved, protected,
distributed as intended, and developed with our investment teams. Our U.S. trusts services are provided from Delaware, which is one of the most well-
developed trust legal regimes in the United States.
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We also provide international trust, corporate, and administration services from the Isle of Man and Switzerland. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and
Divestitures).

Our customized trust and administration services include:

« entity formation and management;

« creating or modifying trust instruments and/or administrative practices to meet beneficiary needs;

« full corporate, trustee-executor, and fiduciary services;

« provision of directors and company secretarial services;

« administering entity ownership of intellectual property rights;

« advice and administration services in connection with investments in marine and aviation assets; and
« administering entity ownership of fine art and collectibles.

Family Office Services

Our family office services are tailored outsourced family office solutions and administrative services which we provide primarily to our larger clients. Our family
office services cover:

* bookkeeping and back office services;

« private foundation management and grant making;
« oversight of trust administration;

« financial tracking and reporting;

« cash flow management & bill pay; and

« other financial services.

We also offer clients estate and wealth planning, family governance and education, and philanthropic and strategic services.
Strategic Alternatives
Overview

Our Strategic Alternatives segment includes our alternatives platform and our public and private real estate business. As of December 31, 2023, our AUM/AUA
in this segment was $20.4 billion.

Through June 30, 2023 this segment also included our corporate finance advisory, or strategic advisory, businesses which was significantly scaled back as we
shifted our focus to recurring revenue businesses.

Alternatives Platform

Our alternatives platform represents our legacy TIG business which was founded in 1980, and since then has supported and helped money managers build their
fund management businesses using a centralized platform of services proven to allow portfolio managers to focus exclusively on portfolio management. In total,
we launched 24 separate fund strategies. In 1993, we launched the current version of the TIG Arbitrage strategy, which has grown from $6 million AUM in 1993
to $2.4 billion AUM as of December 31, 2023. In 2018, we launched a new business initiative focused on making growth equity investments in alternative
managers. We have made strategic investments with External Strategic Managers, who manage approximately $5.3 billion of AUM in the aggregate as of
December 31, 2023. The strategies of these External Strategic Managers include real estate bridge lending, European long short equities, and Asian credit and
special situations. We are focused on partnering with global alternative asset managers in order to unlock and achieve growth from both an asset and
operational perspective. We have a strong track record of identifying managers that focus on sourcing uncorrelated investment opportunities in both public and
private markets and then utilizing our long-standing operating platform to assist managers execute on their growth strategy. Our TIG Arbitrage strategy is
managed by our subsidiary TIG Advisors, LLC, an SEC-registered investment advisor, and the External Strategic Managers each focus on capital preservation
and uncorrelated returns by managing alpha driven investment strategies that align with the needs of a diverse global investor base. As a growth-oriented
partner, we work with our fund managers on marketing, business development, strategy and operational efficiencies.
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Clients

Our strategies and their related vehicles (including the strategies of our External Strategic Managers) are distributed globally through a team of 17 professionals
based in New York, London, Toronto, and Hong Kong. The investor base of each strategy is predominantly comprised of institutional investors.

Internally Managed Funds

Event-Driven Global Merger Arbitrage

The TIG Arbitrage strategy is our event-driven strategy based in New York. This strategy, which has approximately $2.4 billion of AUM as of December 31, 2023,
focuses on 0-to-30-day events within the merger process. The investment team employs deep research on each situation in the portfolio with a focus on
complex, hostile, up-for-sale situations where our primary research work can drive uncorrelated alpha. Our research and investment process is focused on hard
catalyst events and is not dependent on deal flow.

Funds Managed by our External Strategic Managers
Romspen—Real Estate Bridge Lending Strategy (External Strategic Manager

The External Strategic Manager that operates a real estate bridge lending strategy is based in Toronto and focuses on complex construction, term, and pre-
development bridge loans throughout North America. The strategy has approximately $2.2 billion AUA as of December 31, 2023. The External Strategic
Manager’s experience with mortgages dates back to the 1950s when the firm operated as a real estate law firm and entered the mortgage lending business in
the 1960s. The manager converted its individual mortgage syndication business to a commingled fund in early 2006. The strategy’s diversified portfolio primarily
consists of first lien mortgages with little to no structural leverage. Initially COVID and then rising rates, in 2023 have led to a period of higher-than-expected
non-payment of loans in our bridge lending strategy. The main fund had to suspend redemption for a period to protect investor capital fairly. The liquidity
situation may take some time to address, and we are monitoring the situation closely.

Zebedee—European Equities (External Strategic Manager)

The External Strategic Manager focused on European equities is based in London. The strategy has approximately $1.7 billion AUA as of December 31, 2023.
Founded in 2001, this External Strategic Manager trades the portfolio actively and is absolute return-oriented with a focus on financials, cyclicals, and mining and
minerals. The strategy is market agnostic and runs with a variable net exposure, equally comfortable net long or net short.

Arkkan—Asian Credit and Special Situations (External Strategic Manager)

The External Strategic Manager has operated an Asia credit and special situations strategy based in Hong Kong since 2013. The strategy has approximately
$1.4 billion AUA as of December 31, 2023. The External Strategic Manager has more than 25 years of experience investing in performing, stressed, and
distressed bonds and loans throughout the Asia Pacific region. We believe their on-the-ground expertise and deep local network makes it well-positioned to
capitalize on an under-researched and inefficient market with limited competition and attractive levels of stressed and distressed activity.

Ancillary Fund Management Services

We offer both our managers and the External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments a complete platform solution to enable them to
autonomously focus on their core investment competency. This includes investments, financial planning and strategy, sales and marketing, and back and middle
office infrastructure/administration. A list of our services is set out below.

« Investments, Financial Planning, and Strategy:
* business planning and talent sourcing;
* budgeting and growth oversight; and
« strategic development and training.
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¢ Sales and Marketing:
« centralized marketing;
« strategic positioning;
« product development;
« sales planning and execution;
* investor relations;
* materials oversight;
¢ branding; and
« sales channel expertise covering North America, Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific and Latin America.

« Back and Middle Office Infrastructure/Administration:
« risk management;
* legal and compliance;
* treasury management;
« collateral management;
« technology infrastructure and systems;
« middle office operations;
* accounting services;
« real estate management;
* counterparty management; and
* human resources.

Real Estate - Public and Private Fund Management

Our real estate business currently includes co-Investments and fund management activities and, as of December 31, 2023, had approximately $12.7 billion of
AUM/AUA. Within our fund management activities we managed two fund products: Home Long Income Fund (“HLIF”), a private fund, and LXi REIT plc (“LXi"), a
publicly traded fund. These funds were marketed primarily in the United Kingdom to institutional investors. They are not separately marketed to our wealth
management clients.

On January 9, 2024, LXi and LondonMetric Property plc (“LondonMetric”) announced their intention to merge. In connection with the merger, which completed
March 5, 2024, LondonMetric also acquired, on March 6, 2024, LXi REIT Advisors Limited (“LRA”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company which provided
investment advisory services to LXi. As a result of this transaction, the management contract between LXi and LRA will be terminated.

On February 26, 2024, AFM UK and SHIA served notice to terminate their contracts with HLIF. We are in discussions with a third-party manager to take over the
management of HLIF and termination of these contracts will become effective once the transition process has completed.

Fund Management
Co-investment

Our real estate co-investment business, which was part of the legacy Alvarium business, was founded in 2010. We follow a thematic investment strategy,
selecting sub-sectors based on in-house industry knowledge and long-term analysis of cyclical and geographic trends. We are the sponsor for these club deals
and work with a preselected and vetted list of operating partners. In selecting operating partners, we will look for a demonstrable track record across multiple
real estate cycles and a strong ability to source pipeline transactions. Our real estate investment team oversees deal origination, due diligence, documentation,
and structuring from inception to exit for a variety of strategies including forward funding, development, income, value-add and planning. We are active in our
approach to our operating partners, in some instances taking ownership stakes, as well as participating on boards and investment committees. Since inception,
most of the deals have been in Europe. As of December 31, 2023, our real estate co-investment platform has deployed more than $7.8 billion of capital
(inclusive of capital raised for our real estate funds), of which approximately 14% has been invested by legacy Alvarium Shareholders and senior employees.
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Investors, typically HNWIs, single family offices and institutional investors, are invited to participate alongside our employees and shareholders on a deal-by-deal
basis. Clients of our wealth management division who have opted-in to be provided with information on our co-investment transactions are also invited to
participate on a deal-by-deal basis.

The segment also includes a global corporate advisory practice that serviced companies principally in the media, consumer, healthcare, technology and
innovation sectors, as well as our wealth management clients around their operational businesses or family holding companies (“Strategic Advisory”), formerly
known as the Merchant Banking division. Strategic Advisory was part of the legacy Alvarium platform and has been scaled down significantly as we focus on
recurring revenue businesses.

Home Long Income Fund

Home Long Income Fund is an English open-ended investment company launched in October 2018. Its investment objective is to deliver secure inflation-
protected income and capital growth by investing in a portfolio of UK homeless shelters. HLIF is advised by SHIA and AFM UK acts as its alternative investment
fund manager. Both SHIA and AFM UK are wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. As of December 31, 2023, HLIF had assets under management of
approximately £0.2 billion ($0.3 billion). On February 26, 2024, AFM UK and SHIA served notice to terminate their contracts with HLIF. We are in discussions
with a third-party manager to take over the management of HLIF and termination of these contracts will become effective once the transition process has been
completed.

LXi REIT plc

LXi is an English real estate investment trust company, launched in February 2017, whose shares are traded on the premium segment of the London Stock
Exchange’s Main Market. LXi was advised by LRA, and its investment objective is to deliver inflation-protected income and capital growth over the medium-term
for its shareholders through investing in a diversified portfolio of UK property that benefits from long-term index-linked leases with institutional-grade tenants. As
of December 31, 2023, LXi's market capitalization was approximately £1.8 billion ($2.3 billion). On January 9, 2024, LXi and LondonMetric announced their
intention to merge. In connection with the merger, which completed on March 5, 2024, LondonMetric also acquired, on March 6, 2024, LRA, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company which provided investment advisory services to LXi. As a result of this transaction, the management contract between LXi and LRA
will be terminated.

OUR REVENUE STREAMS

Consistent with operating a diverse range of services, we generate a diverse range of revenue streams across our business lines. A high-level summary of these
revenue streams is set forth below.

Broadly, our revenues fall into four categories: recurring management, advisory, or administration fees; performance or incentive fees; distribution from
investments and other income or fees:

« Management, advisory, and administration fees are historically more predictable across market conditions than our other revenue sources. These fees
are recurring in nature (usually being annual or quarterly fees) and are earned from both our wealth management division from investment management,
investment advisory, trusts and administration, and family office services, and also from our fund management activities associated with our internally
Managed Funds. Added to the recurring nature of these fees, our high client retention rate in our wealth management services, and the long-term nature
of our fund management fees, means that these fees are also relatively stable.

« Incentive or performance fees are comprised of both carried interest payments we earn on co-investments and annual performance or incentive fees
earned in some cases from our investment management and advisory or fund management services associated with our internally managed funds.
These fees, being performance related, are variable in nature and more susceptible to impact from exogenous factors. As a result, performance and
incentive fees provide potential upside to our revenues in the future and, in our view, can be highly accretive to our profitability.

« Distributions from investments are generated from the equity interests we have in the three External Managers pursuant to which we are entitled to
distributions based on the terms of the respective arrangements. Distributions from each investment will be recorded upon receipt of the distribution. The

16



Company receives distributions from its External Strategic Managers through our profit or revenue sharing arrangements that are generated through their
management and incentive fees based on performance of the underlying investments. The management fee component of the distributions is recurring in
nature, while the incentive portion is more susceptible to impact from exogenous factors.

« Other income or fees include transaction fees from our strategic advisory, corporate advisory, brokerage, and placement agency services. Transaction
fees are generally non-recurring in nature, are typically commission based, and are payable on the successful completion of a transaction. Transactions
are also susceptible to impact from exogenous factors. However, as is the case with performance and incentive fees, transaction fees provide potential
upside to our revenues and, in our view, can be highly accretive to our profitability.

Wealth Management Fees

Investment management or advisory fees are the primary source of revenue in our Wealth Management segment. These fees are generally calculated on the
basis of a percentage of the value of each client’'s assets (AUM or AUA) and are charged using either an average daily balance or ending balance, quarterly in
arrears.

AUA consists of all assets we are responsible for overseeing and reporting on, but we do not necessarily charge fees on all such assets. Billable assets
represent the portion of our assets on which we charge fees. Non-billable assets are exempt of fees and consist of assets such as cash and cash equivalents in
certain agreed upon situations, personally owned real estate, and other designated assets.

The fees vary depending upon the level and complexity of client assets and the services being provided. The fee typically covers the investment advisory
services and basic estate and wealth planning services. The more complex estate and wealth planning services, as well as our Trustee service, and certain
extended family office services, are typically billed separately, as a fixed or time-based amount.

Some clients in certain jurisdictions may also pay performance fees if their portfolio achieves returns in excess of an agreed benchmark or hurdle rate. Typically,
such fees are paid annually upon crystallization and are not accrued prior to being earned.

Strategic Alternatives Fees

Fund Management Fees

We earn management fees in our Strategic Alternatives segment through our alternatives platform (compensation for internal fund management and advisory
services), public real estate fund management and private real estate recurring fees. The management fees for the alternatives platform are approximately
0.75% to 1.5% of the net asset value of the funds’ underlying investments.

Incentive Fees

TIG Arbitrage is entitled to receive incentive fees if certain performance returns have been achieved as stipulated in our governing documents. The incentive
fees for TIG Arbitrage are calculated using 15% to 20% of the net profit/income. We recognize our incentive fees when it is no longer probable that a significant
reversal of revenue will occur. Our incentive fees are not subject to clawback provisions.

Distributions from Investments

Distributions from investments are earned through our profit or revenue sharing arrangements with the External Strategic Managers. Our economic interests in
the External Strategic Managers are as follows:

* Real Estate Bridge Lending Strategy—21% profit share;

e European Equities—25% revenue share; and

¢ Asian Credit and Special Situations—12% revenue share
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Our distributions from investments from European equities and Asian credit and special situations are comprised of a management fee component and,
depending on performance, an incentive fee component. Depending on the fund, the incentive fee component can range from 15% to 35% , of the net
profit/income, in excess of a 10% return hurdle.

Co-investment

As sponsor of private market direct and co-investment transactions, we generate income from debt and equity structures relating to specified real estate
investments or investments in other alternative asset classes. Private market fees include arrangement, retainer, management, advisory, performance,
acquisition, promote and other associated fees as well as interest arbitrage for debt structures. Arrangement fees are typically 50 to 100 basis points of equity
value contributed into a transaction. Acquisition fees are typically payable where there are no agency fees or where there is an off-market transaction sourced by
the team. Such acquisition fees are usually in the range of 50 to 100 basis points of the purchase price of the relevant acquisition. The equity structures are
typically medium to long-term (three to ten years) closed-ended structures with fees normally ranging between 50 and 175 basis points of the equity value
committed or drawn. The debt structure terms are generally between 12 and 36 months. The investment adviser, general partner or other entity entitled to fees
in respect of each of our co-investments receives such fees either monthly, quarterly, or annually.

We may be entitled to a portion of the performance-related entitlements (such as carried interest or promote) that may be payable on exit from co-investment
transactions. Such revenues are only received if the investor hurdle (i.e. a minimum return to the investor) is reached and may include a catch-up. Carried
interest entitlements are based on a percentage of the investor return above such hurdle and are set on a deal and fund basis. Typically, carried interest
entitlements represent 10% to 20% of the investors’ equity internal rate of return in excess of an 8% to 15% hurdle, with no carried interest entitlement being
payable if the hurdle is not met. In relation to our co-investments, a group company will typically have entered into an advisory or management agreement, or
other arrangement, that entitles us to receive a share of base management fees (whether directly or through a joint venture entity) from the inception of the
relevant investment or joint venture, through to exit and the liquidation of the relevant transaction vehicle, or as otherwise set out in an approved business plan.
Where we have established feeder vehicles for clients, there may also be administration and advisory fees associated with those vehicles (these are earned by
our trusts and administration business).

Real Estate Funds (Public and Private)

We generate income from managing and advising the investment portfolios of certain public and private real estate funds. Our fees from managing and advising
these vehicles are contained in management and advisory contracts relating to the relevant fund and are typically calculated on a sliding scale of percentages of
the asset value, market capitalization or the investor capital of the relevant fund as applicable.

OUR LEADERSHIP, CULTURE, AND VALUES
Experienced Management Team with Proven Track Record

We are led by a team of seasoned executives with diverse experience. Our management team has expertise across investment management, alternative asset
management, real estate, financial planning, and trusts and estates as well as impact investing. Members of our senior management team have an average of
over 20 years of experience and a strong track record in building successful businesses from the ground up and generating superior returns across market
cycles.

Diverse, Inclusive and Responsible Corporate Culture

As a human capital business, we believe our corporate culture, which is one of collaboration and connection, is one of our most important and valued assets.
Our corporate culture starts at the highest level of management and is carried throughout the organization. We are committed to investing responsibly, operating
our business with integrity, and building a diverse and inclusive workplace where our employees can grow and thrive. We are fully committed to diversity,
equality, and inclusion at all levels of our business and are targeting 50% female
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representation in senior management by the end of our first five years of operations. As of December 31, 2023, approximately 45% of our employees were
women.

Our Focus on Sustainable Finance and Impact Investing

We use the term “impact investing” to describe investment practices seeking to generate environmental and social impacts at a portfolio level. The use and our
definition of this banner term acknowledges the different interpretations and uses, globally, but particularly between the United States and Europe, of the terms
“impact investing” and “sustainable finance”.

Under this banner of impact investing, we offer four distinct approaches to investment of client capital:

« Values Alignment: Offering public equity investments which may have either a positive or negative “tilt” based upon client-specific values and interests as
reflected in their investment policy statement;

* Positive Engagement: Offering public equity investments with active managers who seek to engage in a positive manner with corporate leadership to
integrate greater consideration of off-balance sheet factors (corporate governance, various social and/or environmental practices) which are material to
long-term corporate financial performance and positive citizenship;

* Thematic investing: Private market fund investments within the areas of environmental sustainability and socio-economic development; and

« Catalytic: Private market investments in strategies that are non-conforming with our traditional investment approach and may include managers/teams
building new track records, implementing innovative investment strategies, operating with evergreen or non-traditional fund structures and offering
market rate, near or below market financial returns while seeking to leverage private capital for greater public good.

Accordingly, we believe that it is our responsibility to leverage our global network of offices and partnerships, the skills of our employees and the influence and
resources of our clients, so that we can collectively have a lasting and positive impact on our communities and the environment, and we believe that our aims
are aligned with those of the family offices and institutions we serve, for whom wealth is not measured purely in terms of financial returns but in the long-term,
intergenerational preservation of quality of life and the generation of multiple, extra-financial returns, including improvements to environmental and social
conditions for all, shareholders and stakeholders alike.

As of December 31, 2023, we have approximately $4.4 billion of our AUM/AUA dedicated to impact investing in our wealth management business. Through
impact investing, we seek to play our part in directing capital to sustainable investments that will aid in the transition to a low carbon economy, as well as
investments that are well managed and socially beneficial. Like us, our clients and investors are increasingly focused on risk-adjusted returns associated with
socially and environmentally responsible investment opportunities and we consider it a fundamental part of our mission, as long-term stewards of client capital,
to ensure that these non-financial investment goals are not only met, but advanced in new, innovative ways.

OUR HISTORY AND PRESENCE TO DATE

Our History

AlTi was formed as a combination of TWMH, the TIG Entities, and Alvarium. TIG was founded in 1980 by Carl Tiedemann to enable talented money managers
to build their fund businesses, using a centralized platform of proven services that enable portfolio managers to focus exclusively on their clients and realize their
investment objectives. Carl Tiedemann, Craig Smith, and Michael Tiedemann established TWMH on the premise that a wealth management business organized
on principles of delivering a combination of excellent investment performance and high-touch client service would quickly differentiate itself from its competitors.
Alvarium was established by its founder partners as LJ Capital in 2009, initially with the aim of sourcing direct
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and co-investments in real estate in the UK and in Central Europe. The firm rebranded as LJ Partnership and underwent a series of acquisitions, before
rebranding as Alvarium in 2019.

Tiedemann Wealth Management (TWMH)

TWMH was founded in 1999 on the premise that if the business was staffed and organized to deliver a combination of excellent investment performance and
high-touch client service, it would quickly differentiate itself from a crowded field of firms nominally in the wealth management business. The firm sought to
attract and serve a base of individuals and families with $25 million or more of investable assets, where it believed it was particularly well-positioned to offer
comprehensive investment and family office service solutions. In 2016, TWMH acquired Presidio Capital Advisors, a wealth manager with approximately $4.1
billion of AUM. Then, in 2017 it acquired the Threshold Group, another independent wealth advisor and a leader in the rapidly growing impact investing market
segment, with approximately $3.8 billion of total AUM (including both impact and non-impact client assets). This acquisition cemented its commitment to be a
leader in impact investing for its clients.

TIG Entities

The TIG Entities were founded by seasoned entrepreneurs and over their history they have advised more than 30 financial businesses on their growth strategy.
Since inception in 1980, they have supported and helped money managers build their fund businesses, using a centralized platform of services proven to allow
portfolio managers to focus exclusively on portfolio management (please refer to timeline below). In total, TIG launched 24 separate fund strategies. In 1993,
TIG launched the current version of the TIG Arbitrage strategy, which has grown from $6 million AUM in 1993 to $2.4 billion AUM as of December 31, 2023. In
2018, TIG launched a new business initiative focused on making growth equity investments in alternative managers. The first investment was in Romspen, the
real estate bridge lending External Strategic Manager in 2018, followed by an investment in Zebedee, the European equities External Strategic Manager in
2020, and Arkkan, the Asian credit and special situations External Strategic Manager in January 2021.

T
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Alvarium

The firm was established as LJ Capital in 2009 to source direct and co-investments in real estate in the UK and in Central Europe. The firm, rebranded as LJ
Partnership (“LJ"), continued to grow, and acquire global clients through acquisitions, including wealth management businesses in the United States, Europe,
and Hong Kong. The first acquisition was Deloitte’s UK Investment Advisory business in 2011. Over the course of 2014 to 2017, LJ merged with or acquired the
former Guggenheim wealth management businesses in Miami, Geneva, Lisbon and Hong Kong, and brought on board a team that originated from their business
in New York. Then in 2015, LJ acquired Salisbury Partners LLP, a UK discretionary investment manager. Over the course of 2018 to 2020, it acquired Iskander
in Paris, established a joint venture with Albacore in Lugano, and expanded into
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Milan. Also in 2019, it merged with London based media, consumer, and technology firm Lepe Partners, creating our merchant banking platform. Finally, in 2019
LJ rebranded as Alvarium to reflect its global footprint, partners, and clients.

Our Presence to Date

Our business is global, with approximately 480 professionals operating in 21 cities in 10 countries across three continents, as of December 31, 2023. These
include approximately 80 individuals expected to depart and one country and city we expect to exit related to the pending sale of FOS and the sale of LRA,
which became effective on March 6, 2024. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures).
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Our Competitive Strengths

Comprehensive platform approach. We believe we are the only public company that includes wealth management and alternatives on the same platform. This
unique combination not only creates attractive crossover opportunities and solutions for our clients, but also strengthens AlTi's business model through the
diversification provided by the distinct growth drivers and profiles of the two business lines.

Global footprint. We have offices located in 21 leading financial centers, in ten counties across the U.S., Europe and Asia which enables us to service our
clients across multiple jurisdictions. This is an important differentiator as we are uniquely positioned as a global and independent advisor given most multi-family
offices have a regional focus, and the private banks who have a global presence are not able to offer independent advice. Our global distribution platform in our
alternatives business also enables us to reach clients across three continents.

Large and growing addressable market. AlTi is an institution that is curated to serve the evolving UHNW demographic and meet the growing demand globally
for independent advice and access to investment strategies in alternatives. We believe there is a clear generational wealth transfer taking place as baby
boomers transfer significant wealth to their heirs, foundations, charities, and endowments, and AlTi’s holistic service offering positions us to participate in this
opportunity, which is estimated to be more than $80 trillion by 2045 (Cerulli Associates). UHNW clients are increasingly focused on transparency and alignment
and demand direct investments and impact investing. Clients are attracted to an independent advisory firm that holds similar values and has a curated set of
solutions that address their holistic wealth management needs. In addition, the global demand for alternatives has been growing strongly in recent years and is
expected to reach $23 billion in 2026, a CAGR of 11% since 2011 (Prequin).
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Recurring and diversified revenues. For the year ended December 31, 2023, 77% of our revenue is generated from stable management or advisory fees
whether internally or from our External Strategic Managers. In the wealth management business we have a long-tenured, multi-generational client base with a
retention rate of 97% since 2019. Our predictable revenue base results in a stable earnings model with multiple growth vectors given the relatively low
correlation between the wealth management and alternatives assets in our platform.

Identified pipeline of inorganic opportunities. Given our track record of executing attractive and strategic transactions in the U.S. and internationally, we are
a desirable partner and have identified a pipeline of potential acquisitions across our wealth management and alternatives businesses.

Alignment of interest with clients. We consider the alignment of interest of our shareholders, executive management team members and other professionals
at the firm with those of our clients to be key to our business. As of December 31, 2023 they had invested $1.9 billion alongside our clients across our wealth
management and alternatives platform.

Our Growth Strategy
We aim to continue to grow our business through the following initiatives:

New investment strategies and global presence. We expect to continue to deepen our reach and expansion in current markets, and position us for expansion
into complementary new markets in the U.S., Europe, and Asia, where we can bolster our client base, as well as enhance our service offering to existing clients
across multiple jurisdictions. Our focus will be on markets with attractive characteristics including significant market size, low regulatory barriers, and limited
competition, where we can leverage our existing footprint. In alternatives, our focus to date has been on liquid alternatives and real estate. We plan to offer
private markets and impact investing solutions, which also have significant appeal to UHNW clients, foundations, and institutional investors, and where we are
able to leverage our global distribution platform.

Select acquisitions and stakes in strategic managers. We expect to continue to diligently evaluate and execute on inorganic opportunities which will
enhance our platform by broadening our global footprint or enabling us to expand our product offerings. We will also analyze opportunities to increase our
ownership stakes in best-in-class managers. We have a proven track record in the wealth management and alternatives sectors, taking a disciplined approach
to our pipeline and acquisition criteria. We focus on the target firm's profile, footprint, and fit. As an independent platform with long-tenured clients and an
extensive suite of services, we are a desirable partner for firms seeking consolidation and growth. In the alternatives business, our operational support platform
and global distribution capabilities are attractive to managers looking to scale their funds globally.

Expanded client base and deepened existing relationships. We will continue to fortify our client base through exceptional service and innovative solutions.
We plan to expand our client base by leveraging our enhanced scale, skills, and the experience gained over our 20+ year history, operating globally across
various market cycles. We expect to expand existing relationships through new investment solutions and complementary services.

Growth through impact offering. As of December 31, 2023, assets invested in impact strategies accounted for $4.4 billion of our AUM, and are a key area of

growth within our wealth management platform. We are also planning to offer impact strategies in our alternatives business as they have significant appeal to
UHNW clients, foundations, and institutional investor.
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Record of Constructive Partnership

We have the mergers and acquisition experience to complement proven organic growth, having made a number of acquisitions or joint venture investments to
date. Below are three examples of such accretive transactions.

threshold (Lsvedee Capital Partners LLP

Wealth Management

» Acquired 30% stake in Lugano-based $943 million ¢« Acquired Seattle-based $3.4 billion AUM « Acquired initial minority stake in London-based
AUM Wealth manager in 2019 wealth manager in 2017 European Long Short fund in 2020

« Expanded into attractive Northern Italian market + Grew scale and West Coast presence in * Provided Zebedee immediate distribution access to
.« Grew assets to $1.2 billion in 2023 wealth management U.S. and global investors

« In August 2023, acquired remaining 70% stake. Expanded impact investing capabilities « Investors Choice winner in 2022

* Increased stake by 5% to 12% in 2023

Applying our core principles globally, we aim to build on the success of our business, through:

* Organic Growth: We attract clients and grow our AUM by providing exceptional client service and executing our clients’ investment objectives, partnering
with our clients to deliver solutions, and accessing impact investing and other innovative investment opportunities on our clients’ behalf.

* Selective Accretive Acquisitions: We thoughtfully evaluate global acquisition opportunities that enhance and deepen the services that we can offer our
clients and investors. As the global markets continue to evolve, we see manifold possibilities for accretive expansion.

Through our business lines, we intend to: (1) provide our clients and investors access to unique investment and co-investment opportunities; (2) provide
customized service to meet the needs of our clients and their families; (3) invest with intention—taking seriously the modern responsibilities of wealth; (4)
innovate continuously to meet the needs and aspirations of our clients and investors; and (5) grow rapidly—both organically and by acquisitions—to build a
premiere global financial services firm.

Competition

Wealth Management

The wealth management industry is highly fragmented (according to the Investment Advisor Association, in 2022 there were 15,114 registered investment
advisors in the United States alone), leading to intense competition on both the regional and local levels. According to Piper Sandler, the industry’s
fragmentation is driven by a few key factors, including:

* Low barriers to entry: launching a wealth management firm entails relatively low start-up costs with little upfront capital; and

« Local focus: wealth management firms are typically locally focused, and expansion beyond a registered investment advisor’s local market can require
significant costs and senior management resources.

In addition to the competition on the local level, we face intense competition in the markets in which we operate from national and international wealth managers,
ranging from large independent wealth managers, wealth managers that sit within larger financial institutions, to private equity-backed wealth management
platforms,
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which have been relatively recently built through serial acquisitions, driving near-term scale, enhanced scope of investment capabilities, and exposure to new
markets.

Key competitors in the United States are regional or national independent multi-family offices, or consultants, including: BBR, Brown Advisors, SCS, Jordan
Park, Cresset and Mercer Advisors, or banks or trust companies such as: Bessemer Trust, UBS, Northern Trust, JP Morgan and Goldman Sachs. Internationally
we compete with certain local multi-family offices focused on specific regions or countries, as well as with consultants, such as: We Family Offices, Cambridge
Associates and ARC. However, internationally our primary competitors currently are the banks such as UBS, Goldman Sachs, Pictet, and JPMorgan.

Strategic Alternatives

The investment management industry, encompassing asset management and fund management, is intensely competitive, and we expect it to remain so. We
compete globally and on a regional, industry, and asset basis.

We face competition both in the pursuit of fund investors and investment opportunities. Generally, our competition varies across business lines, geographies,
and financial markets. We compete for investors based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, investor perception of investment managers’
drive, focus and alignment of interest, quality of service provided to and duration of relationship with investors, breadth of our product offering, business
reputation, and the level of fees and expenses charged for services. We compete for investment opportunities at our funds based on a variety of factors,
including breadth of market coverage and relationships, access to capital, transaction execution skills, the range of products and services offered, innovation,
and price, and we expect that competition will continue to increase.

We and our funds also compete with public and private funds, commercial and investment banks, commercial finance companies and, to the extent they provide
an alternative form of financing, private equity, and hedge funds. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and may have more financial, technical, and
marketing resources than we do. Many of these competitors have similar investment objectives to us, which may create additional competition for investment
opportunities. Some of these competitors may also have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create
competitive disadvantages for us with respect to investment opportunities. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk
assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more relationships than us. Lastly, institutional, and individual
investors are allocating increasing amounts of capital to alternative investment strategies. Several large institutional investors have announced a desire to
consolidate their investments in a more limited number of managers. We expect that this will cause competition in our industry to intensify and could lead to a
reduction in the size and duration of pricing inefficiencies that many of our funds seek to exploit.

Competition is also intense for the attraction and retention of qualified employees. Our ability to continue to compete effectively in our businesses will depend
upon our ability to attract new employees and retain and motivate our existing employees.

For additional information concerning the competitive risks that we face, see “Risk Factors” in ltem 1A.
Employees

As of December 31, 2023, we employed approximately 480 professionals (including approximately 80 individuals expected to depart related to the pending sale
of FOS and the sale of LRA, which became effective on March 5, 2024). The total individuals employed include 28 investment professionals, and, approximately
45% of our employees are women. Diversity, equity, and inclusion are key to our firm’s open culture and long-term success. We recognize the important link
between corporate values, employee engagement, and corporate performance. We also strive to foster a supportive environment that cultivates professional
growth and development and encourages team members to continuously develop their skills. We consider our relationship with employees to be vital and are
focused on effective attraction, development, retention, compensation and benefits for all employees. This includes workforce and management development,
diversity and inclusion initiatives, corporate culture and leadership quality, and morale and development, which are vital to the success
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of our innovation-driven growth strategy. Our values are built on mutual respect, constructive dissent, operating at the highest standard, and acting in the best
interest of our stakeholders.

Regulatory and Compliance Matters

Our businesses, as well as the financial services industry, generally are subject to extensive regulation, including periodic examinations, by governmental
agencies and self-regulatory organizations or exchanges in the United States and foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. Such regulation relates to, among
other things, antitrust laws, anti-money laundering laws, anti-bribery laws relating to foreign officials, tax laws, and privacy laws with respect to client and other
information, and some of our funds invest in businesses that operate in highly regulated industries.

Each of the regulatory bodies with jurisdiction over us has regulatory powers dealing with many aspects of financial services, including the authority to grant, and
in specific circumstances to cancel, permissions to carry on particular activities. Any failure to comply with these rules and regulations could limit our ability to
carry on particular activities or expose us to liability and/or reputational damage. Additional legislation, increasing global regulatory oversight of fundraising
activities, changes in rules promulgated by self-regulatory organizations or exchanges, or changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and
rules, either in the United States or elsewhere, may directly affect our mode of operation and profitability. See “Risk Factors” in ltem 1A.

Rigorous legal and compliance analysis of our businesses and our funds’ investments is important to our culture. We strive to maintain a culture of compliance
using policies and procedures such as compliance oversight, codes of ethics, compliance systems, communication of compliance guidance, and employee
education and training. All employees must annually certify their understanding of and compliance with key global firm policies, procedures, and code of ethics.
We have compliance groups that monitor our compliance with the regulatory requirements to which we are subject and manage our compliance policies and
procedures. Our compliance groups are supervised by our Chief Compliance Officer and divisional compliance officers, which are responsible for monitoring all
regulatory and compliance matters that affect our activities. Our compliance policies and procedures address a variety of regulatory and compliance risks such
as the handling of material non-public information, personal securities trading, document retention, potential conflicts of interest, and the allocation of investment
opportunities. We also engage with outside counsel as needed to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Many jurisdictions in which we operate also have laws and regulations relating to data privacy, cybersecurity, and protection of personal information, including
the EU General Data Protection Regulation, which sets forth rules for the protection of personal data of individuals within the EEA and for the export of such
individuals’ personal data outside the EEA, the UK General Data Protection Regulation, which replaced the EU GDPR in the UK on January 1, 2021 but which
applies the same rules for the protection of personal data of individuals in the UK and for the export of such individuals’ personal data outside the UK, and the
California Consumer Privacy Act, which creates new rights and obligations related to personal data of residents (and households) in California. Any
determination of a failure to comply with any such laws or regulations could result in fines and/or sanctions, as well as reputational harm.

To the extent that any of these laws and regulations to which we are subject in the operation of our business or the enforcement of the same become more
stringent, or if new laws or regulations are enacted, our financial performance or plans for growth may be adversely impacted.

United States
SEC Regulations

We provide investment advisory services through certain entities within our structure that are registered as investment advisers with the SEC pursuant to the
Advisers Act. As compared to other, more disclosure-oriented U.S. federal securities laws, the Advisers Act, and the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended (the “Investment Company Act”), together with the SEC’s regulations and interpretations thereunder, are highly
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restrictive regulatory statutes. The SEC is authorized to institute proceedings and impose sanctions for violations of the Advisers Act and the Investment
Company Act, ranging from fines and censures to termination of an adviser’s registration.

Under the Advisers Act, an investment adviser (whether registered or not under the Advisers Act) has fiduciary duties to its clients. The SEC has interpreted
these duties to impose standards, requirements, and limitations on, among other things, trading for proprietary, personal, and client accounts; allocations of
investment opportunities among clients; and conflicts of interest. The Advisers Act also imposes specific restrictions on an investment adviser’s ability to engage
in principal and agency cross transactions. Our firm is subject to many additional requirements that cover, among other things, disclosure of information about
our business to clients; maintenance of written policies and procedures; maintenance of extensive books and records; restrictions on the types of fees we may
charge, including incentive fees or carried interest; solicitation arrangements; maintenance of an effective compliance program; custody of client assets; client
privacy; advertising; and proxy voting. The SEC has authority to inspect any registered investment adviser and typically inspects a registered investment adviser
periodically to determine whether the adviser is conducting its activities in compliance with (i) applicable laws, (ii) disclosures made to clients, and (iii) adequate
systems, policies, and procedures to ensure compliance.

In recent years, the SEC and its staff have focused on issues relevant to global investment firms and have formed specialized units devoted to examining such
firms and, in certain cases, brought enforcement actions against the firms, their principals and their employees. It is generally expected that the SEC’s oversight
of global investment firms will continue to focus on concerns related to, among other things, transparency, investor disclosure practices, investment risks and
conflicts of interest, fees and expenses, liquidity, valuation of assets, and controls around material non-public information, which could impact the Company’s
investment adviser entities in various ways. Future legislation, regulation or guidance may have an adverse effect on the fund industry generally and/or us
specifically. Financial services regulation, including regulations applicable to our business, has increased significantly in recent years, and may in the future be
subject to further enhanced governmental scrutiny and/or increased regulation, including resulting from changes in U.S. executive administration or
Congressional leadership.

Under the Advisers Act, our investment advisory agreements may not be assigned without the client’s consent. “Assignment” is broadly defined and includes
direct assignments as well as assignments that may be deemed to occur upon the transfer, directly or indirectly, of a controlling interest in us.

Other Federal and State Regulators; Self-Regulatory Organizations

In addition to SEC regulatory oversight, we are subject to compliance under the Advisers Act, and there are several other regulatory bodies that have or could
potentially have jurisdiction to regulate our business activities.

Besides the United States, we currently have operations in France, Hong Kong, the Isle of Man, Italy, Portugal, Singapore, Switzerland and United Kingdom. As
we expand our operations in the United States, Europe, Asia and other jurisdictions, we will become subject to various legislative frameworks in those
jurisdictions
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risk Factor Summary

The following summary highlights some of the principal risks that could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. This summary
is not complete and the risks summarized below are not the only risks we face. These risks are discussed more fully further below in this section entitled “Risk
Factors” in Item 1A. of this Annual Report. These risks include, but are not limited to, the following:

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Difficult market and political conditions may reduce the value or hamper the performance of the investments made by our investment products and
services or impair the ability of our investment products and services to raise or deploy capital.

Inflation may adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of our investment products and services.
Rapidly rising interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our business and that of our investment products and services’ portfolio companies.

Changes in market and economic conditions could lower the value of assets on which we earn revenue and could decrease the demand for our
investment solutions and services.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by
financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial condition and
results of operations.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in our subsidiaries, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions made by
our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement (see Note 20 (Commitments and Contingencies)) and pay dividends.

Our revenue is derived from fees correlated to the amount of assets under management and assets under advisement that we have and the performance
of our investment strategies and/or products. Poor performance of our investments in the future or terminations of significant client relationships, in each
case, resulting in a reduction in assets under management or advisement, could have a materially adverse impact on our results, financial condition or
business.

The success of our business depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients.

The historical returns attributable to our investment products and services should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our investment
products and services or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A Common Stock.

Valuation methodologies for certain assets of our investment products and services can be open to subjectivity.

The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments and M&A may not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection with an
investment or acquisition.

Dependence on leverage by certain funds, underlying investment funds and portfolio companies subjects us to volatility and contractions in the debt
financing markets and could adversely affect the ability of our funds to achieve attractive rates of return on their investments.

Defaults by third-party investors could adversely affect that fund’s operations and performance.
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Our failure to comply with investment guidelines of our clients could result in damage awards against us or a reduction in AUM, either of which would
cause our earnings to decline and adversely affect our business.

We may not have control over the day-to-day operations of many of the funds included in our investments and we do not control the business of the
External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments.

The investment products, services, and investment strategies we currently pursue may expose us to specific market, tax, regulatory and other risks.
Investments made on behalf of our clients may in many cases rank junior to investments made by other investors.
Certain of our investments utilize special situation and distressed debt investment strategies that involve significant risks.

Our investment advisory contracts may be terminated or may not be renewed by investors or fund boards on favorable terms and the liquidation of
certain funds may be accelerated at the option of investors.

We may sell our strategic investments in the External Strategic Managers or they may sell their businesses or exercise their rights to purchase our
interests.

We may establish fund vehicles in the future to own the existing strategic investments in our External Strategic Managers or to make strategic
investments in new External Strategic Managers.

If we are unable to compete effectively, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

The anticipated benefits of the Business Combination may not be realized or may take longer than expected to realize.

The anticipated benefits of future acquisitions that we may pursue may not be realized or may take longer than expected to realize.
Potential conflicts of interest in allocation among funds may occur.

Conflicts of interest may arise in our allocation of costs and expenses, and we are subject to increased regulatory scrutiny and uncertainty with regard to
those allocations.

Conflicts related to investments by several of our investment products and services at different levels of the capital structure of a single portfolio company.
Additional and unpredictable conflicts of interests may rise in the future.

Our entitlement and that of certain employees to receive performance income from certain of our investment products and services may create an
incentive for us to make more speculative investments and determinations on behalf of our investment products and services than would be the case in
the absence of such performance income.

We have implemented procedures to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements that prevent us from fully
realizing potential synergies across our various businesses.

Failure to properly disclose conflicts of interest could harm our reputation, results of operations, financial condition or business.

We pay carried interest and performance-based fees to our investment professionals and other personnel in order to attract and retain them, which may
result in a reduction of our revenues and a decrease in our profit margins.

28



The selection of a replacement for London Interbank Offered Rate may affect the value of investments held by our funds and could affect our results of
operations and financial results.

Risks Related to Geographical Environment

.

Our international operations subject us to numerous risks.

The impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war on the global economy, energy supplies and raw materials is uncertain, but may
prove to negatively impact our business and operations.

Our operations in Hong Kong may be adversely affected by political and trade tensions between the U.S. and China.

We are expanding our business and may enter into new lines of business or geographic markets, which may result in additional risks and uncertainties
and place significant demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources. There can be no assurance that we will be able to successfully
manage this growth.

Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment

We are exposed to litigation risk and subject to regulatory examinations and investigations.

We are subject to extensive government regulation, and our failure or inability to comply with these regulations or regulatory action against us could
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

We are subject to U.S. foreign investment regulations, which may impose conditions on or limit certain investors’ ability to purchase or maintain our Class
A Common Stock.

Changes in tax law or policy could increase our effective tax rate and tax liability or the taxes payable by investors in our funds or holders of shares of our
Class A Common Stock, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may be subject to the excise tax included in the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 of in connection with redemptions of our Class A Common Stock
after December 31, 2022.

Federal, state and foreign anti-corruption, export control and sanctions laws create the potential for significant liabilities and penalties and reputational
harm.

Failure to comply with “pay to play” regulations implemented by the SEC and certain states, and changes to the “pay to play” regulatory regimes, could
adversely affect our business.

Failure to comply with regulations regarding the prevention of money laundering or terrorism or national security could adversely affect our business.

Financial regulations and changes thereto in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus could
result in additional burdens and expenses on our business.

We may be subject to increasing scrutiny from our clients with respect to the societal and environmental impact of investments we make, which may
adversely impact our ability to retain clients or to grow our client base and assets under management or assets under advisement, and also may cause
us to more likely invest client capital based on societal and environmental factors instead of investing client capital in the investment opportunities with
the highest return potential for a particular level of risk.

We are exposed to data and cybersecurity risks that could result in data breaches, service interruptions, harm to our reputation, protracted and costly
litigation or significant liability.
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If we are not able to satisfy data protection, security, privacy and other government- and industry-specific requirements or regulations, our results of
operations, financial condition or business could be harmed.

We may be unable to remain in compliance with the financial or other covenants contained in the Credit Agreement and other debt instruments. Any
breach of our credit facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants, and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary
information.

We may face damage to our professional reputation and legal liability if our services are not regarded as satisfactory or for other reasons.
Our inability to obtain adequate insurance could subject us to additional risk of loss or additional expenses.

Our controls and procedures may fail or be circumvented, our risk management policies and procedures may be inadequate and operational risks could
adversely affect our reputation and financial condition.

If Umbrella were treated as a corporation for U.S. federal, state or local tax purposes, then the amount available for distribution by it could be
substantially reduced and our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated or exceed the actual tax benefits realized by the Company.

Umbrella may directly or indirectly make distributions of cash to us substantially in excess of the amounts we use to make distributions to our
stockholders and pay our expenses (including our taxes and payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement). To the extent we do not distribute such
excess cash to our stockholders, the direct or indirect holders of Umbrella common units would benefit from any value attributable to such cash as a
result of their ownership of our stock upon a Unit Exchange.

We depend on our senior management team, senior investment professionals and other key personnel to provide their services to us and our investment
products and services.

Risks Related to Personnel

We rely on our management team to grow our business, and the loss of key management members, or an inability to hire key personnel, could harm our
business.

Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain fund investors and subjecting us to significant legal liability, regulatory
scrutiny and reputational harm.

Our future growth depends on our ability to attract, retain and develop human capital in a highly competitive talent market.

Risks Related to Being a Public Company

Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective and our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify as to
their effectiveness, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business and reputation.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may find additional in the future or fail to maintain an effective
system of internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our
operating results and our ability to operate our business could be harmed.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their recommendations regarding our
shares or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, our share price and trading volume could decline.

As a public company, we are subject to additional laws, regulations and stock exchange listing standards, which will impose additional costs on us and
may strain our resources and divert our management’s attention.

If we are deemed an “investment company” subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it impractical for
us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes these metrics difficult to predict.

The requirements of being a public company, including maintaining adequate internal control over our financial and management systems, may strain our
resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

The forecasts of market growth and other projections included in this Annual Report may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the markets in which we
compete achieve the forecasted growth, we cannot assure you that our business will grow at a similar rate, if at all.

We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act and we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure
requirements available to emerging growth companies; this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to
compare our performance with other public companies.

Our certificate of incorporation provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum
for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, employees or stockholders.

General Risk Factors

We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, restructuring and impairment or other charges that could have a significant negative effect on our
financial condition and its share price, which could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.

Nasdaq may delist our securities from trading on its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities and subject us to
additional trading restrictions.

The Company’s certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the
ability of stockholders to take certain actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

Our business and operations could be negatively affected if we become subject to any securities litigation or stockholder activism, which could cause us
to incur significant expense, hinder execution of business and growth strategy and impact its stock price.

Future resales of shares may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below and the other information in this Annual Report before making an investment in our
Class A Common Stock. Our business, financial condition, results of operations, or prospects could be materially and adversely affected if any of these risks
occurs, and as
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a result, the market price of our Class A Common Stock could decline and you could lose all or part of your investment. This Annual Report also contains
forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.” Our actual results could differ
materially and adversely from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth below.

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

Difficult market and political conditions may reduce the value or hamper the performance of the investments made by our investment products and
services or impair the ability of our investment products and services to raise or deploy capital.

Our business is affected by conditions and trends in the global financial markets and the global economic and political climate relating to, among other things,
current high interest rates, the availability and cost of credit, economic uncertainty, changes in laws (including laws relating to our taxation, taxation of our clients
and the possibility of changes to regulations applicable to alternative asset managers), trade policies, commodity prices, tariffs, currency exchange rates and
controls, political elections and administration transitions, and national and international political events (including conflicts, terrorist acts, and security
operations) and catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes and global health pandemics. These factors are outside of our
control and may affect the level and volatility of credit and securities prices and the liquidity and value of fund investments, and we and our investment products
and services may not be able to or may choose not to manage our exposure to these conditions.

During periods of difficult market conditions or slowdowns, which may be across one or more industries, sectors or geographies, our investment products and
services’ portfolio companies may experience decreased revenues, financial losses, credit rating downgrades, difficulty in obtaining access to financing and
increased funding costs. During such periods, those companies may also have difficulty in pursuing growth strategies, expanding their businesses and
operations and be unable to meet their debt service obligations or other expenses as they become due, including obligations and expenses payable to our funds.
Negative financial results in our investment products and services’ portfolio companies may reduce the net asset value of our investment products and services,
result in the impairment of assets and reduce the investment returns for our investment products and services, which could have a material adverse effect on
our operating results and cash flow or ability to raise additional capital through new or successor investment products and services. In addition, such conditions
would increase the risk of default with respect to credit-oriented or debt investments by our investment products and services. Our investment products and
services may be adversely affected by reduced opportunities to exit and realize value from their investments, by lower than expected returns on investments
made prior to the deterioration of the credit markets and by our inability to find suitable investments for our investment products and services to effectively
deploy capital, which could adversely affect our ability to raise new funds and thus adversely impact our prospects for future growth.

Inflation may adversely affect the business, results of operations and financial condition of our investment products and services.

Certain of our investment products and services and their portfolio companies operate in industries that have been impacted by inflation. Recent inflationary
pressures have increased the costs of labor, energy and raw materials and have adversely affected consumer spending, economic growth and our investment
products and services’ portfolio companies’ operations. If such portfolio companies are unable to pass any increases in the costs of their operations along to
their customers, it could adversely affect their operating results. Such conditions would increase the risk of default on their obligations as a borrower. In addition,
any projected future decreases in the operating results of our investment products and services’ portfolio companies due to inflation could adversely impact the
fair value of those investments. Any decreases in the fair value of our investment products and services’ investments could result in future realized or unrealized
losses.

Higher interest rates could have a material adverse effect on our business and that of our investment products and services’ portfolio companies.

Higher interest rates could have a dampening effect on overall economic activity, the financial condition of our customers and the financial condition of the end
customers who ultimately create demand for the capital we supply, all of which could negatively affect demand for our investment products and services’ capital.
Interest
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rates, which are subject to the influence of economic conditions generally, both domestic and foreign, to events in the capital markets and also to the monetary
and fiscal policies of the United States and its agencies, particularly the FRB. The nature and timing of any changes in such policies or general economic
conditions and their effect on us cannot be controlled and are extremely difficult to predict. High interest rates may have a material effect on our business making
it particularly difficult for us to obtain financing at attractive rates, impacting our ability to execute on our growth strategies or future acquisitions.

Changes in market and economic conditions could lower the value of assets on which we earn revenue and could decrease the demand for our
investment solutions and services.

We operate in the financial services industry. The financial markets, and in turn the financial services industry, are affected by many factors, such as U.S. and
foreign economic and geopolitical conditions and general trends in business and finance that are beyond our control, and could be adversely affected by
changes in the equity or debt marketplaces, unanticipated changes in currency exchange rates, interest rates, inflation rates, the yield curve, financial crises,
war, terrorism, natural disasters, pandemics and outbreaks of disease or similar public health concerns, and other factors that are difficult to predict. In the event
that the U.S. or international financial markets suffer a severe or prolonged economic downturn, investments may lose value and investors may choose to
withdraw assets from financial advisers and use the assets to pay expenses or transfer them to investments that they perceive to be more secure, such as bank
deposits and Treasury securities. Any prolonged downturn in financial markets, or increased levels of asset withdrawals could have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Significant fluctuations in securities prices have and will continue to materially affect the value of the assets we manage and may also influence financial adviser
and investor decisions regarding whether to invest in, or maintain an investment in, one or more of our investment solutions. If such fluctuations in securities
prices were to lead to decreased investment in the securities markets, our revenue and earnings derived from asset-based revenue could be materially and
adversely affected. Furthermore, changing economic conditions, including the increase in remote work or hybrid work arrangements, could result in lower
occupancy, lower rental rates and declining values in our real estate portfolio, which could have the following negative effects on us:

« the values of our investments in commercial properties could decrease below the amounts paid for such investments; and
< revenues from the properties underlying our real estate investments could decrease due to fewer tenants and/or lower rental rates.

Inflation could have an adverse impact on any variable rate debt and general and administrative expenses, as these costs could increase at a rate higher than
our revenue. The , the Bank of England and other central banks raised interest rates throughout 2022 and 2023 to combat inflation and restore price stability. As
a result, to the extent our exposure to increases in interest rates is not eliminated through interest rate swaps or other protection agreements, such increases
may result in higher debt service costs, which will adversely affect our cash flows, earnings and asset and liability valuations.

Adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance
by financial institutions or transactional counterparties, could adversely affect our current and projected business operations and our financial
condition and results of operations.

Actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, transactional counterparties or
other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other
similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. Inflation and rapid increases in interest rates have led to a decline in
the trading value of previously issued government securities with interest rates below current market interest rates. The Federal Reserve announced a program
to provide loans to depository institutions insured by the FDIC and certain U.S. branches and agencies of foreign banks secured by certain of such government
securities to mitigate the risk of potential losses on the sale of such instruments. Currently, new advances (with terms up to one year) under the program could
only be made through March 11 2024. There is no guarantee that the U.S. Department of the Treasury, FDIC and/or Federal Reserve, as applicable, take such
actions in the future in the event of the closure of other banks or financial
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institutions, that they would do so in a timely fashion or that such actions, if taken, would have their intended effect.

Although we assess our banking relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to funding sources and other credit arrangements in amounts
adequate to finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be significantly impaired by factors that affect us, the financial
institutions with which we have arrangements directly, or the financial services industry or economy in general. These factors could include, among others,
events such as liquidity constraints or failures, the ability to perform obligations under various types of financial, credit or liquidity agreements or arrangements,
disruptions or instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations about the prospects for companies in the
financial services industry. These factors could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which we have financial or business
relationships, but could also include factors involving financial markets or the financial services industry generally.

The results of events or concerns that involve one or more of these factors could include a variety of material and adverse impacts on our current and projected
business operations, our financial condition and results of operations, and our ability to comply with covenants in the Credit Agreement and other debt
instruments.

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including higher
interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it more
difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. Any of these impacts, or any other impacts resulting from the factors described above or other
related or similar factors not described above, could have material adverse impacts on our liquidity and our current and/or projected business operations and
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Business and Industry

We are a holding company and our only material asset is our interest in our subsidiaries, and we are accordingly dependent upon distributions made
by our subsidiaries to pay taxes, make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends.

Since the completion of the Business Combination, we are a holding company with no material assets other than the equity interests in our direct and indirect
subsidiaries, including Umbrella. As a result, we have no independent means of generating revenue or cash flow. Our ability to pay taxes, make payments under
the Tax Receivable Agreement and pay dividends or make other distributions depends on the financial results and cash flows of our subsidiaries and the
distributions we receive from our subsidiaries. Deterioration in the financial condition, earnings or cash flow of such subsidiaries for any reason could limit or
impair such subsidiaries’ ability to pay such distributions. Additionally, to the extent that we need funds and our subsidiaries are restricted from making such
distributions under applicable law or regulation or under the terms of any financing arrangements, or our subsidiaries are otherwise unable to provide such
funds, it could materially adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.

Subject to the discussion herein, Umbrella will continue to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and, as such, generally will not be
subject to any entity-level U.S. federal income tax. Instead, taxable income will be allocated to holders of Umbrella common units. Accordingly, we will be
required to pay income taxes on our allocable share of any net taxable income of Umbrella. Under the terms of the Umbrella LLC Agreement, Umbrella is
obligated to make tax distributions to holders of Umbrella common units (including the Company) calculated at certain assumed tax rates. In addition to tax
expenses, we will also incur expenses related to our operations, including our payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which could be
significant, and some of which will be reimbursed by Umbrella (excluding payment obligations under the Tax Receivable Agreement). We intend to cause
Umbrella to make ordinary distributions and tax distributions to holders of Umbrella common units on a pro rata basis in amounts sufficient to cover all
applicable taxes, relevant operating expenses, payments we make under the Tax Receivable Agreement and dividends, if any, we declare. However, Umbrella’s
ability to make such distributions may be subject to various limitations and restrictions including, but not limited to, retention of amounts necessary to satisfy the
obligations of Umbrella and restrictions on distributions that would violate any applicable restrictions contained in Umbrella’s debt agreements, or any applicable
law, or that would have the effect of rendering Umbrella insolvent. Any restrictions on the ability of Umbrella’s subsidiaries to make dividends or other
distributions to
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Umbrella would also reduce the cash available to Umbrella to make distributions. To the extent that we are unable to make payments under the Tax Receivable
Agreement for any reason, such payments will be deferred and will accrue interest until paid.

Dividends on our shares, if any, will be paid at the discretion of the Board, which will consider, among other things, our business, operating results, financial
condition, current and expected cash needs, plans for expansion and any legal or contractual limitations on our ability to pay such dividends. Financing
arrangements may include restrictive covenants that restrict our ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to our stockholders. In addition, entities are
generally prohibited under relevant law from making a distribution to a stockholder to the extent that, at the time of the distribution, after giving effect to the
distribution, the liabilities of such entity (subject to certain exceptions) exceed the fair value of its assets. If our subsidiaries do not have sufficient funds to make
distributions, the Company’s ability to declare and pay cash dividends may also be restricted or impaired.

Our revenue is derived from fees correlated to the amount of assets under management and assets under advisement that we have and the
performance of our investment strategies and/or products. Poor performance of our investments in the future or terminations of significant client
relationships, in each case, resulting in a reduction in assets under management or advisement, could have a materially adverse impact on our
results, financial condition or business.

The success and growth of our business is dependent upon the performance of our investments. Poor performance of our investments could cause a decline in
our revenues as a result of reduced management fees and incentive fees from our clients, as applicable, and may therefore have a materially adverse impact on
our results. If we fail to meet the expectations of our clients or our investments otherwise experience poor investment performance, whether due to general
economic and financial conditions, our investment acumen or otherwise, our ability to retain existing assets under management or advisement and attract new
clients could be materially adversely affected and our management fees and/or incentive fees would be reduced. Furthermore, even if the investment
performance of our investments is positive, our business or financial condition could be materially adversely affected if we are unable to attract and retain
additional assets under management and assets under advisement consistent with our past experience, industry trends or investor and market expectations.

The success of our business depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients.

Our success largely depends on the identification and availability of suitable investment opportunities for our clients, including the success of underlying funds
and products in which our clients invest. The availability of investment opportunities will be subject to market conditions and other factors outside of our control
and the control of the investment managers with which we invest for our clients. Past returns of our clients have benefited from investment opportunities and
general market conditions that may not continue or reoccur, including favorable borrowing conditions in the debt markets, and there can be no assurance that
our clients or the underlying funds and other products in which we invest for our clients will be able to avail themselves of comparable opportunities and
conditions. There can also be no assurance that the underlying funds and other products we select will be able to identify sufficient attractive investment
opportunities to meet their investment objectives.

The historical returns attributable to our investment products and services should not be considered as indicative of the future results of our
investment products and services or of our future results or of any returns expected on an investment in our Class A Common Stock.

The historical performance of our investment products and services is relevant to us primarily insofar as it is indicative of our reputation and ability to raise new
funds. The historical and potential returns of the funds we advise are not, however, directly linked to returns on shares of our Class A Common Stock.
Therefore, holders of our Class A Common Stock should not conclude that positive performance of the funds we advise will necessarily result in positive returns
on a return on investment in our Class A Common Stock. However, poor performance of our investment products and services we advise would likely cause a
decline in our revenues and would therefore likely have a negative effect on our operating results, returns on our Class A Common Stock and a negative impact
on our ability to raise new funds. Also, there is no assurance that projections in respect of our investment products and services or unrealized valuations will be
realized.
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Moreover, the historical returns of our investment products and services should not be considered indicative of the future returns of these or from any future
funds we may raise, in part because:

market conditions during previous periods may have been significantly more favorable for generating positive performance than the market conditions we
may experience in the future;

our investment products and services' rates of returns, which are calculated on the basis of net asset value of the funds’ investments, reflect unrealized
gains, which may never be realized;

our investment products and services'’ returns have previously benefited from investment opportunities and general market conditions that may not recur,
including the availability of debt capital on attractive terms and the availability of distressed debt opportunities, and we may not be able to achieve the
same returns or profitable investment opportunities or deploy capital as quickly;

the historical returns that we present in this report derive largely from the performance of our earlier funds, whereas future fund returns will depend
increasingly on the performance of our newer funds or funds not yet formed, which may have little or no realized investment track record;

our investment products and services’ historical investments were made over a long period of time and over the course of various market and
macroeconomic cycles, and the circumstances under which our current or future funds may make future investments may differ significantly from those
conditions prevailing in the past;

the attractive returns of certain of our investment products and services have been driven by the rapid return on invested capital, which has not occurred
with respect to all of our investment products and services and we believe is less likely to occur in the future;

in recent years, there has been increased competition for investment opportunities resulting from the increased amount of capital invested in alternative
funds and high liquidity in debt markets, and the increased competition for investments may reduce our returns in the future; and

our newly established funds may generate lower returns during the period that they take to deploy their capital.

The future return for any current or future fund may vary considerably from the historical return generated by any particular fund, or for our investment
products and services as a whole. Future returns will also be affected by the risks described elsewhere in this report, including risks of the industries and
businesses in which a particular fund invests.

Valuation methodologies for certain assets of our investment products and services can be open to subjectivity.

Many of the investments in our investment products and services are illiquid and thus have no readily ascertainable market prices. We value these investments
based on our estimate, or an independent third party’s estimate, of their value as of the date of determination. The determination of fair value, and thus the
amount of unrealized appreciation or depreciation our investment products and services may recognize in any reporting period, is to a degree subjective. Our
investment products and services generally value their investments quarterly at fair value, based on, among other things, the input of third party valuation firms
and taking into account the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and its earnings, the markets in which
the portfolio company operates, comparison to publicly traded companies, discounted cash flow, current market interest rates and other relevant factors.
Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of private securities, private companies and privately owned real estate, are inherently uncertain, the
valuations may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time due to changes in current market conditions. A fund’s net asset value could be adversely affected
if the determinations regarding the fair value of the investments were materially higher than the values that are ultimately realized upon the disposal of such
investments. These valuations could, in turn, affect the management fees or performance income that our business receives.
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The due diligence process that we undertake in connection with investments and M&A may not reveal all facts that may be relevant in connection
with an investment or acquisition.

Before investing the assets of our clients, we conduct due diligence that we deem reasonable and appropriate based on the facts and circumstances applicable
to each investment. When conducting due diligence, we may be required to evaluate important and complex business, financial, tax, accounting, technological,
environmental, social, governance and legal and regulatory issues. Outside consultants, legal advisors and accountants may be involved in the due diligence
process in varying degrees depending on the type of investment and the parties involved. Nevertheless, when conducting due diligence and making an
assessment regarding an investment, we rely on the resources available to us, including information provided by the target of the investment and, in some
circumstances, third-party investigations, and such an investigation will not necessarily result in the investment ultimately being successful. Moreover, the due
diligence investigation that we will carry out with respect to any investment opportunity may not reveal or highlight all relevant facts or risks that are necessary or
helpful in evaluating such investment opportunity. For example, instances of bribery, fraud, accounting irregularities and other improper, illegal or corrupt
practices can be difficult to detect and may be more widespread in certain jurisdictions.

In addition, a substantial portion of our clients invest in underlying funds, and therefore we are dependent on the due diligence investigation of the underlying
investment manager of such funds. We have little or no control over their due diligence process, and any shortcomings in their due diligence could be reflected
in the performance of the investment we make with them on behalf of our funds. Poor investment performance could lead investors to terminate their
agreements with us and/or result in negative reputational effects, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Dependence on leverage by certain funds, underlying investment funds and portfolio companies subjects us to volatility and contractions in the debt
financing markets and could adversely affect the ability of our funds to achieve attractive rates of return on their investments.

Many of the funds we manage, the funds in which we invest and portfolio companies within our funds and customized separate accounts currently rely on credit
facilities either to facilitate efficient investing or for speculative purposes. If our funds are unable to obtain financing, or the underlying funds or the companies in
which our funds invest are unable to access the structured credit, leveraged loan and high yield bond markets (or do so only at increased cost), the results of
their operations may suffer if such markets experience dislocations, contractions or volatility. Any such events could adversely impact our funds’ ability to invest
efficiently, and may impact the returns of our funds’ investments.

The absence of available sources of sufficient debt financing for extended periods of time or an increase in either the general levels of interest rates or in the risk
spread demanded by sources of indebtedness would make it more expensive to finance those investments, and, in the case of rising interest rates, decrease
the value of fixed-rate debt investments made by our funds. Certain investments may also be financed through fund-level debt facilities, which may or may not
be available for refinancing at the end of their respective terms. Finally, limitations on the deductibility of interest expense on indebtedness used to finance our
funds’ investments reduce the after-tax rates of return on the affected investments and make it more costly to use debt financing. Any of these factors may have
an adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Similarly, private markets fund portfolio companies regularly utilize the corporate debt markets to obtain additional financing for their operations. The leveraged
capital structure of such businesses increases the exposure of the funds’ portfolio companies to adverse economic factors such as rising interest rates,
downturns in the economy or deterioration in the condition of such business or its industry. Any adverse impact caused by the use of leverage by portfolio
companies in which we directly or indirectly invest could in turn adversely affect the returns of our funds.

Defaults by third-party investors could adversely affect that fund’s operations and performance.

Our business is exposed to the risk that investors that owe us money for our services may not pay us. If investors default on their obligations to fund or similar
commitments, there may be adverse consequences on the investment process, and we could incur losses and be unable to meet underlying capital calls. For
example, certain of our funds may utilize lines of credit to fund investments. Because interest expense and other costs of borrowings under lines of credit are an
expense of the fund, the fund’s net multiple of invested capital may be
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reduced, as well as the amount of carried interest generated by the fund. Any material reduction in the amount of carried interest generated by a fund may
adversely affect our revenues.

Our failure to comply with investment guidelines of our clients could result in damage awards against us or a reduction in AUM, either of which
would cause our earnings to decline and adversely affect our business.

Each of our clients is serviced pursuant to specific investment guidelines, which, with respect to our customized separate accounts, are often established
collaboratively between us and the investor. Our failure to comply with these guidelines and other limitations could result in investors terminating their
relationships with us or deciding not to commit further capital to us in respect of new or different funds. In some cases, these investors could also sue us for
breach of contract and seek to recover damages from us. In addition, such guidelines may restrict our ability to pursue certain allocations and strategies on
behalf of our investors that we believe are economically desirable, which could similarly result in losses to a client or termination of the client relationship and a
corresponding reduction in AUM. Even if we comply with all applicable investment guidelines, our investors may nonetheless be dissatisfied with our investment
performance or our services or fees and may terminate their investment with us or be unwilling to commit new capital to our funds. Any of these events could
cause our earnings to decline and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may not have control over the day-to-day operations of many of the funds included in our investments and we do not control the business of the
External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments.

Investments by most of our funds, as well as by the External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments, will include debt instruments
and equity securities of companies that we do not control.

Our funds, as well as the External Strategic Managers, may invest through co-investment arrangements or acquire minority equity interests and may also
dispose of a portion of the equity investments in portfolio companies over time in a manner that results in their retaining a minority investment. Consequently, the
performance of our funds, as well as the External Strategic Managers, will depend significantly on the investment and other decisions made by third parties,
which could have a material adverse effect on the returns achieved by our funds, as well as our External Strategic Managers. Portfolio companies in which the
investment is made may make business, financial or management decisions with which we do not agree. In addition, the majority stakeholders or our
management may take risks or otherwise act in a manner that does not serve our interests. If any of the foregoing were to occur, the values of our investments
and the investments we have made on behalf of our clients could decrease and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow could suffer as a
result. The operations of the External Strategic Managers are not subject to our control.

The investment products, services, and investment strategies we currently pursue may expose us to specific market, tax, regulatory and other risks.

We currently pursue, through our investment products and services, multiple investment strategies. While we believe that there may be certain synergies
amongst the various strategies, there can be no assurance that the benefits will manifest or that there will not be unanticipated consequences resulting
therefrom. Although we are seeking additional investment strategies, relative to more diversified asset managers, our investment products and services’ limited
and specialized focus also leaves us more exposed to risks affecting the sectors in which our investment products and services invest. As our investment
management program is not broadly diversified, we may be uniquely exposed to market, tax, regulatory and other risks affecting the sectors in which we invest.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to take actions necessary to mitigate the effect of such risks or otherwise diversify our investment program to
minimize such exposure.

Investments made on behalf of our clients may in many cases rank junior to investments made by other investors.

In many cases, the companies in which we invest on behalf of our clients have indebtedness or equity securities, or may be permitted to incur indebtedness or to
issue equity securities, that rank senior to investments made on behalf of our clients. By their terms, these instruments may provide that their holders are entitled
to receive payments of dividends, interest or principal on or before the dates on which payments are to be made in respect of our clients’ investments. Also, in
the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or
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bankruptcy of a company in which one or more of our clients hold an investment, holders of securities ranking senior to our client investments would typically be
entitled to receive payment in full before distributions could be made in respect of our client investments. After repaying senior security holders, the issuer may
not have any remaining assets to use for repaying amounts owed in respect of our client investments. To the extent that any assets remain, holders of claims
that rank equally with our client investments would be entitled to share on an equal and ratable basis in distributions that are made out of those assets. Also,
during periods of financial distress or following an insolvency, our ability to influence a company'’s affairs and to take actions to protect investments by our clients
may be substantially less than that of those holding senior interests.

Certain of our investments utilize special situation and distressed debt investment strategies that involve significant risks.

Our clients sometimes invest in companies with weak financial conditions, poor operating results, substantial financial needs, negative net worth and/or special
competitive or regulatory problems. These clients also invest in companies that are or are anticipated to be involved in bankruptcy or reorganization
proceedings. In such situations, it may be difficult to obtain full information as to the exact financial and operating conditions of these companies. Additionally,
the fair values of such investments are subject to abrupt and erratic market movements and significant price volatility if they are publicly traded securities, and
are subject to significant uncertainty in general if they are not publicly traded securities. Furthermore, some of our clients’ distressed investments may not be
widely traded or may have no recognized market. A client's exposure to such investments may be substantial in relation to the market for those investments,
and the assets are likely to be illiquid and difficult to sell or transfer. As a result, it may take a number of years for the market value of such investments to
ultimately reflect their intrinsic value as perceived by us, if at all.

Our distressed investment strategies depend in part on our ability to successfully predict the occurrence of certain corporate events, such as debt and/or equity
offerings, restructurings, reorganizations, mergers, takeover offers and other transactions, that we believe will improve the condition of the business. If the
corporate event we predict is delayed, changed or never completed, the market price and value of the applicable fund’s investment could decline sharply.

In addition, these investments could subject us to certain potential additional liabilities that may exceed the value of our original investment. Under certain
circumstances, payments or distributions on certain investments may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution is later determined to have been a
fraudulent conveyance, a preferential payment or similar transaction under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws. In addition, under certain circumstances,
a lender that has inappropriately exercised control of the management and policies of a debtor may have its claims subordinated or disallowed, or may be found
liable for damages suffered by parties as a result of such actions. In the case where the investment in securities of troubled companies is made in connection
with an attempt to influence a restructuring proposal or plan of reorganization in bankruptcy, our clients and/or we may become involved in substantial litigation.

Our investment advisory contracts may be terminated or may not be renewed by investors or fund boards on favorable terms and the liquidation of
certain funds may be accelerated at the option of investors.

We derive a substantial portion of our revenue from providing investment advisory services. The advisory or management contracts we have entered into with
our clients, including the agreements that govern many of our investment funds, provide investors or, in some cases, the independent directors of applicable
investment funds, with significant latitude to terminate such contracts, withdraw funds or liquidate funds by simple majority vote with limited notice or penalty, or
to remove or terminate us as investment advisor (or equivalent). Our fee arrangements under any of our advisory or management contracts may be reduced
(including at the behest of a fund’s board of directors). In addition, if a number of our investors terminate their contracts, or otherwise remove us from our
advisory roles, liquidate funds or fail to renew management contracts on favorable terms, the fees or carried interest we earn could be reduced, which may
cause our AUM, revenue and earnings to decline. The occurrence of any of these events could lead to a reduction in our revenues and profitability.

We may sell our strategic investments in the External Strategic Managers or they may sell their businesses or exercise their rights to purchase our
interests.

We have made, and may make in the future strategic investments with certain External Strategic Managers that contribute to our revenues. Depending on the
circumstances, in the future we may sell our strategic investments
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in one or more of the External Strategic Managers. We also do not have control over these External Strategic Managers, who may sell their business (including
our interests) without our consent, or they may have a contractual right to purchase our interest from us without our consent. The occurrence of any of these
events could lead to a reduction in our revenues and profitability.

We may establish fund vehicles in the future to own the existing strategic investments in our External Strategic Managers or to make strategic
investments in new External Strategic Managers.

Although we currently own our strategic investments in the External Strategic Managers, in the future we may establish fund vehicles that we manage to own
these investments and any strategic investments we may make in new External Strategic Managers. The benefit of setting up these fund vehicles is that we
would not have to use our own capital to fund these investments since they would be funded by third party investors in our fund vehicles. However, if we
establish such fund vehicles, we will only be entitled to a management fee for managing the vehicles and a carried interest based on the performance of the
investments made in these External Strategic Managers, rather than all of the economics associated with owning the investments in these External Strategic
Managers. Setting up these fund vehicles to own the investments in External Strategic Managers could lead to a reduction in the revenues and profitability we
would have otherwise realized had we owned those interests directly.

If we are unable to compete effectively, our business and financial condition could be adversely affected.

The industry in which we operate is intensely competitive, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment performance, the scope and the
quality of service provided to clients, brand recognition, business reputation and price. Our business competes with a number of private equity funds, hedge
funds, wealth managers, specialized investment funds, solutions providers and other sponsors managing pools of capital, as well as corporate buyers, traditional
asset managers, commercial banks, investment banks and other financial institutions (including sovereign wealth funds), and we expect that competition will
continue to increase. For example, certain traditional asset managers have developed their own private equity platforms and are marketing other asset
allocation strategies as alternatives to hedge fund investments. Additionally, developments in financial technology, such as distributed ledger technology,
commonly referred to as blockchain, have the potential to disrupt the financial industry and change the way financial institutions, as well as asset managers, do
business. A number of factors serve to increase our competitive risks:

* anumber of our competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources and more personnel than we do;

« some of our competitors have significant amounts of capital or are expected to raise significant amounts of capital, and many of them have investment
objectives similar to ours, which may create additional competition for investment opportunities and may reduce the size and duration of pricing
inefficiencies that our investments seek to exploit;

« some of our investments may not perform as well as competitors’ funds or other available investment products;

« some of our competitors may have a lower cost of capital, which may be exacerbated to the extent potential changes to the Code limit the deductibility of
interest expense;

« some of our competitors may have access to funding sources that are not available to us, which may create competitive disadvantages for us with
respect to investment opportunities;

« some of our competitors may be subject to less regulation and accordingly may have more flexibility to undertake and execute certain businesses or
investments than we can and/or bear less compliance expense than we do;

« some of our competitors may have more flexibility than us in raising certain types of investment funds under the investment management contracts they
have negotiated with their investors;

« some of our competitors may have better expertise or be regarded by investors as having better expertise in a specific asset class or geographic region
than we do; and
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« other industry participants may, from time to time, seek to recruit our investment professionals and other employees away from us.

We may find it harder to attract and retain wealth management clients and raise new funds, and we may lose investment opportunities in the future, if we do not
match the prices, structures and terms offered by our competitors. We may not be able to maintain our current fee structures as a result of industry pressure
from investors to reduce fees. In order to maintain our desired fee structures in a competitive environment, we must be able to continue to provide clients with
investment returns and service that incentivize them to pay our desired fee rates. We cannot assure you that we will succeed in providing investment returns and
service that will allow us to maintain our desired fee structure. Fee reductions on existing or future new business could have a material adverse effect on our
profit margins and results of operations.

The anticipated benefits of the Business Combination may not be realized or may take longer than expected to realize.

Achieving the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination, depends, in part, on our ability to optimize our combined operations, which will be a complex,
costly and time-consuming process. If we experience difficulties in this process, the anticipated benefits may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to
realize than expected, which could have an adverse effect on us for an undetermined period. There can be no assurances that we will realize the potential
operating efficiencies, synergies and other benefits currently anticipated from the Business Combination.

The integration of the Target Companies presents material challenges, including, without limitation:
« combining the leadership teams and corporate cultures of TWMH, the TIG Entities and Alvarium;
¢ managing a larger combined business;

* maintaining employee morale and retaining key management and other employees at the combined company, including by offering sufficiently attractive
terms of employment;

« consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures and eliminating duplicative operations; and

¢ managing expense loads and maintaining currently anticipated operating margins given that the Target Companies are different in nature and therefore
may require additional personnel and compensation expenses, which expenses may be borne by us, rather than our funds.

Some of those factors are outside of our control, and any one of them could result in delays, increased costs, decreases in the amount of potential revenues or
synergies, potential cost savings, and diversion of management’s time and energy, which could materially affect our financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows.

The anticipated benefits of future acquisitions that we may pursue may not be realized or may take longer than expected to realize.

We may pursue acquisitions of assets or business that are complementary to our business. For any such acquisitions, the optimization of our combined
operations may be a complex, costly and time-consuming process and if we experience difficulties in this process, the anticipated benefits may not be realized
fully or at all, or may take longer to realize than expected, which could have an adverse effect on us for an undetermined period after any such future acquisition.
There can be no assurances that we will realize any potential operating efficiencies, synergies and other benefits anticipated in connection with such
acquisitions.

The integration of our acquisitions may present material challenges, including, without limitation:
« combining leadership teams and corporate cultures;

« the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing business concerns and performance shortfalls as a result of the devotion of management’s
attention to the integration of a new asset or business;

* managing a larger combined business;
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* maintaining employee morale and retaining key management and other employees, including by offering sufficiently attractive terms of employment;
« retaining existing business and operational relationships, and attracting new business and operational relationships;

« the possibility of faulty assumptions underlying expectations regarding the integration process;

« consolidating corporate and administrative infrastructures and eliminating duplicative operations;

¢ managing expense loads and maintaining currently anticipated operating margins given that investment products and services may be different in nature
and therefore may require additional personnel and compensation expenses, which expenses may be borne by us, rather than our investment products
and services; and

« unanticipated issues in integrating information technology, communications and other systems.

Some of those factors are outside of our control, and any one of them could result in delays, increased costs, decreases in the amount of potential revenues or
synergies, potential cost savings, and diversion of management's time and energy, which could materially affect our financial position, results of operations, and
cash flows.

Potential conflicts of interest in allocation among funds.

Certain of our investment products and services may have overlapping investment objectives, including funds that have different fee structures, and potential
conflicts may arise with respect to our decisions regarding how to allocate investment opportunities among those funds. We may allocate an investment
opportunity that is appropriate for two or more investment funds in a manner that excludes one or more funds or results in a disproportionate allocation based on
factors or criteria that we determine, including but not limited to differences with respect to available capital, the current or anticipated size of a fund, minimum
investment amounts, the remaining life of a fund, differences in investment objectives, guidelines or strategies, diversification, portfolio construction
considerations and other considerations deemed relevant to us and in accordance with our policy. Although we have adopted investment allocation policies and
procedures that are designed to ensure fair and equitable treatment over time, and expect these policies and procedures to continue to evolve, those policies
and procedures will not eliminate all potential conflicts. Certain investment opportunities may be allocated to certain funds that have lower fees or to our co-
investment funds that pay no fees.

Conflicts of interest may arise in our allocation of costs and expenses, and we are subject to increased regulatory scrutiny and uncertainty with
regard to those allocations.

As an asset manager with multiple funds, we regularly make determinations to allocate costs and expenses both among our funds and between our funds and
us. Certain of those allocation determinations are inherently subjective and virtually all of them are subject to regulatory oversight. Any allocation or allegation of,
or investigation into, a potential violation could cause reputational harm and a loss of investor confidence in our business. It could also result in regulatory lapses
and any applicable penalties, as well as increased regulatory oversight of our business. In addition, any determination to allocate costs and expenses to us
could negatively affect our net income, and ultimately decrease the value of our Class A Common Stock and our dividends to our stockholders. Similar
considerations arise when allocating expenses to, or away from vehicles to which specified interests apply.

We have a conflict of interest in determining whether certain costs and expenses are incurred in the course of operating our funds, including the extent to which
services provided by certain employees and associated costs, including compensation, are allocable to certain funds. Our funds generally pay or otherwise bear
all legal, accounting, filing, and other expenses incurred in connection with organizing and establishing the funds and the offering of interests in the funds,
including certain employee compensation. Such determinations often require subjective judgment and may result in us, rather than our funds, being allocated
certain fees and expenses. In addition, our funds generally pay all expenses related to the operation of the funds and their investment activities, in certain cases
subject to caps. We also determine, in our sole discretion, the appropriate allocation of investment-related expenses, including broken deal expenses, incurred
in respect of unconsummated
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investments and expenses more generally relating to a particular investment strategy, among our investment products and services, vehicles and accounts
participating or that would have participated in such investments or that otherwise participate in the relevant investment strategy, as applicable. That often
requires judgment and could result in one or more of our funds bearing more or less of these expenses than other investors or potential investors in the relevant
investments or a fund paying a disproportionate share, including some or all, of the broken deal expenses or other expenses incurred by potential investors. Any
dispute regarding such allocations could lead to our funds or us, as further described below, having to bear some portion of these costs as well as reputational
risk. In addition, for funds that do not pay or otherwise bear the costs and expenses described above because of the application of caps or otherwise, such
amounts may be borne by us, which will reduce the amount of net fee income we receive for providing advisory services to the funds.

Additional and unpredictable conflicts of interests may rise in the future.

In addition to the conflicts outlined above, we may experience conflicts of interest in connection with the management of our business affairs relating to and
arising from a number of matters, including the amounts paid to us by our investment funds; services that may be provided by us and our affiliates to
investments in which our investment funds invest (including the determination of whether or not to charge fees to our investments for our provision of such
services); investments by our investment funds and our other clients, subject to the limitations of the Investment Company Act; our formation of additional
investment funds; differing recommendations given by us to different clients; and our use of information gained from an investment funds’ investments used to
inform investments by other clients, subject to applicable law.

Our entitlement and that of certain employees to receive performance income from certain of our investment products and services may create an
incentive for us to make more speculative investments and determinations on behalf of our investment products and services than would be the
case in the absence of such performance income.

Some of our investment products and services generate performance-based fees, including carried interest. Carried interest and performance-based fees or
allocations may create an incentive for us or our investment professionals to make more speculative or riskier investments and determinations, directly or
indirectly on behalf of our investment products and services, or otherwise take or refrain from taking certain actions than it would otherwise make in the absence
of such carried interest or performance-based fees or allocations. It may also create incentives to influence how we establish economic terms for future funds. In
addition, we may have an incentive to make exit determinations based on factors that maximize economics in favor of the employees relative to us and our non-
participating stockholders. Our failure to appropriately address any actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interest resulting from our entitlement to receive
performance income from many of our investment products and services could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, which could materially and
adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including limiting our ability to raise additional funds, attract new clients or retain existing clients.

We have implemented procedures to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements that prevent us from fully
realizing potential synergies across our various businesses.

In an effort to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address regulatory, legal and contractual requirements and contractual restrictions, we have
implemented certain procedures that may reduce the positive synergies that would otherwise exist across our various businesses. For example, in certain
instances, our procedures prohibit reliance by one of our business lines on due diligence on investment opportunities performed by another business line. This
prohibition may result in multiple business lines conducting duplicative and costly due diligence. Additionally, the terms of confidentiality or other agreements
with or related to companies in which we have entered, either on our own behalf or on behalf of any of our clients, sometimes restrict or otherwise limit the ability
of us or our clients to make investments or otherwise engage in businesses or activities competitive with such companies. Our inability to capitalize on potential
synergies may prevent us from realizing potential costs savings in connection with the Business Combination.

Failure to properly disclose conflicts of interest could harm our reputation, results of operations, financial condition or business.

We currently provide or may in the future provide a broad spectrum of financial services, including investment advisory, asset management, capital markets, and
idea generation. Because of our size and the variety of
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investment strategies that we pursue, we may face a higher degree of scrutiny compared with investment managers that are smaller or focus on fewer asset
classes. In the ordinary course of business, we engage in activities in which our interests or the interests of our clients may conflict with the interests of other
clients, including the investors in our funds. Such conflicts of interest could adversely affect one or more of our clients and/or our performance or returns to our
investors.

Certain of our clients may have overlapping investment objectives, including clients that have different fee structures and/or investment strategies that are more
narrowly focused, and potential conflicts may arise with respect to allocation of investment opportunities among those clients. We will, from time to time, be
presented with investment opportunities that fall within the investment objectives of multiple clients. In such circumstances, we will seek to allocate such
opportunities among our clients on a basis that we reasonably determine in good faith to be fair and equitable, and may take into account a variety of relevant
factors in determining eligibility, including the investment team primarily responsible for sourcing or performing due diligence on the transaction, the nature of the
investment focus of each client, the relative amounts of capital available for investment, anticipated expenses to the applicable client and/or to us with regard to
investment by our various clients, the investment pacing and timing of our clients and other considerations deemed relevant by us. Allocating investment
opportunities appropriately frequently involves significant and subjective judgments. The risk that investors could challenge allocation decisions as inconsistent
with our obligations under applicable law, governing client agreements or our own policies cannot be eliminated. In addition, the perception of non-compliance
with such requirements or policies could harm our reputation with investors.

Our clients may invest in companies in which we or one or more or our other clients also invest, either directly or indirectly. Investments in a company by certain
of our clients may be made prior to the investment by other clients, concurrently, including as part of the same financing plan or subsequent to the investments
by such other clients. Any such investment by a client may consist of securities or other instruments of a different class or type from those in which other of our
clients are invested, and may entitle the holder of such securities and other instruments to greater control or to rights that otherwise differ from those to which
such other clients are entitled. In connection with any such investments—including as they relate to acquisition, owning, and disposition of such investments—
our clients may have conflicting interests and investment objectives, and any difference in the terms of the securities or other instruments held by such parties
may raise additional conflicts of interest for our clients and us. Our failure to adequately mitigate these conflicts could give rise to regulatory and investor
scrutiny.

In the ordinary course of our investment activities on behalf of our clients, we receive investment-related information. We do not generally establish information
barriers between internal investment teams. To the extent permitted by law, investment professionals have access to and make use of such investment-related
information in making investment decisions for our clients. Therefore, information related to investments made on behalf of a particular client may inform
investment decisions made in respect of another of our clients or otherwise be used and monetized by us. The access and use of this information may create
conflicts between our clients and between our clients and us, and no client, including any fund investor, is entitled to any compensation for any profits earned by
another client or us based on our use of investment-related information received in connection with managing such clients.

Certain persons employed by or otherwise associated with us are related to, or otherwise have business, personal, political, financial, or other relationships with,
persons employed by or otherwise associated with service providers engaged for our clients, and third-party investment managers with whom we invest on
behalf of our clients. These types of relationships may also influence us in deciding whether to select or recommend such a service provider to perform services
for a particular client or to make or redeem an investment on behalf of a client.

Additionally, we permit employees, former employees and other parties associated with the firm to invest in or alongside our funds on a no-fee, no-carry basis.
These arrangements may create a conflict in connection with investments we make on behalf of our clients.

It is possible that actual, potential or perceived conflicts could give rise to investor dissatisfaction or litigation or regulatory enforcement actions. Appropriately
dealing with conflicts of interest is complex and difficult and our reputation could be damaged if we fail, or appear to fail, to deal appropriately with one or more
potential or actual conflicts of interest. Regulatory scrutiny of, or litigation in connection with, conflicts of interest could
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have a material adverse effect on our reputation, which could materially and adversely affect our business in a number of ways, including an inability to raise
additional funds, attract new investors or retain existing clients.

We pay carried interest and performance-based fees to our investment professionals and other personnel in order to attract and retain them, which
may result in a reduction of our revenues and a decrease in our profit margins.

In order to recruit and retain existing and future investment professionals and other key personnel, and to further align the interests of our investment
professionals and other personnel with the investment performance of our funds and other products, we expect to increase the level, or change the form or
composition, of the amounts we pay to them, including providing them with a greater share of carried interest or performance-based fees. If we increase these
amounts, it will likely reduce our revenues, or cause a higher percentage of our revenue to be paid out in the form of compensation, adversely impacting our
profit margins. To the extent an increased share of carried interest and performance-based fees are insufficient to ensure an adequate amount of cash is
received by our investment professionals and other key personnel, we may not be able to adequately attract or retain them.

The selection of a replacement for LIBOR may affect the value of investments held by our funds and could affect our results of operations and
financial results.

Our funds typically use LIBOR as a reference rate in term loans they extend to portfolio companies such that the interest due to us pursuant to a term loan
extended to a portfolio company is calculated using LIBOR. The terms of our debt investments generally include minimum interest rate floors which are
calculated based on LIBOR.

The FCA, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it will not compel panel banks to contribute to LIBOR after 2021. In addition, in March 2021, the FCA
announced that LIBOR will no longer be provided for the one-week and two-month U.S. dollar settings after December 21, 2021 and that publication of the U.S.
dollar settings for the overnight, one-month, three-month, six-month and 12-month LIBOR rates would cease after June 30, 2023.

Central banks and regulators in a number of major jurisdictions (for example, United States, United Kingdom, European Union, Switzerland and Japan) have
convened working groups to find, and implement the transition to, suitable replacements for interbank offered rates (IBORs”"). To identify a successor rate for
U.S. dollar LIBOR, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee (“ARRC"), a U.S.-based group convened by the Federal Reserve Board and the Federal Reserve
Bank of New York, was formed. The ARRC has identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) as its preferred alternative rate for LIBOR. SOFR is a
measure of the cost of borrowing cash overnight, collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities, and is based on directly observable U.S. Treasury-backed
repurchase transactions. However, given that SOFR is a secured rate backed by government securities, it does not take into account bank credit risk (as is the
case with LIBOR). SOFR is therefore likely to be lower than LIBOR and is less likely to correlate with the funding costs of financial institutions. Although SOFR
plus the recommended spread adjustment appears to be the preferred replacement rate for U.S. dollar LIBOR, and its use continues to steadily grow, at this
time it is not possible to predict the effect of any such changes, any establishment of alternative reference rates or other reforms to LIBOR that may be enacted
in the United States, United Kingdom or elsewhere.

The transition from LIBOR to another benchmark rate or rates could have an adverse impact on the market for or value of any LIBOR-linked securities, loans,
and other financial obligations or extensions of credit held by or due to our portfolio companies or on our overall financial condition or results of operations. In
addition, our funds, borrowers of our funds and the External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments and their respective portfolio
companies may need to renegotiate the credit agreements extending beyond 2023 that utilize LIBOR as a factor in determining the interest rate, which may have
an adverse effect on our overall financial condition or results of operations. Following the replacement of LIBOR, some or all of these credit agreements may
bear interest at a lower interest rate, which, to the extent our funds are lenders, could have an adverse impact on their performance, could have an adverse
impact on our funds’ and their portfolio companies’ results of operations. Moreover, our funds and their portfolio companies may need to renegotiate certain
terms of their credit facilities. If our funds and their portfolio companies are unable to do so, amounts drawn under their credit facilities may bear interest at a
higher rate, which would increase the cost of their borrowings and, in turn, affect their results of operations.
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Risks Related to Geographical Environment
Our international operations subject us to numerous risks.

We or the External Strategic Managers in which we have made strategic investments maintain operations in the United Kingdom and Hong Kong, among other
places, and may grow our business into new regions with which we have less familiarity and experience, and this growth is important to our overall success. In
addition, many of our investors are non-U.S. entities where we are expected to have a familiarity with the specific legal and regulatory requirements applicable
to such investors. We rely upon stable and free international markets, not only in connection with seeking investors outside the U.S. but also in investing fund
capital in these markets.

Our international operations carry special financial and business risks, which could include the following:
« greater difficulties in managing and staffing foreign operations;

« differences between the U.S. and foreign capital markets, such as for accounting, auditing, financial reporting and legal standards, practices and
disclosure requirements;

« fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates that could adversely affect our results;

« additional costs of complying with, and exposure to liability under, foreign regulatory regimes;

* unexpected changes in trading policies, regulatory requirements, tariffs and other barriers;

« longer transaction cycles;

< higher operating costs;

* local labor conditions and regulations;

« adverse consequences or restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

« potentially adverse tax consequences, such as trapped foreign losses;

* less stable political and economic environments;

« terrorism, political hostilities, war, public health crises and other civil disturbances or other catastrophic or pandemic events that reduce business activity;
« cultural and language barriers and the need to adopt different business practices in different geographic areas; and
« difficulty collecting fees and, if necessary, enforcing judgments.

As part of our day-to-day operations outside the United States, we are required to maintain compensation programs, employment policies, compliance policies
and procedures and other administrative programs that comply with the laws of multiple countries. We also must communicate and monitor standards and
directives across our global operations. Our failure to successfully manage and grow our geographically diverse operations could impair our ability to react
quickly to changing business and market conditions and to enforce compliance with non-U.S. standards and procedures.

Any payment of distributions, loans or advances to and from our subsidiaries could be subject to restrictions on or taxation of dividends or repatriation of
earnings under applicable local law, monetary transfer restrictions, foreign currency exchange regulations in the jurisdictions in which our subsidiaries operate or
other restrictions imposed by current or future agreements, including debt instruments, to which our non-U.S. subsidiaries may be a party. Our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected if we are unable to successfully manage these and other risks of
international operations in a volatile environment. If our international business increases relative to our total business, these factors could have a more
pronounced effect on our results of operations or growth prospects.
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The impact of the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war on the global economy, energy supplies and raw materials is uncertain, but
may prove to negatively impact our business and operations.

The short and long-term implications of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas war are difficult to predict at this time. We continue to monitor any
adverse impact that the outbreak of war in Ukraine, the subsequent institution of sanctions against Russia by the United States and several European and Asian
countries, and the Israel-Hamas war may have on the global economy in general, on our business and operations and on the businesses and operations of our
suppliers and other third parties with which we conduct business. For example, a prolonged conflict in Ukraine or Israel may result in increased inflation,
escalating energy prices and constrained availability, and thus increasing costs, of raw materials. We will continue to monitor this fluid situation and develop
contingency plans as necessary to address any disruptions to our business operations as they develop. To the extent the wars in Ukraine or Israel may
adversely affect our business as discussed above, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described herein. Such risks include, but
are not limited to, adverse effects on macroeconomic conditions, including inflation; disruptions to our global technology infrastructure, including through
cyberattack, ransom attack, or cyber-intrusion; adverse changes in international trade policies and relations; disruptions in global supply chains; and constraints,
volatility, or disruption in the capital markets, any of which could negatively affect our business and financial condition.

Our operations in Hong Kong may be adversely affected by political and trade tensions between the U.S. and China.

In our client portfolios, we maintain (depending upon client objective and mandate) allocations of investments in Asian equities and Emerging Market Funds. In
both cases, we have direct exposure to Hong Kong equities, Chinese equities and equities of other Asian countries for which China is a significant export
market. In the case of a significant change in how the Chinese government treats Hong Kong or its shares, or how China itself evolves from a sovereign risk
perspective, there may be risk to the valuation of these shares. Our Hong Kong wealth management business represents $0.8 billion in AUM as of December
31, 2023, which represents approximately 1.2% of our AUM and less than 1.0% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2023. Moreover, more than 99% of
our Hong Kong client assets are custodied in locations other than China or Hong Kong.

Our business operations and financial condition may be affected by political and legal developments in Hong Kong. Hong Kong is a special administrative region
of the Peoples’ Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the basic policies of the PRC regarding Hong Kong are reflected in the Basic Law, which provides Hong Kong
with a high degree of autonomy and executive, legislative and independent judicial powers, including that of final adjudication under the principle of “one country,
two systems”.

However, there is no assurance that the PRC will not cause changes in the economic, political and legal environment in Hong Kong in the future. The U.S. State
Department has indicated that the United States no longer considers Hong Kong to have significant autonomy from China. Any reduction in Hong Kong's
autonomy may have adverse global implications. Tensions between the United States and China with respect to international trade policy, human rights and
relations with Taiwan and Russia may result in the imposition of tariffs, export controls or economic sanctions, the application of which may be extended to Hong
Kong. Legislative or administrative actions with respect to China-U.S. relations could cause investor uncertainty for affected issuers, including us, and the market
price of our Common Stock could be adversely affected.

We are expanding our business and may enter into new lines of business or geographic markets, which may result in additional risks and
uncertainties and place significant demands on our administrative, operational and financial resources. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to successfully manage this growth.

We currently generate substantially all of our revenues from either management fees and/or incentive fees. However, we intend to grow our business by offering
additional products and services, by entering into new lines of business and by entering into, or expanding our presence in, new geographic markets. Introducing
new types of investment structures, products and services could increase our operational costs, and the complexities involved in managing such investments,
including with respect to ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements and the terms of the investment. For example, we invest in funds that seek to
capitalize on investment opportunities accessed by investing with women-owned and minority-owned investment firms and funds, which may be subject to
greater levels of regulatory scrutiny. To the extent we enter into new lines of business, we will face numerous risks and uncertainties, including risks associated
with the possibility that we
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have insufficient expertise to engage in such activities profitably or without incurring inappropriate amounts of risk, the required investment of capital and other
resources and the loss of clients due to the perception that we are no longer focusing on our core business. In addition, we have in the past and continue in the
future to explore opportunities to grow our business via acquisitions, partnerships, investments or other strategic transactions, and to execute on those
opportunities. There can be no assurance that we will successfully identify, negotiate or complete such transactions in the future, that any completed
transactions will produce favorable financial results or that we will be able to successfully integrate an acquired business with ours.

Entry into certain lines of business or geographic markets or the introduction of new types of products or services may subject us to new laws and regulations
with which we are not familiar, or from which we are currently exempt, and may lead to increased litigation and regulatory risk. If a new business generates
insufficient revenues or if we are unable to efficiently manage our expanded operations, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected.

Our future growth will depend in part on our ability to maintain an operating platform and management system sufficient to address our growth and may require
us to incur significant additional expenses and to commit additional senior management and operational resources. As a result, we may face significant
challenges in:

* maintaining adequate financial, regulatory (legal, tax and compliance) and business controls;

« providing current and future investors and stockholders with accurate and consistent reporting;

« implementing new or updated information and financial systems and procedures; and

* training, managing and appropriately sizing our work force and other components of our businesses on a timely and cost-effective basis.

We may not be able to manage our expanding operations effectively and may not be ready to continue to grow because of operational needs, and any failure to
do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and control our expenses. In addition, if we are unable to consummate or successfully integrate
development opportunities, acquisitions or joint ventures, we may not be able to implement our growth strategy successfully.

Risks Related to Our Regulatory Environment
We are exposed to litigation risk and subject to regulatory examinations and investigations.

The financial services industry faces substantial regulatory risks and litigation. Like many firms operating within the financial services industry, we are
experiencing a difficult regulatory environment across our markets. Our current scale and reach as a provider to the financial services industry, the continued
stringent regulatory oversight of the financial services industry generally, new laws and regulations affecting the financial services industry, ever-changing
regulatory interpretations of existing laws and regulations and the retroactive imposition of new interpretations through enforcement actions have made this an
increasingly challenging and costly regulatory environment in which to operate. These examinations or investigations, including any enforcement action brought
by the SEC, UK FCA or other regulator against us, could result in the identification of matters that may require remediation activities or enforcement proceedings
by the relevant regulator. The direct and indirect costs of responding to these examinations, or of defending us in any litigation could be significant. Additionally,
actions brought against us may result in settlements, awards, injunctions, fines and penalties. The outcome of litigation or regulatory action is inherently difficult
to predict and could have an adverse effect on our ability to offer some of our products and services.

We are subject to extensive government regulation, and our failure or inability to comply with these regulations or regulatory action against us could
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business.

Our business activities are subject to extensive and evolving laws, rules and regulations. Any changes or potential changes in the regulatory framework
applicable to our business may impose additional expenses or capital requirements on us, limit our fundraising activities, have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, reputation or prospects, impair employee retention or recruitment and require substantial attention by senior
management. It is impossible to determine the extent of the impact of any new
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laws, regulations, initiatives or regulatory guidance that may be proposed or may become law on our business or the markets in which we operate.

Governmental authorities around the world have implemented or are implementing financial system and participant regulatory reform in reaction to volatility and
disruption in the global financial markets, financial institution failures and financial frauds. Such reform includes, among other things, additional regulation of
investment funds, as well as their managers and activities, including compliance, risk management and anti-money laundering procedures; restrictions on
specific types of investments and the provision and use of leverage; implementation of capital requirements; limitations on compensation to managers; and
books and records, reporting and disclosure requirements. We cannot predict with certainty the impact on us, our clients, or on alternative investment funds
generally, of any such reforms. Any of these regulatory reform measures could have an adverse effect on our clients’ investment strategies or our business
model. We may incur significant expense in order to comply with such reform measures and may incur significant liabilities if regulatory authorities determine
that we are not in compliance.

Our business is subject to regulation in the United States, including by the SEC, the Commodity Futures Trading Commission, the IRS, and other regulatory
agencies. Any change in such regulation or oversight could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In
addition, we regularly rely on exemptions from various requirements of these and other applicable laws. These exemptions are sometimes highly complex and
may in certain circumstances depend on compliance by third parties whom we do not control. If, for any reason, these exemptions were to be revoked or
challenged or otherwise become unavailable to us, we could be subject to regulatory action or third-party claims, and our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations could result in fines, suspensions of
personnel or other sanctions, including revocation of certain of our subsidiaries’ registrations as investment advisors. Even if a sanction imposed against us or
our personnel is small in monetary amount, the adverse publicity arising from the imposition of sanctions against us by regulators could harm our reputation and
cause us to lose existing clients or fail to gain new clients.

The SEC continues to increase its regulation of the asset management and private equity industries, focusing on the private equity industry’s fees, allocation of
expenses to funds, marketing practices, allocation of investment opportunities, disclosures to investors, the allocation of broken-deal expenses and general
conflicts of interest disclosures. The SEC has also heightened its focus on the valuation practices employed by investment advisers. The lack of readily
ascertainable market prices for many of the investments made by our clients or the funds in which we invest could subject our valuation policies and processes
to increased scrutiny by the SEC. We may be adversely affected as a result of new or revised legislation or regulations imposed by the SEC, other U.S. or
foreign governmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets. Brexit may result in our being subject to new
and increased regulations if we can no longer rely on passporting privileges that allow U.K. financial institutions to access the EU single market without
restrictions. We also may be adversely affected by changes in the interpretation or enforcement of existing laws and rules by these governmental authorities and
self-regulatory organizations.

We are subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of the ERISA and the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code in
connection with the management of certain of funds. With respect to these funds, this means that (1) the application of the fiduciary responsibility standards of
ERISA to investments made by such funds, including the requirement of investment prudence and diversification, and (2) certain transactions that we enter into,
or may have entered into, on behalf of these funds, in the ordinary course of business, are subject to the prohibited transactions rules under Section 406 of
ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code. A non-exempt prohibited transaction, in addition to imposing potential liability upon fiduciaries of an ERISA plan, may also
result in the imposition of an excise tax under the Code upon a “party in interest” (as defined in ERISA), or “disqualified person” (as defined in the Code), with
whom we engaged in the transaction. In addition, a court could find that our funds that invest directly in operating companies have formed a partnership-in-fact
conducting a trade or business with such operating companies and would therefore be jointly and severally liable for these companies’ unfunded pension
liabilities.

In addition, certain entities in our structure are registered as an investment adviser with the SEC and are subject to the requirements and regulations of the
Advisers Act. Such requirements relate to, among other things, restrictions on entering into transactions with clients, maintaining an effective compliance
program, incentive
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fees, solicitation arrangements, allocation of investments, recordkeeping and reporting requirements, disclosure requirements, limitations on agency cross and
principal transactions between an adviser and their advisory clients, as well as general anti-fraud prohibitions. As certain of our subsidiaries are registered
investment advisors, they have fiduciary duties to our clients. A failure to comply with the obligations imposed by the Advisers Act, including recordkeeping,
advertising and operating requirements, disclosure obligations and prohibitions on fraudulent activities, could result in examinations, investigations, sanctions
and reputational damage, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act significantly increased the types of transactions that are subject to the jurisdiction of CFIUS. Under the
final regulations of the reform legislation, CFIUS has the authority to review and potentially recommend that the President of the United States block or impose
conditions on non-controlling investments in critical infrastructure and critical technology companies and in companies collecting or storing sensitive data of U.S.
citizens, which may reduce the number of potential buyers and limit the ability of our clients to realize value from certain existing and future investments.

In the EU, MIFID Il requires, among other things, all MiFID investment firms to comply with prescriptive disclosure, transparency, reporting and recordkeeping
obligations and obligations in relation to the receipt of investment research, best execution, product governance and marketing communications. As we operate
investment firms which are subject to MiFID II, we have implemented policies and procedures to comply with MiFID Il where relevant, including where certain
rules have an extraterritorial impact on us. Compliance with MiFID Il has resulted in greater overall complexity, higher compliance, administration and operational
costs, and less overall flexibility. The complexity, operational costs and reduction in flexibility may be further compounded as a result of Brexit. This is because
the UK is both: (i) no longer generally required to transpose EU law into UK law; and (ii) electing to transpose certain EU legislation into UK law subject to
various amendments and subject to the UK FCA's oversight rather than that of EU regulators. Taken together, (i) and (ii) could result in divergence between the
UK and EU regulatory frameworks.

In addition, across the EU, we are subject to the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive (“AIFMD”), under which we are subject to regulatory
requirements regarding, among other things, registration for marketing activities, the structure of remuneration for certain of our personnel and reporting
obligations. Individual member states of the EU have imposed additional requirements that may include internal arrangements with respect to risk management,
liquidity risks, asset valuations, and the establishment and security of depository and custodial requirements. Because some EEA countries have not yet
incorporated the AIFMD into their agreement with the EU, we may undertake marketing activities and provide services in those EEA countries only in
compliance with applicable local laws. Outside the EEA, the regulations to which we are subject relate primarily to registration and reporting obligations. As
described above, Brexit and the potential resulting divergence between the UK and EU regulatory frameworks may result in additional complexity and costs in
complying with AIFMD across both the UK and EU.

The EU Securitization Regulation (the “Securitization Regulation”) imposes due diligence and risk retention requirements on “institutional investors,” which
includes managers of alternative investment funds assets, and constrains the ability of alternative investment funds to invest in securitization positions that do
not comply with the prescribed risk retention requirements. The Securitization Regulation may impact or limit our funds’ ability to make certain investments that
constitute “securitizations” and may impose additional reporting obligations on securitizations, which may increase the costs of managing such vehicles.

A new EU Regulation on the prudential requirements of investment firms (Regulation (EU) 2019/2033) and its accompanying Directive (Directive (EU)
2019/2034) (together, “IFR/IFD") went into effect on June 26, 2021. IFR/IFD introduced a bespoke prudential regime for most MiFID investment firms to replace
the one that previously applied under the fourth Capital Requirements Directive and the Capital Requirements Regulation. IFR/IFD represents a complete
overhaul of “prudential” regulation in the EU. As the application dates for IFR/IFD fall outside the end of the Brexit transition period, the UK is not required to
implement the legislation and will instead establish a new Investment Firms Prudential Regime which is intended to achieve similar outcomes to IFD/IFR. There
is a risk that the new regime will result in higher regulatory capital requirements for affected firms and new, more onerous remuneration rules, as well as re-cut
and extended internal governance, disclosure, reporting, liquidity, and group “prudential” consolidation requirements (among other things), each of which could
have a material impact on our European operations, although there are transitional provisions allowing firms to increase their capital to the necessary level over
three to five years.
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It is expected that additional laws and regulations will come into force in the EEA, the EU, the UK and other countries in which we operate over the coming years.
These laws and regulations may affect our costs and manner of conducting business in one or more markets, the risks of doing business, the assets that we
manage or advise, and our ability to raise capital from investors. Any failure by us to comply with either existing or new laws or regulations could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to U.S. foreign investment regulations, which may impose conditions on or limit certain investors’ ability to purchase or maintain our
Class A Common Stock.

Investments that involve the acquisition of, or investment in, a U.S. business by a non-U.S. investor may be subject to U.S. laws that regulate foreign
investments in U.S. businesses and access by foreign persons to technology developed and produced in the United States. These laws include Section 721 of
the Defense Production Act of 1950, as amended by the Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act of 2018, and the regulations at 31 C.F.R. Parts 800
and 802, as amended, administered by the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (“CFIUS”).

Whether CFIUS has jurisdiction to review an acquisition or investment transaction depends on, among other factors, the nature and structure of the transaction,
including the level of beneficial ownership interest and the nature of any information or governance rights involved. For example, investments that result in
“control” of a “U.S. business” by a “foreign person” (in each case, as such terms are defined in 31 C.F.R. Part 800) are subject to CFIUS jurisdiction. Significant
CFIUS reform legislation, which was fully implemented through regulations that became effective in 2020, expanded the scope of CFIUS'’s jurisdiction to
investments that do not result in control of a U.S. business by a foreign person, but where they afford certain foreign investors certain information or governance
rights in a U.S. business that has a nexus to “critical technologies,” “covered investment critical infrastructure,” and/or “sensitive personal data” (in each case, as
such terms are defined in 31 C.F.R. Part 800).

The Business Combination resulted in investments in various U.S. entities by non-U.S. persons that could be considered by CFIUS to result in a covered control
transaction that CFIUS would have authority to review. lIWaddi Cayman Holdings (“llWaddi”) is organized in the Cayman Islands and has its principal place of
business in Qatar, and its sole ultimate beneficial owner is a Qatar national, and holds approximately 15.0% of our issued and outstanding Common Stock.
Global Goldfield Limited (“GCL") is organized in and has a principal place of business in Hong Kong, and its sole ultimate beneficial owner is a Hong Kong
national, and holds approximately 8.7% of our issued and outstanding Common Stock. Several of our directors and executive officers, including each of such
persons who is currently a partner and/or officer of Alvarium, are also citizens and/or residents of countries other than the United States. While we do not
believe that any of the foregoing foreign persons or entities, nor any other foreign person or entity, “controls” us or any of our subsidiaries, CFIUS or another U.S.
governmental agency could choose to review the Business Combination or any of our past or proposed transactions involving new or existing foreign investors,
even if a filing with CFIUS is or was not required at the time of such transaction.

There can be no assurances that CFIUS or another U.S. governmental agency will not choose to review the Business Combination or any of our past or
proposed transactions. There are no time bars or statute of limitations for CFIUS to exert jurisdiction over a transaction. Any review and approval of an
investment or transaction by CFIUS may have outsized impacts on transaction certainty, timing, feasibility, and cost, among other things. CFIUS policies and
agency practices are rapidly evolving, and, in the event that CFIUS reviews the Business Combination or one or more proposed or existing investments by
investors, there can be no assurances that such investors will be able to maintain, or proceed with, such investments on terms acceptable to the parties to the
Business Combination or to such investors. Among other things, CFIUS could seek to impose limitations or restrictions on, or prohibit, investments by such
investors (including, but not limited to, limits on purchasing our Common Stock, limits on information sharing with such investors, requiring a voting trust,
governance modifications, or forced divestiture, among other things), or CFIUS could require us to divest a portion of the Target Companies.

Changes in tax law or policy could increase our effective tax rate and tax liability or the taxes payable by investors in our funds or holders of shares
of our Common Stock, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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The rules addressing U.S. federal, state and local and non-U.S. income taxation are constantly under review including by persons involved in the legislative
process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or
holders of our Common Stock. In recent years, many changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future.

Additional changes to U.S. federal income tax law are currently being contemplated, and future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our
business, cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, new tax laws
may be enacted, or regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our or our
stockholders’ tax liability or require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in
the interpretation thereof.

In addition, our effective tax rate and tax liability are based on the application of current income tax laws, regulations and treaties. These laws, regulations and
treaties are complex, and the manner which they apply to us and our funds and diverse set of business arrangements is often open to interpretation. Significant
management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance recorded
against our net deferred tax assets. The tax authorities could challenge our interpretation of laws, regulations and treaties, resulting in additional tax liability or
adjustment to our income tax provision that could increase our effective tax rate. Changes to tax laws may also adversely affect our ability to attract and retain
key personnel.

We may be subject to the excise tax included in the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 in connection with redemptions of our Class A Common Stock
after December 31, 2022.

On August 16, 2022, President Biden signed into law the Inflation Reduction Act, which, among other things, imposes a 1% excise tax on any domestic
corporation the stock of which is traded on an established securities market (a “covered corporation”) that repurchases its stock after December 31, 2022 (the
“Excise Tax”). The Excise Tax is imposed on the fair market value of the repurchased stock, subject to certain exceptions and adjustments. Because we are a
Delaware corporation and our securities trade on Nasdaq, we are a “covered corporation” within the meaning of the Inflation Reduction Act and the Excise Tax
may apply to redemptions of our stock after December 31, 2022.

Federal, state and foreign anti-corruption, export control and sanctions laws create the potential for significant liabilities and penalties and
reputational harm.

We are also subject to a number of laws and regulations governing payments and contributions to political persons or other third parties, including restrictions
imposed by the FCPA, as well as trade sanctions and export control laws administered by OFAC, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of
State. The FCPA is intended to prohibit bribery of foreign governments and their officials and political parties and requires public companies in the United States
to keep books and records that accurately and fairly reflect those companies’ transactions. OFAC, the U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department
of State administer and enforce various export control and economic and trade sanctions laws and regulations based on U.S. foreign policy and national security
goals against targeted foreign states, regions, organizations, entities and individuals. These laws and regulations relate to a number of aspects of our business,
including with respect to servicing existing investors, finding new investors, and sourcing new investments, as well as activities by the portfolio companies in our
investment portfolio or other controlled investments.

Similar laws in non-U.S. jurisdictions, such as EU sanctions or the U.K. Bribery Act, as well as other applicable anti-bribery, anti-corruption, anti-money
laundering, or sanction or other export control laws in the U.S. and abroad, may also impose stricter or more onerous requirements than the FCPA, OFAC, the
U.S. Department of Commerce and the U.S. Department of State, and implementing them may disrupt our business or cause us to incur significantly more costs
to comply with those laws. Different laws may also contain conflicting provisions, making compliance with all laws more difficult. If we fail to comply with these
laws and regulations, we could be exposed to claims for damages, civil or criminal financial penalties, reputational harm, incarceration of our employees,
restrictions on our operations and other liabilities, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. In
addition, we may be subject to successor liability for FCPA violations or other acts of bribery, or violations of applicable sanctions or other
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export control laws, committed by companies in which we or our clients invest or which we or our clients acquire. While we have developed and implemented
policies and procedures designed to ensure strict compliance by us and our personnel with the FCPA and other anti-corruption, sanctions and export control
laws in jurisdictions in which we operate, such policies and procedures may not be effective in all instances to prevent violations. Any determination that we have
violated the FCPA or other applicable anti-corruption, sanctions or export control laws could subject us to, among other things, civil and criminal penalties,
material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Failure to comply with “pay to play” regulations implemented by the SEC and certain states, and changes to the “pay to play” regulatory regimes,
could adversely affect our business.

Certain states and other regulatory authorities require investment managers to register as lobbyists. We are registered as a lobbyist in California. These
registration requirements impose significant compliance obligations on registered lobbyists and their employers, which may include annual registration fees,
periodic disclosure reports and internal record keeping, and may also prohibit the payment of contingent fees.

Under applicable SEC rules, investment advisers are required to implement compliance policies designed, among other matters, to track contributions by certain
of the adviser’s employees and engagements of third parties that solicit government entities and to keep certain records to enable the SEC to determine
compliance with the rule.

These rules could impose significant economic sanctions on our business if we or one of the other persons covered by the rules make any prohibited
contribution or payment, whether or not material or with an intent to secure an investment from a public pension plan. We may also acquire other investment
managers or hire additional personnel who are not subject to the same restrictions as us, but whose activity, and the activity of their principals, prior to our
ownership or employment of such person, could affect our product raising. Any failure on our part to comply with these rules could cause us to lose
compensation for our advisory services or expose us to significant penalties and reputational damage.

Failure to comply with regulations regarding the prevention of money laundering or terrorism or national security could adversely affect our
business.

As part of our responsibility for the prevention of money laundering under applicable laws, we may require detailed verification of a prospective investor’s identity
and the source of such prospective investor’s funds. In the event of delay or failure by a prospective investor to produce any such information required for
verification purposes, we may refuse to admit the investor to our investment products and services. We may from time-to-time request (outside of the
subscription process), and our investment products and services’ investors will be obligated to provide to us as appropriate upon such request, additional
information as from time to time may be required for us to satisfy our obligations under these and other laws that may be adopted in the future. Additionally, we
may from time to time be obligated to file reports with regulatory authorities in various jurisdictions with regard to, among other things, the identity of our
investment products and services’ investors and suspicious activities involving the interests of our investment products and services. In the event it is
determined that any investor, or any direct or indirect owner of any investor, is a person identified in any of these laws as a prohibited person, or is otherwise
engaged in activities of the type prohibited under these laws, we may be obligated, among other actions to be taken, to withhold distributions of any funds
otherwise owing to such investor or to cause such investor’s interests to be cancelled or otherwise redeemed (without the payment of any consideration in
respect of those interests).

The Bank Secrecy Act of 1970 and the USA PATRIOT Act require that financial institutions (a term that includes banks, broker-dealers and investment
companies) establish and maintain compliance programs to guard against money laundering activities. Laws or regulations may presently or in the future require
us, our investment products and services or any of our affiliates or other service providers to establish additional anti-money laundering procedures, to collect
information with respect to our investment products and services’ investors, to share information with governmental authorities with respect to our investment
products and services’ investors or to implement additional restrictions on the transfer of the interests. These requirements can lead to increased expenses and
exposure to enforcement actions.
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Financial regulations and changes thereto in the United States could adversely affect our business and the possibility of increased regulatory focus
could result in additional burdens and expenses on our business.

The Dodd-Frank Act has imposed significant changes on almost every aspect of the U.S. financial services industry, including aspects of our business. In June
2010, the SEC approved Rule 206(4)-5 under the Advisers Act regarding “pay to play” practices by investment advisers involving campaign contributions and
other payments to government clients and elected officials able to exert influence on such clients. The rule prohibits investment advisers from providing advisory
services for compensation to a government client for two years, subject to very limited exceptions, after the investment adviser, its senior executives or its
personnel involved in soliciting investments from government entities make contributions to certain candidates and officials in a position to influence the hiring of
an investment adviser by such government client. Any failure on our part to comply with the rule could expose us to significant penalties, loss of fees, and
reputational damage. There have also been similar laws, rules and regulations and/or policies adopted by a number of states and municipal pension plans, which
prohibit, restrict or require disclosure of payments to (and/or certain contracts with) state officials by individuals and entities seeking to do business with state
entities, including investment by public retirement funds.

The Dodd-Frank Act authorizes federal regulatory agencies to review and, in certain cases, prohibit compensation arrangements at financial institutions that give
employees incentives to engage in conduct deemed to encourage inappropriate risk taking by covered financial institutions. On May 16, 2016, the SEC and
other federal regulatory agencies proposed a rule that would apply requirements on incentive-based compensation arrangements of “covered financial
institutions,” including certain registered investment advisers above a specific asset threshold. This rule, if adopted, could limit our ability to recruit and retain
investment professionals and senior management executives. However, the proposed rule remains pending and may be subject to significant modifications. In
addition, as directed under the Dodd-Frank Act, on October 26, 2022, the SEC adopted final rules under which companies listed on the NYSE and Nasdaq will
be required to adopt “clawback” policies that mandate recovery by companies of certain incentive-based compensation awarded to current and former
executives in the event of an accounting restatement.

In May 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act became law, which modified automatic additional regulatory compliance
issues for financial entities that were deemed “systemically important financial institutions” from $50 billion AUM to $250 billion AUM. There is legislative risk
under the current Administration that such designation will revert back to $50 billion and expand its application to include private equity asset management firms.

Following the 2020 presidential and congressional elections in the United States, there has been an increased risk of legislative and regulatory action that could
adversely limit and affect our and our funds’ portfolio companies’ business. For example, proposed legislation that was introduced into the U.S. Congress in July
2019 was reintroduced in October 2021, containing a number of provisions that, if they were to become law, would adversely impact alternative asset
management firms. Among other things, the bill would: (1) subject private funds and certain holders of economic interests therein to joint and several liability for
all liabilities of portfolio companies; (2) require private funds to offer identical terms and benefits to all limited partners; (3) require disclosure of names of each
limited partner invested in a private fund, as well as sensitive fund and portfolio company-level information; (4) impose a limitation on the deductibility of interest
expense only applicable to companies owned by private funds; (5) modify settled bankruptcy law to target transactions by private equity funds; (6) increase tax
rates on carried interest; and (7) prohibit portfolio companies from paying dividends or repurchasing their shares or outsourcing jobs at portfolio companies
during the first two years following the acquisition of the portfolio company. In addition, in August 2021, legislation was introduced in the Senate that would
require holders of carried interest to recognize a specified amount of deemed compensation income each year regardless of whether the investment partnership
recognizes income or gain and regardless of whether and when the holders receive distributions in respect of their carried interests. If these proposed bills or
parts thereof, or other similar legislation, were to become law, it could negatively impact us, our funds’ portfolio companies and our investors.

The SEC’s amended rule for investment adviser marketing became effective in November 2022, The rule increases regulatory obligations and potential scrutiny
and imposes more prescriptive requirements on investment advisers’ marketing activities, including but not limited to prohibitions on advertisements that are
misleading or contain material statements that an investment adviser cannot substantiate as well as requirements
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for performance advertising and the use of placement agent arrangements. The rule impacts the marketing of certain of our funds and other investment advisory
functions. Compliance with the new rule entails compliance and operational costs. In September 2022, the SEC staff published a risk alert indicating that the staff
will conduct a number of specific national initiatives, as well as a broad review through the examination process, for compliance with the new marketing rule.

Future legislation, regulation or guidance may have an adverse effect on the fund industry generally and/or us specifically. Financial services regulation,
including regulations applicable to our business, has increased significantly in recent years, and may in the future be subject to further enhanced governmental
scrutiny and/or increased regulation, including resulting from changes in U.S. executive administration or Congressional leadership:

.

In August 2023, SEC adopted a package of new rules and amendments that will significantly affect private fund advisers. This package covers a range of
issues including (i) new restrictions on certain conflicted activities, subject to consent-based and/or disclosure-based exceptions (including, but not
limited to, charging fees and expenses associated with regulatory, examination, or compliance of the adviser, an investigation of the adviser unless the
investigation results or has resulted in a court or governmental authority imposing a sanction for a violation of the Advisers Act, as amended, (in which
case charging the fees is prohibited) or charging fees and expenses related to a portfolio investment on a non-pro rata basis and borrowing or receiving
an extension of credit from a private fund client) and (ii) new restrictions on preferential treatment relating to certain redemptions and fund and investment
information and increased transparency on other types of preferential treatment. Registered investment advisers will be required to provide new quarterly
statements to investors on performance with different specific requirements for “liquid” funds and “illiquid” funds, fees and expenses, and adviser and
related person compensation and to meet enhanced annual audit requirements under Rule 206(4)-2 of the Advisers Act (the “Custody Rule”). Also,
registered advisers will be subject to new requirements relating to adviser-led secondary transactions (including a requirement to obtain, and distribute to
investors, either a fairness opinion or a valuation opinion from an independent opinion provider) and to prepare and distribute to investors a summary of
any material business relationships between the adviser and any of its related persons with the independent opinion provider over the past two years.
This adopted package will restrict activities that had previously been addressed through disclosure, while significantly expanding the information being
provided to both private fund investors as well as the SEC with respect to its examination and enforcement activities.

In May 2023, the SEC adopted amendments to Form PF (the “Form PF Amendments”) that would greatly expand the type, amount, and frequency of
information the SEC collects from private fund advisers registered with the SEC. The Form PF Amendments would require (i) new “quarterly event”
reporting for all private equity fund advisers within 60 days of the end of the fiscal quarter regarding certain trigger events (including adviser-led
secondary transactions), (ii) expanded reporting for “large private equity fund advisers,” including reporting on any general partner clawback reporting on
any limited partner clawback that is more than 10% of the fund’'s capital commitments and additional information on events of default, and (i) new
“current” reporting for “large hedge fund advisers” upon a “trigger event,” including certain extraordinary investments losses that are 20% or more of a
fund’s reporting fund aggregate calculated value over a rolling 10 business day period, significant margin and default events, certain operations events
with respect to the fund’s critical operations, and events associated with withdrawals and / or redemptions of 50% or more of the fund’s net asset value.
The Form PF Amendments require the adviser to file additional Form PF reports requiring significant quantitative and qualitative analyses. Consequently,
certain of our investment adviser entities will have to devote resources and attention to complying with this additional requirement. The Form PF
Amendments will impose operational burdens on such subsidiaries as it will have to build or modify systems to gather the information required by the
newly adopted reporting regime. This could result in increased compliance and monitoring costs and divert resources away from advancing a fund’'s
profitability.

In October 2023, the SEC issued adopted amendments to accelerate the filing deadlines for companies to make filings of beneficial ownership and to
expand the scope of instances where such a filing is required, and rules to require certain asset managers to file with the SEC on a monthly basis certain
data related to their short sales activity. The adopted rules will likely require that we to devote additional
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resources to fulfilling our beneficial ownership and short-sale reporting obligations and there may be additional regulatory attention focused on such
activities.

In October 2022, the SEC proposed a new rule and related amendments that would impose substantial obligations on registered investment advisers to
conduct initial due diligence and ongoing monitoring of a broad universe of service providers that we may use in our investment advisory business. If
these proposed rules take effect, they could increase limitations on our ability to use service providers in connection with our investment advisory
business, impose additional costs and burdens on our use and monitoring of service providers, and subject us to heightened regulatory scrutiny.

In May 2022, the SEC proposed a package of new rules to address and enhance investor disclosure practices, and related policies and procedures,
regarding ESG investment considerations and objectives (the “Proposed ESG Disclosure Rules”) by investment advisers to registered investment
companies and private funds and other clients. The Proposed ESG Disclosure Rules are intended to provide investors with clear and comparable
information about how advisers consider ESG factors. Among other things, registered investment advisers to private funds would be required to make
ESG disclosures in the brochure depending on the category of ESG investment strategies and potentially engage in extensive measuring and disclosure
regarding greenhouse gas impacts associated with their portfolio investments, including the carbon footprint and the weighted average carbon intensity of
portfolio investments.

In February 2023, the SEC proposed a significant transformation of the Custody Rule under the Advisers Act into a new Rule 223-1 (the “Safeguarding
Rule”) applicable to SEC-registered investment advisers. The proposed Safeguarding Rule would, among other things:

o Broaden the rule to cover all client assets (and not just funds and securities), including, among other things, digital assets and real estate interests;

o Expand the definition of “custody” to include discretionary investment authority for assets regardless of whether or not they are processed or
settled on a delivery versus payment (“DVP”) basis (and will subject separately managed accounts with non-DVP assets (e.g., loans and privately
offered securities) to surprise examinations);

o Overhaul the requirements relating to qualified custodians, including that the adviser enter into a written agreement with the custodian with an
extensive list of required provisions, particularly that the custodian has “possession or control” of client assets; and

> Narrow the availability of the exception from the qualified custodian requirement for uncertificated privately-offered securities and physical assets
and impose new restrictions where the exception still applies.

If adopted, the Safeguarding Rule would represent another radical change in the regulation of custodial practices under the Advisers Act and, like the existing
Custody Rule, would likely present a number of significant and burdensome compliance challenges for investment advisers.

The SEC has also proposed numerous new and amended rules that would apply to market participants that we regularly interact with as counterparties or to our
other business activities. The SEC has indicated that it will seek to have a final vote to adopt many of these proposed regulations in 2023. If these proposed
rules become effective, they could affect our business by making it more costly financially or burdensome for us to engage in certain business transactions. In
addition, an amended SEC rule and subsequent guidance would, beginning in January 2025, prohibit broker dealers from providing price quotations for certain
private debt security offerings unless information about the issuer of these securities is current and publicly available. This rule could affect our ability to trade in
certain private debt securities.

In September 2023, the SEC announced charges against 10 broker-dealers, investment advisers, and dually registered broker-dealers and investments advisers
for widespread and longstanding failures by the firms and their employees to maintain and preserve electronic communications. The firms admitted the facts set
forth in their respective SEC orders, acknowledged that their conduct violated recordkeeping provisions of the federal securities laws, agreed to pay penalties,
and agreed to implement improvements to their compliance policies and
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procedures to settle these matters. To date, the SEC has charged over 40 registrations and leveled over $1.6 billion in penalties as part of its off-channel
communications enforcement matters.

It is difficult to determine the full extent of the impact on us of any new laws, regulations or initiatives that may be proposed or whether any of the proposals will
become law. Any changes in the regulatory framework applicable to our business, including the changes described above, may impose additional costs on us,
impact our ability to generate revenue, require the attention of our senior management or result in limitations on the manner in which we conduct our business.
Moreover, we anticipate there may be an increase in regulatory investigations of the trading and other investment activities of private funds, including our
investment funds. Compliance with any new laws or regulations (including recent heightened SEC scrutiny regarding adviser compliance with advisers’ own
internal policies) could make compliance more difficult and expensive, affect the manner in which we conduct our business and adversely affect our profitability.

We may be subject to increasing scrutiny from our clients with respect to the societal and environmental impact of investments we make, which may
adversely impact our ability to retain clients or to grow our client base and assets under management or assets under advisement, and also may
cause us to more likely invest client capital based on societal and environmental factors instead of investing client capital in the investment
opportunities with the highest return potential for a particular level of risk.

In recent years, certain investors, including U.S. public pension funds and certain non-U.S. investors, have placed increasing importance on the impacts of
investments to which they invest or commit capital, including with respect to ESG matters. Investors for whom ESG matters are a priority may decide to redeem
or withdraw previously committed capital from our funds and accounts (where such withdrawal is permitted) or to not invest or commit capital to future funds or
accounts as a result of their assessment of our approach to and consideration of the social cost of our investments or their assessment of the potential impact of
investments made by our competitors’ funds and other products. To the extent our access to capital from investors, including public pension funds, is impaired,
we may not be able to maintain or increase the size of our funds, investment vehicles or accounts or raise sufficient capital for new funds, investment vehicles or
accounts, which may adversely impact our revenues.

The transition to sustainable finance accelerates existing risks and raises new risks for our business that may impact our profitability and success. In particular,
ESG matters have been the subject of increased focus by certain regulators, including in the U.S. and the EU. A lack of harmonization globally in relation to
ESG legal and regulatory reform leads to a risk of fragmentation in group level priorities as a result of the different pace of sustainability transition across global
jurisdictions. This may create conflicts across our global business which could risk inhibiting our future implementation of, and compliance with, rapidly
developing ESG standards and requirements. Failure to keep pace with sustainability transition could impact our competitiveness in the market and damage our
reputation resulting in a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory changes in relation to ESG
matters may attract increased regulatory scrutiny of our business and could result in fines and/or other sanctions being levied against us.

The European Commission has proposed legislative reforms, which include, without limitation: (a) Regulation 2019/2088 regarding the introduction of
transparency and disclosure obligations for investors, funds and asset managers in relation to ESG factors, for which most rules took effect beginning on March
10, 2021; (b) a proposed regulation regarding the introduction of an EU-wide taxonomy of environmentally sustainable activities, which will take effect in a
staggered approach following the first phase which came into effect as of January 1, 2022; and (c) amendments to existing regulations including MiFID Il and
AIFMD to embed ESG requirements. As a result of these legislative initiatives, we may be required to provide additional disclosure to investors in our funds with
respect to ESG matters. This exposes us to increased disclosure risks, for example due to a lack of available or credible data, and the potential for conflicting
disclosures may also expose us to an increased risk of misstatement litigation or miss-selling allegations. Failure to manage these risks could result in a material
adverse effect on our business in a number of ways.

As of January 2021, ERISA regulations required that an ERISA plan fiduciary base its investment decisions solely on “pecuniary” factors, which include factors
that the fiduciary “prudently determines are expected to have a material effect on the risk and/or return of an investment based on appropriate investment
horizons consistent with the plan’s investment objectives and the funding policy established pursuant to section 402(b)(1) of ERISA.” The regulations provide a
limited exception allowing an ERISA plan fiduciary to consider non-
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pecuniary factors where pecuniary factors are not determinative, provided certain substantive conditions are met. On November 22, 2022, the Department of
Labor released a final rule related to fiduciary requirements for ERISA plan fiduciaries when considering ESG factors in selecting investments, clarifying that
fiduciaries may consider climate change and other ESG factors when they make investment decisions. Main portions of this rule took effect on February 1, 2023.
On January 26, 2023, attorney generals of 25 states filed suit in an attempt to block the rule. We cannot predict the outcome of this lawsuit.

We are exposed to data and cybersecurity risks that could result in data breaches, service interruptions, harm to our reputation, protracted and
costly litigation or significant liability.

In connection with the products and services that we provide, we collect, use, store, transmit and otherwise process certain confidential, proprietary and sensitive
information, including the personal information of end-users, third-party service providers and employees. We rely on the efficient, uninterrupted and secure
operation of complex information technology systems and networks to operate our business and securely store, transmit and otherwise process such
information. In the normal course of business, we also share information with our service providers and other third parties. A failure to safeguard the integrity,
confidentiality, availability and authenticity of personal information, client data and our proprietary data from cyber-attacks, unauthorized access, fraudulent
activity (e.g., check “kiting” or fraud, wire fraud or other dishonest acts), data breaches and other security incidents that we, our third-party service providers or
our clients may experience may lead to modification, destruction, loss of availability or theft of critical and sensitive data pertaining to us, our clients or other third
parties. To date, we have not experienced any material security incidents, but as a financial services company we remain a significant target for malicious third
party actions.

Our management and Board actively manage and oversee cybersecurity risks. Our cybersecurity program is designed to protect systems and data, containing
preventive and detective controls, and our Board, audit committee and management team will be regularly briefed on our cybersecurity policies and practices
and ongoing efforts to improve security, as well as periodic updates on cybersecurity events. All such protective measures, as well as additional measures that
may be required to comply with rapidly evolving data privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards or contractual
obligations, have and will continue to cause us to incur substantial expenses. Failure to timely upgrade or maintain computer systems, software and networks as
necessary could also make us or our third-party service providers susceptible to breaches and unauthorized access and misuse. We may be required to expend
significant additional resources to modify, investigate or remediate vulnerabilities or other exposures arising from data and cybersecurity risks.

Improper access to our or our third-party service providers’ systems or databases could result in the theft, publication, deletion or modification of confidential,
proprietary or sensitive information, including personal information. An actual or perceived breach of our security systems or those of our third-party service
providers may require notification under applicable data privacy regulations or contractual obligations. The accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure,
loss, destruction, disablement, corruption or encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of our, our clients’ or other third parties’ confidential, proprietary or
sensitive information, including personal information, by us or our third-party service providers could result in significant fines, penalties, orders, sanctions and
proceedings or actions against us by governmental bodies and other regulatory authorities, customers or third parties, which could materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Any such proceeding or action, and any related indemnification obligations, could damage our
reputation, force us to incur significant expenses in defense of such proceeding or action, distract our management, increase our costs of doing business or
result in the imposition of financial liability.

Despite our efforts to ensure the integrity, confidentiality, availability, and authenticity of our proprietary systems and information, it is possible that we may not
be able to anticipate or to implement effective preventive measures against all cyber threats. No security solution, strategy, or measures can address all possible
security threats or block all methods of penetrating a network or otherwise perpetrating a security incident. The risk of unauthorized circumvention of our security
measures or those of our third-party providers, clients and partners has been heightened by advances in computer and software capabilities and the increasing
sophistication of hackers, including those operating on behalf of nation-state actors, who employ complex techniques involving the theft or misuse of personal
and financial information, counterfeiting, “phishing” or social engineering incidents, account takeover attacks, denial or degradation of service attacks, malware,
fraudulent payment and identity theft. Because the techniques used by hackers change frequently and are increasingly complex and sophisticated, and new
technologies may not be identified until they are launched
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against a target, we and our third-party service providers may be unable to anticipate these techniques or detect an incident, assess its severity or impact, react
or appropriately respond in a timely manner or implement adequate preventative measures. Our systems are also subject to compromise from internal threats,
such as theft, misuse, unauthorized access or other improper actions by employees, service providers and other third parties with otherwise legitimate access to
our systems or databases. The latency of a compromise is often measured in months, but could be years, and we may not be able to detect a compromise in a
timely manner.

Due to applicable laws and regulations or contractual obligations, we may also be held responsible for any failure or cybersecurity breaches attributed to our
third-party service providers as they relate to the information that we share with them. Although we generally have agreements relating to data privacy and
security in place with our third-party service providers, they are limited in nature and we cannot guarantee that such agreements will prevent the accidental or
unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement, corruption or encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of confidential, proprietary or
sensitive information, including personal information, or enable us to obtain reimbursement from third-party service providers in the event we should suffer
incidents resulting in accidental or unauthorized access to or disclosure, loss, destruction, disablement or encryption of, use or misuse of or modification of
confidential, proprietary or sensitive information, including personal information. In addition, because we do not control our third-party service providers and our
ability to monitor their data security is limited, we cannot ensure the security measures they take will be sufficient to protect confidential, proprietary or sensitive
information (including personal information).

Regardless of whether a security incident or act of fraud involving our services is attributable to us or our third-party service providers, such an incident could,
among other things, result in improper disclosure of information, harm our reputation and brand, reduce the demand for our products and services, lead to loss
of client business or confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures, disrupt normal business operations or result in our systems or products and
services being unavailable. In addition, such incidents may require us to spend material resources to investigate or correct the incident and to prevent future
security incidents, expose us to uninsured liability, increase our risk of regulatory scrutiny, expose us to protracted and costly litigation, trigger indemnity
obligations, result in damages for contract breach, divert the attention of management from the operation of our business and otherwise cause us to incur
significant costs or liabilities, any of which could affect our financial condition, results of operations and reputation. Moreover, there could be public
announcements regarding any such incidents and any steps we take to respond to or remediate such incidents, and if securities analysts or investors perceive
these announcements to be negative, it could, among other things, have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our Class A Common Stock. In addition, our
remediation efforts may not be successful. Further, any adverse findings in security audits or examinations could result in reputational damage to us, which could
reduce the use and acceptance of our services, cause our customers to cease doing business with us or have a significant adverse impact on our revenue and
future growth prospects. Furthermore, even if not directed at us specifically, attacks on other financial institutions could disrupt the overall functioning of the
financial system or lead to additional regulation and oversight by federal and state agencies, which could impose new and costly compliance obligations.

If we are not able to satisfy data protection, security, privacy and other government- and industry-specific requirements or regulations, our results of
operations, financial condition or business could be harmed.

We are subject to various risks and costs associated with the collection, processing, storage and transmission of personal data and other sensitive and
confidential information. Personal data is information that can be used to identify a natural person, including names, photos, email addresses, or computer IP
addresses. This data is wide ranging and relates to our clients, employees, counterparties and other third parties. Our compliance obligations include those
relating to state laws, such as the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which provides for enhanced privacy protections for California residents, a private
right of action for data breaches and statutory fines and damages for data breaches or other CCPA violations, as well as well as a requirement of “reasonable”
cybersecurity. We are also required to comply with foreign data collection and privacy laws in various non-U.S. jurisdictions in which we have offices or conduct
business, including the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), which applies to all organizations processing or holding personal data of EU data subjects
(regardless of the organization’s location) as well as to organizations outside the EU that offer goods or services in the EU, or that monitor the behavior of EU
data subjects. Compliance with the GDPR requires us to analyze and evaluate how we handle data in the ordinary course of business, from processes to
technology. EU data subjects need to be given full disclosure about how their personal data will be used and stored. In that

59



connection, consent must be explicit, and companies must be in a position to delete information from their global systems permanently if consent were
withdrawn. Financial regulators and data protection authorities throughout the EU have broad audit and investigatory powers under the GDPR to probe how
personal data is being used and processed. In addition, some countries and states are considering or have passed legislation implementing data protection
requirements or requiring local storage and processing of data or similar requirements that could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services.
There are currently a number of proposals pending before federal, state, and foreign legislative and regulatory bodies.

Many statutory requirements include obligations for companies to notify individuals of security breaches involving certain personal information, which could
result from breaches experienced by us or our third-party service providers. For example, laws in all 50 U.S. states require businesses to provide notice to
customers whose personal information has been disclosed as a result of a data breach. These laws are not consistent, and compliance in the event of a
widespread data breach is difficult and may be costly. Moreover, states have been frequently amending existing laws, requiring attention to changing regulatory
requirements. In addition, we may be contractually required to notify clients, end-investors or other counterparties of a security breach. Although we may have
contractual protections with our third-party service providers, any security breach, or actual or perceived non-compliance with privacy or security laws,
regulations, standards, policies or contractual obligations, could harm our reputation and brand, expose us to potential liability and require us to expend
significant resources on data security and in responding to any such incident or actual or perceived non-compliance. Any contractual protections we may have
from our third-party service providers may not be sufficient to adequately protect us from any such liabilities and losses, and we may be unable to enforce any
such contractual protections.

We make public statements about our use and disclosure of personal information through our privacy policy, information provided on our website and press
statements. Although we endeavor to comply with our public statements and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or be alleged to have failed to do so.
The publication of our privacy policy and other statements that provide promises and assurances about data privacy and security can subject us to potential
government or legal action if they are found to be deceptive, unfair or misrepresentative of our actual practices. In addition, from time to time, concerns may be
expressed about whether our products and services compromise the privacy of clients and others. Even the perception, whether or not valid, of privacy concerns
or any failure by us to comply with our posted privacy policies or with any legal or regulatory requirements, standards, certifications or orders or other privacy or
consumer protection-related laws and regulations applicable to us may harm our reputation, inhibit adoption of our products by current and future customers or
adversely impact our ability to attract and retain workforce talent.

Given the complexity of operationalizing data privacy and security laws and regulations to which we are subject, the maturity level of proposed compliance
frameworks and the relative lack of guidance in the interpretation of the numerous requirements of the data privacy and security laws and regulations to which
we are subject, we may not be able to respond quickly or effectively to regulatory, legislative and other developments, and these changes may in turn impair our
ability to offer our existing or planned products and services or increase our cost of doing business. Although we work to comply with applicable laws and
regulations, industry standards, contractual obligations and other legal obligations, such laws, regulations, standards and obligations are evolving and may be
modified, interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with one another. In addition, they may conflict with
other requirements or legal obligations that apply to our business or the features and services that our adviser clients and their investor clients expect from our
products and services. As such, we cannot assure ongoing compliance with all such laws, regulations, standards and obligations. Any failure, or perceived
failure, by us to adequately address privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, or to comply with applicable laws, regulations and standards, or with
employee, client and other data privacy and data security requirements pursuant to contract and our stated privacy notice(s), could result in investigations or
proceedings against us by data protection authorities, governmental entities or others, including class action privacy litigation in certain jurisdictions, which could
subject us to fines, civil or criminal liability, public censure, claims for damages by customers and other affected individuals, damage to our reputation and loss of
goodwill (in relation to both existing and prospective clients), or we could be required to fundamentally change our business activities and practices, which may
not be possible in a commercially reasonable manner, or at all. Any or all of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our operations,
financial performance and business.
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We may be unable to remain in compliance with the financial or other covenants contained in the Credit Agreement and other debt instruments. Any
breach of our credit facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition .

The Credit Agreement and other debt instruments contain, and any future debt instruments may contain, financial and other covenants that impose requirements
on us and limit our and our subsidiaries’ ability to engage in certain transactions or activities, such as:

« making certain payments in respect of equity interests, including, among others, the payment of dividends and other distributions, redemptions and
similar payments, payments in respect of options and other rights, and payments in respect of subordinated indebtedness;

* incurring additional debt;

« providing guarantees in respect of obligations of other persons;

* making loans, advances and investments;

« entering into transactions with investment funds and affiliates;

« creating or incurring liens;

* entering into negative pledges;

« selling all or any part of the business, assets or property, or otherwise disposing of assets;
* making acquisitions or consolidating or merging with other persons;

* entering into sale-leaseback transactions;

« changing the nature of our business;

« changing our fiscal year;

« making certain modifications to organizational documents or certain material contracts;
« making certain modifications to certain other debt documents; and

« entering into certain agreements with respect to the repayment of indebtedness.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain leverage levels and other financial metrics in compliance with the financial covenants included in our
debt instruments. These restrictions may limit our flexibility in operating our business, and any failure to comply with these financial and other covenants, if not
waived, would cause a default or event of default. Our obligations under our debt instruments are secured by substantially all of our assets. In the case of an
event of default, creditors may exercise rights and remedies, including the rights and remedies of a secured party, under such agreements and applicable law,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Confidentiality agreements with employees, consultants, and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary
information.

We have devoted substantial resources to the development of our proprietary technologies, investment solutions and services. To protect our proprietary rights,
we enter into confidentiality, nondisclosure, non-interference and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants and independent
contractors. However, we cannot guarantee that we have entered into such agreements with each party that has or may have had access to our trade secrets
and proprietary know-how. Further, these agreements may not effectively prevent unauthorized disclosure of confidential information or unauthorized parties
from copying aspects of our technologies, investment solutions or products or obtaining and using information that we regard as proprietary. Moreover, these
agreements may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of such unauthorized disclosures of confidential information and we cannot assure you that our
rights under such agreements will be enforceable. In addition, others may independently discover trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases,
we could not assert any trade secret rights against such parties. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be
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necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection could reduce any competitive
advantage we have developed and cause us to lose customers or otherwise harm our business.

We may face damage to our professional reputation and legal liability if our services are not regarded as satisfactory or for other reasons.

In recent years, the volume of claims and amount of damages claimed in litigation and regulatory proceedings against financial advisors and investment
managers has been increasing. Our asset management and advisory activities may expose us to the risk of significant legal liabilities to our clients and third
parties, including our clients’ stockholders or beneficiaries, under securities or other laws and regulations for, for example, materially false or misleading
statements made in connection with securities and other transactions. We make investment decisions on behalf of our clients that could result in substantial
losses. Since November 2022, Home REIT and AHRA, which served as its investment advisor until June 30, 2023, have been the subject of allegations
regarding Home REIT’s operations, stemming from a report issued by a short seller and Home REIT has seen its financial performance materially decline. AlTi
was formed on January 3, 2023 through a business combination transaction that included certain legacy Alvarium companies. Although AHRA was sold prior to
the business combination and has never been a subsidiary of AlTi, we were required under GAAP to consolidate its results in our financial statements until June
30, 2023, when it was deconsolidated. HLIF pursues a similar investment strategy to Home REIT and its financial performance has similarly declined
significantly since the end of 2021. The historic management of these funds by certain legacy Alvarium entities is now the subject of investigations by the UK
FCA. We no longer provide services to Home REIT and are in the process of transitioning the management of HLIF. Once this is completed the legacy Alvarium
companies that provided these services will cease operating. Notwithstanding this, we or our subsidiaries may potentially suffer reputational damage from the
allegations concerning the management of Home REIT or HLIF. Further, we may be subject to the risk of legal and regulatory liabilities or actions alleging
breach of regulatory rules and/or principles, negligence, misconduct (including deceit), breach of fiduciary duty or breach of contract. In particular, although the
UK FCA's investigations concerning the historic management of Home REIT and HLIF have only recently commenced and their outcomes cannot be known or
anticipated as at the date of this Annual Report, should the UK FCA seek to impose financial penalties or other sanctions as a result of them, this may adversely
affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. These risks often may be difficult to assess or quantify and their existence and magnitude often
remain unknown for substantial periods of time. We may incur significant legal expenses in defending litigation and responding to the regulatory investigations.
In addition, negative publicity and press speculation about us, our investment activities or the private markets in general, whether or not based in truth, or
litigation or regulatory action against us or any third-party managers recommended by us or involving us may tarnish our reputation and harm our ability to attract
and retain clients. Substantial legal or regulatory liability could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations or
cause significant reputational harm to us, which could seriously harm our business.

Our inability to obtain adequate insurance could subject us to additional risk of loss or additional expenses.

We may not be able to obtain or maintain sufficient insurance on commercially reasonable terms or with adequate coverage levels against potential liabilities we
may face, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. We may face a risk of loss from a variety of claims, including those related to contracts,
fraud, compliance with laws and various other issues, whether or not such claims are valid. Insurance and other safeguards might only partially reimburse us for
our losses, if at all, and if a claim is successful and exceeds or is not covered by our insurance policies, we may be required to pay a substantial amount in
respect of such successful claim. Certain losses of a catastrophic nature, such as public health crises, wars, earthquakes, typhoons, terrorist attacks or other
similar events, may be uninsurable or may only be insurable at rates that are so high that maintaining coverage would cause an adverse impact on our business,
in which case we may choose not to maintain such coverage.

Our controls and procedures may fail or be circumvented, our risk management policies and procedures may be inadequate and operational risks
could adversely affect our reputation and financial condition.

We have developed and continue to update strategies and procedures specific to our business for managing risks, which include market risk, liquidity risk,
operational risk and reputational risk. Management of these risks can be very complex. These strategies and procedures may fail under some circumstances,
particularly if we are
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confronted with risks that we have underestimated or not identified. Some of our risk evaluation methods depend upon information provided by others and public
information regarding markets, clients or other matters that are otherwise accessible by us. If our policies and procedures are not fully effective or we are not
successful in capturing all risks to which we are or may be exposed, we may suffer harm to our reputation or be subject to litigation or regulatory actions that
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

If Umbrella were treated as a corporation for U.S. federal, state or local tax purposes, then the amount available for distribution by it could be
substantially reduced and our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

An entity that would otherwise be classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes (such as Umbrella) may nonetheless be treated as, and
taxable as, a corporation if it is a “publicly traded partnership” unless an exception to such treatment applies. An entity that would otherwise be classified as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes will be treated as a “publicly traded partnership” if interests in such entity are traded on an established
securities market or interests in such entity are readily tradable on a secondary market or the substantial equivalent thereof. If Umbrella were determined to be
treated as a “publicly traded partnership” that is taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, it would be taxable on its income at the U.S.
federal income tax rate applicable to corporations and distributions by it to its members (including the Company) could be taxable as dividends to such members
to the extent of the earnings and profits of Umbrella. In addition, we would no longer have the benefit of increases in the tax basis of Umbrella’s assets as a
result of exchanges of Umbrella common units. Pursuant to the Umbrella LLC Agreement, certain holders of Umbrella common units may, from time to time,
subject to the terms of the Umbrella LLC Agreement, have their Umbrella common units redeemed by Umbrella for cash or Class A Common Stock. Such
redemptions could be treated as trading in the interests of the Umbrella for purposes of testing “publicly traded partnership” status. While the Umbrella LLC
Agreement contains restrictions on such redemptions that are intended to prevent Umbrella from being treated as a “publicly traded partnership” for U.S. federal
income tax purposes by complying with certain safe harbors provided for under applicable U.S. federal income tax law, such position is not free from doubt and,
if such provisions are not effective, Umbrella may be treated as a “publicly traded partnership” taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

In certain cases, payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement may be accelerated or exceed the actual tax benefits realized by the Company.

Payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will be based on the tax reporting positions that we determine, and the IRS or another taxing authority may
challenge all or any part of the tax basis increases, as well as other tax positions that we take, and a court may sustain such a challenge. In the event that any
tax benefits we initially claim are disallowed, the recipients of the payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement will not be required to reimburse us for any
excess payments that may previously have been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, for example, due to adjustments resulting from examinations by
taxing authorities. As a result, in certain circumstances we could make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement in excess of our actual income or
franchise tax savings, which could materially impair our financial condition.

Moreover, the Tax Receivable Agreement provides that, in certain events, including a change of control or our exercise of early termination rights, our obligations
under the Tax Receivable Agreement will accelerate and we will be required to make a lump-sum cash payment to the parties to the Tax Receivable Agreement

equal to the present value of all forecasted future payments that would have otherwise been made under the Tax Receivable Agreement, which lump-sum
payment would be based on certain assumptions, including those relating to our future taxable income. The lump-sum payment could be substantial and could
exceed the actual tax benefits that we realize subsequent to such payment because such payment would be calculated assuming, among other things, that we
would have certain tax benefits available to it and that we would be able to use the potential tax benefits in future years.

There may be a material negative effect on our liquidity if the payments we are required to make under the Tax Receivable Agreement exceed the actual income
or franchise tax savings that we realize. Furthermore, our obligations to make payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement could also have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control.
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Umbrella may directly or indirectly make distributions of cash to us substantially in excess of the amounts we use to make distributions to our
stockholders and pay our expenses (including our taxes and payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement). To the extent we do not distribute such
excess cash to our stockholders, the direct or indirect holders of Umbrella common units would benefit from any value attributable to such cash as a
result of their ownership of our stock upon a Unit Exchange.

We will directly or indirectly receive a pro rata portion of any distributions made by Umbrella. Any cash received from such distributions will first be used to
satisfy any tax liability and then to make any payments required to be made under the Tax Receivable Agreement. Subject to having available cash and subject
to limitations imposed by applicable law and contractual restrictions, the Umbrella LLC Agreement requires Umbrella to make certain distributions to holders of
Umbrella common units (including the Company) pro rata to facilitate the payment of taxes with respect to the income of Umbrella that is allocated to them. To
the extent that the tax distributions we directly or indirectly receive exceed the amounts we actually require to pay taxes, Tax Receivable Agreement payments
and other expenses (which is likely to be the case given that the assumed tax rate for such distributions will generally exceed our effective tax rate), we will not
be required to distribute such excess cash. Our Board may, in its sole discretion, choose to use such excess cash for certain purposes, including to make
distributions to the holders of our stock. Unless and until our Board chooses, in its sole discretion, to declare a distribution, we will have no obligation to
distribute such cash (or other available cash other than any declared dividend) to our stockholders.

Certain holders of Umbrella common units (i) were deemed to have sold a portion of their Umbrella common units at the time of the Business Combination, and
(ii) may in the future redeem their Umbrella common units for shares of the Company or cash pursuant to the Umbrella LLC Agreement, subject to certain
conditions and transfer restrictions as set forth therein (each such redemption, a “Unit Exchange”). No adjustments to the exchange ratio of Umbrella common
units for our shares pursuant to a Unit Exchange will be made as a result of either (i) any cash distribution by us or (ii) any cash that we retain and do not
distribute to our stockholders. To the extent we do not distribute such cash as dividends and instead, for example, hold such cash balances or use such cash for
certain other purposes, this may result in shares of our stock increasing in value relative to the Umbrella common units. The holders of Umbrella common units
may benefit from any value attributable to such cash balances if they acquire shares of our stock in an exchange of Umbrella common units.

Risks Related to Personnel

We rely on our management team to grow our business, and the loss of key management members, or an inability to hire key personnel, could harm
our business.

While the success of our business is not tied to any particular person or group of “key persons,” the success of our business does depend on the efforts,
judgment and reputations of our personnel generally, and in particular our experienced and senior personnel in investment, operational and executive functions.
Our personnel’s reputation, expertise in investing and risk management and relationships with our clients and third parties on which our funds depend for
investment opportunities are each critical elements in operating and expanding our business. However, we may not be successful in our efforts to retain our
most valued employees, as the market for alternative asset management professionals is extremely competitive. The loss of one or more members of our senior
team could harm our business and jeopardize our relationships with our clients and members of the investing community. Accordingly, the retention of our
personnel is crucial to our success. Certain of our executives are subject to long-term employment contracts that contain various incentives and restrictive
covenants designed to retain these employees for the long-term success of our business, but none of them are obligated to remain actively involved with us. In
addition, if any of our personnel were to join or form a competitor, following any required restrictive period set forth in their employment agreements, some of our
investors could choose to invest with that competitor rather than with us. The loss of the services of one or more members of our senior team could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, including our performance, our ability to retain and attract funds and highly
qualified employees and our ability to raise new funds. Any change to our senior management team could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

We do not carry any “key person” insurance that would provide us with proceeds in the event of the death or disability of any of our personnel. In addition,
certain of our funds have key person provisions that are triggered upon the loss of services of one or more specified employees and could, upon the occurrence
of such event,
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provide the investors in these funds with certain rights such as rights providing for the termination or suspension of the funds’ investment periods and/or wind-
down of the funds. Accordingly, the loss of such personnel could result in significant disruption of certain funds’ investment activities, which could have a
material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, and could harm our ability to maintain or grow our assets under
management in existing funds or raise additional funds in the future. Similarly, to the extent there is a perception in the market that one or more of our
employees is critical to the success of a particular investment strategy, the loss of one or more such employees could lead investors to redeem from our funds
or choose not to make further investments in existing or future funds that we manage, which would correspondingly reduce our management fees and potential
to earn incentive fees.

Employee misconduct could harm us by impairing our ability to attract and retain fund investors and subjecting us to significant legal liability,
regulatory scrutiny and reputational harm.

Our ability to attract and retain fund investors and to pursue investment opportunities for our clients depends heavily upon the reputation of our professionals,
especially our senior professionals as well as third-party service providers. We are subject to a number of obligations and standards arising from our investment
management business and our authority and statutory fiduciary status over the assets managed by our investment management business. Further, our
employees are subject to various internal policies including a Code of Ethics and policies covering conflicts of interest, information systems, business continuity
and information security. The violation of those obligations, standards and policies by any of our employees or misconduct by one of our third-party service
providers could adversely affect investors in our investment products and services and us. Our business often requires that we deal with confidential matters of
great significance to companies in which our investment products and services may invest. If our employees, former employees or third-party service providers
were to use or disclose confidential information improperly, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial position and current and future business
relationships. Employee or third-party service provider misconduct could also include, among other things, binding us to transactions that exceed authorized
limits or present unacceptable risks and other unauthorized activities or concealing unsuccessful investments (which, in either case, may result in unknown and
unmanaged risks or losses), or otherwise charging (or seeking to charge) inappropriate expenses or inappropriate or unlawful behavior or actions directed
towards other employees.

It is not always possible to detect or deter misconduct by employees or third-party service providers, and the extensive precautions we take to detect and
prevent this activity may not be effective in all cases. If one or more of our employees, former employees or third-party service providers were to engage in
misconduct or were to be accused of such misconduct, our business and our reputation could be adversely affected and a loss of fund investor confidence could
result, which would adversely impact our ability to raise future funds. Our current and former employees and those of our investment products and services’
investments as well as our third-party service providers may also become subject to allegations of sexual harassment, racial and gender discrimination or other
similar misconduct, which, regardless of the ultimate outcome, may result in adverse publicity that could harm our and such portfolio company’s brand and
reputation.

Our future growth depends on our ability to attract, retain and develop human capital in a highly competitive talent market.

The success of our business will continue to depend upon us attracting, developing and retaining human capital. Competition for qualified, motivated, and highly
skilled executives, professionals and other key personnel in asset management firms is significant. Turnover and associated costs of rehiring, the loss of human
capital through attrition, death, or disability and the reduced ability to attract talent could impair our ability to implement our future growth and maintain our
standards of excellence. Our future success will depend upon our ability to find, attract, retain and motivate highly skilled and highly qualified individuals. We
seek to provide our personnel with competitive benefits and compensation packages. However, our efforts may not be sufficient to enable us to attract, retain
and motivate qualified individuals to support our growth. Moreover, if our personnel join competitors or form businesses that compete with ours, that could
adversely affect our ability to raise new or successor funds.

65



Risks Related to Being a Public Company
Our management team has limited experience managing a public company.

Most members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. Our management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to
being a public company subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of
securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert their
attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective and our independent registered public accounting firm may not be able to certify
as to their effectiveness, which could have a significant and adverse effect on our business and reputation.

As a public company, we are required to comply with the SEC’s rules implementing Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which require
management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual management report on the effectiveness of
controls over financial reporting. As an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be
required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 until the date we are no longer an
emerging growth company. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event that it is not satisfied
with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating.

To comply with the requirements of being a public company, we may need to undertake various actions, such as implementing additional internal controls and
procedures and hiring additional accounting or internal audit staff. Testing and maintaining internal controls can divert our management'’s attention from other
matters that are important to the operation of our business. If we identify material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting or are unable to
comply with the requirements of Section 404 or assert that our internal controls over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public
accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Common Stock could be negatively affected, and we could become subject to
investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting and may find additional in the future or fail to maintain an
effective system of internal control over financial reporting. If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial
reporting, our operating results and our ability to operate our business could be harmed.

We regularly review and update our internal controls, disclosure controls and procedures, and corporate governance policies and procedures. Any system of
controls, however well designed and operated, is based in part on certain assumptions and can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurances that the
objectives of the system will be met. Any failure or circumvention of our controls and procedures or failure to comply with regulations related to controls and
procedures could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, primarily stemming from insufficiently documented risk assessments,
process-level controls, and information technology controls supporting our financial statements and reporting. Consequently, our Chief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer have determined that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective as of December 31, 2023. To address these weaknesses,
management is actively implementing remediation plans, including the recruitment of additional accounting personnel and the establishment of process-level
controls, management review protocols, and documentation policies. These measures aim to ensure the completeness and accuracy of financial statement
disclosures and to identify and mitigate emerging risks. While progress has been made, further time is needed to complete the implementation and enhance our
internal control over financial reporting.
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If we identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting or are otherwise required to restate our financial statements in the
future, we could be required to implement expensive and time-consuming remedial measures and could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports. In addition, there are risks that individuals, either employees or contractors, consciously circumvent established control
mechanisms by, for example, exceeding trading or investment management limitations, or committing fraud. Failure to implement and maintain effective internal
control over financial reporting could result in errors in our consolidated financial statements that could result in a restatement of our financial statements, may
subject us to litigation and investigations, and could cause us to fail to meet its reporting obligations, any of which could diminish investor confidence, cause a
decline in the price of the Class A Common Stock and limit our ability to access capital markets.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their recommendations regarding
our shares or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A Common Stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our
business. We do not have any control over these analysts. Securities and industry analysts do not currently, and may never, publish research on us. If no
securities or industry analysts commence coverage of us, the trading price of our Class A Common Stock would likely be negatively impacted. In the event
securities or industry analysts-initiated coverage, and one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose
visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our share price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover us
downgrade our stock, or if our results of operations do not meet their expectations, the price of our Class A Common Stock could decline.

As a public company, we are subject to additional laws, regulations and stock exchange listing standards, which will impose additional costs on us
and may strain our resources and divert our management’s attention.

As a company with publicly traded securities, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, the listing requirements of Nasdaq and other applicable securities laws and regulations. These rules and
regulations require that we adopt additional controls and procedures and disclosure, corporate governance and other practices thereby significantly increasing
our legal, financial and other compliance costs. These new obligations will also make other aspects of our business more difficult, time-consuming or costly and
increase demand on our personnel, systems and other resources. For example, to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting, we will need to commit significant resources, hire additional staff and provide additional management
oversight. Furthermore, as a result of disclosure of information in this Annual Report and in our Exchange Act and other filings required of a public company, our
business and financial condition will become more visible, which we believe may give some of our competitors who may not be similarly required to disclose this
type of information a competitive advantage. In addition to these added costs and burdens, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we
could be subject to delisting of our Class A Common Stock, fines, sanctions, other regulatory actions and civil litigation, any of which could negatively affect the
price of our Class A Common Stock.

If we are deemed an “investment company” subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act, applicable restrictions could make it
impractical for us to continue our business as contemplated and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

An issuer will generally be deemed to be an “investment company” for purposes of the Investment Company Act if, absent an applicable exemption:
« itis or holds itself out as being engaged primarily, or proposes to engage primarily, in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities; or

* it owns or proposes to acquire investment securities having a value exceeding 40% of the value of its total assets (exclusive of U.S. government
securities and cash items) on an unconsolidated basis.
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We regard ourselves as a financial services business. We believe that we are engaged primarily in the business of providing financial services and not in the
business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities. We also believe that the primary source of income from each of our businesses is properly
characterized as income earned in exchange for the provision of services. We hold ourselves out as a financial services business and do not propose to engage
primarily in the business of investing, reinvesting or trading in securities.

If we become obligated to register ourselves or any of our subsidiaries as an investment company pursuant to the Investment Company Act, the registered entity
would have to comply with a variety of substantive requirements under the Investment Company Act including, among other things:

« limitations on capital structure;

« restrictions on specified investments;

« prohibitions on transactions with affiliates; and

« compliance with reporting, record keeping, voting, proxy disclosure and other rules and regulations that would significantly change our operations.

If we were deemed to be an investment company under the Investment Company Act, we would either have to register as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act, obtain exemptive relief from the SEC or modify our equity interests and debt positions or organizational structure or our contract rights
to fall outside the definition of an investment company under the Investment Company Act. Registering as an investment company pursuant to the Investment
Company Act could, among other things, materially adversely affect our financial condition, business and results of operations, materially limit our ability to
borrow funds or engage in other transactions involving leverage and require us to add directors who are independent of us and otherwise would subject us to
additional regulation that would be costly and time-consuming. Modifying our equity interests and debt positions or organizational structure or our contract rights
could require us to alter our business and investment strategy in a manner that could require us to purchase or dispose of assets or securities, prevent us from
pursuing certain opportunities, or otherwise restrict our business, which may have a material adverse effect on our business results of operations, financial
condition or prospects.

Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes these metrics difficult to predict.

Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate in the future. As a result, you should not rely
on our past quarterly operating results as indicators of future performance. You should take into account the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by
companies in rapidly evolving markets. Our financial condition and operating results in any given quarter can be influenced by numerous factors, many of which
we are unable to predict or are outside of our control, including the performance of our investments, competition with other market participants, and changes in
market and economic conditions.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our operating results.

The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our expectations or those of
analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other operating results for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations, the
market price of our shares of Class A Common Stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits, including securities class action suits.

The requirements of being a public company, including maintaining adequate internal control over our financial and management systems, may
strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company we incur significant legal, accounting, and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. We are subject to reporting
requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the rules subsequently implemented by the SEC, the rules and regulations of the listing standards of
Nasdag, and
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other applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations may strain our financial and management systems, internal
controls, and employees.

The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. Moreover,
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control, over financial
reporting. In order to maintain and improve our disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over, financial reporting to meet this standard, significant
resources and management oversight are required. We have identified material weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting, but we
may not detect additional material weaknesses or errors on a timely basis in the future and our consolidated financial statements may be materially misstated.
Effective internal control is necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and is important to prevent fraud.

In addition, we will be required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act when we cease to be an emerging
growth company. We expect to incur significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management's attention may be diverted
from other business concerns, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Although we have already engaged additional
resources to assist us in complying with these requirements, our finance team is small and we may need to hire more employees in the future, or engage outside
consultants, which will increase our operating expenses. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our
Board and qualified executive officers.

Furthermore, as a result of disclosure of information in this prospectus and in our Exchange Act and other filings required of a public company, our business and
financial condition are more visible than when we were a private company, which we believe may give some of our competitors who may not be similarly
required to disclose this type of information a competitive advantage. In addition to these added costs and burdens, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as
a public company, we could be subject to delisting of our Class A Common Stock, fines, sanctions, other regulatory actions and civil litigation, any of which could
negatively affect the price of our Class A Common Stock.

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate. In the future, we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of
new equity securities, debt or a combination of both. However, the lapse or waiver of any lock up restrictions or any sale or perception of a possible sale by our
stockholders, and any related decline in the market price of our Class A Common Stock, could impair our ability to raise capital. Separately, additional financing
may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund our capital requirements. If
we issue new debt securities, the debt holders would have rights senior to holders of Class A Common Stock to make claims on our assets, and the terms of
any debt could restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our Class A Common Stock. If we issue additional equity securities, existing
stockholders will experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have rights senior to those of our Class A Common Stock. Because our decision to
issue securities in any future offering will depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or
nature of our future offerings.

The forecasts of market growth and other projections included in this Annual Report may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the markets in which we
compete achieve the forecasted growth, we cannot assure you that our business will grow at a similar rate, if at all.

Growth forecasts and projections are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be accurate. The
forecasts in this Annual Report relating to the expected growth in the financial services market may prove to be inaccurate. Even if the markets experience the
forecasted growth described in this Annual Report, we may not grow our business at a similar rate, or at all. Our growth is subject to many factors, including our
success in implementing our business strategy, which is subject to many
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risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, the forecasts of market growth included in this Annual Report should not be taken as indicative of our future growth.

The Business Combination involved the integration of businesses that previously operated as independent businesses. We are required to devote attention and
resources to integrating our business practices and operations and our continued attention and resources will be required to plan for such integration. The
companies may encounter potential difficulties in the integration process including the following:

« the inability to successfully integrate the businesses, including operations, technologies, products and services, in a manner that permits us to achieve
the cost savings and operating synergies anticipated to result from the Business Combination, which could result in the anticipated benefits of the
Business Combination not being realized partly or wholly in the time frame currently anticipated or at all;

« the necessity of coordinating geographically separated organizations, systems and facilities;
« potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Business Combination;

« the integration of personnel with diverse business backgrounds and business cultures, while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high-quality
products and services;

« the consolidation and rationalization of information technology platforms and administrative infrastructures as well as accounting systems and related
financial reporting activities; and

« the challenge of preserving important relationships of the Target Companies and resolving potential conflicts that may arise.

Furthermore, it is possible that the integration process could result in the loss of talented employees or skilled workers. The loss of talented employees and
skilled workers could adversely affect our ability to successfully conduct their respective businesses because of such employees’ experience and knowledge of
the respective business. In addition, we could be adversely affected by the diversion of our attention and any delays or difficulties encountered in connection with
our integration efforts. The process of integrating operations could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of the businesses. If we
experience difficulties with the integration process, the anticipated benefits of the Business Combination may not be realized fully or at all, or may take longer to
realize than expected. These integration matters could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or prospects during this
transition period and for an undetermined period after completion of the Business Combination.

We are an emerging growth company within the meaning of the Securities Act and we have taken advantage of certain exemptions from disclosure
requirements available to emerging growth companies; this could make our securities less attractive to investors and may make it more difficult to
compare our performance with other public companies.

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and have taken advantage of certain exemptions
from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies, which exemptions include, but are
not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations
regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on
certain executive compensation matters. As a result, our stockholders may not have access to certain information they may deem important. We may be an
emerging growth company for up to five years from the initial public offering, although circumstances could cause the loss of that status earlier, including if the
market value of the Common Stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any time before or as of June 30, in which case we would no longer be an
emerging growth company as of the following December 31. We cannot predict whether investors will find our securities less attractive because we rely on these
exemptions. If some investors find the securities less attractive as a result of reliance on these exemptions, the trading prices of our securities may be lower than
they otherwise would be, there may be a less active trading market for our securities and the trading prices of the securities may be more volatile.
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Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting
standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that an emerging
growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any
such an election to opt out is irrevocable. We have elected not to opt out of such extended transition period. Accordingly, when a standard is issued or revised
and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, will adopt the new or revised standard at the time
private companies adopt the new or revised standard, unless early adoption is permitted by the standard. This may make comparison of our financial statements
with another public company which is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Our certificate of incorporation provides, subject to limited exceptions, that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive
forum for certain stockholder litigation matters, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or
our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our certificate of incorporation requires, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, (i)
derivative actions brought in our name, (ii) actions asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of our director, officer or stockholders, (iii) actions
asserting a claim pursuant to the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or the amended and restated bylaws of the Company, or (iv) actions asserting claims
governed by the internal affairs doctrine, may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware (or, in the event that the Chancery Court does
not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware). Subject to the preceding sentence, the
federal district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the
Securities Act. However, such forum selection provisions will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other
claim for which the federal courts of the United States have exclusive jurisdiction.

The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors,
officers, or other employees, or may increase the cost for such stockholder to bring a claim, both of which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our
directors, officers, and other employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in the certificate of incorporation to be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our
business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Additionally, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability
created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. As noted above, the certificate of incorporation provides that the federal district courts of
the United States of America will have jurisdiction over any action arising under the Securities Act. Accordingly, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would
enforce such provision. Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations
thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock will be deemed to have notice of and consented to
the forum provisions in our certificate of incorporation.

General Risk Factors

We may be required to take write-downs or write-offs, restructuring and impairment or other charges that could have a significant negative effect on
our financial condition and its share price, which could cause you to lose some or all of your investment.

As a result of unidentified issues or factors outside of our control, we may be forced to later write-down or write-off assets, restructure operations, or incur
impairment or other charges that could result in reporting losses. Even if we identify certain risks, unexpected risks may arise and previously known risks may
materialize in a manner not consistent with the preliminary risk analysis conducted by us. Even though these charges may be non-cash items that would not
have an immediate impact on our liquidity, the reporting of charges of this
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nature could contribute to negative market perceptions about us or our securities. In addition, charges of this nature may cause us to violate leverage or other
covenants to which it may be subject. Accordingly, our stockholders could suffer a reduction in the value of their shares from any such write-down or write-offs.

Nasdaq may delist our securities from trading on its exchange, which could limit investors’ ability to make transactions in our securities and subject
us to additional trading restrictions.

Our securities are currently listed on Nasdag. However, we cannot assure you that our securities will continue to be listed on Nasdagq in the future. In order to
continue to maintain the listing of our securities on Nasdaq, the Company must maintain certain financial, distribution and stock price levels. We cannot assure
you that we will be able to meet those listing requirements.

If we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market, such as the minimum closing bid price, stockholders’ equity or round lot
holders requirements or the corporate governance requirements, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our Class A Common Stock. Such a delisting would likely have
a negative effect on the price of our Class A Common Stock and would impair your ability to sell or purchase our securities when you wish to do so. Such a
delisting could also result in a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for us; and a decreased ability for us to issue additional securities or obtain
additional financing in the future. In the event of a delisting, we can provide no assurance that any action taken by us to restore compliance with listing
requirements would allow our securities to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity of our securities, or prevent future non-
compliance with Nasdag’s listing requirements.

If Nasdaq delists our securities from trading on its exchange and we are not able to list our securities on another national securities exchange, we expect that our
securities could be quoted on an over-the-counter market. If this were to occur, we could face significant material adverse consequences, including:

« alimited availability of market quotations for its securities;
« reduced liquidity for its securities;

« a determination that our securities are “penny stocks” which will require brokers trading in the securities to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly
result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for the Company’s securities;

« alimited amount of news and analyst coverage; and
« adecreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

The certificate of incorporation contains certain provisions, including anti-takeover provisions that limit the ability of stockholders to take certain
actions and could delay or discourage takeover attempts that stockholders may consider favorable.

The certificate of incorporation contains provisions that may discourage unsolicited takeover proposals that stockholders may consider to be in their best
interests. These provisions may make more difficult the removal of management and may discourage transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a
premium over prevailing market prices for our securities.

Our business and operations could be negatively affected if we become subject to any securities litigation or stockholder activism, which could
cause us to incur significant expense, hinder execution of business and growth strategy and impact its stock price.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been brought against that
company. Stockholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, has been increasing recently. Volatility in the stock price of our
securities or other reasons may in the future cause it to become the target of securities litigation or stockholder activism. Securities litigation and stockholder
activism, including potential proxy contests, could result in substantial costs and divert management's and the Board's attention and resources from our
business. Further, such securities litigation and stockholder activism could give rise to perceived uncertainties as to our future, adversely affect its relationships
with service providers and clients and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified personnel. Also, we may be required to incur significant legal fees and
other expenses related to

72



any securities litigation and activist stockholder matters. Further, our stock price could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise be adversely affected by
the events, risks and uncertainties of any securities litigation and stockholder activism.

Future resales of shares may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Pursuant to the Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement and the Sponsor Support Agreement, dated September 19, 2021, by and between the Company,
Sponsor, TWMH, the TIG Entities, and Alvarium (the “Sponsor Support Agreement”) after the consummation of the Business Combination and subject to certain
exceptions, the Sponsor and certain stockholders receiving shares of Company stock as consideration pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement will be
contractually restricted from selling or transferring any of their shares.

However, following the expiration of the applicable lock-up period, such equityholders will not be restricted from selling shares of the Company held by them,
other than by applicable securities laws. As such, sales of a substantial number of our securities in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the
perception in the market that the holders of a large number of securities intend to sell securities, could reduce the market price of our securities. Pursuant to the
subscription agreements for the private placements and the registration rights and lock-up agreement, we were required to register the resale of the Class A
Common Stock issued to the subscribers that agreed to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at the Closing pursuant to the Private Placement, including,
without limitation, as reflected in the Subscription Agreements and securities received by certain stockholders as consideration pursuant to the Business
Combination Agreement. As restrictions on resale end and as long as the registration statements we filed after the Closing to provide for the resale of such
shares from time to time remain available for use, the sale or possibility of sale of these shares could have the effect of increasing the volatility in the Company’s
share price or the market price of our securities could decline if the holders of currently restricted shares sell them or are perceived by the market as intending to
sell them.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

The Company has implemented a cybersecurity risk management program that is designed to identify, respond to, protect against and manage cybersecurity
threats and incidents. Our cybersecurity risk management processes include regular assessments of our cyber threat detection and response capabilities.

We have established cybersecurity risk assessment processes, which include annual risk assessments using third-party consultants. Our Chief Information
Security Officer (“CISO”) has oversight over our information security policies and works with our internal IT resources and third-party managed IT support
providers to facilitate the implementation of our cybersecurity risk assessment and management processes. Our cybersecurity risk management processes are
designed to protect systems and data and contain preventive and detective controls, including internal and external testing. We also provide cybersecurity
awareness training to our employees during onboarding and periodically thereafter, including through simulated phishing attacks.

We maintain processes designed to evaluate the security practices and controls of our critical third-party vendors that have access to our confidential
information, which includes security questionnaires and third-party information security assessments, as applicable.

We maintain policies regarding our information security practices, including an incident response plan to coordinate response and mitigation efforts in the event
we experience a cybersecurity incident. These policies require notification of cybersecurity incidents to our information security team, and if warranted based on
the perceived level of severity of the incident, to members of our executive leadership. We have not identified any cybersecurity incidents or threats that have
materially affected us, including our business strategy, results of
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operations, or financial condition. However, like other companies in our industry, we and our third-party vendors have from time to time experienced threats and
security incidents that could affect our information or systems. For more information, please consult “/ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS'.

Cybersecurity Governance Related to Cybersecurity Risks

Our Board considers cybersecurity risk as part of its overall risk oversight, and has delegated to the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee (“AFRC") responsibility
for oversight of major risk exposures, including in relation to security, cybersecurity and privacy. At the management level, we have also established an
Executive Risk and Compliance Committee (“ERCC”), which oversees the development and implementation of our risk oversight and management processes,
including in relation to cybersecurity. The ERCC is comprised of members of our executive leadership from across the organization. Our CISO reports to the
ERCC on identified material cyber risks (if any) and on the implementation of cybersecurity priorities. The members of the ERCC, in turn, are responsible for
updating the AFRC, and, where required, our Board on key milestones and progress regarding identified material cyber threats.

Our CISO is responsible for advising on the strategic and operational processes related to our cyber risk management program. Our CISO has over two
decades of cybersecurity experience, has served on a cybersecurity advisory board for a university, and is a Certified Information Systems Security
Professional.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters, which we lease, is located at 520 Madison Avenue, 26th Floor, New York, NY. Additionally we lease office space in Aspen,
Bethesda, Dallas, Geneva, Hong Kong, Isle of Man, Lisbon, London, Lugano, Miami, Milan, New York, Palm Beach, Paris, Portland, San Francisco, Seattle,
Singapore, and Wilmington. The Company does not own any real estate. We believe that our existing office space is sufficient for our current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in various legal proceedings, lawsuits, and claims incidental to the conduct of its business, some of which may be
material. Our businesses are also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us. For additional information, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of AlTi Global, Inc. - Litigation”and Note 20 (Commitments and
Contingencies).

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our Class A Common Stock trades on the Nasdag Capital Market under the symbol “ALTI” since January 4, 2023.

Holders

As of March 21, 2024, there were 367 holders of record of our Class A Common Stock. This does not include the number of stockholders that hold shares in
“street name” through banks or broker-dealers.

Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends to date. The payment of cash dividends in the future will be dependent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital
requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends will be within the discretion of the Board at such time. Our ability to declare
dividends may also be limited by restrictive covenants pursuant to any debt financing agreements.

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF ALTI GLOBAL, INC.

In this section, unless the context otherwise requires, references to “AlTi,” “we,” “us,” and “our” are intended to mean the business and operations of AlTi and its
consolidated subsidiaries. The following discussion analyzes the financial condition and results of operations of AlTi and should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated audited financial statements and the related notes included in this Annual Report.

Amounts and percentages presented throughout our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations may reflect rounded results in
thousands (unless otherwise indicated) and consequently, totals may not appear to sum.

Our Business

We are a multi-disciplinary financial services business, with a diverse array of investment, advisory, and administrative capabilities with which we serve our
clients and investors around the globe; and provide value to our shareholders. Our business is organized into two business segments: Wealth Management and
Strategic Alternatives (formerly known as Asset Management):

* we manage or advise approximately $71.4 billion in combined assets as of December 31, 2023;

« in our Wealth Management segment, we provide holistic solutions for our wealth management clients through our full spectrum of wealth management
services, including discretionary investment management services, non-discretionary investment advisory services, trust services, administration
services, and family office services;

« in our Strategic Alternatives segment, we assist our investors with alternative investments and co-investments by providing access to highly differentiated
opportunities in these areas as well as structuring and selecting partners with a proven track record in alternative asset classes, with attractive risk
adjusted return characteristics.

Our business is global, with approximately 480 professionals operating in 21 cities in 10 countries across three continents as of December 31, 2023. These
include approximately 80 individuals expected to depart and one country and city we expect to exit related to the pending sale of FOS and the sale of LRA,
which became effective on March 5, 2024. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures).

The services that we provide form a complementary ecosystem for our target markets of clients, investors, and businesses, many of whom share common
interests and goals that we are able to connect and serve. The complementary nature of our services and a differentiated suite of capabilities positions us well
for organic growth across our business lines. Our strategy includes a focus on inorganic growth through acquisitions and investments in talented managers in
exchange for a share of future revenues or profits. We also believe we are well positioned to capitalize on global market trends and dynamics that we see facing
our world as well as the industry, clients, investors, and businesses we serve.

Fee Structure

Consistent with offering a diverse range of services, we generate a diverse range of revenue streams across our business lines. A high-level summary of these
revenue streams is set forth below.

Broadly, our revenues fall into four categories: recurring management, advisory, or administration fees; performance or incentive fees; distribution from
investments and other income or fees:

« Management, advisory, and administration fees are historically more predictable across market conditions than our other revenue sources. These fees
are recurring in nature (usually being annual or
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quarterly fees) and are earned from both our wealth management division from investment management, investment advisory, trusts and administration,
and family office services, and also from our fund management activities associated with our internally managed funds. Added to the recurring nature of
these fees, our high client retention rate in our wealth management services, and the long-term nature of our fund management fees, means that these
fees are also relatively stable.

« Incentive or performance fees are comprised of both carried interest payments we earn on co-investments and annual performance or incentive fees
earned in some cases from our investment management and advisory or fund management services associated with our internally managed funds.
These fees, being performance related, are variable in nature and more susceptible to impact from exogenous factors. As a result, performance and
incentive fees provide potential upside to our revenues in the future and, in our view, can be highly accretive to our profitability.

« Distributions from investments are generated from the equity interests we have in the three external managers pursuant to which we are entitled to
distributions based on the terms of the respective arrangements. Distributions from each investment will be recorded upon receipt of the distribution. The
Company receives distributions from its External Strategic Managers through our profit or revenue sharing arrangements that are generated through their
management and incentive fees based on performance of the underlying investments. The management component of the distributions is recurring in
nature, while the incentive portion is more susceptible to impact from exogenous factors.

« Other income or fees include transaction fees from our strategic advisory, corporate advisory, brokerage, and placement agency services. Transaction
fees are generally non-recurring in nature, are typically commission based, and are payable on the successful completion of a transaction. Transactions
are also susceptible to impact from exogenous factors. However, as is the case with performance and incentive fees, transaction fees provide potential
upside to our revenues and, in our view, can be highly accretive to our profitability.

Wealth Management Fees

Investment management or advisory fees are the primary source of revenue in our Wealth Management segment. These fees are generally calculated on the
basis of a percentage of the value of each client’'s assets (AUM or AUA) and are charged using either an average daily balance or ending balance, quarterly in
arrears.

AUA consists of all assets we are responsible for overseeing and reporting on, but we do not necessarily charge fees on all such assets. Billable assets
represent the portion of our assets on which we charge fees. Non-billable assets are exempt of fees and consist of assets such as cash and cash equivalents in
certain agreed upon situations, personally owned real estate, and other designated assets.

The fees vary depending upon the level and complexity of client assets and the services being provided. The fee typically covers the investment advisory
services and basic estate and wealth planning services. The more complex estate and wealth planning services, as well as our Trustee service, and certain
extended family office services, are typically billed separately, as a fixed or time-based amount.

Some clients in certain jurisdictions may also pay performance fees if their portfolio achieves returns in excess of an agreed benchmark or hurdle rate. Typically,
such fees are paid annually upon crystallization and are not accrued prior to being earned.

Strategic Alternatives Fees
Fund Management Fees

We earn management fees in our Strategic Alternatives segment through our alternatives platform (compensation for internal fund management and advisory
services), public real estate fund management and private real estate recurring fees. The management fees for the alternatives platform are approximately
0.75% to 1.5% of the net asset value of the funds’ underlying investments.
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Incentive Fees

TIG Arbitrage is entitled to receive incentive fees if certain performance returns have been achieved as stipulated in our governing documents. The incentive
fees for TIG Arbitrage are calculated using 15% to 20% of the net profit/income. We recognize our incentive fees when it is no longer probable that a significant
reversal of revenue will occur. Our incentive fees are not subject to clawback provisions.

Distributions from Investments

Distributions from investments are earned through our profit or revenue sharing arrangements with the External Strategic Managers. Our economic interests in
the External Strategic Managers are as follows:

* Real Estate Bridge Lending Strategy—20.92% profit share;
¢ European Equities—25% revenue share; and

* Asian Credit and Special Situations—12% revenue share

Our distributions from investments from European equities and Asian credit and special situations are comprised of a management fee component and,
depending on performance, an incentive fee component. Depending on the fund, the incentive fee component can range from 15% to 35% of the net
profitincome, in excess of a 10% return hurdle.

Co-investment

As sponsor of private market direct and co-investment transactions, we generate income from debt and equity structures relating to specified real estate
investments or investments in other alternative asset classes. Private market fees include arrangement, retainer, management, advisory, performance,
acquisition, promote and other associated fees as well as interest arbitrage for debt structures. Arrangement fees are typically 50 to 100 basis points of equity
value contributed into a transaction. Acquisition fees are typically payable where there are no agency fees or where there is an off-market transaction sourced by
the team. Such acquisition fees are usually in the range of 50 to 100 basis points of the purchase price of the relevant acquisition. The equity structures are
typically medium to long-term (three to ten years) closed-ended structures with fees normally ranging between 50 and 175 basis points of the equity value
committed or drawn. The debt structure terms are generally between 12 and 36 months. The investment adviser, general partner or other entity entitled to fees
in respect of each of our co-investments receives such fees either monthly, quarterly, or annually.

We may be entitled to a portion of the performance-related entitiements (such as carried interest or promote) that may be payable on exit from Co-investment
transactions. Such revenues are only received if the investor hurdle (i.e. a minimum return to the investor) is reached and may include a catch-up. Carried
interest entitlements are based on a percentage of the investor return above such hurdle and are set on a deal and fund basis. Typically, carried interest
entitlements represent 10% to 20% of the investors’ equity internal rate of return in excess of an 8% to 15% hurdle, with no carried interest entitlement being
payable if the hurdle is not met. In relation to our co-investments, a group company will typically have entered into an advisory or management agreement, or
other arrangement, that entitles us to receive a share of base management fees (whether directly or through a joint venture entity) from the inception of the
relevant investment or joint venture, through to exit and the liquidation of the relevant transaction vehicle, or as otherwise set out in an approved business plan.
Where we have established feeder vehicles for clients, there may also be administration and advisory fees associated with those vehicles (these are earned by
our trusts and administration business).

Real Estate Funds (Public and Private)

We generate income from managing and advising real estate investment funds. Our fees from managing and advising these vehicles are contained in
management and advisory contracts relating to the relevant fund and are typically calculated on a sliding scale of percentages of the asset value, market
capitalization or the investor capital of the relevant fund as applicable.
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Market Trends and Business Environment

Our business is directly and indirectly affected by conditions in the financial markets and economic conditions, particularly in the U.S. and to a lesser extent in
Europe, and Asia. Our business is also sensitive to current and expected interest rates, as well as the currency markets.

2023 was a strong year for stocks and bonds despite the intra-year correction. The S&P 500 and the MSCI All Country World Index increased by 26.3% and
22.8% total return, respectively, in the year, representing the strongest year since 2019. Fixed income markets performed well as bond prices rose and yields fell.
Despite significant fluctuations throughout the year, the 10-year U.S. Treasury bond yields ended the year at 3.9%, almost exactly where it started. The
Bloomberg U.S. Aggregate Bond Index increased by 5.53% in 2023, while the Barclays Global Aggregate Index increased by 5.72% over the same time frame.

The catalyst for the market rally into year-end was a broad easing of financial conditions and reversal of the factors which caused the S&P 500’s 10% intra-year
correction, attributed to several factors including falling long term government bond yields, a function of the Treasury announcing a slower pace of longer-dated
debt issuance, as well as a Federal Reserve guidance of to no more rate hikes and possibly three rate cuts in 2024, falling oil prices due to higher U.S.
production which provided consumer relief through lower prices, as well as slowing inflation.

Our fee-based revenue streams are driven by the value of clients’ portfolio holdings, in the case of our Wealth Management segment or the performance of our
varied funds and direct investments in our Strategic Alternatives segment. The overall level of revenues in these businesses, however, does not correlate
completely with changes in global equity and fixed income markets.

In our Wealth Management segment, while our client portfolios are well diversified across a range of asset classes and thus are not solely impacted by changes
in equities or government bonds, they benefited in the year from the strong performance in the equity and fixed income markets. Client portfolios also include
holdings such as gold, credit and hedge funds that also delivered positive returns in the year. Portfolio fluctuations also depend on multiple additional factors
that include, but are not limited to, the level and duration of fixed income holdings with short-term money market funds showing limited volatility over the quarter,
the level of alternative and private market holdings and the geographic and industry mix of client's equity assets. We also note that our UHNW client base
generally does not need to draw down from their portfolios to support day-to-day living needs and, accordingly, is able to approach portfolio investing with a long-
term time horizon. Hence, in terms of behavior, they are less sensitive to short-term changes in market conditions.

In our Strategic Alternatives segment, the majority of our fees are derived from alternative funds which are structured to have low correlation to equity and fixed
income markets and in some cases benefit in times of market stress. In particular, our event-driven strategy performed well during the second half of the year.
Since US GAAP only permits recognition of incentive fees when they are fully crystallized, the positive performance in the second half is reflected in the fourth
guarter, when the fees were crystallized.

Rising interest rates through most of 2023 had an impact on our public and private real estate assets. The higher cost of capital environment, rising costs of
construction and declining real estate prices are negatively impacting some of the real estate segments in which we operate. This has impacted the price at
which the public real estate vehicle that we manage trades in the market, which saw an average decline in price of 7% in the year, but declined more than 25%
mid-year, impacted the level of management fees that we earn. On the private real estate side, the more difficult market and interest rate conditions may reduce
the ultimate return expected from some of these investments. It is important to note that these assets are utilized in conjunction with longer-term investment
strategies and are not subject to daily market pricing.
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We do not hedge corporate currency risk associated with client portfolio and investor holdings across global markets. Hence, as we report our revenues in U.S.
dollars, the translation impact from changes in the value of currencies outside the U.S. dollar can impact our results in any given financial reporting period.

Throughout the year, we made progress on our strategic initiatives to set the Company up for the future. Some of these initiatives, particularly the work to
restructure and reposition certain businesses, have impacted our US GAAP earnings, but are consistent with our goal of simplifying the business with a focus on
recurring revenues.

We have continued to right-size the organization, simplify our business lines, and initiate processes to reduce the number of our regulated entities, while
securing important client wins and adding key revenue-generating talent. Since the beginning of the year, we have reported AUM/AUA growth amidst a volatile
market environment.

We believe that the combination of our Wealth Management and Strategic Alternatives segments differentiates us from pure-play firms in both sectors and
provides a growing base of recurring and diversified revenues. In the year, total AUM/AUA increased 9.8%, and within our Wealth Management segment, these
have grown 18.6% since the Business Combination.

In 2023 we generated revenues of $250.9 million, 77% of which were recurring revenues. We believe these results, generated largely through organic client
wins, are starting to reflect the power of our franchise, which we believe will continue to flow to an improved bottom line as we look forward to 2024.

Despite these top-line results, we are reporting a US GAAP net loss of $305.8 million for the year, primarily due to a non-cash goodwill impairment charge that is
largely related to decisions taken this year to restructure or exit unprofitable transaction-oriented business lines in our Strategic Alternatives segment and the
impairment of intangible and other assets. The results also include several other non-cash items that negatively impacted US GAAP earnings. Adjusted EBITDA
was $28.6 million in 2023.

Despite what has been a challenging year, our core businesses are performing well. Based on the initiatives already undertaken this year and those that we
embarked on in connection with the 2024 budgeting, on an organic basis, we expect operating expenses to continue to trend downward in 2024. As these cost
savings and other growth initiatives take hold next year, we would expect to see the impact of operating leverage drive improvements and greater consistency in
our US GAAP results and Adjusted EBITDA. In addition, we believe that we will be able to deploy the capital raised from the recently announced investments
from Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. and CWC AITi Investor LLC to make accretive investments that will benefit our GAAP results and Adjusted EBITDA in
2024. A copy of this investment agreement is included as Exhibit 10.22 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference in Form 8-K
filed February 23, 2024.

Non-Comparability of Predecessor Period

Our results for the year ended 2022 reflect only the results of TWMH and do not include the results of the TIG Entities, Alvarium, or Cartesian Growth Capital.
Therefore, prior period amounts are not comparable to current period. Please see “Results of Operations” and “Reconciliation of Consolidated US GAAP
Financial Measures to Certain Non-US GAAP Measures” for a detailed discussion of the underlying drivers of our results, including the accretive impacts of the
Business Combination.

Managing Business Performance and Key Financial Measures
Non-US GAAP Financial Measures

We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA as non-US GAAP financial measures. Adjusted EBITDA is derived from and reconciled to, but not equivalent
to, its most directly comparable US GAAP measure of net income (loss). Adjusted Net Income represents net income (loss) before taxes plus (a) equity-settled
share-based payments, (b) transaction-related costs, including professional fees, (c) impairment of equity method
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investments, (d) change in fair value of investment or other financial instruments, (e) onetime bonuses recorded in the statement of operations, (f) compensation
expense related to the earn-in of certain variable interest entities, and (g) adjusted income tax expense. Adjusted EBITDA represents adjusted net income plus
(a) interest expense, net, (b) income tax expense, (c) adjusted income tax expense less income tax expense, and (d) depreciation and amortization expense.

We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA as non-US GAAP measures to track our performance and assess our ability to service our borrowings.
These non-US GAAP financial measures supplement and should be considered in addition to and not in lieu of, the results of operations, which are discussed
further under “Components of Consolidated Results of Income” and are prepared in accordance with US GAAP. For the specific components and calculations of
these non-US GAAP measures, as well as a reconciliation of these measures to the most comparable measure in accordance with US GAAP, see
“Reconciliation of Consolidated US GAAP Financial Measures to Certain Non-US GAAP Measures.”
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The following tables present the non-US GAAP financial measures for the periods indicated:

For the Period

Favorable
(Unfavorable)

January 1, 2023 -
December 31,

January 1, 2022 -
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor) $ Change
Revenues

Management/Advisory fees $ 184,824 |$ 76,872 $ 107,952
Incentive fees 43,377 — 43,377
Distributions from investments 17,185 — 17,185
Other income/fees 5,494 — 5,494
Total Revenues 250,880 76,872 174,008
Net loss (305,803) (5,998) (299,805)
Interest expense 14,501 427 14,074
Taxes (10,534) 527 (11,061)
Depreciation & Amortization 17,039 2,339 14,700
EBITDA Reported (284,797) (2,705) (282,092)
Stock based compensation (a) 21,450 4,223 17,227
Stock based compensation - Legacy (b) 24,697 — 24,697
Transaction expenses (c) 42,825 9,110 33,715
Change in fair value of warrant liability (d) 12,866 — 12,866
Change in fair value of gains on investments (e) (4,451) (247) (4,204)
Change in fair value of earn-out liability (f) (31,126) — (31,126)
Organization streamlining cost (g) 12,076 — 12,076
Impairment (non-cash) (h) 73,594 — 73,594
Impairment goodwill (i) 153,589 — 153,589
Losses on EMI/Carried Interest (non-cash) (j) 5,017 — 5,017
EMI Adjustments (Interest, Depreciation, Taxes & Amortization) (k) 2,889 — 2,889
Holbein compensatory earn-in (1) — 1,858 (1,858)
TWMH Partner's payout right (m) — 3,662 (3,662)
TIH Share Purchase extinguishment of debt (n) — 1,019 (2,019)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 28,629 |$ 16,920 $ 11,709

(a) Add-back of non-cash expense related to awards of Class A Common stock (approved post-transaction).

(b) Add-back of non-cash expense related to awards of Class A Common stock (approved pre-transaction).

(c) Add-back of transaction expenses related to the Business Combination, including professional fees.

(d) Represents the change in fair value of the warrant liability.

(e) Represents the change in unrealized gains/losses related primarily to Investments held at fair value and changes in fair value of the TRA liability

(Successor) and changes in fair value to the interest rate swap (Predecessor).
(f) Represents the change in fair value of the earn-out liability.

(g) Represents cost to implement organization change to derive cost synergy.
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(h) Represents impairment of intangible asset associated with the deconsolidation of AHRA of $29.4 million, impairment of LRA of $23.5 million, impairment
of equity method investments of $15.6 million and amortization of carried interest of $4.1 million.

(i) Represents the impairment of goodwill.
() Represents the amortization of the step-up in equity method investments.
(k) Represents reported interest, depreciation, amortization, and tax adjustments of the Company's equity method investments.

() Add-back of cash portion of the compensatory earn-ins related to the Holbein acquisition as discussed in Note 5, “Equity-Based Compensation.” The
$0.8 million of compensatory earn-ins is settled in 50% equity and 50% cash. Add-back of equity portion of compensatory earn-ins of $0.4 million is
included in the equity settled share-based payments combined earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (“EBITDA”) adjustment.

(m)Represents the change in the TWMH partner’s payout related to the Business Combination.

(n) Represents forgiveness of a promissory note of a certain shareholder of TIH upon the sale of his shares in TIH to TWMH.
Operating Metrics

We monitor certain operating metrics that are common to the wealth and asset management industry, which are discussed below.

AITi Global, Inc.
AUM: $39.5 billion
AUA: $71.4 billion

Wealth Management Strategic Alternatives
AUM: $34.5 billion AUM: $5.0 billion
AUA: $51.0 billion AUA: $20.4 billion

Wealth Management - AUM

AUM refers to the market value of all assets that we manage, provide discretionary investment advisory services on, and have execution responsibility for.
Although we have investment responsibility for AUM, we include both billable (assets charged fees) and non-billable assets (assets exempt of fees) in our AUM
calculation (e.g., we have agreements with certain clients under which we do not bill on certain securities or cash and cash equivalents held within their portfolio).
AUM includes the value of all assets managed or supervised by operating partner subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures in which the Company holds either a
majority or minority stake. Our calculations of AUM and AUA may differ from the calculation methodologies of other wealth managers and, as a result, this
measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other wealth managers.
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The table below presents the change in our total AUM for our Wealth Management segment for the periods indicated:

(Dollars in Millions) For the Period
January 1, 2023 - December
31, 2023 January 1, 2022 - December 31,
AUM (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor)
Beginning Balance: $ 27,961 |[$ 21,390
New Clients, net 1,352 1,472
Cash Flow, net 328 (672)
Market Performance, net 3,184 (3,769)
Acquisitions 1,700 840
Ending Balance: $ 34,525 |[$ 19,261
Average AUM $ 31,243 [$ 20,326

Wealth Management - AUA

AUA includes all assets we manage as defined above, oversee, and report on. We view AUA as a core metric to measure our investment and fundraising
performance as it includes non-financial assets (e.g., real estate) that are not included in AUM, investment consulting assets (not included in AUM but revenue
generating) and other assets that we do not charge fees upon and do not have responsibility for investment execution responsibility, but the reporting of which is
valued by our clients. AUA includes the value of all assets managed or supervised by operating partner subsidiaries, affiliates, and joint ventures in which the
Company holds either a majority or minority stake. Our calculations of AUA and AUM may differ from the calculation methodologies of other wealth managers
and, as a result, this measure may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other wealth managers.

The table below presents the change in our total AUA for our Wealth Management segment for the periods indicated:

Yollars in Millions) For the Period
January 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023  January 1, 2022 - December 31,
{UA (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor)
Jeginning Balance: $ 42,541% 27,558
Change 8,495 2,338
‘nding Balance: $ 51,036$ 29,896
wverage AUA $ 46,789% 28,727

Strategic Alternatives - AUM/AUA
The Company'’s Strategic Alternatives AUM/AUA includes the following:
» Assets managed by the Alternatives platform, including by TIG Arbitrage (AUM $2.4 billion) and the External Strategic Managers (AUA $5.3 billion);

« Co-investment real estate advisory services, where we include the value of our private market direct and co-investment real estate investments (AUA $10.1
billion); and

» Assets managed in both public and private real estate investment funds (AUM $2.6 billion) from which we generate fee revenue. The Company’s reported
value of these assets are either the net asset value or the market capitalization of the fund.
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The tables below present the change in our total AUM/AUA by strategy and product for our alternatives platform for the periods indicated:

Alternatives Platform

AUM/AUA at
AUMI/AUA at December 31, 2023 Average
(Dollars in Millions) January 1,2023 Gross Appreciati New its Subscriptions Redemptions Distributions (Successor) AUM/AUA
TIG Arbitrage $ 3,027 $ 290 $ — % 769 $ (1,637) $ 67) $ 2,382 $ 2,705
External Strategic Managers:
Real Estate Bridge Lending Strategy 2,153 138 — 28 (88) 37) 2,194 2,174
European Equities 1,632 40 — 212 (182) (26) 1,676 1,654
Asian Credit and Special Situation 1,498 30 — 85 (197) (28) 1,388 1,443
External Strategic Managers Subtotal 5,283 208 — 325 (467) (91) 5,258 5,271
Total $ 8,310 $ 498 $ — 3 1,094 $ (2,104) $ (158) $ 7,640 $ 7,976

The table below presents the change in our total AUM/AUA for our Real Estate - Public and Private funds for our Strategic Alternatives segment for the periods
indicated:

For the Period

As of January 1 - December 31,

(Dollars in Millions) 2023 (Successor)
Beginning Balance: $ 14,130
Change (1,410)
AUM/AUA at December 31, 2023* $ 12,720
Average AUM/AUA $ 13,425

* AUA is reported with a one quarter lag for HLIF as management fees are billed on that basis.
Components of Consolidated Results of Income

Revenues

Management/Advisory Fees

For services provided to each client account, the Company charges investment management, custody, and/or trustee fees based on the fair value of the assets
of such account (“management/advisory fees”). The Company invoices clients based on the terms outlined in the signed customer contract (e.g., quarterly in
arrears or in advance) based on the fair market value or net asset value. For those assets for which valuations are not available on a daily basis, the most recent
valuation provided to the Company is used as the fair value for the purpose of calculating the quarterly fee.

The customer exchanges consideration to obtain services that are the output of the Company’s ordinary activities, which are investment management services
provided to each client account. Further, none of the scope exceptions under ASC 606-10-15-2 apply to the management/advisory fees; therefore, they are in
the scope of ASC 606.
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Incentive Fees

The Company is entitled to receive incentive fees if certain targeted returns have been achieved as stipulated in its customer contracts. The incentive fees are
generally calculated using 15% to 20% of the net profit its customers earn. Incentive fees are generally calculated and recognized when it is probable that there
will be no significant reversal.

Distributions from Investments

The Company has equity interests in three entities pursuant to which it is entitled to distributions based on the terms of the respective arrangements.
Distributions from each investment will be recorded upon receipt of the distribution. The Company receives distributions from External Strategic Managers
through profit or revenue sharing arrangements that are generated through management and incentive fees based on performance of the underlying
investments.

Other fees

The Company generates arrangement fees in its co-investment division by arranging private debt or equity financing, generally in connection with an acquisition.
Arrangement fees range from 0.5% to 1.75% of the equity value contributed into a transaction and are payable upon close of the deal. The Company also
generates brokerage fees which are similar to arrangement fees except that they are generally paid for assisting public companies in raising capital.

Expenses

Compensation and Employee Benefits: Compensation generally includes salaries, bonuses, other performance-based compensation such as commissions,
long-term deferral programs, benefits, and payroll taxes. Compensation is accrued over the related service period and long-term deferral program awards are
paid out based on the various vesting dates.

General, Administrative and Other Expenses: General, administrative and other expenses include costs primarily related to professional services, occupancy,
travel, communication and information services, distribution costs, and other general operating items.

Depreciation and Amortization Expenses: Fixed assets are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis, with the corresponding depreciation and
amortization expense included within depreciation and amortization in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. The estimated useful life for
leasehold improvements is the lesser of the remaining lease term or the life of the asset, while other fixed assets are generally depreciated over a period of three
to fifteen years.

Interest Expense: Interest expense consists of the interest expense on our outstanding debt, amortization of deferred financing costs, and amortization of
original issue discount.

Income Tax Expense: Income tax expense consists of taxes paid or payable by our consolidated operating subsidiaries. Certain of our subsidiaries are treated
as flow-through entities for federal income tax purposes and, accordingly, are not subject to federal and state income taxes, as such taxes are the responsibility
of certain direct and indirect owners of the flow-through entities. However, the flow-through entities are subjected to unincorporated business tax (“UBT") and
other state taxes. A portion of our operations is conducted through domestic and foreign corporations that are subject to corporate level taxes and for which we
record current and deferred income taxes at the prevailing rates in the various jurisdictions in which these entities operate.
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Results of Operations

As a result of the Business Combination, the previous year figures are not comparable to current year amounts as prior year figures only include the results of
operations of TWMH.

Consolidated Results of Operations - For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2022

For the Period Favorable (Unfavorable)
January 1, 2023 - January 1, 2022 -
December 31, December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor) $ Change
Revenues

Management/Advisory fees $ 184,824 |[$ 76,872 $ 107,952
Incentive fees 43,377 — 43,377
Distributions from investments 17,185 — 17,185
Other fees / income 5,494 — 5,494
Total Revenues 250,880 76,872 174,008
Expenses

Compensation expenses 204,052 51,234 152,818
Non-compensation expenses 363,165 31,109 332,056
Net loss before taxes (316,337) (5,471) (310,866)
Taxes 10,534 (527) 11,061
Net (loss) income $ (305,803) [$ (5,998) $ (299,805)
Revenue

Management/Advisory fees. The increase in management and advisory fees during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December
31, 2022 was driven primarily by a $108.0 million increase in revenue from the inclusion of TIG and Alvarium post-Business Combination.

Incentive fees. The increase in incentive fees during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by a $43.4
million accretive impact of the inclusion of Alvarium and TIG’s incentive fees post-Business Combination.

Distributions from investments. The increase in distributions from investments during during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2022 was driven by a $17.2 million accretive impact of the inclusion of TIG’s distributions from investments post-Business Combination. Such
impact included $9.5 million of revenue and profit share generated from management fees from External Strategic Managers, which are recurring in nature. The
impact also includes distributions from shares of incentive fees crystallized from these managers.

Other fees / income. The increase in other fees / income during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven
by a $5.5 million accretive impact of the inclusion of Alvarium’s other fees / income post Business Combination.

Expenses

Compensation Expense. The increase in compensation expense during during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31,
2022 of $152.8 million was primarily driven by increased compensation and benefits costs as a result of higher headcount following the Business Combination.
Results
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for the year ended December 31, 2023 include $46.1 million of non-cash stock based compensation related to both legacy TWMH and Alvarium incentive plans
as well as the issuance of AlTi equity.

Non-compensation Expense. The increase in non-compensation expenses during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December
31, 2022 of $332.1 million includes a $206.5 million impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets, $42.8 million of expenses related to the Business
Combination, primarily for professional services fees, a $12.9 million loss related to the exchange of warrants into common stock and $14.5 million in interest
expense on the Company’s debt facility. These expenses were partially offset by a $31.1 million gain related to the change in fair value of earn-out liabilities as a
result of share price changes.

Taxes

The Company's effective tax rate was 3.3% for year ended December 31, 2023 compared to (9.6)% for the year ended December 31, 2022. The difference in
the effective tax rate is primarily driven by the legal entity organizational changes which occurred on account of the Business Combination, the tax impact of
mark-to-market losses associated with contingent liabilities and equity consideration in the Business Combination, nondeductible professional fees incurred in
connection with the Business Combination, and the impact of a forecasted valuation allowance with respect to deferred tax assets generated in the Company’s
subsidiaries in the U.K.

Reconciliation of Consolidated US GAAP Financial Measures to Certain Non-US GAAP Measures

We use Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA as non-US GAAP measures to assess and track our performance. Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EBITDA as presented in this Annual Report are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or presented in accordance with, US
GAAP.
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The following tables present the reconciliation of net income as reported in our Consolidated Statement of Operations toAdjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EBITDA for the periods indicated:

For the Period

January 1, 2022 - December
January 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 31, 2022
(Successor) (Predecessor)

Strategic Alternatives Wealth Management Wealth Management segment

(Dollars in Thousands, except share data) segment segment Total (Predecessor)

Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA

Net income before taxes (263,966) $ (52,371) $ (316,337) (5,471)
Stock based compensation (a) 2,886 18,564 21,450 4,223
Stock based compensation - Legacy (b) 13,148 11,549 24,697 —
Transaction expenses (c) 20,767 22,058 42,825 9,110
Change in fair value of warrant liability (d) 6,433 6,433 12,866 —
Changes in fair value of (gains)/losses on investments (e) (2,637) (1,814) (4,451) (247)
Change in fair value of earn-out liability (f) (14,691) (16,435) (31,126) —
Organization streamlining cost (g) 7,666 4,410 12,076 —
Impairment (non-cash) (h) 73,594 — 73,594 —
Impairment goodwill (i) 153,589 153,589 —
(Gains)/Losses on EMI/Carried Interest (non-cash) (j) 5,017 — 5,017 —
EMI Adjustments (Interest, Depreciation, Taxes & Amortization) (k) 2,418 471 2,889 —
Holbein compensatory earn-in (1) — — — 1,858
TWMH Partner’s payout right (m) — — — 3,662
TIH Share Purchase extinguishment of debt (n) — — — 1,019

Adjusted income (loss) before taxes 4,224 (7,135) (2,911) 14,154
Adjusted income tax (expense) benefit (5,085) 98 (4,987) —

Adjusted Net Income (861) (7,037) (7,898) 14,154

Adjusted net income attributed to non-controlling interest in subsidiaries (387) (3,165) (3,552)

Adjusted Net Income attributable to Alvarium Tiedemann (474) (3,872) (4,346) 14,154

Net income attributed to non-controlling interest in subsidiaries (387) (3,165) (3,552) —

Interest expense 7,334 7,167 14,501 427
Income tax expense (14,449) 3,915 (10,534) 527
Net income tax adjustments 19,534 (4,013) 15,521 (527)
Depreciation and amortization 7,978 9,061 17,039 2,339

Adjusted EBITDA 19,536 $ 9,093 $ 28,629 16,920

(a) Add-back of non-cash expense related to awards of Class A Common stock (approved post-transaction).

(b) Add-back of non-cash expense related to awards of Class A Common stock (approved pre-transaction).

(c) Add-back of transaction expenses related to the Business Combination, including professional fees.

(d) Represents the change in fair value of the warrant liability.

(e) Represents the change in unrealized gains/losses related primarily to Investments held at fair value and changes in fair value of the TRA liability
(Successor) and changes in fair value to the interest rate swap (Predecessor).

(f) Represents the change in fair value of the earn-out liability.
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(g) Represents cost to implement organization change to derive cost synergy.

(h) Represents impairment of intangible asset associated with the deconsolidation of AHRA of $29.4 million, impairment of LRA of $23.5 million, impairment
of equity method investments of $15.6 million and amortization of carried interest of $4.1 million.

(i) Represents the impairment of goodwill.
(i) Represents the amortization related to the step-up in equity method investments.
(k) Represents reported interest, depreciation, amortization, and tax adjustments of the Company's equity method investments.

(I) Add-back of cash portion of the compensatory earn-ins related to the Holbein acquisition as discussed in Note 5, (Equity-Based Compensation). The
$3.7 million of compensatory earn-ins is settled in 50% equity and 50% cash. Add-back of equity portion of compensatory earn-ins of $1.9 million is
included in the equity settled share-based payments combined EBITDA adjustment.

(m)Represents the change in the TWMH partner’s payout related to the Business Combination.

(n) Represents forgiveness of a promissory note of a certain shareholder of TIH upon the sale of his shares in TIH to TWMH
Liquidity and Capital Resources

Management assesses liquidity in terms of our ability to generate cash to fund operating, investing, and financing activities. Management takes prudent
approach to ensure the Company's liquidity will continue to be sufficient for its foreseeable working capital needs, contractual obligations, distribution payments
and strategic initiatives.

On January 3, 2023, concurrent with the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company entered into a $250.0 million credit facility with a syndicate
led by BMO Capital Markets Corp. The facility, which has a term of five years and is comprised of a $150.0 million revolving credit facility and a $100 million term
loan facility, was to be used to pay down subsidiary debt, to fund growth initiatives and for working capital. As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $95.0
million outstanding on the Term Loan facility and $93.8 million outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility. See Note 15 (Debt, net of unamortized deferred
financing costs).

As a result of the Business Combination, the previous year figures are not comparable to current year amounts as prior year figures only include the results of
operations of Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings, LLC.

Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2023 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2022

The following tables and discussion summarize our Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows by activity attributable to AITi. Negative amounts represent an
outflow or use of cash.

For the Period Favorable (unfavorable)
January 1, 2023 - January 1, 2022 - December
December 31, 31,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor) $ Change
Net cash used in operating activities $ (81,706) |$ 6,858 $ (88,564)
Net cash used in investing activities $ (132,947) [$ (7,229) (125,718)
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 36,019 |$ (345) 36,364
Effect of exchange rate on cash $ 2,793 |$ (193) 2,986
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (175,841) |$ (909) $ (174,932)
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For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period of $194.1 million included the proceeds from the PIPE
Investors related to the issuance of shares of Class A Common Stock concurrently with the closing of the Business Combination, remaining cash held in the
trust account, and the beginning balance sheet cash from each of Alvarium, TIG, and TWMH.

Operating Activities

Our cash inflows from operating activities comprise of cash collected through management and advisory fees, incentive fees, distributions from investments and
other income/fees. Our cash outflows from operating activities consist of operating expenses, the most significant components of which included compensation
and benefits and professional fees for the year ended December 31, 2023. Our operating net cash outflow of $81.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2023 was driven by the payment of fees related to the business combination. the payout of 2022 incentive compensation and other operating expenses.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities primarily related to the acquisition of TWMH and TIG historical equity during the year ended December 31, 2023. Additionally,
the Company made incremental investments of $12.0 million and $3.4 million into Zebedee and Arkkan, respectively, an acquisition of AL Wealth Partners for
$14.4 million and the remaining 70% acquisition of AWMS for $4.4 million.

Financing Activities

Cash flows from financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2023 were primarily driven by issuance of the Term Loan and Revolving Credit Facility
totaling $188.7 million, which were used to pay down existing debt of $141.9 million. Additionally, we used approximately $4.2 million to purchase shares issued
as compensation and received $5.8 million from the exercise of warrants.

Future Sources and Uses of Liquidity

In the normal course of business, we may engage in off-balance sheet arrangements, including transactions in derivatives, guarantees, commitments,
indemnifications, and potential contingent repayment obligations. We do not have any off-financial position arrangements that would require us to fund losses or
guarantee target returns to clients.

Contractual Obligations

Tax Receivable Agreement

As discussed in Note 20 (Commitments and Contingencies) to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report, we may in the future be
required to make payments under the TRA.

Pursuant to the TRA, the Company will pay certain parties to the Business Combination 85% of certain tax benefits, if any, that it realizes (or in certain cases is
deemed to realize) as a result of any increase in tax basis of the assets of Alvarium Tiedemann related to the Business Combination.

Amounts payable under the TRA are contingent upon (i) the generation of taxable income over the life of the TRA, (ii) the tax rates in effect as of time periods in
which tax benefits are used, and (jii) certain terms governing the rate of interest to be applied to payments under the TRA.

As of December 31, 2023, the liability associated with the TRA was approximately $17.6 million and consisted entirely of a liability recorded under ASC 805
associated with the Business Combination, and as such, is presented at fair value through the discount of future anticipated payments. Payments under the TRA
that are on account of liabilities arising in connection with the Business Combination are revalued at the end of each reporting period with the gain or loss
recognized in earnings.
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In connection with the TRA, certain parties to the Business Combination who received Class B Units in Umbrella have the ability to exchange Class B Units in
Umbrella for shares of Class A Common Stock in the Company. Class B Paired Interests may be exchanged for Class A Common Stock on a 1:1 exchange
basis. These exchanges are anticipated to be treated as taxable exchanges which may provide an increase in the tax basis of the assets of the Company and
therefore provide for additional payments under the TRA. TRA liabilities that are generated on account of future exchanges will be recorded under ASC 450,
Contingencies. On August 31, 2023, holders of Class B Units exchanged 1,813,248 Class B Paired Interests to the Company, in exchange for shares of Class A
Common Stock on a 1:1 basis totaling an amount equal to $7.31 multiplied by the total number of shares of Class A Common Stock received at the time of the
transaction.

Payments under the TRA will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired unless (i) the Company exercises its right to terminate the TRA
and pays recipients an amount representing the present value of the remaining payments, (i) there is a change of control or (iii) the Company breaches any of
the material obligations of the TRA, in which case all obligations will generally be accelerated and due as if the Company had exercised its right to terminate the
TRA. In each case, if payments are accelerated, such payments will be based on certain assumptions, including that the Company will have sufficient taxable
income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions.

The estimate of the timing and amount of future payments under the TRA involves several assumptions that do not account for the significant uncertainties
associated with those potential payments, including an assumption that the Company will have sufficient taxable income in the relevant tax years to utilize the
tax benefits that would give rise to an obligation to make payments.

As of December 31, 2023, assuming no material changes in the relevant tax laws and that the Company generates sufficient taxable income to realize the full
tax benefit of the increased amortization resulting from the increase in tax basis of certain of AlTi's assets, we expect to pay approximately $17.6 million under
the TRA. Future changes in the fair value of the TRA liability will be recognized in earnings. Any future cash savings and related payments under the TRA due to
subsequent exchanges of Class B Units for shares of Class A Common Stock would be accounted for separately from the amount related to the Business
Combination.

Warrants

Prior to the Business Combination, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share. Throughout the
period from January 1, 2023 to March 31, 2023, 428,626 Warrants were exercised. On April 3, 2023, 78,864 Warrants were exercised. On June 7, 2023, the
Company closed an offer and consent solicitation and entered into a warrant amendment, pursuant to which the remaining 19,892,387 Warrants were
exchanged for 4,962,147 shares of Class A Common Stock. The exercises and exchanges throughout the period from January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023
resulted in an increase in Additional Paid-in-Capital amount of $29.5 million. Following the exchanges, none of the Warrants were outstanding as of
December 31, 2023.

Business Combination Earn-out

Under the terms of the Business Combination, upon Closing, the Sponsor and the selling shareholders of TWMH, TIG, and Alvarium became entitled to receive
earn-out shares contingent on various share price milestones. Additionally, upon a change of control of the Company, the share price milestones will be deemed
to have been met and all the Business Combination Earn-out Securities will be payable to the earn-out holders. The earn-out shares are precluded from being
considered indexed to the Company’s own stock and are recognized as a liability at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. As of
December 31, 2023, the fair value of the earn-out shares was $62.4 million. See Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) for additional detail.
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AWMS Earn-out Liability

On August 2, 2023, the Company acquired the remaining 70% of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership interests of AWMS, increasing its
interest from 30% to 100%. The AWMS Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase
consideration transferred was $16.8 million. The total purchase consideration transferred consists of cash consideration, equity consideration, deferred cash
consideration, earn-out consideration, (or AWMS earn-out liability), and the payment of assumed liabilities. As of December 31, 2023, the AWMS earn-out
liability of $1.1 million is reported in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Since the AWMS earn-out liability meets the definition of
a derivative, it is recorded at fair value as a derivative liability on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and measured at fair value at each reporting
date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, with changes in fair value to be recognized in Gain (loss) on earn-out liability in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and in Fair value of earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change.

Indemnification Arrangements

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts that contain indemnities for related parties of the Company, persons acting on behalf of the
Company or such related parties and third parties. The terms of the indemnities vary from contract to contract and the Company’s maximum exposure under
these arrangements cannot be determined and has not been recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. As of December 31, 2023, the
Company has not had prior claims or losses pursuant to these contracts and expects the risk of material loss to be remote.

Litigation

From time to time, we may be named as a defendant in legal or regulatory actions. Although there can be no assurance of the outcome of such matters,
management’s current assessment is that no loss contingency reserve is required to be recorded as of December 31, 2023 for any potential liability related to
any current legal or regulatory proceeding or claim that would individually or in the aggregate materially affect our results of operations, financial condition, or
cash flows.

Home REIT is a real estate investment trust company listed on the London Stock Exchange. AFM UK was its alternative investment fund manager (“AIFM”) until
August 21, 2023 and AHRA was its investment adviser until June 30, 2023. AFM UK is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. AHRA was owned by ARE
(another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) up until December 30, 2022, when it was sold. AlTi was formed on January 3, 2023, through a business
combination transaction that included certain legacy Alvarium companies, including AFM UK. While the sale of AHRA occurred prior to the Business
Combination, under GAAP, its results were required to be consolidated in our financial statements until June 30, 2023, when it was deconsolidated. For UK
regulatory purposes, up until June 30, 2023, AHRA was permitted to perform certain limited regulated activities as an “appointed representative” of its regulated
principal firm, ARE (which is authorized and regulated by the UK FCA).

Since November 2022, Home REIT and AHRA have been the subject of a series of allegations in the UK media regarding Home REIT’s operations, triggered by
a report issued by a short seller. Home REIT’s stock price fell materially as a result and its shares are currently suspended from trading. Following the publication
of the short seller report, a UK law firm announced that it was seeking current and former shareholders of Home REIT to potentially bring claims in connection
with the allegations. The announcement states that claims will likely be brought against Home REIT itself, its directors, and AFM UK.

On October 6, 2023, a pre-action letter of claim was received by, among others, AFM UK and ARE asserting potential claims against those entities relating to
the above matters (a pre-action letter of claim is required to be sent by a claimant to a potential defendant under the Practice Direction on Pre-Action Protocols
and Conduct contained in the United Kingdom’s Ministry of Justice Civil Procedure Rules prior to a claimant commencing litigation in the UK). The pre-action
letter was sent by a law firm acting on behalf of a group of current and
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former shareholders in Home REIT. The pre-action letter does not provide details of amounts being claimed from any of the potential defendants (whether jointly
or severally), and it is not possible at this point in time for us to reliably assess what the quantum of such claims might be, or AFM UK’s and ARE’s potential
exposure, though they may potentially be material to the Company. If any litigation or other action is commenced against AFM UK and/or ARE, we intend to
defend ourselves in any such matters vigorously. However, if any claims were commenced, we would anticipate that such claims may involve complex questions
of law and fact and we may incur significant legal expenses in defending such litigation.

HLIF is a private fund which pursues a similar investment strategy to Home REIT. In the period from June 30, 2022 to December 31, 2023, the estimated value
of its underlying real estate investment portfolio declined by approximately 50%, primarily due to a decrease in the timely collection of rents on the underlying
portfolio, but also due to higher interest rates and other macro-economic factors. HLIF is managed by AFM UK as its AIFM and ‘authorized corporate director’
and is advised by SHIA. Like AHRA, SHIA was permitted to perform certain limited regulated activities as an “appointed representative” of its regulated principal
firm, ARE.

In February 2024, the UK FCA commenced investigations into the historic performance of certain group entities, in their services to Home REIT and/or HLIF,
and whether they breached certain civil or criminal regulatory rules and/or principles. The investigations are focused primarily on whether any false or misleading
statements were made in relation to Home REIT and/or HLIF and/or whether these group entries breached other FCA rules and/or principles. The
commencement of the investigations does not mean that the UK FCA has determined that any such breaches have occurred. However, it is possible that the UK
FCA may determine that certain breaches have occurred and it may seek to impose financial penalties or other outcomes on one or more group entities, that
may potentially be material to the Company. We intend to cooperate fully with the UK FCA as it conducts the investigations. We are not able to estimate how
long it might take for the UK FCA to complete such investigations, but it is possible that the investigations may continue for a prolonged period, potentially over
several years.

Critical Accounting Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with US GAAP. In applying many of these accounting principles, we need to make
assumptions, estimates, and/or judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses in our consolidated financial
statements. We base our estimates and judgments on historical experience and other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances.
These assumptions, estimates, and/or judgments, however, are both subjective and subject to change, and actual results may differ from our assumptions and
estimates. Actual results may also differ from our estimates and judgments due to risks and uncertainties and changing circumstances, including uncertainty in
the current economic environment due to geopolitical tensions, changes in market conditions, or other relevant factors. If actual amounts are ultimately different
from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the period in which the actual amounts become known. For a summary of our
significant accounting policies and estimates, see Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies), to our consolidated financial statements included in this
Annual Report.

Estimation of Fair Values

Investments at Fair Value — External Strategic Managers: The fair values of our Investments in External Strategic Managers were determined using significant
unobservable inputs. The assumptions used could have a material impact on the valuation of these assets and include our best estimates of expected future
cash flows and an appropriate discount rate. Changes in the estimated fair values of these assets may have a material impact on our results of operations in any
given period, as any decreases in these assets have a corresponding negative impact on our US GAAP results of operations in the period in which the changes
occur.

TRA Liability: We carry a portion of our TRA liability at fair value, as it is a contingent consideration related to the Business Combination. The valuation of the
TRA liability is sensitive to our expectation of future cash savings that we may ultimately realize related to our tax goodwill and other intangible assets
deductions. We then apply a discount rate that we believe is appropriate given the nature of and expected timing of payments of
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the liability. A decrease in the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the fair value estimate of the liability, which would have a correspondingly
negative impact on our US GAAP results of operations. However, payments under the TRA are ultimately only made to the extent we realize the offsetting cash
savings on our income taxes due to the tax goodwill and other intangibles deduction.

Business Combination Earn-out Liability and AWMS Earn-out Liability: The fair values of our Business Combination Earn-out Securities liability and our AWMS
earn-out liability were determined using various significant unobservable inputs. The assumptions used could have a material impact on the valuation of these
liabilities, and include our best estimate of expected volatility, expected holding periods and appropriate discounts for lack of marketability. Changes in the
estimated fair values of these liabilities may have material impacts on our results of operations in any given period, as any increases in these liabilities have a
corresponding negative impact on our US GAAP results of operations in the period in which the changes occur. See Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies) for additional details.

Equity-based Compensation: The Company issued stock grants to certain employees as bonus compensation. The fair value of the grants was determined
based on the share price on the date of issuance.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Business Combinations: The determination of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
in business combinations involves significant judgment and estimation. We utilize various valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow approach and
market approach, to assess the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities. These valuation methodologies incorporate assumptions regarding future cash
inflows and outflows, discount rates, useful lives of assets, market multiples, and the realization of tax assets. Additionally, we allocate the purchase price
consideration among identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, considering any contingent consideration. The realization of tax assets is assessed
based on historical performance, future taxable income projections, and applicable tax laws and regulations. Uncertainties and contingencies inherent in the fair
value measurement process are carefully evaluated and disclosed as appropriate to ensure transparency in our financial reporting.

Fair Value of Reporting Units for Goodwill Impairment Testing: In assessing goodwill impairment, we determine the fair value of reporting units using established
valuation methodologies, primarily the discounted cash flow approach and market approach. The income approach involves discounting future cash flows
generated by the reporting units, considering key assumptions such as revenue growth rates, discount rates, terminal value calculations, and market multiples.
Goodwill is allocated to reporting units, and impairment is evaluated by comparing the carrying amount of goodwill to the fair value of the reporting units. We
conduct regular assessments for triggering events or changes in circumstances that may necessitate goodwill impairment testing. These disclosures ensure
stakeholders understand the methodologies, assumptions, and sensitivities involved in our goodwill impairment testing process.

We conduct sensitivity analyses on key inputs and assumptions used in fair value measurements and critical accounting estimates to assess the potential
impact on financial results. Changes in assumptions, such as discount rates, growth rates, or market multiples, are carefully evaluated to understand their effect
on the fair value of assets, liabilities, or reporting units. Our sensitivity analysis considers a range of potential outcomes and their implications on financial
reporting. Mitigating factors and risk management strategies are employed to address uncertainties and enhance the reliability of our financial disclosures.
These disclosures provide stakeholders with insight into the robustness of our valuation methodologies and the degree of uncertainty inherent in our financial
reporting process.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and in evaluating income tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties. We
recognize the income tax benefits of uncertain tax positions only where the position is “more likely than not” to be sustained upon examination, including
resolution of any related appeals or litigation, based on the technical merits of the positions. The tax benefit is measured as the largest amount of benefit that
has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. If a
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tax position is not considered more likely than not to be sustained, then no benefits of the position are recognized. The Company’s income tax positions are
reviewed and evaluated quarterly to determine whether or not we have uncertain tax positions that require financial statement recognition or de-recognition.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences, using currently enacted tax rates, of differences between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period when the change is enacted. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion or
all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Variable Interest Entities

The determination of whether to consolidate a VIE under US GAAP requires a significant amount of judgment concerning the degree of control over an entity by
its holders of variable interests. To make these judgments, we conduct an analysis, on a case-by-case basis, of whether we are the primary beneficiary and are
therefore required to consolidate an entity. We continually reconsider whether we should consolidate a VIE. Upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
modifications to organizational documents and investment management agreements of our products, we will reconsider our conclusion regarding the status of
an entity as a VIE. Our judgement when analyzing the status of an entity and whether we consolidate an entity could have a material impact on individual line
items within our consolidated financial statements, as a change in our conclusion would have the effect of grossing up the assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses of the entity being evaluated. In light of the relevantly insignificant direct and indirect investments into our products, the likelihood of a reasonable
change in our estimation and judgement would likely not result in a change in our conclusions to consolidate or not consolidate any VIEs to which we have
exposure.

Impact of Changes in Accounting on Recent and Future Trends

We believe that none of the changes to US GAAP that went into effect during the year ended December 31, 2023, or that have been issued but that we have not
yet adopted have substantively impacted our recent trends or are expected to substantively impact our future trends.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Under SEC rules and guidance, an issuer that no longer qualifies as a smaller reporting company at the determination date (the last day of the second fiscal
quarter of such issuer) may continue to use the scaled disclosures permitted for a smaller reporting company through its annual report on Form 10-K and begin
providing non-scaled larger company disclosure in the first Form 10-Q of the next fiscal year. Although we are filing as an accelerated filer, we are allowed to
continue reporting as a smaller reporting company in this Form 10-K. As such, we are not required to provide information under this Item.
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Item 8. Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors
AlTi Global, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statement of financial position of AITi Global, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company, prior to January 3, 2023,
Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings) as of December 31, 2023 (Successor) and 2022 (Predecessor), the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2023 (Successor period) and for each of the years in the two-year period
ended December 31, 2022 (Predecessor periods), and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the results of its operations
and its cash flows for the Successor and Predecessor periods, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

New Basis of Accounting

As discussed in Notes 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 3, 2023, the Company entered into a business combination which, for
convenience purposes, it has been presented as if it closed on January 1, 2023. As a result of the transaction, the consolidated financial information for the
period after the transaction is presented on a different cost basis than that for the periods before the transaction and, therefore, is not comparable.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2000.

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 22, 2024
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AITi Global, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

(Dollars in Thousands, except share data)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Fees receivable, net (includes $ 16,069 and $ 0 of related party receivables, respectively)
Other receivable, net
Investments at fair value
Equity method investments
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization
Goodwill
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other assets, net
Assets held for sale
Total assets
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and profit sharing
Accrued member distributions payable
Earn-out liability, at fair value
TRA liability (includes $ 13,233 and $ 0 at fair value, respectively)
Delayed share purchase agreement
Earn-in consideration payable
Operating lease liabilities
Debt, net of unamortized deferred financing cost
Deferred tax liability, net
Deferred income
Other liabilities, net
Liabilities held for sale
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)
Shareholders' Equity
Common stock, Class A, $ 0.0001 par value, 875,000,000 authorized 65,110,875 issued and outstanding
Common Stock, Class B, $ 0.0001 par value, 150,000,000 authorized 53,219,713 issued and outstanding
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total AlTi Global, Inc. shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries
Total shareholders' equity

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity

As of December 31,

As of December 31,

2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor)
15,348 7,131
70,421 19,540

— 5,167
165,894 145
14,194 52
435,677 20,578
411,904 25,464
48,313 10,095
48,182 3,817
56,634 —
1,266,567 91,989
36,804 8,073
57,466 15,660
7,271 11,422
63,444 —
17,607 —
1,818 1,818
1,830 1,519
56,123 10,713
186,353 21,187
14,109 82
66 —
21,858 3,662
13,792 —
478,541 74,136
7 3
— 18,607
523,255 —
(190,552) —
9,222 (1,077)
341,932 17,533
446,094 320
788,026 17,853
1,266,567 91,989

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Dollars in Thousands)
Revenue
Management/advisory fees
Incentive fees
Distributions from investments
Other income/fees
Total income
Operating Expenses
Compensation and employee benefits
Systems, technology and telephone
Sales, distribution and marketing
Occupancy costs
Professional fees
Travel and entertainment
Depreciation and amortization
General, administrative and other
Total operating expenses
Total operating income (loss)
Other Income (Expenses)
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets
Loss on investments
Loss on TRA
Loss on warrant liability
Gain on earnout liability
Interest expense
Other expenses
(Loss) income before taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net (loss) income

Net loss attributed to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

Net (loss) income attributable to AlTi Global, Inc.

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive (loss) income
Other loss attributed to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to AITi Global, Inc.

Net (Loss) Income Per Share

Basic

Diluted

Weighted Average Shares of Class A Common Stock Outstanding
Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

AlTi Global, Inc.

Consolidated Statement of Operations
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

For the Period

January 1, 2023 -
December 31,
2023 (Successor)

January 1, 2022 -
December 31,
2022 (Predecessor)

January 1, 2021 -
December 31,
2021 (Predecessor)

$ 184,824 76,872 75,703
43,377 — _
17,185 — —
5,494 = =
250,880 76,872 75,703
204,052 51,234 47,413
16,341 6,331 5,070
2,217 1,170 931
13,814 4,503 3,498
66,115 9,400 6,882
5914 1,724 566
17,039 2,339 2,051
19,495 1,489 1,524
344,987 78,190 67,935
(94,107) (1,318) 7,768
(206,507 ) _ _
(15,483 ) (3,671) (2,960)
(233) — =
(12,866 — —
31,104 = =
(14,501) (427) (397)
(3,744) (55) (105)
(316,337) (5.471) 4,306
10,534 (527) (515)
(305,803) (5,998) 3,791
(143,197) (113) (148)
$ (162,606 ) (5,885) 3,939
21,036 (1,077) —
(764) — _
(285,531) (7,075) 3,791
(132,146) (113) (148)
(153,385) (6,962) 3,939
$ (2.65) (839.87) 566.27
$ (2.65) (839.87) 566.27
61,396,692 7,007 6,956
61,396,692 7,007 6,956
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(Dollars in Thousands, except share

data)

Balance at January 1, 2023
(Successor)

Issuance of shares to Alvarium
Employee Benefit Trust

Net income (loss)

Currency translation adjustment

Cancellation of AHRA call option

Other comprehensive income
Payment for partner’s tax

AHRA deconsolidation

Measurement period adjustment

Share based compensation

Issuance of shares for business

combination

TRA Exchange

Issuance of shares - exercise and

exchange of warrants

Balance at December 31, 2023
(Successor)

AlTi Global, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

Retained Non-
Additional earnings Accumulated other  controlling Total
paid-in- (accumulated comprehensive interest in Shareholders'
Class A Common Stock Class B Common Stock capital deficit) income subsidiaries Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount
55,388,023 $ 6 55,032,961 $ — $ 434620 $ (27,946) $ — $ 606973 $ 1,013,653
2,100,000 — — — 21,000 — — — 21,000
— — — — — (162,606 ) — (143,197) (305,803)
— - = = — — 9,642 11,394 21,036
— — — — — — — 154 154
— — — — — — (420) (344) (764)
— — — — (998) — — — (998)
— — — — 28,768 — — (28,768) —
— — — — (635) — — (118) (753)
— — — — 7,937 — — — 7,937
339,967 — — — 2,058 — — — 2,058
1,813,248 — (1,813,248 ) — — 1,026 — — — 1,026
5,469,637 1 — — 29,479 — — — 29,480
65,110,875 $ 7 53,219,713 $ — $ 523255 $ (190,552) $ 9222 $ 446,094 $ 788,026

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Accumulated other

Total Members' comprehensive Non-controlling

(Dollars in Thousands, except share data) Class A Class B Capital income (loss) interest Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 6 $ 39,582 $ 39,588 $ — % 433  $ 40,021
Member capital distributions (1) (11,113) (11,114) — — (11,114)
Member tax distributions (1) (6,343) (6,344) — — (6,344)
Reallocation of book capital as a result of member
transactions — 2,365 2,365 — — 2,365
Net income (loss) for the period (1) (5,884) (5,885) — (113) (5,998)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period — — — (1,077) — (1,077)
Balance at December 31, 2022 (Predecessor) $ 3 $ 18,607 $ 18,610 $ (1,077) $ 320 $ 17,853
Accumulated other
Total Members' comprehensive Non-controlling
(Dollars in Thousands, except share data) Class A Class B Capital income (loss) interest Total Equity
Balance at January 1, 2021 $ 8 $ 38,502 $ 38,510 $ — % — % 38,510
Member capital distributions (2) (4,004) (4,006 ) — — (4,006)
Member tax distributions — (5,013) (5,013) — — (5,013)
Reclassification of loans to members to notes receivable
from members — 626 626 — — 626
Non-controlling interest shareholders' equity — — — — 581 581
Reallocation of book capital as a result of member
transactions (1) 1 — — — —
Restricted unit compensation 1 5,531 5,532 — — 5,532
Net income (loss) for the period — 3,939 3,939 — (148) 3,791
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the period — — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 (Predecessor) $ 6 $ 39,582 $ 39,588 $ — % 433 $ 40,021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(Dollars in Thousands)
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discounts and deferred financing costs
Unrealized (gain) loss on investments
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets
Gain (loss) on TRA
Gain (loss) on Earn-in
(Income) loss on equity method investments
Restricted unit compensation
Fair value of warrant liability
Fair value of earn-out liability
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense
Equity-settled share-based payments
Unrealized foreign currency (gains)/losses
(Gain) loss from retirement of debt
Forgiveness of debt shareholder loan
Forgiveness of debt of notes receivable from members
Fair value of interest rate swap
Cash flows due to changes in operating assets and liabilities
Fees receivable
Other assets
Operating cash flow from operating leases
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and profit sharing
Payable to equity method investees
Other liabilities
Other operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

(Continued on the following page)

AlTi Global, Inc.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

January 1, 2023 - December

January 1, 2022 - December

January 1, 2021 - December

31,2023
(Successor) (Predecessor)
$ (305,803) (5998) $ 3,791
17,039 2,339 2,051
927 — —
15,616 97 (51)
206,507 — —
233 — —
— 221 —
3,019 (33) 3,050
— 2,365 5,632
12,866 — —
(31,104) = —
(12,387) (101) (93)
36,749 — —
587 —_ —
(73) = =
— 619 —
261 263 =
33 (276) (178)
(31,086) 1,336 (2,648)
(1,709) (2,993) (1,381)
7,147 618 _
(18,835) 2,279 2,374
32,142 2,460 6,736
— — (298)
(13,587) 3,662 —
(248) — —
(81,706) 6,858 18,885
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

(Continued from the previous page)

(Dollars in Thousands)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Cash acquired from consolidation of variable interest entity
Cash payment for acquisition of TWMH and TIG historical equity
Receipt of payments of notes receivable from members
Loans to members
Cash receipts from the repayment of advances and loans
Purchases of investments
Purchases of equity method investments
Distributions from investments
Purchase of TIH shares
Purchase of Holbein
Loss on assets acquired
Payment of Payout Right
Acquisition of AWMS, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of AL Wealth Partners, net of cash acquired
Sales of investments
Sale of fixed assets
Purchases of fixed assets
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Member contribution (distribution)
Payments on term notes and lines of credit
Borrowings on term notes and lines of credit
Payments of debt issuance costs

Increase (decrease) in distributions due to former TIG members

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December

January 1, 2022 - December

January 1, 2021 - December

Cash payment for purchase of shares to be transferred as part of Alvarium share compensation

Cash receipts from exercise of Warrants
Dividends paid to former owners of AWMS and ALWP
Payments on promissory notes
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period
Reconciliation of balance sheet cash and cash equivalents to cash flows:
Cash and cash equivalents on balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents included in Assets held for sale (Note 3)

Cash and cash equivalents, including cash in Assets held for sale

(Continued on the following page)
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31, 2023 31, 2021
(Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
— 471 6
(99,999) — _
226 428 —
_ (301) (1,076)
601 — —
(15,687) (224) (1,139)
— — (1,236)
— 4 37
— (382) —
— (8,097) —
— —_ 146
(760) — —
(4,383) — _
(14,430) — —
2,107 1,028 779
8 — —
(630) (156) (2)
(132,947) (7,229) (2,485)
(8,492) (9,835) (8,582)
(160,453 ) (2,810) (7,060)
223,500 12,300 6,500
(2,586) _ _
(14,199) — —
(4,215) — —
5,836 — —
(3,372) _ _
— = (2,786)
36,019 (345) (11,928)
2,793 (193)
(175,841) (909) 4,472
194,086 8,040 3,568
18,245 7131  $ 8,040
15,348 7,131 $ 8,040
2,897 — 3 —
18,245 7131 % 8,040
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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(Continued from the previous page) For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December January 1, 2022 - December January 1, 2021 - December

31, 2023 31, 2022 31, 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash Paid During the Period for:
Income taxes 848 $ 606 $ 619
Interest payments on term notes and lines of credit 14,079 622 298
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing activities:
Non-cash purchase of equity method investment $ — $ — 8 298
Non-cash delayed share purchase agreement $ — $ 1,818 $ =
Supplemental disclosure of noncash financing activities:
Non-cash equity issuance $ — $ — % 2,505
Non-cash repurchase of units with notes payable $ — $ — % 6
Non-cash repayment of notes receivable in lieu of cash member distribution $ = $ 202 $ =

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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AlTi Global, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

(1) Description of the Business

AlITi Global, Inc. is a multi-disciplinary financial services business, with a diverse array of investment, advisory, and administrative capabilities. The Company is a
global organization that manages or advises approximately $ 71.4 billion in combined assets as of December 31, 2023. The Company provides holistic solutions
for wealth management clients through a full spectrum of wealth management services, including discretionary investment management services, non-
discretionary investment advisory services, trust services, administration services, and family office services. It also structures, arranges, and provides a network
of investors with co-investment opportunities in a variety of alternative assets which are either managed intra-group or by carefully selected managers in the
relevant asset class. The Company manages and advises both public and private investment funds.

Amounts disclosed throughout this document for the year ended December 31, 2023, relate to AlTi Global, Inc., the Successor in the Business Combination.
Amounts disclosed throughout this document for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 relate to TWMH, the Predecessor company. Although the
Business Combination closed on January 3, 2023, for convenience purposes, it has been presented as if it closed on January 1, 2023. Based on the Company’s
guantitative and qualitative assessment, the amounts related to the period from January 1 through January 2, 2023, are not material to either the Predecessor
periods or the Successor period. Due to the Business Combination and the conforming of significant accounting policies, the results of operations, cash flows,
and other financial information for the Successor Period are not comparable to the Predecessor periods.

Business Combination

The Company was initially incorporated in the Cayman Islands as Cartesian Growth Capital, a special purpose acquisition company. In anticipation of the
Business Combination:

« The holders of the equity of the TIG Entities contributed their TWMH and TIG equity to Umbrella making TWMH and the TIG wholly owned subsidiaries of
Umbrella.

* Alvarium reorganized such that it became the wholly owned indirect subsidiary of AlTi Global Topco.
* Cartesian SPAC formed Umbrella Merger Sub.
Pursuant to the Business Combination on January 3, 2023:

* The Company was redomiciled as a Delaware corporation and changed its name to Alvarium Tiedemann Holdings, Inc. Effective April 19, 2023, Alvarium
Tiedemann Holdings, Inc. changed its name to AITi Global, Inc.

« The Company acquired all the outstanding share capital of AlTi Global Topco.

¢ Umbrella Merger Sub, LLC merged into Umbrella with AITi Global Capital, LLC, formerly known as Alvarium Tiedemann Capital, LLC as the surviving
entity.

¢ The Company acquired 51 % of the equity interests of Umbrella, while the existing TWMH and TIG rollover shareholders hold a 49 % economic interest in
Umbrella. Umbrella holds 100 % of the equity interests of TWMH, TIG, and Alvarium.
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Through a series of intercompany transactions, AlTi was restructured to reflect the final structure depicted below:

Capital Structure

The Registrant has the following classes of shares and other instruments outstanding:

Class A Common Stock — Shares of Class A Common Stock that are publicly traded. Class A shareholders are entitled to declared dividends from shares
of Class A Common Stock. As of December 31, 2023, the shares of Class A Common Stock represent 55 % of the total voting power of all shares.

Class B Common Stock — Shares of Class B Common Stock that are not publicly traded. Class B shareholders are entitled to distributions declared by

the Company’s board of directors. The distributions are paid by Umbrella. As of December 31, 2023, the shares of Class B Common Stock represent 45
% of the total voting power of all shares.

Prior to the Business Combination, the Company issued warrants to purchase shares of Class A Common Stock at a price of $ 11.50 per share.
Throughout the period from January 1, 2023 to March 31, 2023, 428,626 Warrants were exercised. On April 3, 2023, 78,864 Warrants were exercised.
On June 7, 2023, the Company closed an offer and consent solicitation and entered into a warrant
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amendment, pursuant to which the remaining 19,892,387 Warrants were exchanged for 4,962,147 shares of Class A Common Stock. The exercises and
exchanges throughout the period from January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023 resulted in an increase in Additional Paid-in-Capital amount of $ 29.5 million.
Following the exchanges, none of the Warrants were outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

The following table presents the number of shares of the Company that were outstanding as of December 31, 2023:

As of December 31,
2023 (Successor)

Class A Common Stock 65,110,875
Class B Common Stock 53,219,713

Segments

Our business is organized into two operating segments: Wealth Management and Strategic Alternatives. Described below are the segments and the revenue
generated by each, which broadly fall into three categories: recurring management, advisory, or administration fees; performance or incentive fees; and
transaction fees.

Wealth Management

Within our Wealth Management segment, services provided principally consist of investment management and advisory services, trusts and administrative
services, and family office services. The wealth management client base includes high net worth individuals, families, single family offices, foundations, and
endowments globally. Investment management or advisory fees are the primary source of revenue in our Wealth Management segment. These fees are
generally calculated based on a percentage of the value of each client’s billable AUM or AUA (as applicable). As of December 31, 2023, this segment had $
51.0 billion in AUM/AUA.

Investment Management and Advisory Services

In our investment management and advisory services teams, we diversify our clients’ portfolios across risk factors, geographies, traditional asset classes such
as money markets, equities and fixed income, and alternative asset classes including private equity, private debt, hedge funds, real estate, and other assets
through highly experienced third-party managers.

Trusts and Administration Services

The trust and administration services that we provide include entity formation and management, creating or modifying trust instruments and/or administrative
practices to meet beneficiary needs, full corporate, trustee-executor, and fiduciary services. We also offer provision of directors and company secretarial
services, administering entity ownership of intellectual property rights, advice and administration services in connection with investments in marine and aviation
assets, and administering entity ownership of fine art and collectibles.

Family Office Services (FOS)

Family office services are tailored outsourced family office solutions and administrative services which we provide primarily to our larger clients. These services
include bookkeeping and back-office services, private foundation management and grantmaking, oversight of trust administration, financial tracking and
reporting, cash flow management and bill pay, and other financial services.

108



Table of Contents

AlTi Global, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

Strategic Alternatives
Strategic alternatives services include the alternatives platform and public and private real estate (including co-investment) businesses.
Alternatives Platform

The alternatives platform embodies our legacy TIG business, which is an alternative asset manager and includes our TIG Arbitrage strategy and funds managed
by our External Strategic Managers, predominantly for institutional investors. The TIG Arbitrage strategy is an event-driven strategy fund that earns management
fees and incentive fees based on the performance of its underlying funds and accounts. The investment strategies of the External Strategic Managers include
Real Estate Bridge Lending, European Equities and Asian Credit and Special Situations. Distributions are received from the External Strategic Managers
through profit or revenue sharing arrangements that are generated through management and incentive fees based on the performance of the underlying
investments. As of December 31, 2023, this platform had $ 7.6 billion in AUM/AUA.

Co-Investment

Real estate co-investment oversees deal origination, documentation, and structuring from inception to exit for a variety of strategies, including development,
income, value-add, and planning. Investors are typically HNWIs, single family offices, and institutional investors. Fees earned include private market, incentive
fees, management and advisory fees, and placement and brokerage fees. As of December 31, 2023, our real estate co-investment platform had deployed more
than $ 7.8 billion of capital (inclusive of capital raised for our public and private real estate funds), of which approximately 14 % has been invested by legacy
Alvarium Shareholders and senior employees.

Real Estate - Public and Private

The real estate business includes fund management services as well as co-investment solutions. As of December 31, 2023, this business had approximately $
12.7 billion of AUM/AUA.

Fund Management

Our real estate fund management business manages two funds based in the United Kingdom, LXi, a publicly traded real estate investment trust, and HLIF, a
private fund. Fees from our real estate fund management business are earned from management and advisory services. On January 9, 2024, AlTi RE Public
Markets Limited entered into heads of terms to sell 100 % of the equity of LXi REIT Advisors Limited (“LRA”"), the advisor to the publicly-traded fund LXi REIT plc
(“LXi"), to LondonMetric Property Plc (“LondonMetric”) for fixed consideration of approximately $ 33.1 million and up to an estimated $ 5.1 million of contingent
consideration based on the exchange rate as of the balance sheet date, as applicable. The contingent consideration is preliminary and not final based on
available information at the time of this filing. This disposal was completed on March 6, 2024. See Note 22 (Subsequent Events) for further information. As a
result, AlTi has recognized an intangible asset impairment charge of $ 23.5 million as of December 31, 2023 which is recorded in Impairment loss on goodwiill
and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Further, the assets and liabilities of LRA are classified as Assets held for sale as of
December 31, 2023 in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

On February 26, 2024, AFM UK and SHIA served notice to terminate their contracts with HLIF. We are in discussions with a third-party manager to take over the
management of HLIF and termination of these contracts will become effective once the transition process has completed.
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Exit from management of Home REIT PLC

Prior to the Business Combination, AlTi RE Limited, formerly known as Alvarium RE Limited (“ARE”), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Alvarium, entered
into an agreement to sell 100 % of the equity of Alvarium Home REIT Advisors Ltd. (“AHRA"), the advisor to the publicly-traded fund Home REIT plc (“Home
REIT"), to a newly formed entity (“NewCo") owned by the management of AHRA, for aggregate consideration approximately equal to $29 million. The
consideration comprised a promissory note maturing December 31, 2023, subject to extension if mutually agreed upon by the parties thereto. Additionally, ARE
was granted a call option pursuant to which ARE had the right to repurchase AHRA prior to the repayment of the note for a purchase price equal to the note
balance then outstanding thereunder.

Subsidiaries are companies over which a company has the power indirectly and/or directly to control the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits.
In assessing control for accounting purposes, potential voting rights that are presently exercisable or convertible (including rights which may arise on the
exercise of an option) are taken into account. With respect to the AHRA, the above arrangements resulted in AHRA continuing to be consolidated by AlTi after
its legal disposal to NewCo. Due to this consolidation, after the Business Combination, an intangible asset was recognized related to the investment advisory
agreement between AHRA and Home REIT.

On June 30, 2023, the Company entered into a series of agreements that resulted in the deconsolidation of AHRA from the Strategic Alternatives segment with
immediate effect. The agreements removed ARE'’s potential controlling voting rights in AHRA (previously ascertainable on the exercise of the option), and
terminated other residual contractual relationships between AHRA and ARE. As a result, these agreements removed AlTi’s control of AHRA from an accounting
perspective. AHRA's results are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period from January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023, and its
accounts were removed from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of June 30, 2023. The deconsolidation resulted in an intangible asset
impairment charge of $ 29.4 million, which is recorded in Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Assets
managed by AHRA, however, have been excluded from the Company’s AUM/AUA metrics since January 1, 2023.

(2) Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Basis of Presentation

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2023 and the consolidated financial statements of TWMH and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with US GAAP and conforms to prevailing
practices within the financial services industry, as applicable to the Company. The notes are an integral part of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements have been
included and are of a normal and recurring nature.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation. Certain prior period presentations and disclosures, while not required to be recast, may be reclassified to ensure
comparability with current period classifications.

(b) Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts

reported in the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The most critical of these estimates are related to (i) the fair value of the investments
included
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in the Billable Assets within AUM/AUA, as this impacts the amount of revenues the Company recognizes each period; (ii) the fair values of the Company’s
investments and liabilities with respect to the TRA and Earn-out Securities, as changes in these fair values have a direct impact on the Company’s
consolidated net income (loss); (iii) the estimate of future taxable income, which impacts the realizability and carrying amount of the Company’s deferred
income tax assets; (iv) the qualitative and quantitative assessments of whether impairments of equity method investments, carried interest vehicles,
acquired intangible assets, and goodwill exist; and (v) the determination of whether to consolidate a variable interest entity (“VIE"); and (vi) fair value of
assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, including assumptions with respect to future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates,
assets’ useful lives, market multiples, the allocation of purchase price consideration in the business combination valuation of acquired assets and liabilities,
the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, goodwill impairment testing, assumptions used to calculate equity-based compensation, and the realization
of deferred tax assets. Inherent in such estimates are judgements relating to future cash flows, which include the Company’s interpretation of current
economic indicators and market valuations, and assumptions about the Company’s strategic plans with regard to its operations. While management
believes that the estimates utilized in preparing the consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent, actual results could differ materially from
those estimates.

(c) Consolidation

The Company consolidates those entities in which it has a direct or indirect controlling financial interest based on either a variable interest model or voting
interest model. The Company determines whether an entity should be consolidated by first evaluating whether it holds a variable interest in the entity.
Entities that are not VIEs are further evaluated for consolidation under the voting interest model (“VOE” model).

An entity is considered to be a VIE if any of the following conditions exist: (a) the total equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance
its activities without additional subordinated financial support, (b) the holders of equity investment at risk, as a group, lack either the direct or indirect ability
through voting rights or similar rights to make decisions that have a significant effect on the success of the entity or the obligation to absorb the expected
losses or right to receive the expected residual returns, or (c) the voting rights of some equity investors are disproportionate to their obligation to absorb
losses of the entity, their rights to receive returns from an entity, or both and substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve or are conducted on
behalf of an investor with disproportionately few voting rights.

Fees that are customary and commensurate with the level of services provided by the Company, and where the Company does not hold other economic
interests in the entity that would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the expected losses or returns of the entity, are not considered a variable
interest. The Company factors in all economic interests, including proportionate interests through related parties, to determine if fees are considered a
variable interest. Where the Company’s interests in funds are primarily management fees and insignificant direct or indirect equity interests through related
parties, the Company is not considered to have a variable interest in such entities.

The Company consolidates all VIEs for which it is the primary beneficiary. An entity is determined to be the primary beneficiary if it holds a controlling
financial interest, which is defined as having (a) the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance
and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The
Company does not consolidate any of the products it manages as it does not hold any direct or indirect interests in such entities that could expose the
Company to an obligation to absorb losses of an entity or the right to receive benefits from an entity that could potentially be significant to such entities.
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The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a VIE and continuously reconsiders that
conclusion. In evaluating whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company evaluates its direct and indirect economic interests in the entity.
The consolidation analysis is generally performed qualitatively, however, if the primary beneficiary is not readily determinable, a quantitative analysis may
also be performed. This analysis requires judgment, including: (1) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to
finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, (2) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a
significant effect on the success of the entity, (3) determining whether two or more parties’ equity interests should be aggregated, (4) determining whether
the equity investors have proportionate voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity and (5) evaluating the
nature of relationships and activities of the parties involved in determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with a VIE and
therefore would be deemed the primary beneficiary.

Under the voting interest model, the Company consolidates those entities it controls through a majority voting interest. The Company will generally not
consolidate those voting interest entities where a single investor or simple majority of third-party investors with equity have the ability to exercise
substantive kick-out or participation rights.

(d) Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when the Company transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. A five-step framework is utilized that requires an entity to: (i) identify the
contract(s) with a customer, which includes assessing the collectability of the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods or services
transferred to the customer, (ii) identify the performance obligation in the contract, (iii) determine the transaction price, (iv) allocate the transaction price to
the performance obligation in the contract, and (v) recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Management/Advisory Fees

Revenues from contracts with customers consist of investment management, trustee, and custody fees. The Company recognizes revenue at the
time of transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Revenue recognized is calculated based on contractual terms, including the transaction price, whether a
distinct performance obligation has been satisfied and control is transferred to the customer, and when collection of the revenue is assessed as
probable.

Investment management, trustee and custody fees are recognized over the period in which the investment management services are performed,
using a time-based output method to measure progress. The amount of revenue varies from one reporting period to another as levels of AUA change
(from inflows, outflows, and market movements) and the number of days in the reporting period change.

For services provided to each client account, the Company charges an investment management fee, inclusive of custody and/or trustee fees, based
on the fair value of the AUA of such account representing a single performance obligation. For assets for which valuations are not available on a daily
basis, the most recent valuation provided to the Company is used as the fair value for the purpose of calculating the quarterly fee. In certain
circumstances, fixed fees are charged to customers on a monthly basis. The nature of the Company’s performance obligation is to provide a
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series of distinct services in which the customer receives the benefits of the services over time. The Company’s performance obligation is satisfied at
the end of each month or quarter, as applicable to the contract with the customer.

Fees are charged on a mixture of methodologies that include quarterly in arrears based upon the market value at the end of the quarter, quarterly
based on the average daily balance, or monthly. Receivable balances from contracts with customers are included in the fees receivable line in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Our FOS business is also included in the Management/advisory fees line item. FOS fees are generally structured to reflect an annual agreed upon
fee or they can be structured on a project/time-based fee. FOS fees are typically billed quarterly in arrears. We also generate FOS project/time-based
fees arising from accounting, administration fees, set up, the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”), and other non-investment advisory
services.

Incentive Fees

The Company is entitled to incentive fees if targeted returns have been achieved in accordance with customer contracts. Incentive fees are calculated
using a percentage of net profit from the amount the customers earn. Incentive fees are variable consideration that is generally calculated as
applicable to the contract with the customer. We recognize our incentive fees when it is no longer probable that a significant reversal of revenue will
occur. Our incentive fees are not subject to clawback provisions.

Other Fees/Income

The Company generates arrangement fees in its co-investment division by arranging private debt or equity financing, generally in connection with an
acquisition or an investment. Arrangement fees are typically 50 to 100 basis points of equity value contributed into a transaction and are payable upon
closing of the transaction. Acquisition fees are typically payable where there are no agency fees or where there is an off-market transaction sourced
by the team. Such acquisition fees are usually in the range of 50 to 100 basis points of the purchase price of the relevant acquisition. The equity
structures are long-term (five to ten years ) closed-ended structures with fees normally ranging between 50 and 175 basis points of the equity value
committed or drawn. The debt structure terms are generally between 12 and 36 months. The investment adviser, general partner, or other entity
entitled to fees in respect of each of our co-investments receives such fees either monthly, quarterly, or annually.

Distributions from Investments

The Company has equity interests in three entities pursuant to which it is entitled to distributions based on the terms of the respective arrangements.
Distributions from each investment will be recorded upon receipt of the distribution. These distributions are recurring under investment
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agreements and are structured as either a profit or revenue share of the investment’s management and incentive fees.

(f) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash and money market funds. Cash balances maintained by consolidated VIEs are not considered legally
restricted and are included in cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Cash was held across our U.S. and international markets. A majority of cash in the U.S. was held in checking accounts within the credit facility bank group,
including at a major global financial institution which management believes is creditworthy.

(g) Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of balances that are restricted as to withdrawal or usage.

As of December 31, 2023 restricted cash and cash equivalents amounted to $ 5.4 million and are included in the line item Cash and cash equivalents on
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. These amounts represent the level of liquidity to be maintained by Company’s certain subsidiaries to
meet regulatory requirements. Failing to meet the requirement could lead to censure, fines and ultimately a loss of license.

(h) Compensation and Employee Benefits
Cash-Based Compensation

Compensation and benefits consist of salaries, bonuses, commissions, benefits and payroll taxes. Compensation is accrued over the related
service period.

Equity-Based Compensation

Equity-based compensation awards are reviewed to determine whether such awards are equity-classified or liability-classified. Compensation
expense related to equity-classified awards is equal to their grant-date fair value and generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the awards’
requisite service period. When certain settlement features require an award to be liability-classified, compensation expense is recognized over the
service period, and such amount is adjusted at each statement of financial position date through the settlement date to the then current fair value of
such award.

The Company recognizes equity-based award forfeitures in the period they occur as a reversal of previously recognized compensation expense.
The reduction in compensation expense is determined based on the specific awards forfeited during that period. Furthermore, the Company
recognizes all excess tax benefits and deficiencies as income tax benefit or expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(i)  Foreign Currency and Transactions

The Company has multiple functional currencies across various consolidated entities. All functional currencies that are not the U.S. dollar are converted
upon consolidation at the reporting date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are remeasured into U.S. dollars at the closing
rates of exchange on the date of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are remeasured into U.S. dollars using the historical exchange rate. The profit or loss arising from foreign currency transactions is remeasured using the
rate in
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effect on the date of the relevant transaction. Gains and losses on transactions denominated in foreign currencies due to changes in exchange rates are
recorded within Foreign currency translation adjustments. Gains and losses on certain financing transactions which the Company intends to repay in the
foreseeable future are recorded in net income.

(i) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method in accordance with ASC 740. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are determined based on differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards and are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to be in effect when the differences reverse.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period that
includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to an amount that, in the opinion of
management, is more likely than not to be realized, meaning the likelihood of realization is greater than 50%.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions by reporting a liability for unrecognizable tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.

(k) Other assets, net and Other liabilities, net

Other assets, net include prepaid expenses, miscellaneous receivables, current income taxes receivable, fixed assets, and software licenses. The
Company amortizes assets over their respective useful lives, as applicable.

Other liabilities, net include the AITi Wealth Management (Switzerland) SA, formerly known as Alvarium Investment Managers (Suisse) SA, (“AWMS”)
deferred cash consideration (see Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures)), accrued payroll and payroll related taxes, accrued legal fees, and
corporate taxes payable, among other miscellaneous payables.

() Investments

Investments in Debt Securities. The Company classifies debt investments as held-to-maturity or trading based on the Company’s intent and ability to hold
the debt security to maturity or its intent to sell the security. The Company does not have any held-to-maturity debt investments.

Trading securities are those investments that are purchased principally for the purpose of selling them in the near term. Trading securities are carried at
fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position with changes in fair value recorded in Loss on investments on the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

Investments in Equity Securities. Equity securities are generally carried at fair value on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position in accordance
with ASC 321, Investments — Equity Securities. Changes in fair value are recorded in Loss on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Equity Method. The Company applies the equity method of accounting for equity investments where the Company does not consolidate the investee but
can exert significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the investee. The evaluation of whether the Company exerts control or significant
influence over the financial and operational policies of its investees is based on the facts and circumstances surrounding each individual investment. The
Company’s share of the investee’s underlying net income or loss is recorded as Loss on investments within current period earnings. The Company’s
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share of net income of the investee is recorded based upon the most current information available at the time, which may precede the date of the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Due to the nature and size of its investees, the Company has adopted a lag in reporting for certain equity
method investees for which the Company cannot reliably obtain financial information on a regular basis. Distributions received reduce the Company’s
carrying value of the investee and the cost basis if deemed to be a return of capital. For certain investments, the Company may apply the alternative fair
value option to the investment at initial measurement. The fair value measurement of investments in which the fair value option is elected will be measured
in accordance with ASC 825.

For equity method investments and nonmarketable investments, impairment evaluation considers qualitative factors, including the financial conditions and
specific events related to an investee, which may indicate the fair value of the investment is less than the carrying value. For held-to-maturity investments,
impairment is evaluated using market values, when available, or the expected cash flows of the investment. These losses in value may be considered
other than temporary impairment losses.

(m) Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the arrangement and primarily enters into operating leases, as the lessee, for office
space. The Company accounts for its leases in accordance with ASC 842, Leases and recognizes a lease liability and right-of-use asset in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for contracts that it determines are leases or contain a lease. The Company evaluates leases at their
inception to determine if they are to be accounted for as an operating lease or a finance lease. A lease is accounted for as a finance lease if it meets one of
the following five criteria: (i) the lease has a purchase option that is reasonably certain of being exercised, (ii) the present value of the future cash flows is
substantially all of the fair market value of the underlying asset, (iii) the lease term is for a significant portion of the remaining economic life of the
underlying asset, (iv) the title to the underlying asset transfers at the end of the lease term, or (v) if the underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that
it is expected to have no alternative uses to the lessor at the end of the term. Leases that do not meet the finance lease criteria are accounted for as an
operating lease. At the inception of a finance lease, an asset and finance lease obligation are recorded at an amount equal to the lesser of the present
value of the minimum lease payments and the property’s fair market value. Finance lease obligations are classified as either current or long-term based on
the due dates of future lease payments, net of interest. The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of operating leases for office space in various
countries around the world. The Company also has operating leases for office equipment and vehicles, which are not significant. The Company does not
separate non-lease components from lease components for its office space and equipment operating leases and instead accounts for each separate lease
component and its associated non-lease component as a single lease component. Right-of-use assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying
asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. The Company’s right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. Lease right-of-
use assets include initial direct costs incurred by the Company and are presented net of deferred rent and lease incentives. Absent an implicit interest rate
in the lease, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate, adjusted for the effects of collateralization, based on the information available at
commencement in determining the present value of lease payments. The Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease
when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise those options. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
the asset may not be recoverable.

The Company does not recognize a lease liability or right-of-use asset on the balance for short-term leases. Instead, the Company recognizes short-term
lease payments as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. A short-term lease is defined as a lease that, at the commencement date, has a
lease
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term of 12 months or less and does not include an option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise. When
determining whether a lease qualifies as a short-term lease, the Company evaluates the lease term and the purchase option in the same manner as all
other leases.

(n) Intangible assets other than goodwill, net

The Company recognized certain finite-lived intangible assets as a result of the Business Combination. The Company’s finite-lived intangible assets consist
of Trade Names, Customer Relationships, Investment Management Agreements, and Backlog. Finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.

The Company tests finite-lived intangible assets for impairment if certain events occur or circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of the
intangible asset may not be recoverable. The Company evaluates impairment by comparing the estimated fair value attributable to the intangible asset with
its carrying amount. If an impairment exists, the Company adjusts the carrying value to equal the fair value by taking a charge through earnings.

The Company also recognized certain indefinite-lived intangible assets as a result of the Business Combination consisting of certain investment
management agreements. These indefinite-lived intangibles are not subject to amortization, but are evaluated for impairment at least annually. In
assessing its indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment, the Company has the option to first perform a qualitative assessment to determine whether
events or circumstances exist that lead to a determination that it is unlikely that the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying
amount. If the Company determines that it is unlikely that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less than its carrying amount, the Company
is not required to perform any additional tests in assessing the asset for impairment. However, if the Company concludes otherwise or elects not to perform
the qualitative assessment, then it is required to perform a quantitative analysis to determine if the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset is less
than its carrying value. If through this quantitative analysis the Company determines the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset exceeds its carrying
amount, the indefinite-lived intangible asset is considered not to be impaired. If the Company concludes that the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible
asset is less than its carrying value, an impairment loss will be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the indefinite-lived
intangible asset’s fair value.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company recognized intangible asset impairment charges of $ 52.9 million. See Note 11 (Intangible assets, net) for further
detail.

(o) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. Under ASC 350, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, goodwill is not amortized, but rather is subject to an annual impairment test.
Goodwill represents the excess of consideration over identifiable net assets of an acquired business. Goodwill is allocated at a reporting unit level. The
Company has two reporting units, Strategic Alternatives and Wealth Management, and tests goodwill annually for impairment at each reporting unit. If, after
assessing qualitative factors, the Company believes that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of the reporting unit inclusive of goodwill is less than its
carrying amount, the Company will perform a quantitative assessment to determine whether an impairment exists. If an impairment exists, the Company
adjusts the carrying value of goodwill so that the carrying value of the reporting unit is equal to its fair value by taking a charge through earnings. The
Company also tests goodwill for impairment in other periods if an event occurs or circumstances change such that it is more-likely-than-not to reduce the
fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the
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Company recognized goodwill impairment charges of $ 153.6 million for the Strategic Alternatives segment in Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible
assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. The Company concluded that the estimated fair value of the Wealth Management reporting unit was
greater than its carrying value, and as such, no impairment charge was required. See Note 14 (Goodwill, net).

(p) Fixed Assets, Net

Fixed assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, and are included in the “Other assets” line item in the Company’s
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Fixed assets are depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis, with the corresponding depreciation and
amortization expense included within general, administrative and other expenses in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. The estimated
useful life for leasehold improvements is the lesser of the remaining lease term and the life of the asset, while other fixed assets are generally depreciated
over a period of two to seven years . Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

(q) Debt Obligations, Net

The Company’s debt obligations are recorded at amortized cost, net of any debt issuance costs, discounts and premiums. Debt issuances costs are
deferred and along with discounts and premiums are amortized to interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations over the life of the related
debt instrument using the effective interest method. Unamortized debt issuance costs, discounts and premiums are written off to net losses on retirement of
debt in the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the Company prepays borrowings prior to maturity.

(r) Tax Receivable Agreement

The TRA liability represents amounts payable to certain pre-Business Combination equity holders of the Company. The portion of the TRA liability related
to the Business Combination is deemed contingent consideration payable to the previous owners and is carried at fair value, with changes in fair value
reported within Gain (loss) on TRA in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Future exchanges of Class B Units for shares of Class A Common Stock
may increase the TRA liability. Those increases will be carried at a value equal to the expected future payments due under the TRA. On August 31, 2023,
holders of shares of Class B Common Stock exchanged 1,813,248 Class B Paired Interests to the Company, in exchange for shares of Class A Common
Stock on a1 :1 basis totaling an amount equal to $ 7.31 multiplied by the total number of shares of Class A Common Stock received at the time of the
transaction. For future increases due to exchanges the Company will record an initial estimate of future payments under the TRA portion as a decrease to
additional paid-in capital in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Subsequent adjustments to the liability for future payments under the TRA
related to changes in estimated future tax rates or state income tax apportionment are recognized through current period earnings in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

(s) Warrant Liability

The Company evaluated the Warrants in accordance with ASC 815-40 and concluded that a provision in the warrant agreement related to certain tender or
exchange offers precludes the Warrants from being accounted for as components of equity. As the Warrants meet the definition of a derivative, the
Warrants are recorded as derivative liabilities on the balance sheet and measured at fair value at each reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair
Value Measurement, with changes in fair value recognized in Loss on warrant liability in the Consolidated Statement of Operations in the period of change.
Prior to the Business Combination the Sponsor held private warrants that were contributed to the Company and legally cancelled. The contribution and
cancellation of these warrants resulted in derecognition of the
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private warrants and accounted for in additional paid in capital as of January 1, 2023. The Company subsequently issued new warrants with terms identical
to those of the public warrants to the Target Companies’ selling shareholders classified as derivative liabilities. On June 7, 2023, the Company closed an
offer and consent solicitation and entered into a warrant amendment, pursuant to which the remaining Warrants were exchanged. In total, the Warrants
were exchanged for approximately 4,962,221 shares of Class A Common Stock. See Note 1 (Description of the Business). Following the exchange, none
of the Warrants remain outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

() Business Combination Earn-out Liability

The Business Combination Earn-out Securities, comprised of 3.3 million Class A Shares, 7.1 million shares of Class B Common Stock, and 7.1 million
Class B Units (one Class B share and one Class B Unit comprising a Paired Interest, as described in Note 3 (Business Combination)), are payable to the
Sponsor and the selling shareholders of TWMH, TIG, and Alvarium upon the achievement of certain vesting conditions in accordance with the terms of the
Business Combination Agreement. Upon the Company’s Class A Share price meeting a volume-weighted average price threshold of $ 12.50 for 20 out of
30 trading days within five years of the Closing, fifty percent of the Business Combination Earn-out Securities will vest and be issued in settlement of the
Business Combination Earn-out Liability (or, in the case of the Sponsor, which shares have already been issued, will no longer be subject to forfeiture).
Upon the Company’s Class A Share price meeting a volume-weighted average price threshold of $ 15.00 for 20 out of 30 trading days within five years of
the Closing, the remaining fifty percent of the Business Combination Earn-out Securities will vest and be issued. If, within five years of the Closing, a
change of control event occurs (as defined in the Business Combination Agreement), any Business Combination Earn-out Securities not previously issued
will be deemed to have vested and will be issued (or, in the case of the Sponsor, which shares have already been issued, will no longer be subject to
forfeiture). The Company evaluated the terms of the Business Combination earn-out agreement in accordance with ASC 815-40 and concluded that the
Business Combination Earn-out Securities are precluded from being accounted for as a component of equity. Since the Business Combination earn-out
agreement meets the definition of a derivative, the Business Combination Earn-out Securities are recorded in Earn-out liability, at fair value as a derivative
liability on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and measured at fair value at each reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurement, with changes in fair value recognized in Gain (loss) on earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and in Fair value of
earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change.

(u) AWMS Earn-out Liability

On August 2, 2023, (the “AWMS Acquisition Date”), the Company acquired the remaining 70 % of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership
interests of AWMS, increasing its interest from 30 % to 100 % (the “AWMS Acquisition”). The AWMS Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition
method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase consideration transferred was $ 16.8 million. The total purchase consideration transferred
consists of cash consideration, equity consideration, deferred cash consideration, earn-out consideration (“AWMS earn-out liability”), and the payment of
assumed liabilities. As of December 31, 2023, the AWMS earn-out liability of $ 1.1 million is reported in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position. Since the AWMS earn-out liability meets the definition of a derivative, it is recorded at fair value as a derivative liability on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and measured at fair value at each reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement,
with changes in fair value to be recognized in Gain (loss) on earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and in Fair value of earn-out
liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestiture) for further information.
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(v) Delayed Share Purchase Agreement

Prior to the Business Combination, TWMH entered into an agreement to purchase a remaining non-controlling interest in its consolidated subsidiary
representing 51.1 % of shares in TIH. This arrangement was agreed upon for consideration of $ 2.1 million in cash and $ 1.2 million in Class A Common
Stock. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the delayed share purchase agreement liability is reported as $ 1.8 million and $ 1.8 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the portion of the Delayed share purchase agreement reported in Accrued compensation
and profit sharing is $ 0.3 million and $ 0.4 million, respectively. The stock purchase price has been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Condition as additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the portion of the delayed share purchase agreement reported
in Additional paid-in capital is reported as $ 1.2 million and $ 0.0 million , respectively.

(w) Non-controlling Interests

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company’s equity. Non-controlling interests
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original Business Combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
Business Combination. The proportions of profit and loss and changes in equity allocated to the owners of the parent and to the non-controlling interests
are determined on the basis of existing ownership interests.

(x) Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging , which requires the Company to
recognize all derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as either assets or liabilities and to measure them at fair value
each reporting period unless they qualify for a normal purchases and normal sales exception. Normal purchases and normal sales contracts are those that
provide for the purchase or sale of something other than a financial instrument or derivative instrument that will be delivered in quantities expected to be
used or sold by a reporting entity over a reasonable period in the normal course of business.

(y) Segment Reporting

Our business is organized into two operating segments: Wealth Management and Strategic Alternatives. Described below are the segments and the
revenue generated by each, which broadly fall into three categories: recurring management, advisory, or administration fees; performance or incentive fees;
and transaction fees.

Wealth Management

Our wealth management services principally consist of investment management and advisory services, trusts and administrative services, and family office
services. Our wealth management client base includes HNWiIs, families, single family offices, foundations, and endowments globally. Investment
management or advisory fees are the primary source of revenue in our Wealth Management segment. These fees are generally calculated based on a
percentage of the value of each client's AUM or AUA (as applicable). As of December 31, 2023, this segment had $ 51.0 billion in AUM/AUA (unaudited).

Investment Management and Advisory Services
In our investment management and advisory services teams, we diversify our clients’ portfolios across risk factors, geographies, and asset classes

including private equity, private debt, hedge funds, real estate, and other assets through highly experienced third-party managers, who may be hard to
access.
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Trusts and Administration Services

The trusts and administration services that we provide include entity formation and management, creating or modifying trust instruments and/or
administrative practices to meet beneficiary needs, full corporate, trustee-executor, and fiduciary services. We also offer provision of directors and
company secretarial services, administering entity ownership of intellectual property rights, advice and administration services in connection with
investments in marine and aviation assets, and administering entity ownership of fine art and collectibles.

Family Office Services
Our family office services are tailored outsourced family office solutions and administrative services which we provide primarily to our larger clients. These

services include bookkeeping and back-office services, private foundation management and grantmaking, oversight of trust administration, financial
tracking and reporting, cash flow management and bill pay, and other financial services.

Strategic Alternatives
Our strategic alternatives services include alternatives platform and public and private real estate (including co-investment) businesses.
Alternatives Platform

Our alternatives platform represents our legacy TIG business which is an alternative asset manager. This platform includes our TIG Arbitrage strategy and
funds managed by our External Strategic Managers. Our alternatives platform client base is predominantly comprised of institutional investors. The TIG
Arbitrage strategy is our event-driven strategy through which management fees and incentive fees based on performance are received from the underlying
funds and accounts. The strategies of our External Strategic Managers include Real Estate Bridge Lending, European Equities and Asian Credit and
Special Situations. We receive distributions from our External Strategic Managers through our profit or revenue sharing arrangements that are generated
through their management and incentive fees based on performance of the underlying investments. As of December 31, 2023, this platform had $ 7.6
billion in AUM/AUA (unaudited).

Real Estate - Public and Private

Our real estate business includes co-investment solutions and fund management services. As of December 31, 2023, this business had approximately $
12.7 billion of AUM/AUA (unaudited).

Co-Investment

Our real estate co-investment business, oversees deal origination, documentation, and structuring from inception to exit for a variety of strategies including
development, income, value-add, and planning. Investors are typically HNWIs, single family offices, and institutional investors. Fees earned related to our
real estate co-investment business include private market, incentive fees, management and advisory fees, and placement and brokerage fees.

Fund Management

As of December 31, 2023, our real estate fund management business managed two funds that were marketed primarily in the United Kingdom to

institutional investors, primarily pension funds, as well as to retail investors. Fees from our real estate fund management business are earned from
management and advisory fees.
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(z) Other Income and Expenses

Other income and expenses include unrealized gains (losses) on investments, interest and dividend income (expense), income from equity method
investees, and other items.

The Company holds investments in common stock, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds, and exchange-traded notes, which represent investments in
equity and debt securities. The Company earns realized and unrealized gains and losses which depend on investment performance. Changes in fair value
of these investments are recorded in Loss on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Interest income is earned through its investments in exchange-traded notes. These generally include debt securities held on a short- or medium-term basis
when the Company has excess cash. The Company recognizes and records interest income in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations.

Dividend income is earned through investments in common stock, mutual funds, and exchange-traded funds. Dividend income is recorded on the date
received and is included in Interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company holds interests in various affiliated limited partnerships and limited liability companies, whose purpose is to achieve capital appreciation
through investments in financial instruments and investment vehicles. The Company accounts for investments in which it has significant influence but not a
controlling financial interest using the equity method of accounting and may earn income related to its equity in income of equity method investees. The
equity method investments are in various fund complexes, including funds focused on infrastructure and utilities, high income yields, and multi-strategy,
among others. Changes in fair value of these investments are recorded in Loss on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(aa) Held for Sale Accounting

In circumstances when the Company is evaluating its components, we may establish plans that require us to evaluate whether a component qualifies for
held-for-sale accounting under ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment . If a sale is deemed probable within a twelve-month period, the component is
classified to either the assets held for sale or liabilities held for sale line items on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The disposal group will
be measured at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. Any long-lived assets shall not be depreciated or amortized while classified
as held for sale. On November 6, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement to sell FOS for a cash consideration of approximately $ 20.1 million. On
March 6, 2024, the Company completed the sale of LRA, for fixed consideration of approximately $ 33.1 million and up to an estimated $ 5.1 million of
contingent consideration. Assets and liabilities of FOS and LRA as of December 31, 2023 are presented as held for sale on our Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position .

(ab) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from

Contracts with Customers, which modifies ASC 805 to require an acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize and measure contract assets and
contract liabilities acquired in a business combination in accordance with ASC 606. At the acquisition date, an acquirer should account for the related
revenue contracts in accordance with ASC 606 as if it had originated the contracts. Under current US GAAP, an acquirer generally recognizes such items
at fair value on the acquisition date. This guidance is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption
permitted. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2022 and applied the guidance prospectively to business combinations that occurred after
this date. The
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adoption of this guidance did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual
Sale Restrictions. The amendments in this update clarify the guidance in ASC 820 when measuring the fair value of an equity security subject to
contractual sale restrictions and introduce new disclosure requirements related to such equity securities. The amendments are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the impact of this guidance to be material to its
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. The amendments
in this update improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The
amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024,
with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the impact of this guidance to be material to its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The amendments in this update
related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disclosures improve the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent
categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect the impact of this
guidance to be material to its consolidated financial statements.

The Company has considered all newly issued accounting guidance that is applicable to its operations and the preparation of its unaudited consolidated
statements, including those it has not yet adopted. The Company does not believe that any such guidance has or will have a material effect on its financial
position or results of operations.

(3) Business Combinations and Divestitures

AITi Global Business Combination

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into the Business Combination described in Note 1 (Description of the Business). The primary purpose of the
Business Combination was to combine established high-growth companies that can benefit from access to capital and public markets and continue value-
creation by management.

The Business Combination is a forward merger and is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company is the accounting acquirer and
Umbrella, including the Target Companies, is the accounting acquiree. The Company has been determined to be the accounting acquirer because Umbrella
meets the definition of a VIE, and the Company is the primary beneficiary of Umbrella. ASC 805 requires the primary beneficiary of a VIE to be identified as the
accounting acquirer. The Company is the primary beneficiary because it controls all activities of Umbrella, and the non-managing members of Umbrella do not
have substantive kick-out or participating rights.

The Business Combination met the requirements to be considered a business combination under ASC 805. The assets and liabilities acquired from the Target
Companies, affected for adjustments to reflect fair market values assigned to assets purchased and liabilities assumed, and results of operations, are included in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The Company has allocated the purchase price to
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the tangible and identifiable intangible assets based on their estimated fair market values at the acquisition date as required under ASC 805. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the net identifiable tangible and intangible assets was recorded as goodwill and is deductible for tax purposes.

The Business Combination resulted in the Company acquiring 51 % of the equity interests of Umbrella which holds 100 % of the equity interests of Alvarium,
TWMH, and TIG. The remainder of Umbrella is held by the historical equity holders of TWMH and TIG through their ownership of Class B Units, which are
presented as non-controlling interest on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

As a result of the Business Combination, Umbrella, which represents substantially all of the economic activity of the Company, became a subsidiary of the
Company. Since the Company is the sole managing member of Umbrella following the Business Combination, the Class B Units held by the former equity
holders of TWMH and TIG are classified as non-controlling interests in the Company’s financial statements. An allocation of net income or loss representing the
percentage of ownership of Umbrella not controlled by the Company will be attributed to the non-controlling interests in the Company’s Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

Each Class B Unit of Umbrella is paired with a share of Class B Common Stock (collectively, the “Paired Interests”). Pursuant to the Umbrella LLC Agreement, a
Paired Interest is exchangeable at any time after the lock-up period for a share of Class A Common Stock on a one -for-one basis, subject to equitable
adjustments for stock splits, stock dividends and reclassifications. As the holder exchanges the Paired Interests pursuant to the Umbrella LLC Agreement, the
shares of Class B Common Stock included in the Paired Interests will automatically be canceled and the Class B Common Units included in the Paired Interests
shall be automatically transferred to the Company and converted into and become an equal number of Class A Common Units in Umbrella. Alternatively, if
approved by the disinterested members of the board of directors of the Company, such Class B Common Stock can be settled in cash funded from the proceeds
of a private sale or a public offering of Class A Common Stock.

The Sponsor, in connection with the Business Combination, purchased 8,625,000 shares of Class B Common Stock (the “Founder Shares”) for $ 25,000
(approximately $ 0.03 per share). These shares had no value until the Business Combination completed. At this point, the Founder Shares automatically
converted into Class A Common Stock. This conversion was solely contingent upon the completion of the Business Combination and did not include any future
service requirements. As such, this cost of 8,625,000 shares at $ 10.33 per share for $ 89.1 million will be presented “on the line” and is not reflected in either
predecessor or successor financial statement periods. “On the line” describes those expenses triggered by the consummation of a business combination that are
not recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as they are not directly attributable to either period but instead were contingent on the Business
Combination.

As part of the Business Combination, the Company incurred $ 17.8 million of acquisition-related costs during the year ended December 31, 2023 which are
included predominantly in the “Professional fees” line in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Predecessor incurred $ 1.0 million of acquisition-
related costs during the year ended December 31, 2022. In addition, the Company incurred $ 4.6 million of debt issuance costs related to debt issued to finance
the Business Combination. Of the total debt issuance costs, $ 1.8 million is related to the Term Loan and drawn amount of the Revolver and is recorded as an
offset to the “Debt, net of unamortized deferred financing cost” line item of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. $ 2.8 million of the debt issuance
costs related to the undrawn amount of the Revolver were recorded in the “Other assets” line item of the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.

The Business Combination was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting, and the fair value of the total purchase consideration transferred was
$ 1,071.1 million. Included in total purchase consideration is contingent consideration of $85.1 million, which is payable to the selling shareholders upon
achievement of certain volume-weighted average price targets for the shares of Class A Common Stock or upon a change of control of the Company occurring
between the Closing Date and the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date. The
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contingent consideration was measured at fair value at the acquisition date and recorded as a liability in the “Earn-out liability” line of the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position. See Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) for additional information.

(Dollars in Thousands) Amount
Cash consideration $ 99,999
Equity consideration:

Class A $ 294,159

Class B $ 573,205
Warrants $ 4,896
Earn-out consideration $ 85,097
Tax Receivable Agreement $ 13,000
Payment of assumed liabilities $ 760
Total purchase consideration transferred $ 1,071,116
The following table sets forth the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the Business Combination (in thousands):

Business
Combination
(Dollars in Thousands) Date Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents 24,023
Management/advisory fees receivable 42,381
Investments at fair value 148,674
Equity method investments 42,185
Property, plant and equipment 3,996
Intangible assets 520,161
Goodwill 530,546
Operating lease right-of-use assets 28,487
Other assets 47,251
Total Assets Acquired 1,387,704
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 72,022
Accrued compensation and profit sharing 25,051
Accrued member distributions payable 12,803
Delayed share purchase agreement 1,818
Earn-in consideration payable 1,519
Operating lease liabilities 29,047
Debt 124,533
Deferred tax liability, net 34,640
Other liabilities 15,149
Total Liabilities Assumed 316,582
Total Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed 1,071,122
Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries (6)
$ 1,071,116

For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period of $194.1 million included the proceeds from the PIPE
Investors related to the private placement issuances, remaining cash held in the trust account, and the beginning balance sheet cash from each of Alvarium,
TIG, and TWMH.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company made certain measurement period adjustments to the purchase price allocation, which resulted in an
increase to goodwill of $ 5.8 million. The increase in goodwill was due to a $ 21.6 million decrease in the fair value of acquired intangible assets and a $ 5.5
million decrease in the fair value of acquired equity method investments, offset by a $ 0.8 million decrease to non-controlling interest in subsidiaries and a $ 20.5
million increase in other net assets acquired, specifically a $ 15.6 million decrease in deferred tax liabilities, $ 3.8 million decrease in Accounts payable and
accrued expenses, a $ 0.7 million increase in Management/advisory fees receivable, a $ 0.3 million decrease in Other liabilities, and a $ 0.1 million increase in
Other assets, that arose from the measurement period adjustments. Additionally, the Company made certain measurement period adjustments to the opening
equity balance as a result of the Business Combination, which resulted in a decrease to opening additional paid-in capital of $ 1.3 million as of January 1, 2023.
The measurement period adjustments were a result of the change in net assets described earlier. The fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed
have been finalized.

The measurement period adjustment resulted in a $ 2.6 million impact to Depreciation and amortization in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of Operations
for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired and Intangibles

With the exception of operating right-of-use assets and operating lease liabilities accounted for under Topic 842, in accordance with Accounting Standards
Caodification, or ASC 805, the assets and liabilities were recorded at their respective fair values as of January 1, 2023. The Company developed the fair value of
intangible assets, which include trade names, customer relationships, investment management agreements, developed technology and backlog, using various
techniques including discounted cash flow, relief from royalty, multi-period excess earnings, and a Monte Carlo simulation approach. The Company developed
the fair value of equity method investments using various techniques including discounted cash flow and a guideline public company approach. The investments
at fair value and earn-in consideration are carried at fair value and no adjustment was made. For all other major assets and liabilities acquired, the Company
determined that book value approximated fair value.

Goodwill is comprised of expected synergies for the combined operations and the assembled workforce acquired in the Business Combination, which does not
qualify as a separately recognized intangible asset. Goodwill is allocated between the two reporting segments: Wealth Management and Strategic Alternatives.
The goodwill allocation between our wealth management and strategic alternatives is $ 298.1 million and $ 232.4 million, respectively.

Below is a summary of the intangible assets acquired in the Business Combination (in thousands):

Acquisition Date Estimated Life

(Dollars in Thousands) Fair Value (Years)

Trade Names $ 14,695 9.9
Customer Relationships 163,392 27.1
Investment Management Agreements (definite life) 94,575 18.4
Investment Management Agreements (indefinite life) 245,900 Indefinite
Developed Technology 1,000 5.0
Backlog 599 0.5
Total Intangible Assets $ 520,161

The intangible assets acquired and subject to amortization have a weighted average useful life of 23.0 years.
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Acquisition of AL Wealth Partners Pte. Ltd.

On April 6, 2023, (the “ALWP Acquisition Date”), the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership interests of AL Wealth
Partners Pte. Ltd. (“AL Wealth Partners”) pursuant to the terms of the share purchase agreement between the Company and AL Wealth Partners (the “ALWP
Acquisition”). The primary purpose of the ALWP Acquisition is to acquire AL Wealth Partners’ extensive business within Southeast Asia to further expand the
Company’s global operations.

The ALWP Acquisition met the requirements to be considered a business combination under ASC 805. The assets and liabilities acquired from AL Wealth
Partners, affected for preliminary adjustments to reflect the fair market values assigned to assets purchased and liabilities assumed, and results of operations,
are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the ALWP Acquisition Date. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the
tangible and identifiable intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair market values at the ALWP Acquisition Date as required under
ASC 805.

The ALWP Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase consideration transferred was $
15.5 million, with the total amount paid in cash. The Company will make second and third payments to the sellers of AL Wealth Partners on the third and fifth
anniversary of the ALWP Acquisition Date, respectively. Management has determined that these payments will be treated as future compensation expense in
the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. There is no contingent consideration as part of the ALWP Acquisition.

The Company incurred $ 0.4 million of direct acquisition-related expenses, which are recognized in the Professional fees line item of the Consolidated Statement
of Operations.

The following table sets forth the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the ALWP Acquisition:

ALWP Acquisition Date Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,092
Management/advisory fees receivable 1,952
Property, plant and equipment 644
Intangible assets 12,300
Goodwill 3,826
Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,048
Other assets 474
Total Assets Acquired 21,336
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 358
Operating lease liabilities 1,048
Other liabilities 4,400
Total Liabilities Assumed $ 5,806
Total Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed $ 15,530

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to change during the measurement period, which is not to exceed one year from the ALWP Acquisition
Date. As of December 31, 2023, the Company corrected errors in its preliminary purchase price allocation, recording a $ 2.8 million increase to Goodwill, as a
result of certain payments owed to sellers at the ALWP Acquisition Date, which were made during the period ended December 31, 2023. The Company
considered the qualitative and quantitative impacts and determined that the change was not material to the Company’s previously issued interim consolidated
financial statements. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is expected to be finalized during the measurement period,

127



Table of Contents

AlTi Global, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

which ends no later than April 6, 2024. Management does not expect any further material changes to the values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
during the measurement period.

Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired and Intangibles

Goodwill is comprised of expected synergies for the combined operations, including employees and customer relationships acquired in a business combination.
The total amount of goodwill arising in the transaction was allocated to the Company’s Wealth Management segment. The components of goodwill do not qualify
as a separately recognized intangible asset. The Company will test for impairment annually to determine changes in goodwill at the Wealth Management
reporting unit. The Company will also test goodwill for impairment in other periods if an event occurs or circumstances change such that it is more-likely-than-not
to reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount.

Below is a summary of the intangible assets acquired in the ALWP Acquisition:

ALWP Acquisition Date Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Value Estimated Life (Years)
Customer Relationships $ 12,300 10
Total Intangible Assets $ 12,300

The fair value for customer relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings method. The intangible assets are subject to amortization over
a useful life of 10 years.

The results of operations for the ALWP Acquisition have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements from the date of ALWP Acquisition.
The ALWP Acquisition did not have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, and, therefore, historical and pro forma disclosures
have not been presented.

Acquisition of AlTi Wealth Management (Switzerland) SA

On August 2, 2023, (the “AWMS Acquisition Date”), the Company acquired the remaining 70 % of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership
interests of AITi Wealth Management (Switzerland) SA (“AWMS?”), increasing its interest from 30 % to 100 % (the “AWMS Acquisition”).

The AWMS Acquisition met the requirements to be considered a business combination under ASC 805. The assets and liabilities acquired from AWMS, affected
for preliminary adjustments to reflect the fair market values assigned to assets purchased and liabilities assumed, and results of operations, are included in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements from the AWMS Acquisition Date. The Company has allocated the purchase price to the tangible and identifiable
intangible assets and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair market values at the AWMS Acquisition Date as required under ASC 805.

The AWMS Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase consideration transferred was $
16.8 million. The total purchase consideration transferred consists
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of cash consideration, equity consideration, deferred cash consideration, earn-out consideration, and the payment of assumed liabilities. The total purchase
consideration consists of the following amounts:

(Dollars in Thousands) AWMS Amount

Initial Cash consideration $ 5,711
Equity consideration 1,459
Deferred cash consideration 6,695
Earn-out consideration 2,721
Payment of assumed liabilities 168
Total purchase consideration transferred $ 16,754

The deferred cash consideration is payable no later than September 30, 2024 and the earn-out consideration is payable no later than December 31, 2024.

At the AWMS Acquisition Date, as required by ASC 805, the Company’s existing 30 % equity interest in AWMS, which was previously recognized as an equity
method investment, was revalued to reflect the fair value at this date. The fair value of this existing equity method investment was $ 7.4 million, which was
calculated as 30 % of the fair value of AWMS total equity value (determined using the discounted cash flow method of the income approach, less debt),
excluding the impact of any synergies or control premium that would be realized by a controlling interest. This change in fair value resulted in a gain of $ 1.9
million, which is recognized in the Gain (loss) on investments line of the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company incurred $ 0.01 million of direct acquisition-related expenses, which are recognized in the Professional fees line item of the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

The following table sets forth the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in connection with the AWMS business combination:

AWMS Acquisition Date

(Dollars in Thousands) Fair Value

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,401
Management/advisory fees receivable 1,057
Equity Method investments 57
Intangible assets 9,679
Goodwill 15,146
Operating lease right-of-use assets 298
Other assets 323
Total Assets Acquired 27,961
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 784
Operating lease liabilities 298
Other liabilities 2,944
Total Liabilities Assumed $ 4,026
Total Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed $ 23,935

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and subject to change during the measurement period, which is not to exceed one year from the AWMS Acquisition
Date. As of December 31, 2023, the Company corrected errors in its preliminary purchase price allocation, recording a $ 0.8 million increase to Goodwill, as a
result of certain payments owed to sellers at the AWMS Acquisition Date, which were made during the period ended December 31, 2023 and in February 2024.
The Company considered the qualitative and quantitative impacts and determined that the change was not material to the Company’s previously issued interim
consolidated financial statements. The fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is expected to be finalized during
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the measurement period, which ends no later than August 2, 2024. Management does not expect any material changes to the values of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed during the measurement period.

Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired and Intangibles

Goodwill is comprised of expected synergies for the combined operations, including employees and customer relationships acquired in a business combination.
The total amount of goodwill arising in the transaction was allocated to the Company’s Wealth Management segment. The components of goodwill do not qualify
as a separately recognized intangible asset. The Company will test for impairment annually to determine changes in goodwill at the Wealth Management
reporting unit. The Company will also test goodwill for impairment in other periods if an event occurs or circumstances change that may indicate impairment.

Below is a summary of the intangible assets acquired in the AWMS business combination:

AWMS Acquisition Date Fair

(Dollars in Thousands) Value Estimated Life (Years)
Customer Relationships $ 9,679 14
Total Intangible Assets $ 9,679

The fair value for customer relationships was determined using the multi-period excess earnings method. The intangible assets are subject to amortization over
a useful life of 14 years.

The results of operations for the AWMS Acquisition have been included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements from the AWMS Acquisition Date.
Prior to the AWMS Acquisition Date, the results of AWMS were included as a 30 % held equity method investment.

Pro Forma Financial Information

The following selected unaudited pro forma financial information is a summary of our combined results with ALWP and AWMS, giving effect to the acquisitions
as if they had occurred on January 1, 2023. The unaudited pro forma financial information presented below is for informational purposes only and is not
necessarily indicative of the results that would have been achieved if the ALWP and AWMS acquisitions had taken place on January 1, 2023, nor is it indicative
of future results.

January 1, 2023 - December

31,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor)
Total Revenue $ 255,805
Net income (loss) $ (304,839)

Deconsolidation of Alvarium Home REIT Advisors Ltd

On June 30, 2023, the Company entered into a series of agreements that resulted in the deconsolidation of AHRA from the Strategic Alternatives segment with
immediate effect. The agreements removed ARE'’s potential controlling voting rights in AHRA (previously ascertainable on the exercise of the option), and
terminated other residual contractual relationships between AHRA and ARE. As a result, these agreements removed AlTi’s control of AHRA from an accounting
perspective. AHRA's results are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations for the period from January 1, 2023 to June 30, 2023, and its
accounts were removed from the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of June 30, 2023. The deconsolidation resulted in an intangible asset
impairment charge of $ 29.4 million, which is recorded in Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Assets
managed by AHRA, however, have been excluded from the Company’s AUM/AUA metrics since January 1, 2023.
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Assets Held for Sale

On November 6, 2023, the Company entered into an agreement to sell FOS, which is part of the Company’s Wealth Management segment, for a cash
consideration of approximately $ 20.1 million. The agreement to sell is

subject to regulatory approval but is unconditional in all other regards. On March 6, 2024, the Company completed the sale of LRA, which is part of the
Company’s Strategic Alternatives segment for fixed consideration of approximately $ 33.1 million and up to an estimated $ 5.1 million of contingent consideration
based on the exchange rate of the balance sheet date, as applicable. The contingent consideration is preliminary and not final based on available information at
the time of this filing. The proceeds from these disposals will principally be used to further execute on the Company’s strategic priorities. Neither of these
disposals represents a strategic shift that will have a major impact on the Company’s operations. Consequently, neither, is classified as a discontinued
operation.

The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities of FOS and LRA are presented as held for sale in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position at December 31, 2023 is as follows:

As of
(in thousands) December 31, 2023 (Successor)
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,897
Fees receivable, net 4,792
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization 46,658
Operating lease right-of-use assets 434
Deferred tax asset, net 41
Other assets 1,812
Total assets held for sale $ 56,634
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ (1,007)
Operating lease liabilities (381)
Deferred tax liability, net (10,852)
Deferred income (781)
Other liabilities (772)
Total liabilities held for sale $ (13,792)
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The following table represents the Company’s revenue disaggregated by fee type for the periods presented below:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December

January 1, 2022 - December 31, January 1, 2021 - December 31,

31,2023 2022 2021

(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
Management/Advisory fees $ 184,824 $ 76,872 $ 75,703
Incentive fees 43,377 — —
Other fees/income 5,494 — —
Fee income 233,695 76,872 75,703
Distributions from investments 17,185 — —
Total Income $ 250,880 $ 76,872 % 75,703

As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor)
Management/Advisory fees receivable
Beginning balance $ 30,698 $ 20,019
Ending balance @ 29,539 19,540
Incentive fees receivable
Beginning balance $ 7570 |$ —
Ending balance @ 40,356 —
Other feeslincome receivable
Beginning balance $ 4112 | $ —
Ending balance 526 —

Deferred management/advisory fees
Beginning balance $ (945) | $ —
Ending balance (66) —

Deferred other feeslincome
Beginning balance $ (422) | $ —
Ending balance - -

M As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, this amount includes $ 1.2 million and $ 0.0 million , respectively, in Management/Advisory fees receivable due from related parties. See Note 17
(Related Party Transactions) for further details.

@ As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, this amount includes $ 14.9 million and $ 0.00 million , respectively, in Incentive fees receivable due from related parties. See Note 17 (Related
Party Transactions) for further details.

(5) Equity-Based Compensation and Earn-in Expenses

In connection with the Business Combination, certain of TWMH's restricted units vested and the Company granted fully vested shares to Alvarium’s employees,
resulting in compensation expense of $ 4.2 million and
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$ 24.6 million, respectively, during the year ended December 31, 2023. The $ 24.6 million consisted of $ 21.0 million related to the acceleration of 2.1 million of
earn-out shares at closing and $ 3.6 million for 360,485 shares related to another transaction completed in contemplation of and for the benefit of the acquirer
under Topic 805. None of these stock awards were outstanding after the Business Combination.

Upon completion of the Business Combination, the Company issued 60,800 shares of Class A Common Stock to employees of the Company. These awards
vested in full immediately and had a fair value of $ 10.00 per share, resulting in compensation expense of $ 0.6 million during the year ended December 31,
2023.

In connection with the Business Combination, the Company granted 65,554 shares of Class A Common Stock to its board of directors on March 23, 2023.
These awards vest over an approximate nine month period and had a fair value of $ 12.56 per share, resulting in compensation expense of $ 0.8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2023.

On May 31, 2023, the Company granted 4,693,621 shares of Class A Common Stock with a fair value of $ 4.35 per share to employees as restricted units,
vesting over athree year period. Since the initial grant date, 167,074 shares have been forfeited for a remaining total of 4,526,547 resulting in compensation
expense of $ 5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which is included in Compensation and employee benefits in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted 107,263 shares of Class A Common Stock with fair values
representative of buy-out equity awards to employees as restricted units, vesting generally over a one to three year period, resulting in compensation expense of
$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company granted $ 1.2 million in shares of Class A Common Stock as part of various revenue share
arrangements to its employees, which is included in Compensation and employee benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

In connection with TWMH's historical acquisition of Holbein, certain employees of Holbein are entitled to receive a combination of cash and shares of the
Company based on Holbein revenues in 2023 and 2024 (the “Holbein Earn-Ins”). The Holbein Earn-Ins were measured at fair value using estimates of future
revenues as of the closing date. The earn-ins are expected to be paid in a combination of 50 % cash and 50 % in shares of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock on the second and third anniversaries of the closing date of January 7, 2022. On July 14, 2023, the Company amended the Holbein purchase agreement
related to the Holbein acquisition. The amendment crystallized the contingent earn-in consideration amount by replacing the valuation of the Holbein Earn-Ins
consideration of an estimate of future revenue. Additionally, the first payment date and second payment date are agreed as April 1, 2024 and April 1, 2025,
respectively, replacing the original share purchase agreement payment dates of 10 business days after the second and third anniversary of the acquisition of
Holbein. The agreed upon first and second date payments are $ 7.1 million and $ 8.9 million, respectively. The selling shareholders remain required to maintain
certain service agreements to receive the compensatory Holbein Earn-ins. The amount of shares awarded will calculated based on the twenty day average
volume weighted average price of the Company's Class A Common Stock preceding the second and third anniversary date.

The Company recognized compensation expense for the earn-ins of $ 7.0 million and $ 3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, which is included in Compensation and employee benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Separate from the compensatory Holbein Earn-Ins, the Holbein acquisition consideration included contingent consideration that was measured at fair value
using estimates of future revenues as of the closing date. The acquisition consideration was also amended to crystallize the non-compensatory earn-in amount
and follows the same fact pattern as the above-described amendment for the compensatory earn-ins. This contingent consideration is recorded as a liability of $
1.8 million as of December 31, 2023 and $ 1.5 million as of
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December 31, 2022 in the “Earn-in consideration payable” line of the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

In connection with TWMH'’s historical acquisition of TIH, the Delayed Share Purchase Agreement (“TIH SPA”) was amended on July 28, 2023. The TIH SPA was
amended to include the Company’s Class A Common Stock as part of the purchase price. On August 1, 2023, the Company granted 152,930 shares of Class A
Common Stock with a fair value of $ 7.70 per share under the terms of the TIH SPA amendment. The amendment to the purchase price is compensatory in
nature. The Company recognized an expense for the TIH SPA of $ 1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which is included in Compensation and
employee benefits in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

(6) Income Taxes

The computation of the effective tax rate, tax provision and related income tax assets and liabilities are based on, among other things, an estimate of the impact
of the exchanges of Common Units for Class A Shares, inclusive of an analysis of tax basis and state tax implications of the Company and their underlying
assets and liabilities. The Company’s estimate is based on the most recent information available and cannot be finally determined until the Company’s 2023 tax
returns have been filed. The tax basis and impact of the Company and their underlying assets and liabilities are based on estimates subject to finalization of its
tax returns.

The Company is a domestic corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and is subject to U.S. federal and state and local corporate-level income taxes on
its share of taxable income from the Umbrella Partnership. The Umbrella Partnership is a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and a taxable entity
for certain state and local taxes, such as New York City and Connecticut UBT. Further, the Company’s income tax provision and related income tax assets and
liabilities are based on, among other things, an estimate of the impact of exchanges of Warrants and Class B Units for shares of Class A Common Stock,
inclusive of an analysis of tax basis and state tax implications of the Umbrella Partnership and its underlying assets and liabilities. The Company’s estimate is
based on the most recent information available. The tax basis and state impact of the Umbrella Partnership and its underlying assets and liabilities are based on
estimates subject to finalization of the Company’s tax returns.

For financial reporting purposes, the components of income (loss) before income tax benefit were as follows:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - January 1, 2022 - January 1, 2021 -
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
U.S. federal $ (7,708) $ 1,082 $ 4,306
Foreign (308,629) (6,553) —
Income (loss) before income tax benefit $ (316,337) $ (5471) $ 4,306
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The following table presents the components of the Company’s income tax expense (benefit):

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - January 1, 2022 - January 1, 2021 -
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
Current income tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal $ 803 $ 320 318
State and local 170 224 290
Foreign 880 84 —
$ 1853 $ 1,853 $ 628 608
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal $ (173) $ (64) (82)
State and local (863) (31) (11)
Foreign (11,351) (6) —
$ (12,387 ) $(12,387) $ (101) (93)
Total income tax expense (benefit)
U.S. federal $ 630 $ 256 236
State and local (693) 193 279
Foreign (10,471) 78 —
Total income tax expense (benefit) $ (10,534 ) $(10,534) $ 527 515
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Company’s effective rate to the statutory rate:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December 31,

January 1, 2022 - December 31,

2023 2022 January 1, 2021 - December 31, 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
U.S. federal tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate $ (66,416) 21.0 % (1,149) 210 % $ 935 21.0 %
State tax, net of federal benefit (1,119) 0.4 % 38 (0.7 )% 39 0.9 %
Goodwill Impairment 32,254 (10.2)% — — % — — %
Exempt income (6,524) 21 % 127 (23)% (500) (11.2)%
Non-deductible Professional Fees 3,616 (1.1)% — — % — — %
Change in fair value of warrant liability 2,702 (0.9)% — — % — — %
Change in fair value of contingent consideration (5,500) 1.7 % — — % — — %
Other Permanent differences 8 — % 3 (0.1)% 42 09 %
Prior period adjustments (246) 0.1 % (2) — % — — %
Change in Valuation Allowance 28,700 (9.1)% 1,393 (25.5)% — — %
Foreign rate differential 236 (0.1)% 116 (2.1)% — — %
Stock based compensation 145 — % — — % — — %
Impact of investment in subsidiaries on partnership basis — — % — — % — — %
Rate Change 247 (0.1)% — — % — — %
Net impact of non-controlling interest 1,363 (0.4)% — — % — — %
Total Effective Rate $ (10,534) 33 % 527 (96)% $ 515 116 %

The Company had an effective tax rate of 3.3 %, ( 9.6 )% and 11.6 % for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The effective tax
rates differed from the statutory rate primarily due to the impact of goodwill impairment during the quarter, the portion of income allocated to noncontrolling

interests, nondeductible compensation and state and local taxes.
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As of December 31, 2023 and 2022 the income tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets and liabilities were

as follows:

(Dollars in Thousands)

Deferred tax assets

As of December 31,
2023 (Successor)

As of December 31,
2022 (Predecessor)

Net operating losses 23,273 % 847
Investment in partnership 7,158 —
Gooduwill 201 —_
Disallowed interest carryforward 4,376 —
Accruals and reserves 11,191 —
Operating Lease Liability 5,274 —
Other deferred tax asset — 999
Total deferred tax assets 51,473 1,846
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles 17,649 $ 112
Operating Lease - Right Of Use 5,299 —
Investment in partnership — —
Other deferred tax liability 627 54
Total deferred tax liabilities 23,575 166
Valuation allowance (42,007) (1,762)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilities) $ (14,209) $ (82)

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has U.S. federal net operating losses (“NOLs") of $ 20.2 million and foreign NOLs of $ 106.6 million that can be carried
forward indefinitely until they are used. The Company regularly evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax asset and may recognize or adjust any valuation
allowance when it is more-likely-than-not that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset may not be realized. As of December 31, 2023, the Company has
recorded a valuation allowance against $ 15.7 million of NOLs generated by its U.S. operations and $ 106.6 million of NOLs generated by its foreign
subsidiaries primarily in the United Kingdom.

The Company files its tax returns as prescribed by the tax laws of the jurisdictions in which it operates. In the normal course of business, the tax years that
remain open under the statute of limitations will be subject to examinations by the appropriate tax authorities. The Company is no longer subject to state or local
examinations by tax authorities for tax years prior to 2019.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, the Company has evaluated its tax filing positions and has concluded that a
reserve for unrecognized tax benefits is not necessary.

In connection with and subsequent to the Business Combination, the Company recognized various adjustments to deferred tax assets and liabilities within
additional paid-in capital, as well as related impacts to the TRA liability, related to capital transactions. These adjustments primarily resulted from differences
between the Company’s US GAAP and tax basis in its investment in the Umbrella Partnership, as well as portions related to the TRA liability that will eventually
lead to additional tax basis in the Umbrella Partnership upon future TRA payments. The deferred tax assets will be recovered as the basis is amortized. See the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for these amounts.
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(7) Fair Value Disclosures

The Company classifies its fair value measurements using a three-tiered fair value hierarchy. The basis of the tiers is dependent upon the various “inputs” used
to determine the fair value of the Company’s assets and liabilities. Fair value is considered the value using the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on market data obtained from sources independent of the
Company. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability and are
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The inputs are summarized in the three broad levels listed below:

. Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to
access.

. Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or
indirectly.

. Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement.

Level 2 Valuation Techniques

The financial instrument classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy for the year ended December 31, 2022, is an interest rate swap. The valuation
techniques used to value financial instruments classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

« The interest rate swap is valued based on observable values of underlying interest rates.

Level 3 Valuation Techniques

In the absence of observable market prices, the Company values financial instruments using valuation methodologies applied on a consistent basis. For some
investments little market activity may exist; management’s determination of fair value is then based on the best information available in the circumstances, and
may incorporate management’s own assumptions and involves a significant degree of judgment, taking into consideration a combination of internal and external
factors. Financial instruments for which market prices are not observable include:

« Business Combination Earn-Out Liability - The Company’s valuation approach utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate future share prices and
the implied earn-out payment discounted using the risk-free rate.

« TRA Liability - The Company’s valuation approach utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate future taxable income, share prices, and the implied
TRA payments discounted using the liability discount rate which is estimated based on the Company’s credit rating.

< AWMS Earn-Out Liability - The Company’s valuation approach utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate future revenue and the implied earn out
payment discounted using the liability discount rate which is estimated based on the Company’s credit rating.

« Earn-In Consideration Payable - The Company’s valuation approach utilized a Monte Carlo simulation to estimate future revenue and the implied earn
in payment discounted using the liability discount rate which was estimated based on the credit rating of TWMH. On July 14, 2023, the Company
amended the Holbein purchase agreement related to the Holbein acquisition discussed in
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Note 5 (Equity-Based Compensation and Earn-in Expenses), which crystallized the contingent earn-in consideration amount and discontinued the use of

a Level 3 valuation technique.

« Investments in External Strategic Managers - The Company utilized a Discounted Cash Flow approach to determine the fair value of the External
Strategic Managers. The discount rate selection for each investment was calibrated using the implied internal rate of return as of the original investment
date, adjusted for certain market- and company-specific factors. The selected long-term growth rate for each investment was based on long-term GDP
growth rates in the geographic locations of the underlying External Strategic Manager, with consideration for general growth in the asset management

industry.

Refer to the valuation methodologies table below for further analysis of level 3 valuations.

The following is a summary categorization of the Company’s financial instruments based on the inputs utilized in determining the value of such financial
instruments. Investments at fair value as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are presented below:

(Dollars in Thousands)
Assets:
Mutual funds
Exchange-traded funds
Investments — External Strategic Managers

Investments — Affiliated Funds @

Total

Liabilities:
Earn-out liability
TRA liability @
Earn-in consideration payable

Total

As of December 31, 2023 (Successor)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Quoted Prices Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total
$ 7B % — 8 — 75
108 — — 108
7 — 164,077 164,084
— — — 1,627
$ 190 $ — % 164,077 165,894
$ — 3 — 3 63,444 63,444
— — 13,233 13,233
1,830 — — 1,830
$ 1,830 $ —  $ 76,677 78,507

@ Investments in Affiliated Funds are measured at fair value using the net asset value (or its equivalent) practical expedient. The Company's investments in Affiliated Funds represent interests that do
not trade in an active market and are valued using the NAV of each investment company as reported and without adjustment. The Company does not have any commitments to the Affiliated Funds and
redemptions are permitted on a monthly basis and require 30 days’ notice. The strategies of the Affiliated Funds primarily focus on near-dated, hard catalyst events that typically involve hostile deals,
proposals, minority interest buy-ins, leverage buyouts, activism, spin-offs, recapitalizations, and agreed upon deals. The investments held in the Affiliated Funds are primarily highly liquid and
marketable securities. The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial

Position.

@ The Company carries a portion of its TRA liability at fair value, as it is contingent consideration from the Business Combination.
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As of December 31, 2022 (Predecessor)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(Dollars in Thousands) Quoted Prices Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs Total
Assets:
Mutual funds $ 44 % — 3 — 3 44
Exchange-traded funds 101 — — 101
Interest rate swap — 241 — 241
Total $ 145 % 241 $ — % 386
Liabilities:
Earn-in consideration payable $ — % — % 1519 $ 1,519
Payout right — — 3,662 3,662
Total $ — 3 — 8 5181 $ 5,181

Reconciliation of Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level 3

Unrealized gains and losses on the Company’s assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis are included within other loss in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. During the third quarter of 2023, there was one transfer from Level 3 to Level 1 of the earn-in consideration payable. The following
table sets forth a summary of changes in the fair value of Level 3 measurements as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022:

Level 3 Liabilities as of December 31, 2023 (Successor)

Earn-out AWMS earn-out Earn-in consideration

(Dollars in Thousands) TRA Liability Liability liability payable Total

Beginning balance $ 13,000 $ 91,761 — % 1519 $ 106,280
Issuances — — 2,721 — 2,721
Settlements — — — — —
Net (gains) losses 233 (29,381) (1,657) 311 (30,494)
Transfers out of Level 3 — — — (1,830) (1,830)
Ending balance $ 13233 % 62,380 1,064 $ — 3 76,677

Level 3 Liabilities as of December 31, 2022 (Predecessor)
Earn-in consideration
(Dollars in Thousands) payable Payout right Total
Transfers into Level 3 $ — 3 — $ =

Transfers out of Level 3 — — —

Purchases — = —
Issuances 1,519 3,662 5,181
Ending balance $ 1519 $ 3662 $ 5,181
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Level 3 Assets as of December 31, 2023 (Successor)

Investments — External

(Dollars in Thousands) Strategic Managers Total
Beginning balance $ 146,130 $ 146,130
Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) $ 2580 $ 2,580
Purchases $ 15367 $ 15,367
Ending balance $ 164,077 $ 164,077
Valuation Methodologies for Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level 3 as of December 31, 2023
Impact to Valuation
Fair Valuation Unobservable from an Increase in
(Dollars in Thousands) Value Techniques Inputs Ranges Input
Level 3 Assets:
Investments — External Strategic Managers $ 164,077 Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate 215%-29 % Lower
Long-term growth rate 40 % Higher
Level 3 Liabilities:
TRA liability $ 13,233 Monte Carlo Volatility 40.0 % Lower
Correlation 20.0 % Higher
Cost of debt range 41%-51% Lower
Equity risk premium 74%-13.1 % Lower
Earn-out liability $ 62,380 Monte Carlo Volatility 40.0 % Higher
Risk-free rate 39 % Higher
AWMS earn-out liability $ 1,064 Monte Carlo Revenue Volatility 140 % Higher
Risk-free rate 11 % Higher
Revenue Discount Rate 35 % Lower
Liability Discount Rate 56 % Lower
Deferred Payment Liability
Discount Rate 53 % Lower

Valuation Methodologies for Fair Value Measurements Categorized within Level 3 as of December 31, 2022

The fair value of earn-in consideration is based on expected future revenues discounted at the revenue discount rate less the risk-free rate of return, which
approximated 6.8 % as of December 31, 2022. It is classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. As of December 31, 2022, carrying value approximates
fair value.

The fair value of the payout right is based on expected future payments weighted on the probability of a successful company sale transaction, discounted at the
estimated term to transaction closing less the risk-free rate, which approximated 100 % as of December 31, 2022.
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(8) Equity Method Investments

As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had $ 14.2 million and $52.0 thousand of equity method investments, respectively, recorded
within equity method investments on the consolidated statements of financial position. In accordance with US GAAP, certain equity method investees do not
account for both their financial assets and liabilities under fair value measures; therefore, the Company’s investment in such equity method investees may not
represent fair value. See Note 10 (Investments) for additional information on equity method investments.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $ 6.6 million of impairment on its equity method investments. Additionally, as part of the
Business Combination, AlTi acquired the right to carried interest on several projects. These are held as assets at cost less impairment. We therefore assess for
indicators of impairment every quarter, and as a result of a number of factors, namely market conditions, we recognized an impairment to these assets of $ 9.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 in Gain (loss) on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The Company evaluates each of its equity method investments to determine if any were significant as defined by guidance from the SEC. As of and for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, no equity method investment held by the Company met the significance criteria individually or in aggregate.
As such, the Company is not required to present separate financial statements or supplemental financial information for any of its equity method investments.

(9) Variable Interest Entities

The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE at the time it becomes involved with a VIE and continuously reconsiders that conclusion.
In evaluating whether the Company is the primary beneficiary, the Company evaluates its direct and indirect economic interests in the entity. The consolidation
analysis is generally performed qualitatively; however, if the primary beneficiary is not readily determinable, a quantitative analysis may also be performed. This
analysis requires judgment, including: (1) determining whether the equity investment at risk is sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without
additional subordinated financial support, (2) evaluating whether the equity holders, as a group, can make decisions that have a significant effect on the success
of the entity, (3) determining whether two or more parties’ equity interests should be aggregated, (4) determining whether the equity investors have proportionate
voting rights to their obligations to absorb losses or rights to receive returns from an entity and (5) evaluating the nature of relationships and activities of the
parties involved in determining which party within a related-party group is most closely associated with a VIE and therefore would be deemed the primary
beneficiary.

VIEs include certain private equity, real estate, and CLO vehicles. The purposes of such VIEs is to provide strategy-specific investment opportunities for
investors in exchange for management and performance-based fees.
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The Company holds variable interests in certain VIEs which are not consolidated because it was determined that the Company is not the primary beneficiary of
such VIEs. The Company’s involvement with such entities is in the form of direct and indirect equity interests and fee arrangements. The Company’s maximum
exposure to loss relating to non-consolidated VIEs is the carrying value of such investments, and in certain instances, its initial investment in and loans to certain
VIEs. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to non-consolidated VIEs is as follows:

(Dollars in Thousands) As of December 31, 2023 (Successor)
Non-Consolidated VIEs Wealth Management
Strategic Alternatives
Unconsolidated VIE assets $ 1,061,065 $ 2,716,060
Unconsolidated VIE liabilities $ 139,323 $ 76,572
Equity interests on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 9,827 40
AlTi exposure $ 10,233 $ 40
(Dollars in Thousands) As of December 31, 2022 (Predecessor)
Non-Consolidated VIEs Wealth Management
Strategic Alternatives
VIE assets $ — 3 3,171,637
VIE liabilities $ — 3 193,142
Equity interests on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position — 52
AlTi exposure $ — % 52

(10) Investments

The Company’s investments include Investments at fair value and Equity method investments.

Investments at fair value consist of investments for which the fair value option has been elected. The primary reasons for electing the fair value option are to:
« reflect economic events in earnings on a timely basis;

* mitigate volatility in earnings from using different measurement attributes; and

« address simplification and cost-benefit considerations

Such election is irrevocable and is applied on an investment-by-investment basis at initial recognition or at other eligible election dates. Changes in the fair value
of such instruments are recognized in Loss on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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The Cost and Fair Value of Investments as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are presented below:

As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
(Successor) (Predecessor)

(Dollars in Thousands) Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value
Investments at Fair Value:
Mutual funds $ 93 $ 75 $ 73 $ 44
Exchange-traded funds 105 108 115 101
TIG Arbitrage Associates Master Fund 482 500 — —
TIG Arbitrage Enhanced Master Fund 179 231 — —
TIG Arbitrage Enhanced 682 776 — —
Arkkan Opportunities Feeder Fund 111 119 — —
Arkkan Capital Management Limited 20,062 24,822 — —
Zebedee asset management 68,913 69,454 — —
Romspen Investment Corporation 72,523 69,802 — —
Other security type 7 7 — —

Total Investments at fair value 163,157 165,894 188 145
Equity method investments
Real estate equity method investments 9,311 9,311 — —
Wealth management - investment advisory 2,505 2,505 — 52
Carried interest vehicles 2,378 2,378 — —

Total Equity method investments 14,194 14,194 | — 52
Total $ 177,351 $ 180,088 | $ 188 $ 197

The Company’s Investments at fair value include unrealized gains (losses) and realized gains (losses) in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The breakdown of unrealized gains (losses) and realized gains (losses) on Investments at fair value for the relevant periods are as follows:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December January 1, 2022 - December

31, 31, January 1, 2021 - December 31,
(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor) 2021 (Predecessor)
Gains (Losses) on Investments at FV:
Realized gains (losses) $ 1 $ (68) $ 91
Unrealized gains (losses) 2,749 247 2
Total gains (losses) on Investments at fair value $ 2,750 $ 179 % 93
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The following table provides a reconciliation of Intangible assets, net reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

(Dollars in Thousands)
Intangible assets
Amortizing intangible assets
Customer relationships
Investment management agreements ()
Trade names
Acquired internally developed software
Other intangible asset
Total amortized intangible assets
Non-amortized intangible assets @

Investment management agreements

Total intangible assets

AlTi Global, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

As of December 31, 2023 (Successor)

Weighted

Average Gross

Amortization Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
Period (in years) Amount Impairment Disposal Held for Sale Amortization Amount

253 186,832 $ — $ (254) $ (2,128) (7,180) 177,270
19.6 100,269 (50,283) — (43,299) (4,545) 2,142
10 14,945 (2,635) — (1,231) (1,514) 9,565
5 1,000 — — — (200) 800
0 622 — — — (622) —
303,668 (52,918) (254) (46,658) (14,061) 189,777
245,900 — — — — 245,900
549,568 $ (52,918) $ (254) $ (46658) $ (14,061) 435,677

@ During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company deconsolidated AHRA (See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures)) and as a result, recorded an impairment charge of $ 29.4
million to the carrying value of AHRA's investment advisory agreement with Home REIT, which is recorded in the line item Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. On January 9th, 2024, AITi RE Public Markets Limited entered into heads of terms to sell 100 % of the equity of LRA, the advisor to the publicly-traded fund LXi to
LondonMetric for fixed consideration of approximately $ 33.1 million and up to an estimated $ 5.1 million of contingent consideration based on the exchange rate as of the balance sheet date, as
applicable. The contingent consideration is preliminary and not final based on available information at the time of this filing. The disposal completed on March 6, 2024. As a result, AlTi has recognized
an intangible asset impairment charge of $ 23.5 million which is recorded in Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

@ The Company’s non-amortized intangible assets consist of management contracts for open-ended fund products, in which there is no contractual termination date.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company made certain measurement period adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation, which
resulted in a decrease to Intangible assets, net of $ 21.6 million. See Note 3 (Business Combinations and Divestitures).

As of December 31, 2022 (Predecessor)

Weighted
Average Gross
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying
(Dollars in Thousands) Period (in years) Amount Amortization Amount
Intangible assets
Amortizing intangible assets
Customer relationships 173 $ 27,900 $ (7,743) $ 20,157
Trade names 0.8 71 (71) —
Acquired internally developed software 5.0 692 (271) 421
Total intangible assets $ 28,663 $ (8,085) $ 20,578

Amortization expense of approximately $ 14.1 million, $ 1.9 million and $ 1.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, were
recognized.

The estimated future amortization for finite-lived intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

As of December 31, 2023

(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor)

2024 $ 9,244

2025 9,244

2026 9,244

2027 9,244

2028 and beyond 152,801
Total $ 189,777
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(12) Other assets, net and Other liabilities, net

The following table provides a reconciliation of Other assets, net reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

As of December 31, 2023

As of December 31, 2022

(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor)
Fixed assets, net:
Leasehold improvements $ 4,978 $ 2,571
Office equipment and furniture 3,489 2,895
Foreign currency translation difference (270) —
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (5,665) (4,491)
Fixed assets, net 2,532 975
Accrued income 17,124 —
Prepaid expenses 8,045 1,898
Sundry receivables 5,664 —
Other receivables 12,204 579
Interest rate swap — 241
Other assets 2,613 124
Other assets, net® $ 48,182 $ 3,817
@ As of December 31, 2023, this amount includes $ 6.7 million in receivables due from related parties. See Note 17 (Related Party Transactions) for further details.
The following table provides a reconciliation of Other liabilities, net reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
As of December 31, 2023 As of December 31, 2022
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor)
AWMS deferred cash consideration 7,135 —
Payroll 5,202 —
Sundry 3,422 —
Other 6,100 —
Fair value of payout right — 3,662
Other Liabilities, net 21,858 3,662

(13) Leases

The Company adopted ASC 842 as of January 1, 2022, on a modified retrospective basis with no cumulative adjustment to equity as of the adoption date. The
Company has presented financial results and applied its accounting policies for the period beginning January 1, 2022 under ASC 842 for the predecessor and
successor periods. The Company elected to take the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components as part of the adoption. Lease
agreements entered into after the adoption of ASC 842 that include lease and non-lease components are accounted for as a single lease component. Since
January 1, 2022, the Company’s operating leases, excluding those with terms less than 12 months, have been discounted and recorded as assets and liabilities
on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The Company primarily has non-cancellable operating leases for office spaces across various

countries. We categorize leases as either operating or finance leases at the commencement date of the respective lease.
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The components of lease costs are as follows:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December 31, January 1, 2022 - December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands) 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor)

Operating lease expense $ 8,782 $ 2,974
Variable lease expense 3,165 1,353
Short-term lease expense 750 144
Total lease expense $ 12,697 $ 4,471

Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash activity related to our operating leases are as follows:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December January 1, 2022 - December

31, 2023 31, 2022
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor)
Operating cash flow information:
Operating cash flow from operating leases $ 7,131 $ 2,930
Non-cash activity:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations 35,629 2,621

Weighted-average remaining lease term and discount rate for our operating leases are as follows:

As of December 31, 2023
(Successor)

Weighted-average remaining lease term 11.94

Weighted-average discount rate 622 %

Future minimum lease payments for the Company’s operating leases as of December 31, 2023, are as follows:

Future Minimum Rental
Operating Leases

(Dollars in Thousands)

2024 $ 7,079
2025 7,585
2026 6,533
2027 5,852
2028 5,545
2029 and beyond 53,277
Total lease payments 85,871
Less: Imputed interest 29,748
Present value of lease liabilities $ 56,123
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(14) Goodwill, net

The following table provides a reconciliation of Goodwill, net reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position for the years ended December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2022.

January 1, 2022 -

January 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor)
Wealth Tiedemann Wealth
Goodwill by Segment Strategic Alternatives Management Management
segment segment Total Holdings, LLC
Beginning Balance
Gross goodwill $ 232,429 $ 298,118 $ 530,547 $ 22,185
Net goodwill: $ 232,429 $ 298,118 $ 530,547 $ 22,185
Goodwill acquired during the period $ = $ 18,972 $ 18,972 $ 3,279
Impairment charges (153,589) — (153,589) —
Currency translation and other adjustments 11,910 — 4,064 15,974 —
$ (141679) $ 23,036 $ (118,643) | $ 3,279
Ending Balance
Gross goodwill $ 90,750 $ 321,154 $ 411,904 $ 25,464
Net goodwill $ 90,750 $ 321,154 % 411,904 $ 25,464

The Company evaluated as of September 30, 2023 whether circumstances existed, indicating that the fair value of its reporting units may have declined to an
amount lower than the carrying value of goodwill recorded on its Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as of that date. The Company considered a variety
of factors, including the impact of prevailing market conditions, persistently high interest rates and uncertainties caused by inflation and certain world events as
well as the recent actions taken by the Company to restructure and reposition certain of the businesses within its reporting units. Based on the evaluation of
these factors, the Company concluded that triggering events had occurred during the period that required the Company to assess whether the goodwill allocated
to its Strategic Alternatives segment was impaired. Accordingly, the Company performed a goodwill impairment test, which compared the estimated fair value of
the Strategic Alternatives reporting unit to its carrying value. The Company utilized the discounted cash flow method under the income approach and the
Guideline Public Company Method (“GPCM”) under the market approach, in equal weightings, in determining a fair value for the reporting unit. The results of the
impairment test performed at September 30, 2023 indicated that the carrying value of the Strategic Alternatives reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value
by $153.6 million. Consequently, the Company recognized a goodwill impairment charge for this amount in the Condensed Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the period ended September 30, 2023.

The assumptions used in the discounted cash flow analyses require significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate growth rates and the amount
and timing of expected future cash flows. The Company'’s forecasted cash flows were based on its current assessment of the markets and on assumed growth
rates expected as of the measurement date. The key assumptions used in the cash flows were revenue growth rates, operating expenses, gross margins, and
discount rates that appropriately reflect the risks inherent in the cash flow streams. Under the GPCM approach, the significant assumptions include the
consideration of stock price and financial metrics from guideline companies.
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The Company believes that its procedures for estimating the fair value of the reporting units are reasonable and consistent with assumptions that would be used
by other marketplace participants. However, such assumptions are inherently uncertain, and a change in assumptions could change the estimated fair value of
our reporting units. Future impairments of our reporting units could be required, which could be material to the consolidated financial statements, which could be
material to the consolidated financial statements.

(15) Debt, net of unamortized deferred financing cost

The following table summarizes outstanding debt obligations of the Company as of December 31, 2023:
As of December 31, 2023 (Successor)
Net Carrying Fair
(Dollars in Thousands) Debt Outstanding Value @ Value @
Credit Agreement
Term Loans $ 95,000 $ 92,603 $ 95,000
Revolving Credit Facility 93,750 93,750 93,750
Total Debt $ 188,750 $ 186,353 $ 188,750

@) Represents debt outstanding net of unamortized debt issuance costs.
3 The fair value of the Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility approximates carrying value as of December 31, 2023. The fair value is categorized as Level 3 under ASC 820.
Credit Agreement

On January 3, 2023, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with BMO Harris Bank N.A., as administrative agent, for a senior
secured credit facility (the “BMO Credit Facility”) in an aggregate principal amount of $ 250.0 million, consisting of term loan commitments for an aggregate
principal amount of $ 100.0 million (the “Term Loans”) and a revolving credit facility with commitments for an aggregate commitment amount of $ 150.0 million
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”), with an accordion option to increase the revolving commitments an additional $ 75.0 million to $ 225.0 million total. Upon the
Closing, the Company had initially acquired legacy debt obligations from its subsidiaries in the amount of $ 124.4 million. Subsequently, after the Closing, the
Company obtained additional financing through the BMO Credit Facility from which proceeds from borrowings were used to repay outstanding debt obligations
acquired through the transaction, and also for working capital and general corporate purposes, including, without limitation, permitted acquisitions.

The Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, either (i) SOFR plus a margin based on the
Company’s Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) or (ii) the Base Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus a margin based on the
Company'’s Total Leverage Ratio. The margin ranges between 1.0 % and 2.0 % for base rate loans and between 2.0 % and 3.0 % for SOFR loans. The
Company will pay a commitment fee based on the average daily unused portion of the commitments under the Revolving Credit Facility, a letter of credit fee
equal to the margin then in effect with respect to the SOFR loans under the Revolving Credit Facility, a fronting fee and any customary documentary and
processing charges for any letter of credit issued under the Credit Agreement. The Term Loan is subject to quarterly amortization payments and will mature on
January 3, 2028. The Revolving Credit Facility will terminate on January 3, 2028. As of December 31, 2023, unfunded commitments on the Revolving Credit
Facility amounted to $ 16.3 million, and the weighted-average interest rate on the outstanding borrowings of this facility was 9.0 %. As security for the Term
Loans and Revolving Credit Facility, the borrower and the guarantors thereunder have pledged substantially all of their assets, subject to agreed-upon
exclusions. The guarantor group consists of the Company’s U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries, subject to an agreed-upon
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materiality threshold. As of December 31, 2023, total outstanding debt, net of unamortized deferred financing costs amounted to $ 186.4 million.

First Amendment to Credit Agreement

On March 31, 2023 the Company executed the First Amendment to the Credit Agreement (the “First Amendment”). The First Amendment permits the Company
to extend the time period for certain payments to be made that would have otherwise been restricted by the Credit Agreement.

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement

On November 10, 2023, the Company entered into the Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement (“the Second Amendment”). The Second Amendment,
among other things, temporarily amends, from the date of the amendment until effectively April 1, 2024, the following provisions of the Credit Agreement:

The aggregate commitment amount under the Revolving Credit Facility is reduced from $ 150.0 million to $ 110.0 million;

The financial covenants in the Credit Agreement are adjusted to allow for a higher Total Leverage Ratio and Modified Leverage Ratio as well as a lower
Interest Coverage Ratio;

During the amendment period, cash proceeds from the issuance of any debt, (other than certain debt permitted under the Credit Agreement) and any equity
securities issued by the Company are required to be used to repay amounts outstanding under the facility, first under the Term Loans until such Term Loans
are repaid in full and then under the Revolving Credit Facility, until the Revolving Credit Facility is reduced to $ 50.0 million in the aggregate; and

Beginning after the end of the amendment period, certain clauses in the Credit Agreement that pertain to restricted payments are amended.

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement

On February 22, 2024, the Company entered into a Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement (the “Third Amendment”). The Third Amendment amends and
restates the Credit Agreement in its entirety to, among other things:

provide for and permit that the investments in the Company being made by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. and CWC AlTi Investor LLC, an affiliate of
Constellation Wealth Capital, LLC are not required to reduce amounts outstanding under the facility;

amend the financial covenants applicable to the Company, including permanently removing the Modified Leverage Ratio, and a waiver of the Leverage Ratio
and Interest Coverage Ratio for the quarters ending March 31, 2024, and June 30, 2024. For these periods, covenants will include a Minimum EBITDA and
Minimum Liquidity level. In addition, starting in the quarter ending September 30, 2024 and subsequent periods, certain cash balances will permitted to be
netted against debt outstanding when calculating the Company’s Leverage Ratio;

amend the pricing grid setting forth the Applicable Margin to, among other things, increase the Applicable Margin by 0.50 % while the leverage ratio and
interest coverage ratio are temporarily waived, and provide for additional pricing levels based on the Company’s Total Leverage Ratio after the waiver period;

limit the Company'’s use of proceeds relating to the Revolving Credit Facility solely to general working capital; and

provide for the sale of certain assets of the Company, the proceeds of which will be required to pay down the term loan and may reduce the $ 40,000,000
revolving facility commitment block in place while the leverage ratio and interest coverage ratio are temporarily waived.
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A copy of the Third Amendment is included as Exhibit 10.14 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.

As required by accounting standards, the Company has performed an assessment based on its current operations and capital structure of its ability to generate
sufficient cash flows to meet its financial obligations for one year subsequent to the financial statement issuance date, based on conditions known and
reasonably knowable as of the financial statement issuance date. Management has performed this required assessment as of March 22, 2024, and believes
there are sufficient funds available to support its ongoing business operations and continue as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

Management's assessment is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and changes in circumstances, many of which are beyond our
control including the impact of the macroeconomic environment, and that are difficult to predict as to timing, extent, likelihood, and degree of occurrence, and
that could cause actual results to differ from estimates and forecasts, potentially materially. Based upon the results of Management’s assessment, these audited
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The audited consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that could result from the outcome of the aforementioned risks and uncertainties.

The following tables summarize outstanding debt obligations of the Company as of December 31, 2022 :

As of December 31, 2022

(Predecessor)
Net Carrying
(Dollars in Thousands) Debt Outstanding Value @
Term Loan $ 5760 $ 5,760
Revolving Credit Facility 14,050 14,050
Promissory Notes 1,377 1,377
Total Debt $ 21,187 $ 21,187

() There were no unamortized debt issuance costs as of December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had an outstanding Term Loan borrowing of $ 5.8 million with interest calculated based on a variable one-month
LIBOR rate plus 1.50 %, subject to a LIBOR floor. The Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement in 2020, which converted the variable rate to a
fixed rate of 2.60 % on borrowings under the Term Loan. The Company also had an outstanding balance of $ 14.1 million on its Revolving Credit Facility with
interest calculated at the rate of the Daily Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index rate plus 1.50 % and an unused commitment fee is 0.15 % per annum. In
addition, the Company had an outstanding promissory note balance of $ 1.4 million with interest calculated 3.25 %. As of December 31, 2022, total outstanding
debt, net of unamortized deferred financing costs amounted to $ 21.2 million.
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Contractual maturities of the Term Loans as of December 31, 2023, are set out in the table below:

Aggregate
(Dollars in Thousands) Maturities
2024 $ 5,000
2025 $ 7,500
2026 $ 10,000
2027 $ 10,000
2028 $ 62,500
Total $ 95,000

Debt is prepayable without penalty prior to maturity. Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are due and payable on the termination date or an earlier
date at the Company'’s discretion.

(16) Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors a defined—contribution 401(k) plan for the benefit of its employees. The plan allows employees to contribute a percentage of their salary
subject to certain limitations, set forth by the Internal Revenue Service, on a pretax basis. At its discretion, the Company can make profit sharing plan
contributions to the participants accounts. The Company’s contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $ 3.5 million, $0.7
million, and $ 0.7 million, respectively, of which $ 1.2 million was payable as of December 31, 2023 and is included in Accrued compensation and profit sharing
on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

(Dollars in Thousands) For the Period
January 1, 2023 -
December 31, 2023 January 1, 2022 - December  January 1, 2021 - December
(Successor) 31, 2022 (Predecessor) 31, 2021 (Predecessor)
Plan Contributions $ 3,454 $ 738 % 719
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(17) Related Party Transactions

Related party transactions include the below:

(Dollars in Thousands)

AlTi Global, Inc.

As of December 31,

As of December 31,

Related Party Receivables Consolidated Balance Sheet Line ltem 2023 (Successor) 2022 (Predecessor)
Due from Certain TWMH Members, TIG GP Members and TIG MGMT Other assets

Members $ 712 $ 1,161
Due from Equity Method Investees Other assets $ 5,948 $ —
Due from Alvarium related fee arrangements Fees receivable, net $ 247 % —
Due from TIG related fee arrangements Fees receivable, net $ 15,822 $ =
Related Party Payables

Due to Certain Non-Controlling Interest Holders in Connection with the Tax TRA liability

Receivable Agreements $ (17,607) % —
Delayed share purchase agreement Delayed share purchase agreement (1,818)% (1,818)
Delayed share purchase agreement Accrued compensation and profit sharing (282)% (400)
Due to Certain TWMH Members, TIG GP Members, TIG MGMT Members and Earn-out liability, at fair value

Alvarium Shareholders in connection with the Business Combination Earn-out $ (62,380) $ =
AWMS earn-out liability Earn-out liability, at fair value $ (1,064)% —
AWMS deferred cash consideration Other liabilities $ (7,135) $ =
Due to Equity Method Investees Other liabilities $ (1,277)% —
Shareholders' Equity

Delayed share purchase agreement Additional paid-in capital $ (1,178) % —

Due from TWMH Members

Certain TWMH Members were offered promissory notes to pay their estimated federal, state and local withholding taxes owed by such members, which
constitute loans to members. Promissory notes totaling $ 1.5 million were issued by the Company in 2020, 2021 and 2022, and bear interest at an annual rate of
three and one quarter percent ( 3.25 %). Of these, certain promissory notes totaling $ 1.1 million included a forgiveness of debt provision. If at each of the first
five one-year anniversaries of February 15, 2023, if the members’ employment relationship has not been terminated for any reason, an amount equal to twenty
percent ( 20 %) of the principal and accrued interest, shall be forgiven. Upon termination of employment, any outstanding amount of loan not forgiven becomes
due within 30 days. The additional notes totaling $ 0.4 million were paid back in full to the Company as of December 31, 2022.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $ 261 thousand and $ 280 thousand, respectively, of forgiveness of principal debt

and accrued interest within Compensation and employee benefits expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The promissory notes are full legal recourse and have applicable default provisions, which allow the Company to enforce collection against all assets of the note
holder, including Class B Units which have been pledged as collateral. These loans are presented in Other assets on the Consolidated Statement of Financial

Condition. As
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of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the balance of loans to members were $ 0.7 million and $ 1.2 million, respectively.
Delayed Share Purchase Agreement

On July 28, 2023, the Company amended the delayed shared purchase agreement for the shares of Tiedemann International Holdings, AG, which are owned
by an executive and shareholder of the Company. The amendment adjusted the purchase price from $ 2.2 million in cash to $ 2.1 million in cash and $ 1.2
million in the Company’s Class A Common Stock. The cash purchase price has been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as
Delayed share purchase agreement and Accrued compensation and profit sharing. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the delayed share
purchase agreement liability is reported as $ 1.8 million and $ 1.8 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the portion of the
Delayed share purchase agreement reported in Accrued compensation and profit sharing is $ 0.3 million and $ 0.4 million, respectively. The stock purchase
price has been recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as additional paid-in capital. As of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
the portion of the delayed share purchase agreement reported in Additional paid-in capital is reported as $ 1.2 million and $ 0.0 million , respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $ 1.1 million and $ 0.0 million , respectively, of stock and cash compensation
associated with the delayed share purchase agreement within Compensation and employee benefits expense on the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Equity Method Investees

The Company’s transactions with Equity Method Investees include receivables related to loans, fees, and expenses, which are presented in Other assets on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition, and payables related to loans, fees and expenses, which are presented in Accounts payable and accrued
expenses and Other Liabilities on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company recognized $ 0.7 million in Management/advisory fees, $( 1.8 ) million in Compensation and employee
benefits, $(2.4) million in Other income/fees and $ 0.2 million in Interest and dividend income (expense) from equity method investees on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations.

Tax Receivable Agreements

On the Closing Date, the Company entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement. The TRA generally provides for certain payments and makes certain
arrangements with respect to certain tax benefits to be derived by the Company and its subsidiaries as the result of the Business Combination and future
exchanges by such TWMH Members, TIG GP Members and TIG MGMT Members of their Paired Interests for Class A Common Stock in accordance with the
Umbrella LLC Agreement and the making of payments under the TRA.

Pursuant to the terms of the TRA, the Company generally will pay an amount equal to 85 % of the net tax benefit that it receives from such exchanges to the
TWMH Members, the TIG GP Members and the TIG MGMT Members. The costs and expenses of administering the TRA will be borne 15 % by the Company
and 85 % by the TWMH Members, the TIG GP Members and the TIG MGMT Members, or in certain instances, all or a portion of such 85 % amount may be
borne by Umbrella.

The TRA is recognized on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as the TRA Liability. The value of the TRA Liability was $ 17.6 million as of
December 31, 2023. The Company carries $ 13.2 million of its TRA Liability at fair value, as it is contingent consideration from the Business Combination. The
remaining portion related to the TRA exchange of $ 4.4 million is recorded at its carrying value. The Company recognized
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aloss of $(0.2') million for the year ended December 31, 2023, which is recorded in Gain (loss) on TRA in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

On August 31, 2023, holders of Class B Common Stock exchanged a portion of such Class B Units to the Company, in exchange for shares of Class A
Common Stock on a 1 :1 basis totaling an amount equal to $ 7.31 multiplied by the total number of shares of Class B Common Stock exchanged at the time of
the transaction. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company made tax payments on behalf of and cash distributions to Class B Units holders related
to the TRA of $ 1.8 million.

Business Combination Earn-out Liability

Under the terms of the Business Combination, upon closing, the selling shareholders of TWMH, TIG, and Alvarium became entitled to receive earn-out shares
contingent on various share price milestones and in the event of a change in control. The earn-out shares are precluded from being considered indexed to the
Company's own stock and are recognized as a liability at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. As of December 31, 2023, the fair value of
the Business Combination Earn-out Liability was $ 62.4 million and is reported in Earn-out liability, at fair value, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position. The change in fair value of $ 29.4 million is recorded in Gain on earnout liability in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and in Fair value of earn-
out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change.

AWMS Earn-out Liability

On August 2, 2023, the Company acquired the remaining 70 % of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership interests of AWMS, increasing its
interest from 30 % to 100 %. The AWMS Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase
consideration transferred was $ 16.8 million. The total purchase consideration transferred consists of cash consideration, equity consideration, deferred cash
consideration, earn-out consideration, (or AWMS earn-out liability), and the payment of assumed liabilities. As of December 31, 2023, the AWMS earn-out
liability of $ 1.1 million is reported in Earn-out liability, at fair value, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Since the AWMS earn-out liability meets
the definition of a derivative, it is recorded at fair value as a derivative liability on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and measured at fair value at
each reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement. The change in fair value of $ 1.7 million is recognized in Gain (loss) on earn-out
liability in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and in Fair value of earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change.

Fees Receivable, net

The Company recognizes fees at the time of transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Fees recognized are calculated based on contractual terms, including the transaction
price, whether a distinct performance obligation has been satisfied and control is transferred to the customer, and when collection of the revenue is assessed as
probable. Such fees are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Condition as Fees Receivable, net. As of December 31, 2023, fees due from
Alvarium related fee arrangements were $ 0.2 million. Additionally, management and incentive fees receivable due from TIG related fee agreements was $ 15.8
million as of December 31, 2023.

(18) Segment Reporting

The Company operates within two business segments: Strategic Alternatives and Wealth Management. See Note 1 (Description of the Business).
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The Company’s business segment information was prepared using the following methodologies and generally represents the information that is relied upon by
management in its decision-making process.

* Revenues and expenses directly associated with each business segment are included in determining net income/ (loss) by segment.

« Indirect expenses (such as general and administrative expenses including executive and indirect overhead costs) not directly associated with specific
business segments are allocated to the business segments’ statement of operations.
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Accordingly, the Company presents segment information consistent with internal management reporting. See Note 1 (Description of the Business) and the table
below for more detail on unallocated items. The following tables present the financial information for the Company’s segments for the periods indicated.

For the Period

January 1, 2022 - December January 1, 2021 - December

January 1, 2023 - December 31, 2023 31, 2022 31, 2021
(Dollars in Thousands) (Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
Strategic Wealth Tiedemann Wealth Tiedemann Wealth
Net Income by Segment Alternatives Management Management Management
segment segment Total Holdings, LLC Holdings, LLC
Revenue:
Management/advisory fees $ 49,236 $ 135,588 $ 184,824 $ 76,872 $ 75,703
Incentive fees 41,718 1,659 43,377 — —
Distributions from investments 17,185 — 17,185 — —
Other income/fees 5,204 290 5,494 — —
Total income $ 113,343  $ 137,537 $ 250,880 $ 76,872 $ 75,703
Operating Expenses:
Compensation and employee benefits 85,792 118,260 204,052 51,234 47,413
Systems, technology, and telephone 5,210 11,131 16,341 6,331 5,070
Sales, distribution, and marketing 948 1,269 2,217 1,170 931
Occupancy costs 4,658 9,156 13,814 4,503 3,498
Professional fees 34,978 31,137 66,115 9,400 6,882
Travel and entertainment 2,623 3,291 5,914 1,724 566
Depreciation and amortization 7,978 9,061 17,039 2,339 2,051
General, administrative, and other 11,608 7,887 19,495 1,489 1,524
Total operating expenses $ 153,795 $ 191,192 $ 344,987 $ 78,190 $ 67,935
Operating income (loss) (40,452) (53,655) (94,107) (1,318) 7,768
Other income (expenses):
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets (206,507 ) — (206,507 ) — —
Gain (loss) on investments (15,520) 37 (15,483) (3,671) (2,960)
Loss on TRA (116) (117) (233) — —
Loss on warrant liability (6,433) (6,433) (12,866 ) —_ —
Gain on earn-out liability 14,690 16,414 31,104 — —
Interest expense (7,334) (7,167) (14,501) (427) (397)
Other expenses (2,294) (1,450) (3,744) (55) (105)
Income (loss) before taxes (263,966) (52,371) (316,337) (5,471) 4,306
Income tax (expenses) benefit 14,449 (3,915) 10,534 (527) (515)
Net income (loss) $ (249,517) $ (56,286) $ (305,803) | $ (5,998) $ 3,791
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(Dollars in Thousands)

United States
United Kingdom
Rest of World

Total Revenues

(Dollars in Thousands)

United States

United Kingdom
Rest of World

Total Assets

(Dollars in Thousands)

Strategic Alternatives

Wealth Management

Total Assets

AlTi Global, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

Revenues by Geography

Long-lived Assets by Geography

Assets by segment

For the period

January 1 - December 31,

January 1 - December 31,

January 1, 2021 - December

2023 2022 31, 2021
(Successor) (Predecessor) (Predecessor)
$ 153,899 $ 72,181 $ 75,703
$ 58,912 $ 3,863 $ —
$ 38,069 $ 828 $ =
$ 250,880 $ 76,872 $ 75,703
As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Successor) (Predecessor)
$ 41,603 $ 11,022
$ 5,434 $ 48
$ 3,807 $ —
$ 50,845 $ 11,070
As of
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(Successor) (Predecessor)
676,196 $ —
$ 590,371 $ 91,989
1,266,567 $ 91,989

The Company’s Equity method investments as of December 31, 2023 were $ 11.8 million for the Strategic Alternatives segment and $ 2.3 million for the Wealth
Management segment. The Company’s share of the investee’s underlying net income or (loss) is recorded as Loss on investments within the Consolidated
Statement of Operations. For the year ended December 31, 2023, $ 2.1 million for the Strategic Alternatives segment and $( 0.5) million for the Wealth
Management segment were recognized.

Major Customers

The Company derives 12.4 % of its total revenues from one client within the Strategic Alternatives segment.
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(19) Earnings Per Share

The table below presents the Company’s treatment for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share for instruments outstanding of the Company. Potentially
dilutive instruments are only considered in the calculation to the extent they would be dilutive.

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December 31,
2023 (Successor)

Basic Diluted
Class A Shares Included Included
Class B Shares @ Excluded If-converted method
Warrants @ Excluded Treasury stock method
Earn-Out Shares Excluded Excluded
Vested RSUs None outstanding None outstanding
Unvested RSUs Excluded Treasury stock method
Holbein Earn-In Shares @ Excluded Treasury stock method

M The if-converted method for these instruments includes adding back to the numerator any related income or loss allocations to noncontrolling interest, as well as any incremental tax expense had the
instruments converted into Class A Shares as of the beginning of the period.

@ Prior to the Business Combination, the Company issued warrants to purchase Class A Shares. As of June 30, 2023, all warrants were exchanged for Class A Shares and no warrants are outstanding
as of December 31, 2023.

@) During the third quarter of 2023, the Company modified the Holbein Earn-In shares arrangement such that the settlement of the Earn-In shares would be in shares at each service period. At
December 31, 2023, the service periods related to the Holbein Earn-In shares had not been completed, and therefore such shares have not been included in the calculation of basic earnings (loss) per
share for the year ended December 31, 2023. However, in calculating the Company’s diluted earnings (loss) per share, the Company utilized the treasury stock method to determine the potential
number of dilutive shares for the year ended December 31, 2023. For the quarters ending March 31, 2023 and June 30, 2023, the Holbein Earn-In shares were excluded from the Company’s diluted
earnings per share calculation as the Earn-In shares were classified as contingently issuable common shares. The key terms of the Holbein Earn-Ins are discussed in Note 5 (Equity-Based
Compensation).

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing income attributable to controlling interest by the weighted average number of shares of Class A Common
Stock outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per common share excludes potentially dilutive instruments which were outstanding during the period but
were anti-dilutive. The following table shows the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 -
December 31,

(Dollars in Thousands, except share data) 2023 (Successor)

Net loss attributable to controlling interest - basic $ (162,606 )
Net loss available to the Company - diluted $ (162,606 )
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding - basic 61,396,692
Weighted-average shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding - diluted 61,396,692
Loss per Class A Common Stock - basic $ (2.65)
Loss per Class A Common Stock - diluted $ (2.65)
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The following potentially dilutive instruments were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because their effect would have been antidilutive:

For the Period

January 1, 2023 - December 31,

2023 (Successor)
Class B Common Stock and Class B Units 40,668,662
Warrants 4,992,813
Earn-outs 10,396,318
Stock Awards 3,432,030

(20) Commitments and Contingencies
Tax Receivable Agreement

Pursuant to the TRA, the Company will pay certain parties to the Business Combination 85% of certain tax benefits, if any, that it realizes (or in certain cases is
deemed to realize) as a result of any increase in tax basis of the assets of Alvarium Tiedemann related to the Business Combination.

Amounts payable under the TRA are contingent upon (i) the generation of taxable income over the life of the TRA, (ii) the tax rates in effect as of time periods in
which tax benefits are used, and (jii) certain terms governing the rate of interest to be applied to payments under the TRA.

As of December 31, 2023, the liability associated with the TRA was approximately $ 17.6 million and consisted entirely of a liability recorded under ASC 805
associated with the Business Combination, and as such, is presented at fair value through the discount of future anticipated payments. Payments under the TRA
that are on account of liabilities arising in connection with the Business Combination will be revalued at the end of each reporting period with the gain or loss
recognized in earnings.

In connection with the TRA, certain parties to the Business Combination who received Class B Units in Umbrella have the ability to exchange Class B Units in
Umbrella For shares of Class A Common Stock in the Company on a 1 :1 exchange basis. These future exchanges are anticipated to be treated as taxable
exchanges which may provide an increase in the tax basis of the assets of the Company and therefore provide for additional payments under the TRA. TRA
liabilities that are generated on account of future exchanges will be recorded under ASC 450, Contingencies. On August 31, 2023, holders of Class B Units
exchanged 1,813,248 Class B Paired Interests to the Company, in exchange for shares of Class A Common Stock on a 1 :1 basis totaling an amount equal to $
7.31 multiplied by the total number of shares of Class A Common Stock received at the time of the transaction.

Payments under the TRA will continue until all such tax benefits have been utilized or expired unless (i) the Company exercises its right to terminate the TRA
and pays recipients an amount representing the present value of the remaining payments, (ii) there is a change of control or (iii) the Company breaches any of
the material obligations of the TRA, in which case all obligations will generally be accelerated and due as if the Company had exercised its right to terminate the
TRA. In each case, if payments are accelerated, such payments will be based on certain assumptions, including that the Company will have sufficient taxable
income to fully utilize the deductions arising from the increased tax deductions.

The estimate of the timing and amount of future payments under the TRA involves several assumptions that do not account for the significant uncertainties
associated with those potential payments, including an assumption that the Company will have sufficient taxable income in the relevant tax years to utilize the
tax benefits that would give rise to an obligation to make payments.

161



Table of Contents

AlTi Global, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Prior to January 3, 2023, Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings)

As of December 31, 2023, assuming no material changes in the relevant tax laws and that the Company generates sufficient taxable income to realize the full
tax benefit of the increased amortization resulting from the increase in tax basis of certain of AlTi’s assets, we expect to pay approximately $ 17.6 million under
the TRA. Future changes in the fair value of the TRA liability will be recognized in earnings. Any future cash savings and related payments under the TRA due to
subsequent exchanges of Class B Units for shares of Class A Common Stock would be accounted for separately from the amount related to the Business
Combination.

Business Combination Earn-out

Under the terms of the Business Combination, upon Closing, the Sponsor and the selling shareholders of TWMH, TIG, and Alvarium became entitled to receive
earn-out shares contingent on various share price milestones. Additionally, upon a change of control of the Company, the share price milestones will be deemed
to have been met and all the Business Combination Earn-out Securities will be payable to the earn-out holders. The earn-out shares are precluded from being
considered indexed to the Company’s own stock and are recognized as a liability at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings. As of
December 31, 2023, the fair value of the earn-out shares was $ 62.4 million. See Note 2 (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies) for additional detail.

AWMS Earn-out Liability

On August 2, 2023, the Company acquired the remaining 70 % of the issued and outstanding ownership and membership interests of AWMS, increasing its
interest from 30 % to 100 %. The AWMS Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting and the fair value of the total purchase
consideration transferred was $ 16.8 million. The total purchase consideration transferred consists of cash consideration, equity consideration, deferred cash
consideration, earn-out consideration, (or AWMS earn-out liability), and the payment of assumed liabilities. As of December 31, 2023, the AWMS earn-out
liability of $ 1.1 million is reported in Other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Since the AWMS earn-out liability meets the definition
of a derivative, it is recorded at fair value as a derivative liability on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and measured at fair value at each
reporting date in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, with changes in fair value to be recognized in Gain (loss) on earn-out liability in the
Consolidated Statement of Operations and in Fair value of earn-out liability in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows in the period of change.

Litigation

From time to time, we may be named as a defendant in legal or regulatory actions. Although there can be no assurance of the outcome of such matters,
management’s current assessment is that no loss contingency reserve is required to be recorded as of December 31, 2023 for any potential liability related to
any current legal or regulatory proceeding or claim that would individually or in the aggregate materially affect our results of operations, financial condition, or
cash flows.

Home REIT is a real estate investment trust company listed on the London Stock Exchange. AFM UK was its alternative investment fund manager (“AIFM”) until
August 21, 2023 and AHRA was its investment adviser until June 30, 2023. AFM UK is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. AHRA was owned by ARE
(another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company) up until December 30, 2022, when it was sold. AlTi was formed on January 3, 2023, through a business
combination transaction that included certain legacy Alvarium companies, including AFM UK. While the sale of AHRA occurred prior to the Business
Combination, under GAAP, its results were required to be consolidated in our financial statements until June 30, 2023, when it was deconsolidated. For UK
regulatory purposes, up until June 30, 2023, AHRA was permitted to perform certain limited regulated activities as an “appointed representative” of its regulated
principal firm, ARE (which is authorized and regulated by the UK FCA).
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Since November 2022, Home REIT and AHRA have been the subject of a series of allegations in the UK media regarding Home REIT’s operations, triggered by
a report issued by a short seller. Home REIT’s stock price fell materially as a result and its shares are currently suspended from trading. Following the publication
of the short seller report, a UK law firm announced that it was seeking current and former shareholders of Home REIT to potentially bring claims in connection
with the allegations. The announcement states that claims will likely be brought against Home REIT itself, its directors, and AFM UK.

On October 6, 2023, a pre-action letter of claim was received by, among others, AFM UK and ARE asserting potential claims against those entities relating to
the above matters (a pre-action letter of claim is required to be sent by a claimant to a potential defendant under the Practice Direction on Pre-Action Protocols
and Conduct contained in the United Kingdom’s Ministry of Justice Civil Procedure Rules prior to a claimant commencing litigation in the UK). The pre-action
letter was sent by a law firm acting on behalf of a group of current and former shareholders in Home REIT. The pre-action letter does not provide details of
amounts being claimed from any of the potential defendants (whether jointly or severally), and it is not possible at this point in time for us to reliably assess what
the quantum of such claims might be, or AFM UK'’s and ARE’s potential exposure, though they may potentially be material to the Company. If any litigation or
other action is commenced against AFM UK and/or ARE, we intend to defend ourselves in any such matters vigorously. However, if any claims were
commenced, we would anticipate that such claims may involve complex questions of law and fact and we may incur significant legal expenses in defending such
litigation.

HLIF is a private fund which pursues a similar investment strategy to Home REIT. In the period from June 30, 2022 to December 31, 2023, the estimated value
of its underlying real estate investment portfolio declined by approximately 50%, primarily due to a decrease in the timely collection of rents on the underlying
portfolio, but also due to higher interest rates and other macro-economic factors. HLIF is managed by AFM UK as its AIFM and ‘authorized corporate director’
and is advised by SHIA. Like AHRA, SHIA was permitted to perform certain limited regulated activities as an “appointed representative” of its regulated principal
firm, ARE.

In February 2024, the UK FCA commenced investigations into the historic performance of certain group entities, in their services to Home REIT and/or HLIF,
and whether they breached certain civil or criminal regulatory rules and/or principles. The investigations are focused primarily on whether any false or misleading
statements were made in relation to Home REIT and/or HLIF and/or whether these group entities breached other FCA rules and/or principles. The
commencement of the investigations does not mean that the UK FCA has determined that any such breaches have occurred. However, it is possible that the UK
FCA may determine that certain breaches have occurred and it may seek to impose financial penalties or other outcomes on one or more group entities, that
may potentially be material to the Company. We intend to cooperate fully with the UK FCA as it conducts the investigations. We are not able to estimate how
long it might take for the UK FCA to complete such investigations, but it is possible that the investigations may continue for a prolonged period, potentially over
several years.

(21) Equity
Class A Common Stock

As of December 31, 2023, there were 65,110,875 shares of Class A Common Stock outstanding. Of those shares, 754,968 are subject to performance targets
under the terms of the Business Combination Earn-out. The holders of the Class A Common Stock represent the controlling interest of the Company.

Class B Common Stock

Upon the Closing of the Business Combination, the Company issued 53,219,713 shares of Class B Common Stock to the holders of Class B Units. The Class B
Common Stock has no economic rights but entitles each holder of at least one such share (regardless of the number of shares so held) to a number of votes
that is equal
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to the aggregate number of Class B Units held by such holders on all matters on which shareholders of the Company are entitled to vote generally.
(22) Subsequent Events

Management evaluated events and transactions through the date of issuance of these financial statements. Based on management’s evaluation there are no
events subsequent to December 31, 2023 that require adjustment to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements, except as noted below.

Allianz and CWC Investment

On February 22, 2024, the Company entered into an Investment Agreement (the “Allianz Investment Agreement”) with Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l.
(“Allianz”), pursuant to which, among other things, at the closing of the transaction, and based on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein: (i)
Allianz will purchase in the aggregate $ 250 million of the Company’s capital securities, consisting of (a) 140,000 shares of a newly created class of preferred
stock to be designated Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, with a liquidation preference of $ 1,000 per share (the “Series A Preferred Stock”) and
(b) 19,318,580.96 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at a purchase price of $ 5.69 per share, and (ii) the Company will issue to Allianz warrants
to purchase 5,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at an exercise price of $ 7.40 per share of Class A Common Stock, subject to customary adjustments
(collectively, the “Allianz Transaction”). Consummation of the Allianz Transaction is subject to, among other things, applicable regulatory approvals, Company
stockholder approval and other customary closing conditions.

In addition, on February 22, 2024, the Company entered into a Supplemental Series A Preferred Stock Investment Agreement with Allianz, pursuant to which,
for purposes of funding one or more strategic international acquisitions by the Company or its subsidiaries, Allianz is permitted, at its option, to purchase
additional shares of Series A Preferred Stock up to an aggregate amount equal to $ 50,000,000 .

Concurrently with the Company’s execution of the Allianz Investment Agreement, the Company entered into an Investment Agreement (the “Constellation
Investment Agreement”) with CWC AITi Investor LLC (“Constellation”), pursuant to which, among other things, at the initial closing of the transaction, and based
on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein: (i) Constellation will purchase 115,000 shares of a newly created class of preferred stock to be
designated Series C Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, with a liquidation preference of $ 1,000 per share (the “Series C Preferred Stock”), representing
an initial investment equal to $ 115 million and (ii) the Company will issue to Constellation warrants to purchase 1,533,333 shares of Class A Common Stock at
an exercise price of $ 7.40 per share of Class A Common Stock, subject to certain customary adjustments (collectively, the “Constellation Transaction”).
Consummation of the initial closing of the Constellation Transaction is subject to customary closing conditions (the “Constellation Initial Closing”).

Following the Constellation Initial Closing and during the period commencing May 1, 2024 until September 30, 2024, the Company is permitted to deliver a
capital demand notice, requiring Constellation to purchase and acquire an additional 35,000 shares of Series C Preferred Stock, representing an additional
investment equal to $ 35 million, subject to applicable regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions. In the event that the Company delivers such
notice to Constellation, Constellation will also receive from the Company, and the Company shall issue to Constellation, warrants to purchase 466,667 shares of
Class A Common Stock.

On February 22, 2024, the Company entered into a Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement. See Note 15 (Debt, net of unamortized deferred financing cost)
for more information regarding this amendment.
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LRA Sale

On January 9, 2024, AlTi RE Public Markets Limited entered into heads of terms to sell 100 % of the equity of LRA, the advisor to the publicly-traded fund LXi, to
LondonMetric for fixed consideration of approximately $ 33.1 million and up to an estimated $ 5.1 million of contingent consideration based on the exchange rate
as of the balance sheet date, as applicable. The contingent consideration is preliminary and not final based on available information at the time of this filing. The
disposal was completed on March 6, 2024. As a result, AlTi has recognized an intangible asset impairment charge of $ 23.5 million which is recorded in
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangible assets in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Pointwise Acquisition

On March 11, 2024, the Company entered into non-legally binding heads of terms for the acquisition of the remaining 50 % of the issued share capital of
Pointwise Partners Limited (“Pointwise”). The Company currently owns 50 % of the shares in Pointwise and equity method accounts for it as a joint venture.
Subject to the completion of the required due diligence and the finalization of the share purchase agreement, this transaction is expected to close in the second
quarter of 2024 for an estimated total consideration of $ 7.2 million.

Broker Dealer Wind-down

In February 2024, the Company determined that the non-operating broker dealer subsidiary AlTi Strategic Advisory (US) BD, LLC (“AlTi BD") was no longer
necessary to the Company’s operations. Accordingly, on February 15, 2024, AITi BD filed a Uniform Request for Broker-Dealer Withdrawal (“Form BDW”") with
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc. to withdraw its registration as a broker-dealer from each jurisdiction in which it was licensed or registered as a
securities broker-dealer. Withdrawal from broker-dealer registration becomes effective 60 days after the filing of Form BDW, unless a firm consents to a longer
period or the SEC institutes a proceeding, delays or shortens the date of effectiveness, or otherwise imposes terms or conditions upon such withdrawal.

HLIF Contract Termination

On February 26, 2024, AFM UK and SHIA served notice to terminate their contracts with HLIF. We are in discussions with a third-party manager to take over the
management of HLIF and termination of these contracts will become effective once the transition process has completed.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “Exchange Act")) as of December 31, 2023. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2023,
our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, as further described below in
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

As previously disclosed in Part |, Item 4 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, management identified material
weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting relating to the lack of sufficiently documented risk assessments, process level controls and information
technology controls that support our financial statements and reporting. Further, management has commenced, but as of December 31, 2023 has not completed
its efforts to design and implement a testing plan to determine the effectiveness of controls that support our financial statements and reporting. As a result,
several specific material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting remain as of December 31, 2023, as discussed below.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance
with U.S. GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable
detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that the transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that the receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with polices or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management (with the supervision and participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer) conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not effective
as of December 31, 2023.
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As previously disclosed in Part I, Item 4 of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023, management identified material
weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting relating to the lack of sufficiently documented risk assessments, process level controls and information
technology controls that support our financial statements and reporting. Further, management has commenced, but as of December 31, 2023 has not completed
its efforts to design and implement a testing plan to determine the effectiveness of controls that support our financial statements and reporting.

Management is in the process of implementing a remediation plan for these material weaknesses, including, among other things, hiring additional accounting
personnel, completing its efforts to design and implement process level and management review controls and to sufficiently document and implement policies to
ensure financial statement disclosures are complete and accurate and to identify and address emerging risks. We cannot reasonably estimate the cost of such
remediation plan at this time. We can give no assurance that such efforts will remediate these deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting or that
additional material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting will not be identified in the future. Failure to implement and maintain effective
internal control over financial reporting could result in errors in our consolidated financial statements that could result in a restatement of our financial
statements, may subject us to litigation and investigations, and could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, any of which could diminish investor
confidence, cause a decline in the price of the Class A Common Stock and limit our ability to access capital markets.

The material weaknesses, if not remediated, could result in misstatements of accounts or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual
consolidated financial statements or the interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or detected.

Our management anticipates that our internal control over financial reporting will not be effective until the above material weaknesses are remediated. If our
remediation of these material weaknesses is not effective, or we experience additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective
system of internal control over financial reporting in the future, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be adversely affected, we may be unable to
maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to the Nasdaq listing requirements, investors may lose
confidence in our financial reporting, and the price of our common stock may decline as a result.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended, December 31, 2023, covered by this Annual Report
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information
(@) None.

(b) During the year ended December 31, 2023, none of our officers or directors adopted or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase
or sale of our securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Exchange Act or any “non-Rule 10b5-1
trading arrangement,” as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions That Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART llI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2024 Proxy Statement”) to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days of the year ended December 31, 2023 and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference, except as to information disclosed
therein pursuant to Item 402(v) of Regulation S-K relating to pay versus performance.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be included in the 2024 Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Our independent registered public accounting firm is KPMG LLP , Philadelphia, PA , Auditor ID: 185 .
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits

We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

Financial Statements

Our financial statements are listed in the "Index to Consolidated Financial Statements" under Item 8 "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."
Financial Statement Schedules

All other schedules have been omitted because they are either not required, not applicable or the required information is otherwise included.

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit

2.1t Amended and Restated Business Combination Agreement, dated October 25, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the
Company'’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 26, 2022).

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 9, 2023).

3.2 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed April 19, 2023).

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed April 19, 2023).

4.4 Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated January 3, 2023, by and between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust
Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

4.5 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Warrant Agreement, dated June 7, 2023, by and between the Company and Continental
Stock Transfer & Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 7,
2023).

10.1# Form of Indemnification Agreement for Executive Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

10.2# Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed January 9, 2023).

10.3# AlTi Global, Inc. 2023 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
January 9, 2023).

10.4# AlTi Global, Inc. 2023 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed January 9, 2023).

10.5 Form of Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September
23, 2021).

105.1 Form of Amendment to Subscription Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed October 26, 2022).

10.6 Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, between the Company and the Holders (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

10.7# Form of Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 23,
2021).

10.7.1 Form of Amendment to Option Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed

October 26, 2022).
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10.8

10.9
10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15#

10.16#

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20#

10.21#*
10.22t

10.23t

10.2

10.3

10.261

Form of Shareholder IRA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 23,
2021).

Form of Voting IRA (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’sCurrent Report on Form 8-K filed September 23, 2021).
Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, between the Company and the TWMH Members, the TIG GP Members and the
TIG MGMT Members (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).
Credit Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, between the Company, BMO Harris Bank N.A., the guarantors from time to time party
thereto and the lenders from time to time party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

First Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2023, between the Company, BMO Harris Bank N.A., and the lenders party
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2023).

Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated November 10, 2023, between the Company, BMO Harris Bank N.A., and the lenders
party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2023).
Third Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated February 22, 2024, between the Company, BMO Harris Bank N.A., and the lenders party
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2024).

Executive Employment and Restrictive Covenant Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, among the Company, TIG Advisors, LLC and
Kevin Moran (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

Amended and Restated Tiedemann Employment Agreement, dated as of January 3, 2023, by and between the Company and Michael
Tiedemann (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 9, 2023).

Second Amended and Restated Limited Liability Agreement of Umbrella, dated as of January 3, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.14 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed January 27, 2023).

Alvarium Exchange Agreement, dated as of September 19, 2021 (incorporated by referenceas Annex L to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-4 filed September 27, 2022).

Separation Agreement, dated July 11, 2023, by and between Tiedemann Advisors, LLC and Christine Zhou (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2023).

Form of RSU Award Agreement under the AITi Global, Inc. 2023 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.1 to the
Company'’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on March 23, 2023).

Offer Letter, dated September 5, 2023, between the Company and Stephen Yarad.

Investment Agreement, dated February 22, 2024, by and between the Company and Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23, 2024).

Supplemental Series A Preferred Stock Investment Agreement, dated February 22, 2024, by and between the Company and Allianz
Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23,
2024).

Form of Allianz Investor Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
February 23, 2024).

Form of Voting Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23,
2024).

Investment Agreement, dated February 22, 2024, by and between the Company and CWC AITi Investor LLC (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 23, 2024).
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10.27 Form of Constellation Investor Rights Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed February 23, 2024).

21.1* List of Subsidiaries.

23.1* Consent of KPMG LLP.

31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
8302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
§302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

97* AlTi Global, Inc. Clawback Policy.

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document—the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are
embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101).

* Filed herewith.

T The annexes, schedules, and certain exhibits to this Exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Iltem 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Company hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a
copy of any omitted annex, schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon request.

# Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

ALTI GLOBAL, INC

Date: March 22, 2024 /sl Michael Tiedemann
Michael Tiedemann
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this registration statement has been signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the
dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Michael Tiedemann Chief Executive Officer and Director March 22, 2024
Michael Tiedemann (Principal Executive Officer)
/sl Stephen Yarad Chief Financial Officer March 22, 2024
Stephen Yarad (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Ali Bouzarif Director March 22, 2024
Ali Bouzarif
/s/ Norma Corio Director March 22, 2024
Norma Corio
/s/ Nancy Curtin Director March 22, 2024
Nancy Curtin
/sl Timothy Keaney Director March 22, 2024
Timothy Keaney
/sl Judy Lee Director March 22, 2024
Judy Lee
/sl Spiros Maliagros Director March 22, 2024
Spiros Maliagros
/sl Mark F. Furlong Director March 22, 2024
Mark F. Furlong
/s/ Craig Smith Director March 22, 2024
Craig Smith
/sl Tracey Brophy Warson Director March 22, 2024
Tracey Brophy Warson
/sl Peter Yu Director March 22, 2024

Peter Yu
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NEDEMANN
I GLOBAL

Kevin Moran
Chief Operating Officer

September 5, 2023

Stephen Yarad
767 Springfield Avenue, Apt. 49
Summit, NJ 07901

Dear Stephen,

We are pleased to extend to you an offer of employment with AlTi Global Inc. ("AITi") through its subsidiary,
Tiedemann Advisors, LLC ("the Company") as a Chief Financial Officer on the Finance Team in the Company's
New York office. Your manager will be Michael Tiedemann. Your anticipated start date will be September 18,
2023.

Salary
Your annual base salary will be $375,000, payable in accordance with the company’s normal payroll practices.

2023 Compensation

For the financial year 2023, you will receive a guaranteed cash bonus of Five Hundred and Twenty-Five
Thousand Dollars ($525,000), paid at such time, and subject to the restrictions, set forth in this letter agreement
(the “2023 Guaranteed Cash Bonus"). Your 2023 Guaranteed Cash Bonus also acts as a make-whole payment
for any compensation foregone from your previous employer (together with the equity award statement below)
and will be paid to you on that date in 2024 on which annual discretionary cash bonuses for 2023 are granted
to employees of the Company generally, but in all events will be paid to you no later than December 31, 2024.

In addition you will be granted an award of $280,000 in deferred equity per the ALTI GLOBAL, INC. 2023 Stock
Incentive Plan (including any successor or similar plan), (the "Stock Plan”) and in accordance with the terms of
the Stock Plan and an award certificate, as determined by the Company in its discretion and generally
applicable to employees at your level. Such deferred equity award will be granted on that date in 2024 on which
annual equity awards for 2023 are granted to employees of the Company generally, but in all events will be
granted to you no later than December 31, 2024. The amount of this deferral has been determined by the
Company as is generally applicable to employees at your level, and this and any future deferred award shall be
subject to such terms and conditions of vesting, delivery and settlement (including your continued employment),
and all other terms and conditions of the Stock Plan and applicable award certificates.

If your employment is terminated by the Company without cause, you shall be entitled to be paid, to the extent
not already paid, and subject to your execution and delivery of the Company's standard separation agreement,
the cash portion of your 2023 Guaranteed Bonus (subject to applicable taxes and deductions) when it otherwise
would have been paid so long as you cantinue to comply with your obligations to the Company.

Equity Buyout Award

In addition, to compensate you for the cancellation of, or for your becoming ineligible to receive, certain equity
awards granted to you by your current employer (your “Old Equity Awards"), the Company will grant to you,
subject to your providing documentation evidencing the cancellation of your Old Equity Awards in the form of
a forfeiture statement or substantially similar documentation, as may be reasonably acceptable to the Company
in its sole discretion, an award of restricted stock units ("RSUs”) linked to AITi Global Inc. registered shares
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under the Stock Plan (the “Equity Buyout Award™). The Equity Buyout Award shall be subject to the terms and
conditions of the Stock Plan and an award certificate.

The number of RSUs awarded to you as the Equity Buyout Award shall be calculated as follows: (i) the
aggregate value of your Old Equity Awards, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, provided that,
for publicly traded companies, such value shall be based on the closing share price of your current employer
on the date your employment with the Company commences, divided by (i) the average closing price of AlTi,
as officially reported on the NYSE over the twenty (20) trading days preceding the date your employment with
the company commences. For purposes of the foregoing sentence, you acknowledge and agree that the
aggregate value of your Old Equity Awards shall not exceed $880,000. The Equity Buyout Award will be subject
to vesting and will vest ratably on February 15, 2024, 2025 and 2026, subject to the terms and conditions of
the Stock Plan and applicable award certificate.

Subject to your compliance with the terms and conditions set forth in the Stock Plan and applicable award
certificate, it is currently intended that settlement of vested RSUs associated with the Equity Buyout Award will
occur within 120 days following the applicable scheduled vesting date.

If at any time you shall receive any payment or other consideration in respect of your Old Equity Awards, a
number of your then outstanding RSUs associated with the Equity Buyout Award, equal in value to such
payment or other consideration (as determined by the Company, in its sole discretion), shall be immediately
cancelled for no consideration and with no further required action by the Company or otherwise, with effect
retroactively to the date of grant. To the extent a sufficient number of outstanding RSUs are not available for
forfeiture, you will be required to make a cash payment to the Company, on demand, in an amount equal in
value of such payment or other consideration.

Discretionary Compensation

For performance year 2024 and thereafter, you will be eligible for a discretionary bonus in line with our standard
pay practices and in combination with the Stock Plan, as mentioned above.

The portion of any annual discretionary bonus payable in cash on a non-deferred basis that you receive for any
year shall be subject to the Company’s standard policies and procedures, including, without limitation, policies
relating to repayment obligations. Except as set forth herein, all annual discretionary bonuses (if any) for any
year are solely within the discretion of the Company, and shall be subject to the Company's standard policies
and procedures. All payments of base salary and bonus shall be subject to withholdings and deductions. You
shall be entitled to unlimited paid time off per year, which shall be provided in accordance with the terms of the
Company's paid time off policy. You shall be entitled to benefits on the same basis as those benefits are made
available to other employees in comparable positions.

General Terms

All payments of all compensation, including base salary and bonus, shall be subject to withholdings and
deductions. You shall be entitled to an unlimited amount of paid time off per year, which shall be provided in
accordance with the terms of the Company's paid time off policy. You shall be entitled to benefits on the same
basis as those benefits are made available to other employees in comparable positions.

There is an expectation that your role will transition to a to-be-formed holding company, at which point you will
become subject to the employee benefits, pay practices, and polices of such company.

Your employment with the Company will be on an at-will basis. This means that there is no guarantee of
employment for any specific duration of time and that either you or the Company may terminate the employment
relationship, with or without notice at any time. Your employment with the Company will also be subject to its
policies, programs and practices which may be added or amended from time to time.

AlITi | Tiedemann Global 2
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This letter contains the entire understanding between us on the subjects covered herein and supersedes all
prior agreements, arrangements, and understandings whether written or oral. You acknowledge that you have
not relied on any representations not contained in this letter. This letter may be amended by a writing signed
by both of us. By signing below and accepting the terms of this offer letter, you agree that the company may
assign this offer letter to any successor or assign. This letter shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws
of the State of New York without regard to the conflicts of laws principles thereaof.

As a result of your employment with the Company, you will be in possession of proprietary and confidential
information relating to the business practices and financial information of the firm and its affiliated companies.
You agree that you will not, at any time during the term of your employment, directly or indirectly use or disclose
to any person, firm, corporation or other entity, such confidential information acquired by you during your
employment unless authorized to do so by the Company.

You understand that Company employees are not permitted to make any unauthorized use of documents or
other information in their employment with the Company which could properly be considered or construed to
be confidential or proprietary information of another individual or company. Likewise, you acknowledge that
Company employees may not bring with them any confidential or proprietary documents or other forms of
tangible information onto the premises of the Company relating to their prior employer(s)’ business and you
represent and warrant that you have not done so and will not do so. You also represent and warrant that you
are not bound by any agreement or other existing or previous obligation or business relationship which conflicts
with, or may conflict with, or which will or could prevent the full performance of your duties and obligations
hereunder. You represent that acceptance of employment with the Company, or the performance of your job
responsibilities will not cause you to be in breach of any employment or other agreement.

By signing this letter, you represent and warrant that by accepting this offer and performing services for the
Company, you have not and will not breach or violate any contract or legal obligation that you may owe to any
third party, including, without limitation, any restrictive covenant (such as an agreement not to compete or
solicit), notice period, or other obligation that you may owe to any current or former employer that may restrict
your ability to perform services for the Company. This includes you not bringing any confidential information of
a former employer with you to the Company.

This offer of employment is contingent upon your successful completion of all facets of the Company's pre-
employment screening process, which may include, confirmation that you are legally able to work for the
Company in the United States in the position offered to you, and a background investigation.

Please indicate your acceptance of the terms of our offer by signing the document via DocuSign. If you have
any guestions regarding this offer, please do not hesitate to call Kim Nigro at 206.748.3695. We look forward
to having you joining our team.

Sincerely,

DocuSigned by:

fo T b~

STAAEDATABATABD. .

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED:

DocuSigned by:

Signature: Sh"du’u‘ Q”ML Date:w:oz PM PDT

CEFD2OTFCATa

STEPHEN YARAD

AlITi | Tiedemann Global 3

FIRM:59703706v3







Subsidiaries of AITi Global, Inc.

Name of Entity Jurisdiction of Incorporation
AITi Asset Management Holdings 2 Limited England
AlTi Asset Management Holdings Limited England
AlTi Asset Management Holdings, LLC Delaware
AlTi CI Advisors (UK) Limited England
AlTi CI Limited England
AlTi Fiduciaries (UK) Limited England
AlTi Global Capital, LLC Delaware
AITi Global Holdco, Inc. Delaware
AlTi Global Holdings, LLC Delaware
AlTi Global Services Limited Portugal
AlTi Global TopCo Limited Isle of Man
AlTi Global Wealth Management Holdings Limited England
AITI International Operations Limited England
AlTi Strategic Advisory (UK) Limited England
AlTi PO (Payments) Limited England
AlTi PO Limited England
AlTi PO Management (IOM) Limited Isle of Man
AlTi Pradera Holdings Limited England
AlTi Private Client Limited England
AlTi RE Limited England
AlTi RE Public Markets Limited England
AITI Strategic Advisory (US) BD, LLC Delaware

AlTi Services (UK) Ltd

England




AlTi Trust & Fiduciary Holdings, LLC Delaware
AlTi Wealth Management (France) S.A.S France
AlTi Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong
AITi Wealth Management (Portugal) - EMPRESA DE Portugal
INVESTIMENTO, S.A

AlTi Wealth Management (Singapore) Pte. Ltd Singapore
AlTi Wealth Management (Switzerland) SA Switzerland
AlTi Wealth Management (UK) Limited England
AITi Wealth Management Holdings (UK) 2 Limited England
AlTi Wealth Management Holdings (UK) Limited England
AlTi Wealth Management Holdings, LLC Delaware
Alvarium 64 Advisory LLP England
Alvarium CI (US) LLC Delaware
Alvarium Compass GP Limited Isle of Man
Alvarium Compass LP Isle of Man
Alvarium CoRe Partners LLP England
Alvarium Fund Managers (UK) Limited England
Alvarium Goodmayes Limited England
Alvarium Guardian LLP England

Alvarium Investment Advisors (Suisse) SA

Switzerland

Alvarium Investment Advisors (US), Inc. Delaware
Alvarium Investment Management (US) Holdings Corp Delaware
Alvarium Investment Managers (UK) LLP England

Alvarium Investment Managers (US), LLC Delaware




Alvarium Kalrock LLP England
Alvarium Osesam SAS (France) France
Alvarium Penge Limited England
Alvarium RE (US), LLC Delaware
Alvarium RE Global Opportunistic I GP Limited Isle of Man
Alvarium RE Global Opportunistic 1 LP Isle of Man
Alvarium Streatham Limited England
Alvarium Willow GP Limited Isle of Man
Alvarium Willow LP Isle of Man
Amalfi B Limited Isle of Man
Amalfi Investment Partners Limited England
Arkkan Capital Management Limited Hong Kong
Bluestar Advisors Limited England
Casteel Capital LLP England

Cellar Limited

British Virgin Islands

CF 1 Feeder GP Limited

Cayman

CF I Feeder LP

Cayman

Clambake Inc

Marshall Islands

Clambake Limited

British Virgin Islands

CRE S.arl

Luxembourg

Cresco Capital Advisers LLP

England

Cresco Capital Group Fund I GP Limited

Guernsey




Cresco Terra 4 New S.C.A.

Luxembourg

Cresco Terra 4 S.C.A.

Luxembourg

Dubois Services Limited

British Virgin Islands

Ellora Partners Limited England
Hadley Property Group Holdings Limited England
Harbour Limited Isle of Man
Holbein Partners LLP UK

HPGL Holdings Limited Hong Kong
Integrated Wealth Platform, Inc us

KF I Feeder GP Limited Cayman
KF I Feeder LP Cayman

Kuno Investments Limited

British Virgin Islands

Lake Limited Isle of Man
LJ Capital (HPGL) Limited England

LJ Capital (IOM) Hadley Limited Isle of Man
LJ Capital (IOM) Limited Isle of Man
LJ Capital (I0M) T4 Limited Isle of Man

LJ Capital Partners Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Cresco GP Holdings Limited Isle of Man
LJ Cresco Holdco Limited Isle of Man
LJ Fusion Feeder GP Limited Isle of Man

LJ GP Carry Sarl

Luxembourg




LJ GP International Limited Isle of Man
LJ Group Holdings Limited Isle of Man
LJ Luxembourg SA Luxembourg

LJ Management (BVI) Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Management (IOM) Limited

Isle of Man

LJ Management (Suisse) SA

Switzerland

LJ Maple Abbey Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Belgravia Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Chelsea Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Circus Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Duke Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Hamlet Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Hill Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Kensington Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Kew Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Limited

Guernsey

LJ Maple Nine Elms Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple St. Johns Wood Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Maple Tofty Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ QG Bow Limited

Isle of Man

LJ Skye Trustees Limited

Isle of Man

LJ Station 2 GP Limited

Isle of Man




LJ Station 2 LP

Isle of Man

LJ T4 GP Limited

British Virgin Islands

LJ Trust & Fiduciary Holdings Limited Isle of Man
LJ UK Cities Carry LP Inc Isle of Man
Loire Services Limited Isle of Man
LXi REIT Advisors Limited England
LXi REIT Finance Advisors Limited England

Mooragh (BVI) Limited

British Virgin Islands

Osprey Equity Partners Limited England
Park Limited Isle of Man
Pointwise Partners Limited England
Pradera European Retail Parks Carry L.P Scotland
Pradera Group Limited England
Pradera Real Estate Limited England
Puffin Agencies Limited Gibraltar
Queensgate Bow Co-Invest Carry GP LLP Scotland
Queensgate Bow Co-Invest Carry LP Scotland
Queensgate Bow GP LLP England
Queensgate Carry Partner GP Coop SA Luxembourg
Queensgate Carry Partner SCS Luxembourg




Queensgate Fusion Co-Invest Carry GP LLP Scotland
Queensgate Fusion Co-Invest Carry LP Scotland
Queensgate Fusion GP LLP England
Queensgate Investments 1 S.a.r.l Luxembourg
Queensgate Investments 11 ATV GP LLP England
Queensgate Investments 11 Carry GP LLP Scotland
Queensgate Investments 11 Carry LP Scotland
Queensgate Investments 11 GP LLP England
Queensgate Investments LLP England
Queensgate Investments Management Limited England
Queensgate Mayfair Carry GP Ltd Isle of Man
Queensgate Mayfair Carry LP Isle of Man
Queensgate Mayfair Co- Invest GP Ltd Isle of Man
Rompsen Investment Corporation Canada
Social Housing Income Advisors Limited England
Southwood Limited Isle of Man
Stone Limited Isle of Man
Tiedemann Advisors, LLC us
Tiedemann Advisors GP, LLC us
Tiedemann Constantia AG Switzerland

Tiedemann International Holdings AG

Switzerland

Tiedemann International Holdings (UK) 1 Ltd

UK




Tiedemann International Holdings (UK) 2 Ltd

UK

Tiedemann International (Switzerland) 2 AG

Switzerland

Tiedemann Trust Company us
Tiedemann Wealth Management GP, LL.C us
Tiedemann Wealth Management Holdings, Inc us

TFI Partners, LLC us

TIG Advisors, LLC Us

TIG Opportunity Partners, LLC us

TIG Trinity GP, LLC us

TIG Trinity Management, LLC us
TWMH Investments, Inc. us
Urban Spaces Carry L.P. Guernsey
Urban Spaces GP Limited Guernsey
VO Feeder GP Cayman
VO Feeder LP Cayman
Waterstreet One Limited Isle of Man

Whitebridge (BVI) Limited

British Virgin Islands

Whitebridge Limited

Isle of Man

Zebedee Capital Partners, LLP

UK







Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement (No. 333-270804) on Form S-8 of
our report dated March 15, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of AlTi Global, Inc.

[(signed) KPMG LLP]

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
March 15, 2024







EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15(d)-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Tiedemann, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AlTi Global, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

©)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 22, 2024

Is/ Michael Tiedemann

Michael Tiedemann
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15(d)-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Stephen Yarad, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of AlTi Global, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a)

b)

©)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect
the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 22, 2024

Is/ Stephen Yarad

Stephen Yarad
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of AlTi Global, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), |, Michael Tiedemann, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
and for the period covered by the Report.

Dated: March 22, 2024

/sl Michael Tiedemann

Michael Tiedemann
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of AlTi Global, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the annual period ended December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission (the “Report”), |, Stephen Yarad, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as added by §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

To my knowledge, the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of
and for the period covered by the Report.

Dated: March 22, 2024

Is/ Stephen Yarad

Stephen Yarad
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



ALTI GLOBAL, INC.
CLAWBACK POLICY

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of AITi Global, Inc. (the “Company™), upon
recommendation of the Human Capital and Compensation Committee of the Board (the
“Compensation Committee™) has adopted the following Clawback Policy (this “Policy”) on
September 12, 2023, effective as of October 2, 2023 (the “Effective Date™).

1. Purpose. The purpose of this Policy is to provide for the recoupment of certain incentive
compensation pursuant to Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010, in the manner required by Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, and the Applicable
Listing Standards (as defined below) (collectively, the “Dodd-Frank Rules”).

2 Administration. This Policy shall be administered by the Compensation Committee. Any
determinations made by the Compensation Committee shall be final and binding on all affected
individuals.

3. Definitions. For purposes of this Policy, the following capitalized terms shall have the
meanings set forth below.

(a) “Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement of the
Company’s financial statements (i) due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any
financial reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting
restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial restatements that is material to the
previously issued financial statements (i.e., a “Big R” restatement), or (ii) that corrects an error
that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period (i.e., a “little r* restatement).

(b) “Affiliate” shall mean each entity that directly or indirectly controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Company.

(c) “Applicable Exchange” shall mean (i) The Nasdaq Stock Market, if the
Company’s securities are listed on such national stock exchange, or (ii) the New York Stock
Exchange, if the Company’s securities are listed on such national stock exchange.

(d) “Applicable Listing Standards” shall mean Nasdaq Listing Rule 5608.

(e) “Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation” shall mean Incentive-Based
Compensation Received by a Covered Executive (i) on or after the Effective Date, (ii) after
beginning service as a Covered Executive, (iii) if such individual served as a Covered Executive
at any time during the performance period for such Incentive-Based Compensation (irrespective
of whether such individual continued to serve as a Covered Executive upon or following the
Restatement Trigger Date), (iv) while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national
securities exchange or a national securities association, and (v) during the applicable Clawback
Period. For the avoidance of doubt, Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a Covered




Executive on or after the Effective Date could, pursuant to the the terms of this Policy, include
amounts approved, awarded, or granted prior to such date,

(H) “Clawback Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatement, the
three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the Restatement Trigger Date
and any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or
immediately following those three completed fiscal years (except that a transition period between
the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of its new fiscal year that
comprises a period of at least nine months shall be deemed as a completed fiscal year).

(g) “Company Group” shall mean the Company and its Affiliates.

(h) “Covered Executive” shall mean any “executive officer” of the Company as
defined under the Dodd-Frank Rules, and, for the avoidance of doubt, at minimum includes each
individual identified as an executive officer of the Company in accordance with Item 401(b) of
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act.

(i) “Erroneously Awarded Compensation” shall mean the amount of Clawback
Eligible Incentive Compensation that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that
otherwise would have been Received had it been determined based on the restated amounts,
computed without regard to any taxes paid. With respect to any compensation plan or program that
takes into account Incentive-Based Compensation, the amount contributed to a notional account
that exceeds the amount that otherwise would have been contributed had it been determined based
on the restated amount, computed without regard to any taxes paid, shall be considered
Erroneously Awarded Compensation, along with earnings accrued on that notional amount.

() “Financial Reporting Measures” shall mean measures that are determined and
presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial
statements, and all other measures that are derived wholly or in part from such measures, including
both GAAP and non-GAAP financial measures. Stock price and total shareholder return (and any
measures that are derived wholly or in part from stock price or total shareholder return) shall for
purposes of this Policy be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a
measure need not be presented in the Company’s financial statements or included in a filing with
the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) in order to be considered a Financial
Reporting Measure.

(k) “Incentive-Based Compensation” shall mean any compensation that is granted,
earned or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.
For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation shall include, but is not limited to the
following: (i) non-equity incentive plan awards that are earned based, wholly or in part, based on
satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; (ii) bonuses paid from a “bonus
pool,” the size of which is determined, wholly or in part, based on satisfaction of a Financial
Reporting Measure performance goal; (iii) other cash awards based on satisfaction of a Financial
Reporting Measure performance goal; (iv) restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
share units, stock options and stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) that are granted or become
vested, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; and
(v) proceeds received upon the sale of shares acquired through an incentive plan that were granted
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or vested based, wholly or in part, on satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance
goal. For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation does not include the following:
(1) base salaries (except with respect to any salary increases earned, wholly or in part, based on
satisfaction of a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal), (ii) bonuses paid solely at the
discretion of the Compensation Committee or Board that are not paid from a “bonus pool™ that is
determined by satisfying a Financial Reporting Measure performance goal; (iii) bonuses paid
solely upon satisfying one or more subjective standards not contingent on a Financial Reporting
Measure and/or completion of a specified employment period; (iv) non-equity incentive plan
awards earned solely upon satisfying one or more strategic measures or non-financial operational
measures; or (v) equity awards that vest solely based on the passage of time and/or satisfaction of
one or more non-Financial Reporting Measures.

(1 “Received’ shall mean the receipt or deemed receipt of Incentive-Based
Compensation. Incentive-Based Compensation shall be deemed received for this purpose in the
Company’s fiscal period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the applicable
Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if payment or grant of the Incentive-Based
Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

(m)  “Repayment Agreement” shall mean an agreement (in a form acceptable to the
Compensation Committee and in accordance with the Dodd-Frank Rules) with the Covered
Executive for the repayment of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation as soon as possible
without unreasonable economic hardship to the Covered Executive.

(n) “Restatement Trigger Date” shall mean the earlier to occur of (i) the date the
Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer(s) of the Company authorized to take such action
if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company
is required to prepare an Accounting Restatement, or (ii) the date a court, regulator or other legally
authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement.

4, Recoupment of Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Upon the occurrence of a
Restatement Trigger Date, the Company shall recoup any Erroneously Awarded Compensation
reasonably promptly, in the manner described below. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company’s
obligation to recover Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy is not dependent on
if or when restated financial statements are filed following the Restatement Trigger Date.

(a) Process. The Compensation Committee shall use the following process for
recoupment:

(1) First, the Compensation Committee will reasonably promptly determine the
amount of any Erroneously Awarded Compensation for each Covered Executive in connection
with such Accounting Restatement.

(D) With respect to cash awards, the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation is the difference between the amount of the cash award (whether payable as a lump
sum or over time) that was Received and the amount that should have been received applying the
restated Financial Reporting Measure and the Accounting Restatement.




(2) With respect to cash awards paid from bonus pools, the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is the pro rata portion of any deficiency that results from the aggregate
bonus pool that is reduced based on applying the restated Financial Reporting Measure and the
Accounting Restatement.

(3)  With respect to equity awards, if the shares, options or SARs are still
held at the time of recovery, the Erroneously Awarded Compensation is the number of such
securities Received in excess of the number that should have been received applying the restated
Financial Reporting Measure and the Accounting Restatement (or the value in excess of that
number). If the options or SARs have been exercised, but the underlying shares have not been sold,
the Erroneously Awarded Compensation is the number of shares underlying the excess options or
SARs (or the value thereof). If the underlying shares have already been sold, then the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation is the highest of the value of the stock upon vesting, exercise or sale.

4) For Incentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock
price or total shareholder return where the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation is not
subject to mathematical recalculation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting
Restatement, the amount shall be determined by the Compensation Committee based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total
shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received (in which case,
the Company shall maintain documentation of such determination of that reasonable estimate and
provide such documentation to the Applicable Exchange).

(i)  Second, the Compensation Committee will promptly provide each affected
Covered Executive with a written notice stating the amount of the Erroneously Awarded
Compensation, a demand for recoupment, and the means of recoupment that the Company will
accept.

(b) Means of Recoupment. Once the Compensation Committee has determined the
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation recoverable from the applicable Covered
Executive, the Compensation Committee shall take all necessary actions to recover the
Erroneously Awarded Compensation. Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation
Committee, the Committee shall typically pursue the recovery of Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in accordance with the below, or otherwise any other remedial or recovery action
permitted by law and the Dodd-Frank Rules:

(i) With respect to cash awards, the Compensation Committee shall either (i)
require the Covered Executive to repay the Erroneously Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in
cash reasonably promptly following the Restatement Trigger Date or (ii) if approved by the
Committee under the circumstances, offer to enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered
Executive accepts such offer and signs the Repayment Agreement within a reasonable time as
determined by the Compensation Committee, the Company shall countersign such Repayment
Agreement.

(i)  With respect to equity awards that have not yet vested, the Compensation

Committee shall take all necessary action to cancel, or otherwise cause to be forfeited, the awards
in the amount of the Erroneously Awarded Compensation.
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(iii)  With respect to equity awards that have vested and the underlying shares
have not been sold, the Compensation Committee shall take all necessary action to cause the
Covered Executive to deliver and surrender the underlying shares in the amount of the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation. In the event that the Covered Person has sold the underlying shares, the
Compensation Committee shall either (i) require the Covered Executive to repay the Erroneously
Awarded Compensation in a lump sum in cash reasonably promptly following the Restatement
Trigger Date or (ii) if approved by the Compensation Committee under the circumstances, offer to
enter into a Repayment Agreement. If the Covered Executive accepts such offer and signs the
Repayment Agreement within a reasonable time as determined by the Compensation Committee,
the Company shall countersign such Repayment Agreement.

(iv) . For the avoidance of doubt, appropriate means of recoupment may include
amounts approved, awarded, or granted prior to the Effective Date. The Compensation Committee
shall have broad discretion to determine the appropriate means of recovery of Erroneously
Awarded Compensation based on all applicable facts and circumstances and taking into account
the time value of money and the cost to shareholders of delaying recovery. However, except as set
forth in Section 4(d) below, in no event may the Company Group accept an amount that is less
than the amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation in satisfaction of a Covered Executive’s
obligations hereunder.

(c) Failure to Repay. To the extent that a Covered Executive fails to repay all
Erroneously Awarded Compensation to the Company Group when due (as determined in
accordance with Section 4(a) above), the Company shall, or shall cause one or more other members
of the Company Group to, take all actions reasonable and appropriate to recoup such Erroneously
Awarded Compensation from the applicable Covered Executive. The applicable Covered
Executive shall be required to reimburse the Company Group for any and all expenses reasonably
incurred (including legal fees) by the Company Group in recouping such Erroneously Awarded
Compensation in accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

(d) Exceptions. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall
not be required to recoup Erroneously Awarded Compensation if one of the following conditions
is met and the Compensation Committee determines that recoupment would be impracticable:

(i) The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy
against a Covered Executive would exceed the amount to be recouped, after the Company has
made a reasonable attempt to recoup the applicable Erroneously Awarded Compensation,
documented such attempts, and provided such documentation to the Applicable Exchange;

(ii) Recoupment would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior
to November 28, 2022, provided that, before determining that it would be impracticable to recoup any
amount of Erroneously Awarded Compensation based on violation of home country law, the Company
has obtained an opinion of home country counsel, acceptable to the Applicable Exchange, that
recoupment would result in such a violation and a copy of the opinion is provided to the Applicable
Exchange; or




(iii)  Recoupment would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan,
under which benefits are broadly available to employees, to fail to meet the requirements of 26
U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

5. Reporting and Disclosure. The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this
Policy in accordance with the requirements of the Dodd-Frank Rules.

6. Indemnification Prohibition. No member of the Company Group shall be permitted to
indemnify any current or former Covered Executive against (i) the loss of any Erroneously Awarded
Compensation that is recouped pursuant to the terms of this Policy, or (ii) any claims relating to the
Company Group’s enforcement of its rights under this Policy. The Company may not pay or
reimburse any Covered Executive for the cost of third-party insurance purchased by a Covered
Executive to fund potential recoupment obligations under this Policy.

7. Acknowledgment. Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee, each
Covered Executive shall be required to sign and return to the Company the acknowledgement form
attached hereto as Exhibit A pursuant to which such Covered Executive will agree to be bound by
the terms of, and comply with, this Policy. For the avoidance of doubt, each Covered Executive
will be fully bound by, and must comply with, the Policy, whether or not such Covered Executive
has executed and returned such acknowledgment form to the Company.

8. Interpretation. The Compensation Committee is authorized to interpret and construe this
Policy and to make all determinations necessary, appropriate, or advisable for the administration of
this Policy. This Policy and any terms used in this Policy shall be construed in accordance with the
Dodd-Frank Rules..

9. Amendment; Termination. The Compensation Committee may amend or terminate this
Policy from time to time in its discretion, including as and when it determines that it is legally
required to do so by any federal securities laws, SEC rule or the rules of any national securities
exchange or national securities association on which the Company’s securities are listed.
Notwithstanding anything in this Section 9 to the contrary, no amendment or termination of this
Policy shall be effective if such amendment or termination would (after taking into account any
actions taken by the Company contemporaneously with such amendment or termination) cause the
Company to violate any of the Dodd-Frank Rules.

10.  Other Recoupment Rights. The Compensation Committee intends that this Policy be
applied to the fullest extent of the law. Unless otherwise determined by the Compensation
Committee, the Compensation Committee shall require that any employment agreement, equity
award, cash incentive award, or any other agreement entered into be conditioned upon the Covered
Executive’s agreement to abide by the terms of this Policy. Any right of recoupment under this
Policy is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be
available to the Company Group, whether arising under applicable law, regulation or rule, pursuant
to the terms of any other policy of the Company Group, pursuant to any employment agreement,
equity award, cash incentive award, or other agreement applicable to a Covered Executive, or
otherwise (the “Separate Clawback Rights). Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be no
duplication of recovery of the same Erroneously Awarded Compensation under this Policy and the
Separate Clawback Rights, unless required by applicable law.
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11. Successors. This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all Covered Executives
and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or other legal representatives.




Exhibit A
ALTI GLOBAL, INC. CLAWBACK POLICY
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT FORM

By signing below, the undersigned employee (“Employee”) acknowledges and confirms that the Employee
has received and reviewed a copy of the AlTi Global, Inc. Clawback Policy (the “Policy™). Capitalized
terms used but not otherwise defined in this Acknowledgement Form (this “Acknowledgement Form™)
shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Policy.

By signing this Acknowledgement Form, the Employee acknowledges and agrees that the Employee is and
will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will apply both during and after the Employee’s
employment with the Company Group. Further, by signing below, the Employee agrees to abide by the
terms of the Policy, including, without limitation, by returning any Erroneously Awarded Compensation to
the Company Group reasonably promptly to the extent required by, and in a manner permitted by, the
Policy, as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors in its sole
discretion.

The Employee and the Company agree that the Policy, the interpretation and enforcement thereof and all
claims arising out of or relating to the Policy, or the transactions contemplated by the Policy, whether
sounding in tort, contract or otherwise, shall be governed solely and exclusively by, and construed in
accordance with, the laws and judicial decisions of the State of Delaware without giving effect to any choice
or conflict of law provision or rule that would cause the application of the laws and judicial decisions of
any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware. All actions and proceedings arising out of or relating to
the Policy, or the transactions contemplated by the Policy, shall be heard and determined solely and
exclusively in the Delaware Court of Chancery and any state appellate court therefrom within the State of
Delaware (unless the Delaware Court of Chancery shall decline to accept jurisdiction over a particular
matter, in which case, exclusively in any state or federal court within the State of Delaware).

WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HEREBY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF
ANY AND ALL CLAIMS OR CAUSE OF ACTIONS BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THE
POLICY OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE POLICY. EACH PARTY HEREBY
ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL IS MADE KNOWINGLY
AND VOLUNTARILY.

EMPLOYEE

Sign:
Name:
Date:

ALTI GLOBAL, INC.

Sign:
Name:
Title:
Date:
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